

Universidad Autónoma de Madrid Faculty of Medicine Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics

# Evaluation of genetic polymorphisms associated with the metabolic effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine

Doctoral Thesis Dóra Koller 2020



# Universidad Autónoma de Madrid Facultad de Medicina Departamento de Farmacología y Terapéutica

Dr. Francisco Abad Santos, Jefe del Servicio de Farmacología Clínica en el Hospital Universitario de La Princesa y Profesor Titular del Departamento de Farmacología y Terapéutica de la Facultad de Medicina de la Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, CERTIFICA:

Que Doña Dora Koller, ha realizado la presente Tesis Doctoral "Evaluation of genetic polymorphisms associated with the metabolic effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine" con objeto de obtener el Grado de Doctor.

Como director del trabajo hago constar que ha sido realizado con todas las garantías técnicas y metodológicas, y las conclusiones obtenidas son plenamente válidas, siendo considerado, por tanto, apto para ser presentado como Tesis Doctoral.

En Madrid, a 10 de junio de 2020

Fdo. Dr. Francisco Abad Santos

This thesis, submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.), has been elaborated in the Clinical Pharmacology Department, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria of Hospital Universitario de La Princesa from June 2017 until June 2020 under the supervision of Dr. Francisco Abad Santos.

This work was supported by the following grant:

Horizon 2020 Marie Sklodowska-Curie Innovative Training Network 721236 grant to Dóra Koller and Francisco Abad-Santos.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	
ABBREVIATIONS	
ABSTRACT	
I. INTRODUCTION	
1. CLINICAL TRIALS	
2. LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY AND	MASS SPECTROMETRY 41
2.1. LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY	
2.1.1. Components and workflow of	f LC
2.1.2. Analytical column and mobil	e phase
2.1.3. Chromatographic separation	
2.2. MASS SPECTROMETRY	
2.3. SAMPLE PREPARATION FOR LC-M	46
2.4. ANALYTICAL METHOD VALIDATI	on47
2.4.1. Selectivity	
2.4.2. Linearity	
2.4.3. LOD and LLOQ	
2.4.4. Accuracy and precision	
2.4.5. Extraction recovery and mate	ix effects
2.4.6. Stability	
2.5. LC-MS IN CLINICAL PHARMACON	KINETIC STUDIES
3. PHARMACOGENETICS AND PHARM	MACOGENOMICS53
3.1. CONCEPT	
3.2. GENETIC POLYMORPHISMS	
3.3. PHARMACOGENES	
3.3.1. Cytochrome P450 enzymes.	
3.3.2. Drug transporters	
3.4. CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES	
4. SCHIZOPHRENIA	
5. ANTIPSYCHOTIC TREATMENT	
5.1. Adverse drug reactions	
5.2. OLANZAPINE	

5.2.1.	Pharmacokinetics	
5.2.2.	Mechanism of action	
5.3. AI	RIPIPRAZOLE	
5.3.1.	Pharmacokinetics	
5.3.2.	Mechanism of action	
5.4. AI	OVERSE DRUG REACTIONS TO ARIPIPRAZOLE AND OLANZAPINE	74
6. PUP	ILLOMETRY	
<b>7.</b> The	PHARMACOGENETICS OF ARIPIPRAZOLE AND OLANZAPINE	
7.1. GI	ENES RELATED TO PHARMACOKINETICS	
7.2. GI	ENES RELATED TO PHARMACODYNAMICS	
<u>II. OB</u>	JECTIVES	
<u>III. M</u>	ATERIALS AND METHODS	
1. CLI	NICAL TRIAL	
1.1. St	UDY DESIGN	
1.2. St	UDY POPULATION	
1.3. Pr	OCEDURES	
1.3.1.	Sample collection for pharmacokinetic analysis	
1.3.2.	Biochemical and haematological analyses	
1.3.3.	Analysis of blood pressure and electrocardiogram	
1.3.4.	Safety and tolerability assessments	
1.3.5.	Pupillometric measurements	
<b>2.</b> ANA	LYTICAL METHOD VALIDATION	
2.1. CH	IEMICALS AND REAGENTS	
2.2. PR	EPARATION OF CALIBRATION STANDARDS AND QUALITY CONTROLS	
2.3. EQ	QUIPMENT	
2.4. SA	MPLE PREPARATION	
2.5. M	ETHOD VALIDATION	
2.5.1.	Linearity	
2.5.2.	Selectivity	
2.5.3.	Precision (repeatability and intermediate precision) and accuracy	
2.5.4.	Extraction recovery, matrix effect and process efficiency	
2.5.5.	Trueness	
2.5.6.	Stability	
2.5.7.	Carry-over	
2.5.8.	Statistical analyses	
<b>3.</b> PHA	RMACOKINETIC ANALYSES	
4. GEN	OTYPING	

4.1. DN	NA EXTRACTION	110
4.2. Se	ELECTED POLYMORPHISMS	110
4.3. GE	ENOTYPING	112
5. STA	TISTICAL ANALYSES	115
5.1. GE	ENETIC POLYMORPHISMS	116
5.2. CL	LINICAL PARAMETERS	117
<u>IV. RE</u>	ESULTS	<u> 121</u>
1. DEM	AOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	123
2. ANA	ALYTICAL METHOD VALIDATION	123
2.1. EX	XPERIMENTAL CONDITIONS IN LC AND MS/MS	123
2.2. SA	AMPLE PREPARATION: PHOSPHOLIPID ELIMINATION, EXTRACTION RECOVERY, MATRIX EFFE	CTS AND
PROCE	SS EFFICIENCY	128
2.3. Se	ELECTIVITY, LLOQ AND LINEARITY	131
2.4. Pr	RECISION AND ACCURACY	
2.5. Tr	RUENESS	
2.6. St	ABILITY	
2.7. CA	ARRY-OVER	135
3. GEN	NOTYPE FREQUENCIES	136
<b>4. P</b> HA	ARMACOKINETICS AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH POLYMORPHISMS	140
<b>5. P</b> UP	ILLOMETRY	147
5.1. TH	HE EFFECTS OF ARIPIPRAZOLE AND OLANZAPINE ON PUPILLARY LIGHT REFLEX	147
5.2. TH	HE INFLUENCE OF PHARMACOKINETICS ON PUPILLARY LIGHT REFLEX	149
5.2.1.	Single dose administration	149
5.2.2.	Multiple dose administration	149
5.3. TH	HE INFLUENCE OF POLYMORPHISMS ON PUPILLARY LIGHT REFLEX	150
6. MET	TABOLISM	152
6.1. Pr	ROLACTIN	152
6.1.1.	The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on prolactin concentrations	152
6.1.2.	The influence of polymorphisms on prolactin concentrations	153
6.2. GI	LUCOSE METABOLISM AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH PHARMACOGENETICS	
6.2.1.	The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on glucose metabolism	154
6.2.2.	The influence of polymorphisms on glucose metabolism	156
6.3. W	EIGHT AND LIPID METABOLISM	157
6.3.1.	The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on weight and lipid metabolism	157
6.3.2.	The influence of polymorphisms on weight and lipid metabolism	159
6.4. HE	EPATIC PERFORMANCE	160
6.5. HA	AEMATOLOGICAL PERFORMANCE	
6.6. TH	IYROID PERFORMANCE	163

6.7. RENAL PERFORMANCE	164
6.8. SUMMARY OF ALL METABOLIC EFFECTS	
7. ELECTROCARDIOGRAM AND BLOOD PRESSURE	
7.1. THE EFFECTS OF ARIPIPRAZOLE AND OLANZAPINE ON ECG AND BLOOD PRESSURE	
7.2. THE INFLUENCE OF POLYMORPHISMS ON ECG AND BLOOD PRESSURE	
8. ADVERSE EVENTS	
8.1. ADVERSE DRUG REACTIONS TO ARIPIPRAZOLE AND OLANZAPINE	
8.2. THE INCIDENCE OF ADVERSE DRUG REACTIONS AMONG DIFFERENT GENOTYPES	
V. DISCUSSION	<u>175</u>
1. ANALYTICAL METHOD VALIDATION	177
1.1. EXPERIMENTAL CONDITIONS IN LC AND MS/MS	
1.2. SAMPLE PREPARATION: PHOSPHOLIPID ELIMINATION, EXTRACTION RECOVERY, MATRIX	<b>KEFFECTS AND</b>
PROCESS EFFICIENCY	
1.3. SELECTIVITY, LLOQ AND LINEARITY	
1.4. PRECISION AND ACCURACY	
1.5. TRUENESS	
1.6. STABILITY	
1.7. CARRY-OVER	
2. THE INFLUENCE OF SEX ON PHARMACOKINETICS AND PHARMACOGENETICS	
3. THE INFLUENCE OF POLYMORPHISMS ON PHARMACOKINETICS	
4. PUPILLOMETRY	
4.1. THE INFLUENCE OF POLYMORPHISMS ON PUPILLARY LIGHT REFLEX	
5. METABOLIC EFFECTS	
5.1. PROLACTIN CONCENTRATIONS	
5.2. GLUCOSE METABOLISM	
5.2.1. C-peptide levels	
5.2.2. Glucose levels	
5.2.3. Insulin levels	
5.3. WEIGHT GAIN AND LIPID METABOLISM	
5.3.1. Weight gain	
5.3.2. Lipid metabolism	
5.4. HEPATIC PERFORMANCE	
5.5. HAEMATOLOGICAL PERFORMANCE	
5.6. THYROID PERFORMANCE	
5.7. RENAL PERFORMANCE	
6. EFFECTS ON BLOOD PRESSURE, HEART RATE AND CORRECTED QT INTERVAL	193
6.1. THE INFLUENCE OF POLYMORPHISMS ON BLOOD PRESSURE AND HEART RATE	
7. ADVERSE DRUG REACTIONS	

7.1. MOST COMMON ADVERSE DRUG REACTIONS TO ARIPIPRAZOLE	
7.2. MOST COMMON ADVERSE DRUG REACTIONS TO OLANZAPINE	
7.3. CARDIAC ALTERATIONS	
7.4. NERVOUS SYSTEM ALTERATIONS	
7.5. GASTROINTESTINAL ALTERATIONS	
8. STUDY LIMITATIONS	
VI. CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	

# **List of Tables**

Table 1. Pharmacokinetic parameters.	
Table 2. List of Very Important Pharmacogenes (VIP)	
Table 3. Gene-drug pair recommendations in Clinical Practice Guidelines.	
Table 4. Currently available antipsychotic drugs.	
Table 5. Physical health monitoring recommendations for patients before and under ant	ipsychotic
treatment	
Table 6. CYP2D6 alleles in Caucasians	
Table 7. Values assigned to CYP2D6 alleles based on their activity.	
Table 8. CYP2D6 phenotypes based on the sum of the values assigned to each allele	
Table 9. Dates of performing the study in groups.	
Table 10. Study schedule with all the procedures performed during the study	
Table 11. Concentrations of calibration standards (Cal) for each drug	102
Table 12. Concentrations of quality controls (QC) for each drug.	102
Table 13. Therapeutic range of each drug.	103
Table 14. Relevant LC–MS/MS characteristics.	105
Table 15. List of all analysed genes and polymorphisms	110
Table 16. Values assigned to CYP1A2 alleles based on their activity	117
Table 17. CYP1A2 phenotypes based on the sum of the values assigned to each allele.	117
Table 18. Demographic characteristics	123
Table 19. Resolution factor (Rs) between the adjoining compounds	127
Table 20. Linearity of the compounds.	
Table 21. Repeatability and intermediate precision and accuracy values.	
Table 22. Carry-over effect.	
Table 23. Genotype frequencies of the analysed polymorphisms.	
Table 24. Pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanza	apine after
administration of a single dose and 5 multiple doses.	

Table 25. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole.
Table 26. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacokinetic parameters of dehydro-
aripiprazole
Table 27. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacokinetic parameters of olanzapine. 145
Table 28. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole,
dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine in the multivariate analysis
Table 29. Influence of the pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole
on pupillometric parameters
Table 30. C-peptide, insulin, haemoglobin A1c and glucose levels during multiple dose treatment
with aripiprazole and olanzapine
Table 31. The influence of genetic polymorphisms on C-peptide and insulin levels during
aripiprazole treatment
Table 32. The influence of genetic polymorphisms on insulin and glucose levels during olanzapine
treatment
Table 33. Glutamate-oxaloacetate transaminase, glutamate-pyruvate transaminase, gamma-
glutamyl transferase, bilirubin, alkaline phosphatase and albumin levels during aripiprazole and
olanzapine treatment
Table 34. Leucocyte, platelet, haemoglobin, red blood cell and haematocrit count and prothrombin
time and index during aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment162
Table 35. Urea, creatinine and uric acid levels during aripiprazole and olanzapine multiple dose
treatment
Table 36. The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on all metabolic parameters
Table 37. Effects of aripiprazole on blood pressure, heart rate and corrected QT interval 166
Table 38. Effects of olanzapine on blood pressure, heart rate and corrected QT interval
<i>Table</i> <b>39</b> . Adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole and olanzapine
<i>Table</i> <b>40</b> . LLOQ values of the included antipsychotics compared to bibliographic data

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1. The phases of clinical studies.	
<i>Figure</i> <b>2</b> . The workflow of the HPLC system.	
Figure 3. Chromatograms of aripiprazole and olanzapine.	
Figure 4. Components of the MS/MS instrument.	45
Figure 5. The mass spectra of aripiprazole and olanzapine generated by a triple quadra	upole mass
analyzer	
Figure 6. The pathway from prescription to patient health	50
Figure 7. Concept of the therapeutic range.	52
Figure 8. The concept of personalized medicine based on pharmacogenetic testing	53
Figure 9. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs)	55
Figure 10. Nomenclature of the Cytochrome P450 superfamily.	58
Figure 11. Contribution (%) of individual cytochrome P450 isoforms to major drug n	netabolism
pathways and factors influencing variability.	58
Figure 12. The metabolic pathways of olanzapine.	69
Figure 13. The mechanism of action of olanzapine.	70
Figure 14. The metabolic pathways of aripiprazole	
Figure 15. The mechanism of action of aripiprazole.	73
Figure 16. The mechanism of pupil contraction.	77
Figure 17. Real-time PCR method with TaqMan <sup>®</sup> probes.	113
Figure 18. The OpenArray <sup>®</sup> plate.	114
Figure 19. An example for the allele discrimination plot obtained from OpenArray® g	genotyping
data	115
Figure 20. Extraction ion chromatogram (XIC) of the compounds	124
Figure 21. Extraction ion chromatograms (XIC) of the compounds and their isoto	pe-labeled
internal standards.	125

Figure 22. Product ion spectra and chemical structures of the compounds and their stable isotope-
labeled internal standards obtained by collision-induced dissociation (CID) of the indicated
precursor ions [M+H] <sup>+</sup>
Figure 23. Endogenous plasma phospholipid elimination efficiency in plasma after undergoing
SPE and PPT processes including 36 experiments (RSD, %) at low and high concentrations 128
Figure 24. Relative values of extraction recovery, matrix effects and process efficiency tests
calculated for each analyte after SPE and PPT processes in low (Low QC) and high (High QC)
concentrations
Figure 25. Absolute values of extraction recovery, matrix effects and process efficiency tests
calculated for each analyte after SPE and PPT processes in low (Low QC) and high (High QC)
concentrations
Figure 26. Stability tests
<i>Figure</i> 27. Changes in pupillometric parameters after aripiprazole and olanzapine administration.
Figure 28. The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms on
<i>Figure</i> 28. The influence of <i>HTR2A</i> rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms on pupillometric parameters
Figure 28. The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms on pupillometric parameters.       151         Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10
Figure 28. The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms on pupillometric parameters.       151         Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10 mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).       152
Figure 28. The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms on pupillometric parameters.       151         Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10 mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).       152         Figure 30. The influence of DRD3 rs6280 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations.       153
<ul> <li>Figure 28. The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms on pupillometric parameters.</li> <li>151</li> <li>Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10 mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).</li> <li>152</li> <li>Figure 30. The influence of DRD3 rs6280 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations.</li> <li>153</li> <li>Figure 31. The influence of CYP3A phenotype and ABCB1 rs10280101, rs12720067 and</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Figure 28. The influence of <i>HTR2A</i> rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms on pupillometric parameters.</li> <li>151</li> <li>Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10 mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).</li> <li>152</li> <li>Figure 30. The influence of <i>DRD3</i> rs6280 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations.</li> <li>153</li> <li>Figure 31. The influence of CYP3A phenotype and <i>ABCB1</i> rs10280101, rs12720067 and rs11983225 polymorphisms on prolactin concentrations during aripiprazole treatment.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Figure 28. The influence of <i>HTR2A</i> rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms on pupillometric parameters.</li> <li>151</li> <li>Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10 mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).</li> <li>152</li> <li>Figure 30. The influence of <i>DRD3</i> rs6280 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations.</li> <li>153</li> <li>Figure 31. The influence of CYP3A phenotype and <i>ABCB1</i> rs10280101, rs12720067 and rs11983225 polymorphisms on prolactin concentrations during aripiprazole treatment.</li> <li>154</li> <li>Figure 32. Weight (A), triglyceride (B) and cholesterol (C) concentrations during aripiprazole and</li> </ul>
Figure 28. The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms onpupillometric parameters.151Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).152Figure 30. The influence of DRD3 rs6280 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations.153Figure 31. The influence of CYP3A phenotype and ABCB1 rs10280101, rs12720067 andrs11983225 polymorphisms on prolactin concentrations during aripiprazole treatment.154Figure 32. Weight (A), triglyceride (B) and cholesterol (C) concentrations during aripiprazole andolanzapine treatment.158
Figure 28. The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms onpupillometric parameters.151Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).152Figure 30. The influence of DRD3 rs6280 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations.153Figure 31. The influence of CYP3A phenotype and ABCB1 rs10280101, rs12720067 andrs11983225 polymorphisms on prolactin concentrations during aripiprazole treatment.154Figure 32. Weight (A), triglyceride (B) and cholesterol (C) concentrations during aripiprazole and158Figure 33. The influence of CYP3A phenotype (A) and HTR2C rs6314 polymorphism (B) on
Figure 28. The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms onpupillometric parameters.151Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).152Figure 30. The influence of DRD3 rs6280 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations.153Figure 31. The influence of CYP3A phenotype and ABCB1 rs10280101, rs12720067 andrs11983225 polymorphisms on prolactin concentrations during aripiprazole treatment.154Figure 32. Weight (A), triglyceride (B) and cholesterol (C) concentrations during aripiprazole and158Figure 33. The influence of CYP3A phenotype (A) and HTR2C rs6314 polymorphism (B) on159
Figure 28. The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms onpupillometric parameters.151Figure 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).152Figure 30. The influence of DRD3 rs6280 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations.153Figure 31. The influence of CYP3A phenotype and ABCB1 rs10280101, rs12720067 andrs11983225 polymorphisms on prolactin concentrations during aripiprazole treatment.154Figure 32. Weight (A), triglyceride (B) and cholesterol (C) concentrations during aripiprazole andolanzapine treatment.158Figure 33. The influence of CYP3A phenotype (A) and HTR2C rs6314 polymorphism (B) ontriglyceride and cholesterol levels during aripiprazole treatment.159Figure 34. The influence of HTR2C rs1414334 on weight (A) and APOC3 rs4520 polymorphisms

Figure 35. Free T4 (A) and TSH concentrations (B) after multiple dose administration of
aripiprazole and olanzapine
Figure 36. Effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on blood pressure, heart rate and corrected QT
interval
<i>Figure</i> <b>37.</b> Adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole and olanzapine classified in groups

# Abbreviations

3'UTR: 3' untranslated region

5-HT receptor: 5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin) receptor

5'UTR: 5' untranslated region

A: adenine

ABC: ATP-Binding Casette transporter

ACV: average constriction velocity

ADME: absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion

ADRA2A: alpha-2A adrenergic receptor

ADV: average dilation velocity

ALP: alkaline phosphatase

APCI: atmospheric pressure chemical ionization

APOA5: apolipoprotein A5

APOC3: apolipoprotein C3

ARI-D8: aripiprazole-D8

ARI: aripiprazole

AUC: area under the curve

BDNF: brain-derived neurotrophic factor

BMI: body mass index

C: cytosine

C18: cyclo[18]carbon

CACNA1S: Calcium Voltage-Gated Channel Subunit Alpha1 S

CAF: caffeine

CFTR: Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator

Cl: clearance

CLO-D3: clozapine-D3

CLO: clozapine

C<sub>max</sub>: maximum concentration

C<sub>min</sub>: minimum concentration

CNV: copy number variation

COMT: catechol-O-methyltransferase

CON: percentage of constriction

CPIC: Clinical Pharmacogenetic Implementation Consortium

CYP: cytochrome P450 enzyme

DARI: dehydro-aripiprazole

DISC1: disrupted in schizophrenia 1

DME: drug-metabolizing enzyme

DPWG: Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group

DPYD: dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase

DRD: dopamine receptor

DTNBP1: dystrobrevin-binding protein 1

ECG: electrocardiogram

EM: extensive metabolizer

EMA: European Medicines Agency

ESI: electrospray ionization

FDA: U.S. Food and drug administration

FMO3: flavin-containing monooxygenase 3

Free T4: free thyroxine

G: guanine

G6PD: glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase

GC: gas chromatography

GGT: gamma-glutamyl transferase

GOT: glutamate-oxaloacetate transaminase

GPT: glutamate-pyruvate transaminase

GTT: glucose tolerance test

GWAS: genome-wide association study HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c HDL: high-density lipoprotein HLA: human leukocyte antigen HPLC: high-performance liquid chromatography ICH: International Council on Harmonisation IFNL3: interferon lambda 3 IM: intermediate metabolizer IS: internal standard LAT: latency LC: liquid chromatography LDL: low-density lipoprotein LEP: leptin LEPR: leptin receptor LLE: liquid-liquid extraction LLOQ: lower limit of quantification LOD: lower limit of detection m/z: mass-to-charge ratio MALDI: matrix assisted laser desorption ionization MAX: maximum pupil diameter MCV: maximum constriction velocity MDR: multidrug resistence MEC: minimum effective concentration MHC: Major Histocompatibility Complex MIN: minimum pupil diameter MRM: multiple reaction monitoring mode MS: mass spectrometry MTC: maximum tolerated concentration

NM: normal metabolizer NRG1: neuregulin 1 NUDT15: nudix hydrolase 15 OLA-C1-D3: olanzapine C1-D3 OLA: olanzapine OPRM1: opioid receptor mu 1 P-gp: P-glycoprotein PAL-D4: paliperidone-D4 PAL: paliperidone PGRN: Pharmacogenomics Research Network PharmGKB: The Pharmacogenomics Knowledge Base PM: poor metabolizer PPT: protein precipitation Q: quadropole QTc: heart rate-corrected QT QUE-C4: quetiapine-C4 QUE: quetiapine RIS-D4: risperidone-D4 **RIS:** risperidone Rs: resolution factor RSD: relative standard deviation RT, tR: retention time RYR1: Ryanodine receptor 1 SIL-IS: stable isotope-labeled internal standard SLC: solute carrier SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism SPE: solid phase extraction STR: short tandem repeat; microsatellite

T: thymine

T<sub>1/2</sub>: elimination half-life T75: total time taken by the pupil to recover 75% of the initial resting pupil size TDM: therapeutic drug monitoring Tmax: time to maximum concentration TOF: time-of-flight TPMT: Thiopurine S-methyltransferase TSH: thyroid stimulating hormone UGT1: UDP Glucuronosyltransferase Family 1 UHPLC: ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography UM: ultrarapid metabolizer Vd: volume of distribution VIP: very important pharmacogenes VKORC1: Vitamin K epOxide Reductase Complex (VKORC) subunit 1 VNTR: variable number of tandem repeat XIC: extracted ion chromatogram µ-SPE: microelution-solid phase extraction



# ABSTRACT

#### Introduction:

Aripiprazole and olanzapine are atypical antipsychotics. Both drugs can induce metabolic and cardiovascular changes and adverse drug reactions. Pupillography is a non-invasive and cost-effective method to determine autonomic nerve activity during antipsychotic treatment. The aims of the study were to optimize and validate a liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method to measure drug concentrations; to evaluate the effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on pupillary light reflex; prolactin levels, lipid and glucose metabolism; hepatic, hematological, thyroid and renal performance; adverse events and safety and to assess the relationship between these parameters and pharmacogenetics. Genetic variants in cytochrome P450 (*CYP*), dopamine receptor (*DRD2*, *DRD3*), serotonin receptor (*HTR2A*, *HTR2C*) and ATP-binding cassette subfamily B (*ABCB1*) genes, among others, may be associated with the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of antipsychotic drugs.

#### Methods:

A simple and sensitive liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method was developed and validated in human plasma for the simultaneous determination of aripiprazole and its metabolite dehydro-aripiprazole; olanzapine, risperidone, paliperidone, quetiapine, clozapine and caffeine. The above mentioned compounds and their isotope-labeled internal standards were extracted from 200 µL human plasma samples by effective phospholipids-eliminating three-step microelution-solid-phase extraction ( $\mu$ -SPE) and protein precipitation (PPT) for comparison. All analytes were monitored by mass spectrometric detection operating in multiple reaction monitoring mode and the method was validated covering the corresponding therapeutic ranges. Twenty-four healthy volunteers received 5 daily oral doses of 10 mg aripiprazole and 5 mg olanzapine, separated by a 28-day washout period in a crossover randomized clinical trial and were genotyped for 51 polymorphisms in 17 genes by qPCR. Drug plasma concentrations were measured by the previously explained LC-MS/MS method. Pupil examination was performed by automated pupillometry. Biochemical and hematological analyses were performed by enzymatic methods. Blood pressure and 12-lead ECG were measured in supine position. For safety evaluation, the Ramsay sedation scale and the UKU side effect rating scale were used. In addition, spontaneously notified adverse events were also recorded.

#### **Results:**

The analytical method was validated based on the recommendations of regulatory agencies through tests of precision, accuracy, extraction recovery, identity confirmation, trueness, matrix effects, process efficiency, stability, selectivity, linearity and carry-over effect fulfilling the guideline requirements. Our µ-SPE method eliminated more than 99% of early eluting and more than 92% of late-eluting phospholipids compared to PPT. Additionally, the method was successfully applied for the quantification of aripiprazole and olanzapine plasma concentrations in healthy volunteers. Aripiprazole pharmacokinetics was affected by CYP2D6 and CYP1A2 phenotypes and polymorphisms in the ABCB1 gene. Dehydro-aripiprazole pharmacokinetics were variable based on CYP2D6, CYP3A and CYP1A2 phenotypes and ABCB1 gene polymorphisms. Olanzapine pharmacokinetics were affected by CYP3A phenotype and polymorphisms in ABCB1 and UGT1A1 genes. Aripiprazole affected pupil contraction: it caused dilatation after the administration of the first dose, then caused constriction after each dosing. Olanzapine only altered minimum pupil size. Polymorphisms in CYP3A, HTR2A, UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 1A1 (UGT1A1), DRD2 and ABCB1 affected pupil size, the time of onset of constriction, pupil recovery and constriction velocity. Olanzapine induced hyperprolactinemia but not aripiprazole. DRD3 rs6280 and ABCB1 rs10280101, rs12720067 and rs11983225 polymorphisms and CYP3A phenotype had an impact on plasma prolactin levels. Only olanzapine caused weight gain, what was influenced by HTR2C alleles. C-peptide concentrations were higher after aripiprazole administration and were influenced by COMT rs4680 and rs13306278 polymorphisms. Olanzapine and the UGT1A1 rs887829 polymorphism were associated with elevated glucose levels. CYP3A poor metabolizers had increased insulin levels. Triglyceride concentrations were decreased due to olanzapine and aripiprazole treatment and were variable based on CYP3A phenotypes and the APOC3 rs4520 genotype. Cholesterol levels were also decreased and depended on HTR2A rs6314 polymorphism. All hepatic enzymes, platelet and albumin levels and prothrombin time were altered during both treatments. Additionally, olanzapine reduced the leucocyte count, aripiprazole increased free T4 and both decreased uric acid concentrations. Aripiprazole decreased diastolic blood pressure on the first day of treatment and decreased OTc on the third and fifth day of treatment. Olanzapine had a systolic and diastolic blood pressure, heart rate and QTc lowering effect on the first day of treatment. Polymorphisms in ADRA2A, COMT, DRD3 and HTR2A genes

were significantly associated to these changes. More adverse drug reactions were associated to aripiprazole than to olanzapine, especially psychiatric and nervous system disorders based on the UKU side effect rating scale and those spontaneously notified. The most frequent adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole were somnolence, headache, insomnia, dizziness, restlessness, palpitations, akathisia and nausea while were somnolence, dizziness, asthenia, constipation, dry mouth, headache and nausea to olanzapine. Ramsay scores showed low level of sedation Additionally, *HTR2A*, *HTR2C*, *DRD2*, *DRD3*, *OPRM1*, *UGT1A1* and *CYP1A2* polymorphisms had a role in the development of adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole and olanzapine.

#### Conclusions:

Aripiprazole altered pupil contraction. Olanzapine caused significant prolactin and weight elevation. Glucose levels in glucose tolerance test were higher after olanzapine treatment. Moreover, olanzapine had more cardiovascular effects than aripiprazole. However, aripiprazole was associated to more psychiatric and nervous system adverse drug reactions. Many polymorphisms may influence pupillometric and metabolic parameters along with cardiovascular changes and adverse events. Moreover, several polymorphisms had an effect on aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine pharmacokinetics. It seems that aripiprazole provokes less severe metabolic and cardiovascular changes, however, more adverse drug reactions were registered to it compared to olanzapine.

#### Introducción:

El aripiprazol y la olanzapina son antipsicóticos atípicos. Ambos fármacos pueden inducir cambios metabólicos y cardiovasculares y reacciones adversas. La pupilografía es un método no invasivo y económico para determinar la actividad nerviosa autonómica durante el tratamiento antipsicótico. Los objetivos del estudio fueron optimizar y validar un método de cromatografía líquida y espectrometría de masas en tándem (LC-MS/MS) para medir las concentraciones de los fármacos; evaluar los efectos del aripiprazol y la olanzapina en el reflejo pupilar; los niveles de prolactina, el metabolismo de los lípidos y la glucosa y la función hepática, hematológica, tiroidea y renal; los efectos adversos y la seguridad, y evaluar la relación de la farmacogenética con todos estos parámetros. Las variantes genéticas de los genes del citocromo P450 (*CYP*), los receptores de la dopamina (*DRD2*, *DRD3*), los receptores de la serotonina (*HTR2A*, *HTR2C*) y la subfamilia B de transportador de unión a ATP (*ABCB1*), entre otros, se pueden asociar a la farmacocinética y la farmacodinamia de los antipsicóticos.

#### Métodos:

Se desarrolló y validó un método sencillo y sensible de cromatografía líquida y espectrometría de masas en tándem en plasma humano para la determinación simultánea de aripiprazol y su metabolito dehidro-aripiprazol, olanzapina, risperidona, paliperidona, quetiapina, clozapina y cafeína. Los compuestos mencionados y sus patrones internos marcados con isótopos se extrajeron de muestras de plasma humano de 200 µl por medio de extracción en fase sólida de microelución en tres pasos (µ-SPE) y precipitación de proteínas (PPT) para su comparación. Todos los analitos se evaluaron mediante detección por espectrometría de masas que funcionó en el modo de monitorización de reacción múltiple y el método se validó cubriendo los rangos terapéuticos correspondientes. Veinticuatro voluntarios sanos recibieron 5 dosis orales diarias de 10 mg de aripiprazol y 5 mg de olanzapina, separados por un periodo de lavado de 28 días, en un ensayo clínico aleatorio cruzado, y se genotiparon para 51 polimorfismos en 17 genes mediante qPCR. Las concentraciones plasmáticas del fármaco se midieron por el método LC-MS/MS explicado anteriormente. El examen de las pupilas se realizó mediante pupilometría automatizada. Los análisis bioquímicos y hematológicos se realizaron por métodos enzimáticos. La presión sanguínea y el ECG de 12 derivaciones se midieron en posición supina. Para evaluar la seguridad se utilizó

la escala de sedación de Ramsay y la escala de calificación de efectos secundarios de la UKU, y también se registraron los eventos adversos notificados espontáneamente.

### Resultados:

El método analítico fue validado de acuerdo a las recomendaciones de los organismos reguladores mediante pruebas de precisión, exactitud, recuperación de la extracción, confirmación de la identidad, veracidad, efectos de la matriz, eficiencia del proceso, estabilidad, selectividad, linealidad y efecto de arrastre que cumplían los requisitos de las directrices. Nuestro método µ-SPE eliminó más del 99% de los fosfolípidos de elución temprana y más del 92% de los fosfolípidos de elución tardía en comparación con el PPT. Además, el método se aplicó con éxito para la cuantificación de las concentraciones plasmáticas de aripiprazol y olanzapina en voluntarios sanos. La farmacocinética del aripiprazol se vio afectada por los fenotipos CYP2D6 y CYP1A2 y polimorfismos del gen ABCB1. La farmacocinética del dehidro-aripiprazol fue variable en base a los fenotipos CYP2D6, CYP3A y CYP1A2 y los polimorfismos del gen ABCB1. La farmacocinética de la olanzapina se vio afectada por el fenotipo CYP3A y los polimorfismos de los genes ABCB1 y UGT1A1. El aripiprazol afectó a la contracción de la pupila: causó dilatación después de la administración de la primera dosis, y luego causó constricción después de cada dosis. La olanzapina sólo alteró el tamaño mínimo de las pupilas. Los polimorfismos en CYP3A, HTR2A, UDP-glucuronosiltransferasa 1A1 (UGT1A1), DRD2 y ABCB1 afectaron el tamaño de la pupila, el tiempo de inicio de la constricción, la recuperación de la pupila y la velocidad de constricción. La olanzapina indujo hiperprolactinemia pero no el aripiprazol. Los polimorfismos DRD3 rs6280 y ABCB1 rs10280101, rs12720067 y rs11983225 y el fenotipo CYP3A tuvieron un impacto en los niveles de prolactina plasmática. Sólo la olanzapina causó aumento de peso, lo que fue influenciado por los alelos HTR2C. Las concentración de péptido C fueron más altas después de la administración de aripiprazol y fueron influenciadas por los polimorfismos COMT rs4680 y rs13306278. La olanzapina y el polimorfismo UGT1A1 rs887829 se asociaron con niveles elevados de glucosa. Los metabolizadores lentos de la CYP3A tenían niveles de insulina elevados. Las concentraciones de triglicéridos disminuyeron debido al tratamiento con olanzapina y aripiprazol y fueron variables en base a los fenotipos de CYP3A y el genotipo APOC3 rs4520. Los niveles de colesterol también se redujeron y dependieron del polimorfismo HTR2A rs6314. Todas

las enzimas hepáticas, los niveles de plaquetas y albúmina y el tiempo de protrombina se alteraron durante ambos tratamientos. Además, la olanzapina redujo el recuento de leucocitos, el aripiprazol aumentó la T4 libre y ambos disminuveron las concentraciones de ácido úrico. El aripiprazol disminuyó la presión arterial diastólica en el primer día de tratamiento y disminuyó el QTc en el tercer y quinto día de tratamiento. La olanzapina tuvo un efecto de disminución de la presión arterial sistólica y diastólica, la frecuencia cardíaca y el QTc en el primer día de tratamiento. Los polimorfismos en los genes ADRA2A, COMT, DRD3 y HTR2A se asociaron significativamente a estos cambios. Se relacionaron más reacciones adversas con el aripiprazol que con la olanzapina, especialmente los trastornos psiquiátricos y del sistema nervioso, según la UKU, la escala de calificación de efectos adversos y los notificados espontáneamente. Las reacciones adversas más frecuentes al aripiprazol fueron somnolencia, dolor de cabeza, insomnio, mareos, inquietud, palpitaciones, acatisia y náuseas, mientras que a la olanzapina se le atribuyeron somnolencia, mareos, astenia, estreñimiento, sequedad de boca, dolor de cabeza y náuseas. Las puntuaciones de Ramsay mostraron un bajo nivel de sedación. Además, los polimorfismos en los genes HTR2A, HTR2C, DRD2, DRD3, OPRM1, UGT1A1 y CYP1A2 desempeñaron un papel en el desarrollo de reacciones adversas al aripiprazol y la olanzapina.

#### Conclusiones:

La olanzapina causó una elevación significativa de la prolactina y el peso, pero el aripiprazol alteró la contracción de la pupila. El test de tolerancia oral a la glucosa fue más alto después del tratamiento con olanzapina que también produjo más efectos cardiovasculares que el aripiprazol. Sin embargo, el aripiprazol se asoció a más reacciones adversas psiquiátricas y neurológicas. Muchos polimorfismos pueden influir en los parámetros pupilométricos y metabólicos, así como en los cambios cardiovasculares y los acontecimientos adversos. Además, varios polimorfismos tuvieron un efecto en la farmacocinética del aripiprazol, el dehidro-aripiprazol y la olanzapina. Parece que el aripiprazol provoca cambios metabólicos y cardiovasculares menos graves; sin embargo, se registraron más reacciones adversas asociadas a él que a la olanzapina.



# I. INTRODUCTION

# 1. Clinical trials

Before including humans, animal studies have to be performed to analyze drug safety in equivalent doses to human exposures, to explore pharmacodynamics (mechanisms of action and the connection between drug levels and clinical response) and pharmacokinetics (drug absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and drug–drug interactions)<sup>1</sup>.

Following animal studies, it is necessary to test the drug in 4 human study phases (*Figure* 1). Phase I clinical trials are the first when the drug is tested in humans and are designed to test safety, maximum tolerated dose, human pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics and drug-drug interactions. Phase II clinical trials are performed in a few patients with the disease of interest to assess preliminarily efficacy. They are designed to test safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics, similarly to phase I trials, but in people with the illness. Additionally, the planning of phase III trials already starts in phase II trials with the investigation of optimal doses, dose frequencies, administration routes and endpoints. They offer preliminary evidence of drug efficacy by comparing the study drug with controls, by examining different dosing arms within the trial, or by randomizing some subjects to control arms. However, given the low number of participants, it is necessary to perform the phase III trials. Phase III trials are conducted in a large and often more diverse target population with the disease of interest in order to demonstrate efficacy and to identify and estimate the incidence of common adverse drug reactions.

Finally, phase IV trials are conducted after European Medicines Agency (EMA) approval to identify less-common adverse drug reactions and to evaluate cost and/or drug effectiveness in different diseases, populations or doses <sup>1</sup> (*Figure* 1). Post-marketing studies are conducted after EMA has approved a product for marketing, therefore it is already in use following EMA indications. The reason to perform these trials is to gather additional information about safety, efficacy or optimal use of the drug <sup>2</sup>.



Figure 1. The phases of clinical studies.

Schizophrenia treatment still remains a significant challenge due to the lack of efficacy and side effects of available drugs; and the stage of the illness. Moreover, the exact neuropathology, neurophysiology and neurochemistry of the disease are not clear to date, therefore, clinicians still rely on their subjective experience based on the symptoms to establish diagnoses <sup>3</sup>.

Consequently, it is of importance to perform clinical trials to discover new information and replicate the existing findings. All clinical trials – unreplicated trials, uncontrolled systematic descriptions, case reports – offer valuable information. However, randomized clinical trials provide the most important evidence, although a single trial, even if it is large, cannot address the multiple questions that might be relevant in schizophrenia given its complexity. Nevertheless, although small trials address more factors, they may have insufficient statistical power to form conclusions. Therefore, meta-analyses are of particular interest as they combine results from all available trials <sup>3</sup>.

Another important issue is that many of these clinical trials are performed for regulatory purposes and it is not required by regulatory agencies to inform clinicians about every detail prior to marketing. Moreover, many industry-sponsored studies are performed post-marketing and the results are frequently not published afterwards. However, studies funded by foundations and governmental agencies are commonly conducted for investigational purposes <sup>3</sup>.

# 2. Liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry

# 2.1. Liquid chromatography

Liquid chromatography (LC) separates compounds in a mixture based on the differences in their structure; the sample is moving through the system with the mobile phase to the stationary phase, which is an analytical column. Analytes with strong interaction with the stationary phase move slowly in the column compared to those with weak interactions, thus they can be separated. High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) can alone separate, qualify and quantify analytes in a solution under high pressure (up to 400 bars) with a detector <sup>4</sup>. The ultra-HPLC (UHPLC) offers better analyte separation and better sensitivity due to using even higher pressure (up to 1000 bars) <sup>5</sup>. As compared to gas chromatography (GC), LC is not limited by sample volatility or thermal stability. Consequently, LC is ideal for the separation of almost any molecule of interest such as proteins, polysaccharides, synthetic polymers, nucleic acids, plant pigments, surfactants, amino acids, polar lipids, pharmaceuticals, dyes, explosives and plant and animal metabolites, therefore, almost any compound which can be dissolved in liquid can be analyzed <sup>6</sup>.

# 2.1.1. Components and workflow of LC

In general, the components of an LC system consist of solvents, pump, sample injector, analytical column and detector. The reservoir holds the solvent (mobile phase). A high-pressure pump is used to generate a specified flow rate of the mobile phase (mL/min). A sample injector (autosampler) injects the sample into the continuously flowing mobile phase stream and finally arrive together to the HPLC column. The packing material of the column, i.e. the stationary phase is needed for chromatographic separation. Finally, a detector is needed to visualize the separated peaks (*Figure* 2).



Figure 2. The workflow of the HPLC system.

Source: www.waters.com, modified.

The exact time for a molecule in a solution to pass through a chromatography column (the stationary phase) is called retention time (RT). It is calculated from time of injection to detection. RT is specific for each analyte and provides qualitative information, while the area and the height of the peak are for quantitative analysis <sup>5</sup>. RT is often called acquisition time, which is the time that it takes for the Analog-to-Digital Converter to acquire and convert an analog signal to a digital value (*Figure 3*).



*Figure* **3**. Chromatograms of aripiprazole and olanzapine. Source: Koller *et al.*, 2019<sup>7</sup>, modified.

# 2.1.2. Analytical column and mobile phase

High-performance columns should be designed for efficient separation. The packing particles (the stationary phase) should be small with similar geometry. In general, the size of the column should be appropriate for the number and properties of the analytes of interest <sup>5</sup>. There are two types of LC: normal and reversed phase. Normal-phase refers to using a column packed with unmodified silica with polar, i.e. hydrophilic properties and here, a non-polar solvent is used. Contrastively, reversed-phase refers to the use of non-polar, i.e. hydrophobic column packed with porous silica gel or polymer particles with specific chemical ligands on their surface. The most common package for a reversed-phase column is octadecyl carbon chain (C18)-bonded silica. In reversed-phase chromatography, a mixture of water and polar organic solvent is used for mobile phase. These different column packings are due to the distinct properties of the molecules. For instance, polar molecules are poorly retained on reverse phase columns and elute at the beginning of the chromatogram with a low organic content <sup>8</sup>.

# 2.1.3. Chromatographic separation

When the composition of the mobile phase does not change during the whole separation process, it is called isocratic elution. Normally, the ratio of polar compounds to non-polar compounds is changed throughout the process to be able to elute various compounds in the sample in a short time, what is called gradient elution <sup>9</sup>.

After completing the separation process with LC, a detector is needed for analysis. Several types of detectors can be used, such as electrochemical, ultraviolet and fluorescence detectors. However, mass spectrometry (MS) detectors are the most frequently used currently due to their high specificity, sensitivity and low detection limits (LOD)<sup>8</sup>.

# 2.2. Mass spectrometry

Ideal detectors for LC are MS detectors. Although the first LC-MS hybrid method was developed in 1968 <sup>10</sup>, its use was limited for many years due to the relative incompatibility of existing MS ion sources with a continuous liquid stream until the development of the electrospray ionization (ESI) method by Fenn <sup>11</sup>. Fenn was awarded the Nobel Prize in 2002 with Koichi Tanaka <sup>12</sup> who

developed matrix assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI), another MS ionization technique for the analysis of biological molecules <sup>13</sup>.

MS generates ions from molecules and then measures their specific mass-to-charge ratio (m/z). The "m" indicates the molecular mass number, while the "z" means the charge number of the ion <sup>14</sup>. This measurement allows to calculate the exact molecular weight of each molecule in the sample. MS can give qualitative results; it simply answers the question if the analyte of interest is in the sample. Besides, it can be quantitative; it calculates exactly how much of the analyte we have in the sample <sup>14</sup>. MS can be used for targeted or untargeted analysis. For targeted analysis, an acquisition method is designed to determine a list of known compounds. Untargeted analysis simultaneously measures as many compounds as possible from a biological sample <sup>15</sup>. Although many MS instruments exist, generally each of them consists of the following 5 components:

# 1. Sample introduction site

Samples are usually separated previously by LC then arrive to the MS instrument.

# 2. Ionization source

The uncharged analyte converts to positive or negative charged ions. The available ionization methods are ESI and MALDI and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI)<sup>16</sup>.

# 3. Mass analyzer

Ions get separated based on their m/z. The process is done under vacuum <sup>14</sup>. The types of mass analyzers are quadrupoles (Q), orbitraps, iontraps and time-of-flight (TOF).

## 4. Ion detection system

The ions are detected with an abundance that is proportional to their original concentration. The product ions are passed to a transducer – an electron multiplier or Fourier transform – which converts their abundance into an electrical signal.

# 5. Computer

Data output, acquisition and instrument control.

The generated mass spectrum of each molecule is a plot of ion abundance (%) versus m/z. The mass analyzer used in this study was MS/MS, also called as triple quadrupole (QQQ). It consists of 2 mass analyzers and a collision cell between them <sup>17</sup>.

The components of an MS/MS system are the following (see in *Figure* 4):

1. Ion source

ESI or APCI

- 2. Mass Analyser (QQQ)
  - Q1: first mass analyzer or quadrupole, the filter for precursor ions.
  - Q2: collision cell, the precursor ions get fragmentated to product ions.
  - Q3: second mass analyzer or quadrupole, the filter for product ions.
- 3. Detector



Figure 4. Components of the MS/MS instrument.

*Figure* **5** shows the mass spectra of aripiprazole and olanzapine generated by a triple quadrupole mass analyzer.



*Figure* 5. Mass spectra of aripiprazole and olanzapine generated by a triple quadrupole mass analyzer.

Rhombus signs refer to precursor ions. The continuous lines show the product ions. The arrows display the site of fragmentation to generate the product ions in the second quadrupole. Source: Koller *et al.*, 2019, modified <sup>7</sup>.

# 2.3. Sample preparation for LC-MS

Prior to injecting the sample to the LC system, the sample needs to be extracted appropriately, because tissue, blood, plasma, urine or cerebrospinal fluid cannot be injected directly. These matrices contain various endogenous and exogenous compounds that can interfere with the analysis. The most common methods for sample preparation in LC-MS are protein precipitation (PPT), liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and solid phase extraction (SPE).

PPT denatures the protein content of the sample while disrupting its drug binding ability. A strong acid or base, heat or organic solvents could be used for this process <sup>18</sup>. LLE is based on mixing an aqueous sample with an equal volume of organic solvent. Finally, the analyte will be extracted from the aqueous layer into the organic layer, however, it has to be soluble in the latter <sup>19</sup>. SPE separates compounds in the mixture based on their physical and chemical properties. It is used to concentrate and purify samples for analysis <sup>20</sup>.

Choosing the appropriate sample extraction method for LC-MS analysis is of great importance as it has influence on the quality of the chromatogram and the ionization process <sup>19</sup>. Although PPT method eliminates big particles and proteins, lipids and salts still remain in the sample. Lipids are crucial LC-MS contaminants, especially when ESI is used as an ionization process <sup>8</sup>. SPE eliminates most of the interferences from the sample, thus reducing matrix effect (ion suppression or enhancement) <sup>21</sup>.

# 2.4. Analytical method validation

Validation of an analytical method is necessary to demonstrate its reliability and reproducibility for quantitative analysis. Validation is specific for a particular matrix and has to be repeated in case of using another matrix. Guidelines of regulatory agencies – U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), EMA and International Council on Harmonization (ICH) – explain the requirements for targeted method validation  $^{22-24}$ . The following parameters should be evaluated during analytical method validation:

- 1. Selectivity or specificity
- 2. Linearity (calibration curve)
- 3. LOD and lower limit of quantification (LLOQ)
- 4. Accuracy and precision
- 5. Extraction recovery and matrix effects
- 6. Stability

# 2.4.1. Selectivity

Samples are usually a mixture of several compounds; thus the analytical method must be selective for the analyte of interest. When many interfering compounds are in the sample, the method is less selective. If its results are not affected by any other sample component, the method is completely specific. However, analytical methods are never 100% specific, but the analyst must be pursued to reach the highest specificity possible <sup>25</sup>.

## 2.4.2. Linearity

Linearity is the method's ability to obtain directly proportional test results to the concentration of the analyte in the sample. Linearity refers to two sets of samples: calibrators and quality controls. Calibration curve with 6 to 8 calibration standards covering the expected calibration range should be performed for each analysis to quantify the analytes of interest. In addition, an LLOQ, a low, a medium and a high quality controls should be used; all of them need to be inside of the calibration range <sup>22,23</sup>. Three calibration methods can be used in quantitative analysis: external standard, internal standard and standard addition. In the present study, the IS method was used. An IS should be chemically similar to the analyte of interest and isotope-labeled. An equal amount of IS, that is not present in the sample, should be added to the samples, the calibrators and quality controls <sup>26</sup>. In addition, a blank and a zero sample should be also used during validation. The blank sample is a processed matrix sample without analyte and without IS, and the zero sample is a blank sample with IS <sup>22</sup>.

# 2.4.3. LOD and LLOQ

LOD or detection limit is the smallest amount or concentration of analyte in the sample that can be reliably distinguished from zero. Contrastively, the LLOQ is the lowest concentration of the analyte that can be determined with an acceptable repeatability. The lower LOD and LLOQ are, more sensitive is the method <sup>27</sup>.

# 2.4.4. Accuracy and precision

Accuracy indicates the closeness of a single measurement to the true value or an accepted reference value. Accuracy should be assessed on samples spiked with the quality controls that contain known amount of analytes. Precision describes the closeness of repeated individual measurements of the analyte within a single run and between different runs. Precision relates to the random error of a measurement system and it is a component of measurement uncertainty <sup>22</sup>.

# 2.4.5. Extraction recovery and matrix effects

Recovery is calculated as the ratio of the peak area of the analyte spiked before and after the extraction process. It basically shows the efficiency of the extraction process. Matrix effect
compares the concentration of the analyte spiked after the extraction process to the neat solution of the analyte <sup>22</sup>. Matrix effects are often caused by the alteration of ionization efficiency of target analytes in the presence of coeluting compounds in the same matrix. Matrix effects can be observed either as a loss in response (ion suppression) or as an increase in response (ion enhancement). Both the ion suppression and enhancement dramatically affect the analytical performance of a method. The IS compensates for most of the matrix effects <sup>28</sup>.

### 2.4.6. Stability

Stability is the chemical stability of a specific analyte in a matrix under specific conditions at different time points. Analyte stability must be ensured during sample collection, processing, storage, extraction and duration of the analysis. Thus, stability tests are usually among the most time-consuming tests in the validation procedure <sup>22,23</sup>.

# 2.5. LC-MS in clinical pharmacokinetic studies

Clinical pharmacokinetics is described by a four-letter acronym, ADME: absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion. It is used to describe mechanisms: crossing the gut wall (A); movement between compartments (D); mechanisms of metabolism (M); excretion or elimination (E); and transport (T) is usually added <sup>29</sup>. In general, the active moiety of the drug is followed through the body and during the whole time that the drug is present. *Figure 6* presents the pathway from the prescription of the drug until the patient's health. Although ADME is used traditionally, the acronym ABCD – administration, bioavailability, clearance and distribution – was developed for clinical pharmacology. Administration refers to dosing and adherence; bioavailability is the active moiety of the drug that arrives in the systemic circulation (A from ADME); clearance is the drug leaving the systemic circulation (ME from ADME) and distribution is the site or sites of action (D from ADME) <sup>30</sup>.



*Figure* **6**. The pathway from prescription to patient health. Source: Doogue *et al.*, 2013 <sup>30</sup>.

The traditional factors for choosing the most appropriate drug for each patient are age, sex, weight, race, other diseases and other treatments <sup>31–34</sup>. Pharmacokinetic studies provide additional information for drug prescription. They are used to explore bioavailability, bioequivalence, drug discovery, safety, drug-drug interactions, dose adjustment, efficacy and toxicity <sup>35</sup>. Ideally, pharmacokinetic studies can be applied in personalized medicine <sup>36</sup>. Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is a clinical laboratory measurement that can directly influence drug prescription. TDM is for the individualization of drug dosage by maintaining plasma or blood drug concentrations within a targeted therapeutic range or window. By combining knowledge of pharmaceutics, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics, TDM enables the assessment of the efficacy, safety and toxicity of a particular drug. The overall goal is to individualize treatment for each patient separately, thereby maximizing efficacy and minimizing toxicity <sup>37</sup>.

The most important pharmacokinetic parameters are shown in *Table* 1.

Parameter	Description	Symbol	Unit
Maximum concentration	The peak plasma concentration of a drug after administration.	C <sub>max</sub>	M, ng/mL
Time to maximum concentration	Time to reach C <sub>max</sub> .	T <sub>max</sub> s, h	
<b>Minimum</b> concentration	Through concentration; the lowest concentration that a drug reaches before the administration of the next dose	C <sub>min</sub> M, ng/mL	
Volume of distribution	Volume of distribution; the apparent volume in which a drug is distributed.	Vd	m³, L/kg
Clearance	The volume of plasma cleared of the drug per unit time.	Cl m <sup>3</sup> /s, mL/h/kg	
Elimination half-life	The time required for the drug concentration to decrease to half of its original value for oral and other extravascular routes.	T <sub>1/2</sub> s	
Area under the curve	The integral of the concentration- time curve.	AUC	M•s, ng•h/mL

Table 1. Pharmacokinetic parameters.

The therapeutic range is the range of drug concentrations within the desired clinical response and low probability of toxicity. When drug concentrations reach to the maximum tolerated concentration (MTC), toxicity and side effects can appear. On the contrary, when drug concentrations do not reach the minimum effective concentration (MEC), the treatment can be ineffective <sup>38</sup> (*Figure 7*).





Source: Mehrotra et al., 2016<sup>38</sup>, modified.

**Abbreviations:** MEC: minimum effective concentration; MTC: maximum tolerated concentration; onset time: the time required for the drug to reach MEC after administration.

**Definitions:** duration of action: the time difference between the onset time and the time for the drug to decline back to MEC; therapeutic range: concentration between MEC and MTC; toxic level: level above MTC; subtherapeutic level: concentration below MEC.

Drugs undergo a series of chemical transformations by drug-metabolizing enzymes (DMEs) in order to facilitate their excretion from the body. This transformation is achieved through different metabolic pathways that are classified into two phases: phase I and phase II metabolism. Phase I reactions may occur by oxidation, reduction, hydrolysis, cyclization, decyclization and addition of oxygen or removal of hydrogen by cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes. CYPs metabolize 75% of drugs that are eliminated principally in the liver. In phase II reactions the drugs are conjugated with glutathione, sulfate, glycine or glucuronic acid by glutathione S-transferases, sulfotransferases, glycine N-acyltransferases and UDP-glucuronosyltransferases, respectively <sup>39</sup>.

# **3.** Pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics

# 3.1. Concept

As mentioned before, the goal of modern medicine is to individualize treatment for each patient. Apart from TDM, pharmacogenetics is also a highly important area worth to consider before prescribing a drug. Personalized medicine is also of interest to the pharmaceutical industry as it can help with drug development, drug testing and drug registration process while reducing the costs <sup>40</sup>.

Pharmacogenetics investigates the variability in drug response due to heredity. Currently, the term pharmacogenomics is used more frequently that refers to all the genes in the genome that can determine drug response <sup>41</sup>. Pharmacogenetics originates from Pythagoras in Italy, where he found out that the ingestion of fava beans induced hemolytic anemia in some people, but not in all individuals <sup>40</sup>. Friedrich Vogel was the first who used the term pharmacogenetics in 1959 <sup>42</sup>. However, the field became of interest with the Human Genome Project <sup>41</sup>.



The concept of pharmacogenetics is explained in *Figure* 8.

Figure 8. The concept of personalized medicine based on pharmacogenetic testing.

Pharmacogenetic differences may cause reduced protein expression, increased resistance (usually a receptor mediated mechanism), altered response due to differences in enzyme induction and other disorders of unknown etiology. A difference does not mean disorder automatically, as low enzyme activity is not always associated with adverse reactions or ineffective treatment <sup>41</sup>.

# 3.2. Genetic polymorphisms

The most important polymorphisms in pharmacogenetics are SNPs with the frequency of at least 1% in the population <sup>43</sup>. In addition, variable number of tandem repeats (VNTRs), short tandem repeats or microsatellites (STRs) and CNVs are also investigated regarding the variability in drug response <sup>44</sup>. CNVs are repeated sections of the genome and the number of repeats varies between individuals. They are structural variations: duplications or deletions that affect a considerable number of base pairs <sup>45</sup>.

Each SNP represents a difference in a single nucleotide. For instance, a SNP may replace the nucleotide adenine (A) with the nucleotide guanine (G) or thymine (T) in a certain stretch of DNA (*Figure 9*). SNPs, given their 1% frequency in the population, occur almost once in every 1000 nucleotides, therefore there are approximately 4 to 5 million SNPs in the genome. These variations may be rare or occur in many individuals.

An allele is a variant form of a gene, i.e. it is one of two or more versions of a mutation or SNP. Each individual inherits two alleles for each gene, one from the mother and one from the father. These alleles are in the same position on the homologous chromosomes (known as locus). On the autosomal chromosomes, the genotype for a SNP is the combination of the same two alleles at the same locus (one on each chromosome), known as homozygous. Subjects with two different alleles at one locus, one on each chromosome, are known as heterozygotes. For instance, the possible genotypes or allele pairs of a change from the C allele to the T allele are:

- C/C: the ancestral genotype, usually the most frequent and called as wild-type
- C/T: heterozygous genotype
- T/T: normally the least frequent genotype, called as mutant

Therefore, each individual can be classified as homozygous wild-type, heterozygous and homozygous mutant for each SNP.



Figure 9. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs).

SNPs can act as biological markers or play a direct role in disease development by affecting the gene's function. SNPs can be within coding sequences, non-coding regions or in the intergenic regions of genes. SNPs in the coding regions can be synonymous and nonsynonymous. Synonymous SNPs do not affect the protein sequence, while nonsynonymous SNPs change its amino acid sequence. The nonsynonymous SNPs can be missense or nonsense. Missense SNPs result in a codon (nucleotide triplets coding an amino acid) for a different amino acid. Nonsense SNPs cause a premature stop codon, therefore the truncation of the protein. SNPs that are outside of the protein-coding regions still can affect splicing, transcription factor and microRNA binding or messenger RNA degradation. These SNPs are usually in the promotor, upstream (5' untranslated region; 5'UTR) or downstream (3' untranslated region; 3'UTR) regions of the gene <sup>46</sup>.

Since the completion of the Human Genome Project (2003), the entire sequence of the human genome – 3 billion base pairs – is known and freely accessible to everyone (e.g. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u> or <u>https://www.ensembl.org/index.html</u>). However, all the details of this enormous amount of information are still unknown. For instance, the biological role of many mutations and polymorphisms and the exact function of transposons (genes that can change their position) is currently unknown. This can be due to the fact that individual variations have

little effect; many SNPs in many genes form the phenotype together with environmental factors <sup>46</sup>. Additionally, a consortium was founded between the pharmaceutical industry and charities to create a library of 300000 SNPs, however, finally it contains 1.42 million SNPs at an average density of one SNP every 1.9 kilobases. Theoretically, this could be used to create individual SNP profiles correlated with individual drug response <sup>47</sup>.

The two main approaches for the analysis of the genetic predisposition related to diseases are candidate gene studies and genome-wide association studies (GWAS). Both approaches have several advantages and disadvantages. Candidate gene studies have higher statistical power, but cannot discover new genes of interest. GWAS can discover new genes or gene combinations, however, they have lower statistical power <sup>48</sup>.

# 3.3. Pharmacogenes

SNPs present in metabolizing enzymes and transporters may affect the pharmacokinetics of drugs, while SNPs in receptors, ion channels or other molecules involved in the mechanism of action of drugs may affect their pharmacodynamics. Therefore, the response to drugs could be predicted by genetic polymorphisms that influence their pharmacokinetics and/or pharmacodynamics.

As mentioned before, SNPs in genes related to pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics are the main genetic factors accountable for individual drug response. Additionally, CNVs also take part in variable response. Several variants can be the cause of drug toxicity in particular patients and others are responsible for ineffectiveness of certain drugs. Pharmacogenes can be classified in different ways; the most suitable is functional characterization, which classify pharmacogenes on the basis of their protein function in three major classes: drug metabolizing enzymes, drug transporters and drug targets <sup>49</sup>.

Currently 66 Very Important Pharmacogenes (VIP) are registered in the The Pharmacogenomics Knowledge Base (PharmGKB) database (<u>https://www.pharmgkb.org/vips</u>) based on recommendations from FDA and Clinical Pharmacogenetic Implementation Consortium (CPIC).

The listed VIP genes involve in the pharmacokinetic and pharmacogenetic variability of several drugs. Most of these genes (33) are involved in drug metabolism <sup>49</sup> (*Table 2*).

Involve in	<b>Biological function</b>	VIP gene
		ADH1A1, ADH1B, ADH1C, ALDH1A1,
		ALOX5, COMT, CYP1A2, CYP2A6, CYP2B6,
		<i>CYP2C19, CYP2C8, CYP2C9, CYP2D6,</i>
	Matabalizar	CYP2E1, CYP2J2, CYP3A4, CYP3A5,
Dhann a a bin atian	Wietabolizer	CYP4F2, DPYD, G6PD, GSTP1, GSTT1,
Pharmacokinetics		HMGCR, MTHFR, NAT2, NQO1, PTGIS,
		PTGS2, SULT1A1, TPMT, TYMS, UGT1A1,
		VKORC1
	Transporter	ABCB1, CFTR, SLC19A1, SLC22A1,
		SLCO1B1, ABCG2
		ADRB1, ADRB2, AHR, ALK, DRD2, EGFR,
	Receptor	ERBB2, NR112, P2RY1, P2RY12, RYR1, HLA-
		B, VDR
Dhaumaaa dumamiaa	Signaling	ABL1, BRCA1, KIT, KRAS, NRAS, BRAF, BCR
Pharmacodynamics	Ion channel	KCNH2, KCNJ11, SCN5A, CACNA15
	Coagulation	<i>F5</i>
	Ribosomal RNA	MT-RNR1
	Regulator	ACE

Table 2. List of Very Important Pharmacogenes (VIP).

Source: <u>https://www.pharmgkb.org/vips</u>.

### 3.3.1. Cytochrome P450 enzymes

The most studied drug metabolizer class is CYP450; the 57 existing CYP proteins metabolize thousands of endogenous compounds and xenobiotics. CYP450 enzymes are predominantly expressed in the liver, but they are present in the small intestine, lungs, placenta and kidneys as well <sup>50</sup>. To be a member in the CPY450 family, 40% of the amino acid sequence has to be identical and this is 55% when it is a member in the subfamily. Finally, the individual enzymes differ 3% in their amino acid sequence <sup>51</sup> (*Figure* 10). From the 18 existing families, CYP1, CYP2 and CYP3 are the most relevant in the phase I drug metabolism <sup>52</sup>. Yet, 90% of the drugs are metabolized by CYP1A2, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, and CYP3A5 <sup>50</sup>.



Figure 10. Nomenclature of the Cytochrome P450 superfamily.

Each isoform varies in each population due to genetic, non-genetic and environmental factors, some of which are constant (genotype, sex), while others are dynamic (age, administered drugs, pathologies). These factors also do not influence different isoforms in the same manner. For instance, the activity of CYP2D6 is mainly influenced by genetic polymorphisms, while the activity of CYP3A4 is mainly influenced by sex and induction or inhibition by a wide range of drugs <sup>53</sup>. *Figure* 11 shows the contribution of the most frequent drug metabolizing CYPs and factors that influence their variability.





Variability factors are indicated by bold type with possible directions of influence indicated ( $\uparrow$ : increased activity;  $\downarrow$ : decreased activity;  $\uparrow\downarrow$ : increased and decreased activity). Source: Zanger *et al.*, 2014 <sup>53</sup>.

#### 3.3.2. Drug transporters

In pharmacogenetics, it is also of importance to analyze transporters, i.e. membrane proteins that control the access of endogenous and xenobiotic substances throughout the body. Unlike drug metabolizing enzymes, which are mainly expressed in the liver and intestine, drug transporters are found in all types of tissues. For this reason, their role is relevant in the absorption, distribution and elimination of drugs, thus influencing their pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. The Human Genome Project identified more than 400 transporters belonging to the two main superfamilies: ATP-Binding Casette (ATP or ABC) transporters and the solute carrier (SLC) families <sup>54</sup>.

The ABC carrier family plays a key role in the absorption of drugs in the gastrointestinal tract or in their transportation through the blood-brain barrier to the central nervous system. The most important protein in the ABC family is the P-glycoprotein (P-gp), a flow pump that transports xenobiotic compounds out of the tissue in which they are expressed <sup>55</sup>. P-gp was discovered by its ability to confer multidrug resistance (MDR) to cancer cells <sup>56</sup>. It is encoded by the *ABCB1* (*MDR1*) gene and it is expressed in specialized epithelial cells of secretory/excretory organs (liver, kidneys, small intestine) and in cells of the blood-brain barrier or the placenta <sup>57</sup>. Due to its particular location, P-gp may be involved in the ADME process of multiple drugs <sup>58</sup>. Therefore, P-gp expression level and its functional integrity may influence the pharmacokinetics of drugs that are its substrates <sup>59</sup>.

#### 3.4. Clinical Practice Guidelines

Clinical Practice Guidelines facilitate the access about recent findings and help to understand all the information to provide treatment recommendations. However, the fast development of pharmacogenetic knowledge does not always imply that the clinical evidence is enough to set guidelines for treatment or dosage. Therefore, an important barrier for the implementation of pharmacogenetics in clinical practice is the translation of the results of a genetic test into clinical application <sup>60</sup>.

The first dosing recommendations were for antidepressants based on CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genotypes related to pharmacokinetic data <sup>61</sup>. To date, the two most important groups that develop guidelines are the CPIC and the Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG). The CPIC was established in 2009 as a joint project between the Pharmacogenomics Research Network (PGRN) and the PharmGKB. The objectives of CPIC are 1) to address the barriers of the implementation of pharmacogenetic tests into clinical practice, 2) to provide guidelines that enable the translation of genetic laboratory test results into prescribing decisions for drugs individually. To date, this database contains 40 gene-drug pairs with therapeutic recommendation and it is available for free in <u>https://cpicpgx.org/guidelines/</u>. The objectives of DPWG are 1) to develop pharmacogenetics-based therapeutic and dose recommendations, 2) to assist drug prescribers and pharmacists by integrating the recommendations into computerized systems for drug prescription and automated medication surveillance <sup>62</sup>. This database contains more than 50 gene-drug pairs with therapeutic recommendation and it is available for free in https://www.pharmgkb.org/page/dpwg.

These guidelines include several gene/drug pairs, such as CFTR/ivacaftor, CYP2B6/efavirenz, CYP2C19/clopidogrel, CYP2D6/tamoxifen, DPYD/fluoropyrimidines or HLA-B/abacavir, among others (*Table* 3).

Recommendation	Drug	Gene
CFTR and ivacaftor	Ivacaftor	CFTR
CYP2C19 and clopidogrel	Clopidogrel	<i>CYP2C19</i>
CYP2C19 and voriconazol	Voriconazol	<i>CYP2C19</i>
CVP2C0 HI 4 B and phonytoin	Phonytoin	HLA-B
CH 2C9, HLA-b and phenytom	rhenytom	CYP2C9
		CYP2C9
CYP2C9, VKORC1, CYP4F2 and warfarin	Warfarin	VKORC1
		CYP4F2
CYP2D6 and atomoxetine	Atomoxetine	CYP2D6
CYP2D6 and codeine	Codeine	CYP2D6
CYP2D6 and ondansetron and tropisetron	Ondansetron, Tropisetron	CYP2D6

Table 3. Gene-drug	g pair recom	nendations in	Clinical	Practice	Guidelines.
--------------------	--------------	---------------	----------	----------	-------------

Recommendation	Drug	Gene
CYP2D6 and tamoxifen	Tamoxifen	CYP2D6
	Citalopram	
CVP2D6 CVP2C10 and selective scretenin	Escitalopram	CVDIDA
<i>clr2D0</i> , <i>clr2c19</i> and selective selotonini	Fluvoxamine	CIF2D0 CVP2C10
	Paroxetine	CIF2CI9
	Sertraline	
	Amitriptyline	
	Clomipramine	
CVP2D6 CVP2C10 and evolie	Desipramine	CVD2D6
crr2D0, crr2Cr9 and cyclic	Doxepin	CIF2D0 CVP2C10
anndepressants	Imipramine	CIF2CI9
	Nortiptyline	
	Trimipramine	
CYP3A5 and tacrolimus	Tacrolimus	CYP3A5
	Capecitabine	
DPYD and fluoropyrimidines	Fluoroacil	DPYD
	Tegafur	
G6PD and rasburicase	Rasburicase	G6PD
HLA-A, HLA-B and carbamazepine and	Carbamazepine	HLA-A
oxcarbamazepine	Oxcarbamazepine	HLA-B
HLA-B and abacavir	Abacavir	HLA-B
HLA-B and alopurinol	Alopurinol	HLA-B
IFNL3 and regimens based on pegylated	Pegylated interferon alfa-2A	IENII 2
interferon	Pegylated interferon alfa-2B	IF NLS
	Desflurane	
	Enflurane	
RYR1, CACNA1S and volatile anesthetic	Halothane	DVD 1
agents and succinylcholine	Methoxyflurane	KIKI CACNAIS
	Isoflurane	CACINAIS
	Sevoflurane	
	Succinylcholine	
SLCO1B1 and simvastatin	Simvastatin	SLCO1B1
	Azathioprine	
TPMT, NUDT15 and thiopurines	Mercaptopurine	
	Thioguanine	
UGT1A1 and atazanavir	Atazanavir	UGT1A1

Source: <u>https://cpicpgx.org/guidelines/</u>.

# 4. Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a debilitating mental disorder that impairs mental and social functioning. The disease affects about 1% of the total population and it is equally prevalent in males and females. However, males habitually get diagnosed with the disease in their late teenage years or early twenties, while females usually start to show symptoms in their late twenties or early thirties. There are five types of schizophrenia: paranoid, disorganized, catatonic, undifferentiated and residual <sup>63</sup>. The disease is generally characterized by positive and negative symptoms. The most common positive symptoms are hallucinations, paranoid delusions and disorganized speech and behavior, while the most common negative symptoms are social withdrawal, difficulties with affection, speech impairment, apathy, anhedonia, loss of motivation and lack of social interest, among others. These changes hinder these patients from maintaining a normal life and also affect social relations, i.e. relationship with their families and friends. Additionally, there is a 10% lifetime risk of suicide <sup>64</sup>. Apart from this issue, substance abuse – especially consuming alcohol, nicotine, cocaine and cannabis – is very common. Normally, substance abuse is associated with substandard treatment outcomes, including increased psychotic symptoms and poorer treatment compliance <sup>65</sup>.

Schizophrenia is considered as a polygenic disorder with the presence of several environmental factors. Possible risk factors to develop the disease are family history, season and birth location, socioeconomic status and maternal infections. However, to date, the evidence is still inconclusive <sup>66,67</sup>. The genetic risk of schizophrenia is highly sensitive to the patients' emotional status and family environment. Even if being genetically predisposed to the disease, several environmental factors could be protective against the manifestation of the symptoms <sup>68</sup>. Additionally, ethnicity also seems to be an important risk factor in the development of the disease. African Americans, Asians, and Hispanics are diagnosed more frequently with schizophrenia compared to Caucasians <sup>69</sup>. Likewise, the incidence of schizophrenia is higher among immigrant ethnic groups in Western Europe, what can be caused by the social stress due to their ethnic minority <sup>70</sup>.

The most studied SNPs in the genetic background of schizophrenia are in the following candidate genes: disrupted in schizophrenia 1 (*DISC1*), dystrobrevin-binding protein 1 (*DTNBP1*),

neuregulin 1 (*NRG1*) and catechol-O-methyltransferase (*COMT*). DISC1 participates in the regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, neuronal axon and dendrite outgrowth, mitochondrial transport, fission and fusion and cell-to-cell adhesion <sup>71</sup>. DTNBP1 belongs to the dytrophin-associated protein complex of skeletal muscle cells <sup>72</sup>. NRG1 is a cell adhesion protein what belongs to the neuregulin family that act on the EGFR receptors <sup>73</sup>. COMT is one of several enzymes that degrade catecholamines <sup>74</sup>.

Furthermore, several studies found associations between schizophrenia and genetic markers across the extended Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) locus on chromosome 6. Likewise, the role of rare and large CNVs, i.e. deletions on chromosome 1q21.1, 3q29, 15q13.3 and 22q11.2 and duplications on chromosome 16p11.2 and 16p13.11 seem to be related to the disease. Thus, genetics is definitely a strong risk factor for schizophrenia, however, its genetic architecture is very complex, heterogeneous and polygenic: the risk for the disease is constituted by numerous common genetic variants (e.g. SNPs) and by uncommon, but highly penetrant genetic variants with larger effect (e.g. CNVs)<sup>75</sup>.

Furthermore, dopamine seems to play an important role. Drugs that cause psychoses similar to the positive symptoms of schizophrenia increase dopaminergic neurotransmission, and almost all antipsychotics decrease dopaminergic neurotransmission. Nevertheless, dopaminergic pathways cannot entirely explain the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and the role of other neurotransmitters, such as serotonin, should be considered <sup>76</sup>.

# 5. Antipsychotic treatment

Antipsychotics are utilized for the treatment of several psychiatric conditions, including schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, reactive psychoses, depression with psychotic symptoms, psychoses due to substance abuse, mental retardation, delirium, borderline personality disorders, Huntington's disease, Tourette's syndrome, among others <sup>77</sup>.

Effective pharmacologic treatment for schizophrenia has been available since the 1950s in Europe and the United States. After introducing the first antipsychotic to the market, the term

"neuroleptic" was introduced to distinguish their effects from other sedatives and antidepressants <sup>78</sup>. Since introducing clozapine, the first second-generation (atypical) antipsychotic, this term usually refers to first-generation (typical) antipsychotics. The term atypical antipsychotic refers to the less risk of extrapyramidal side effects compared to typical antipsychotics. *Table* **4** presents currently available antipsychotic agents in Europe.

Medication class	Drug	Year of approval by EMA	Usual effective dose	
	Perphenazine	1957	16 mg twice daily	
	Trifluoperazine	1959	6 mg twice daily	
Donomino D2	Fluphenazine	1960	2.5 mg twice daily	
ontagonists	Haloperidol	1967	5 mg three times daily	
(high_notency)	Thiothixene	1967	10 mg three times daily	
(ingii-potency)	Fluphenazine	1072	25 mg intramuscular	
	decanoate	1972	injection every three weeks	
	Haloperidol	1086	100 mg intramuscular	
	decanoate	1700	injection every four weeks	
Dopamine D2	Molindone	1974	25 mg three times daily	
antagonists	Loxanine	1975	50 mg twice daily	
(mid-potency)	cy)			
Dopamine D2	Chlorpromazine	1957	100 mg three times daily	
antagonists (low- potency)	Thioridazine	1962	100 mg three times daily	
	Clozapine	1989	125 mg twice daily	
Atypical (mixed	Risperidone	1993	4 mg once daily	
neuroreceptor	Olanzapine	1996	10 mg once daily	
antagonists: low-	Quetiapine	1997	200 mg twice daily	
anniny donamina D2	Ziprasidone	2001	40 mg twice daily	
uopainine D2	Aripiprazole*	2002	20 mg once daily	
high_affinity 5-	Paliperidone	2006	3 mg once daily	
HT <sub>24</sub>	Iloperidone	2009	12 mg twice daily	
antagonists)	Asenapine	2009	10 mg twice daily	
antagonists)	Lurasidone	2010	40 mg once daily	

*Table* 4. Currently available antipsychotic drugs.

\*Aripiprazole shows special atypicality compared to other atypical antipsychotics; it acts as a partial agonist at dopamine D2 receptors and it is a 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor antagonist. Source: Mauri *et al.*, 2014<sup>79</sup>.

Nonadherence to medications, consequently relapse is a significant problem; in a previous study, 74% of patients discontinued their medication within 18 months after starting treatment <sup>80</sup>. Originally, atypical antipsychotics were thought to help with this issue due to the lower risk of neurological side effects. Nevertheless, drop-out rates and the risk of relapse did not seem to improve <sup>81</sup>. Additionally, it was found that many benefits of the atypical antipsychotics were dosedependent; when administering low doses, the neurological side effects ceased <sup>82</sup>. Furthermore, delays in initiating antipsychotic therapy may result in lifetime psychotic episodes and difficulties with social adjustment <sup>83</sup>.

Antipsychotic polypharmacy, i.e. the co-prescription of more than one antipsychotic drug to the patient, is frequently applied in the clinical environment. The general reason to do so is to gain a faster therapeutic response compared to antipsychotic monotherapy. The risk-benefit profile of polypharmacy is usually unfavorable due to the increased number of adverse effects and the difficulty to establish a maintenance dose <sup>84</sup>. Moreover, anticholinergic, antidepressant, anxiolytic and mood stabilizing drugs, among others, are also frequently prescribed in addition to antipsychotic drugs <sup>85</sup>.

# 5.1. Adverse drug reactions

Medications can control the positive and negative symptoms; however, all antipsychotics have side effects. Typical antipsychotics usually cause several extrapyramidal side effects, such as dystonic reactions (fixed upper gaze, neck twisting, facial muscle spasms), parkinsonian symptoms (rigidity, bradykinesia, shuffling gait, tremor), akathisia (inability to sit still, restlessness, tapping of feet) and neuroleptic malignant syndrome (catatonia, stupor, fever, unstable blood pressure, myoglobinemia) <sup>64</sup>. Tardive dyskinesia is also considered as an extrapyramidal side effect. It is a movement disorder that is characterized by involuntary and repetitive body movements <sup>86</sup>. Normally, the Abnormal Involuntary Movement Scale is used to monitor the development of involuntary movements associated with typical antipsychotics <sup>87</sup>.

Atypical antipsychotics are associated with fewer neurological side effects. However, the risk of metabolic side effects (diabetes, hypercholesterolemia, hyperprolactinemia, weight gain,

hyperinsulinemia, elevated triglyceride levels, elevated plasma uric acid levels) is higher compared to typical antipsychotics <sup>88</sup>. The incidence of metabolic side effects is considered certainly high, therefore their recurrent monitoring is recommended in patients (*Table 5*). However, few data are available concerning the relative frequency of performing these tests <sup>89</sup>.

Table 5. Physical health monitoring recommendations for patients before and une	der antipsychotic
treatment.	

Condition	Recommendation	Monitoring Procedure
	Monitoring body mass index (BMI)	
Weight gain	The risk of weight gain is higher for patients with BMI $\geq 25$	BMI measurement
	A weight gain of one BMI unit indicates a need for an	Divit incasurement
	intervention, except for underweight patients (BMI <18.5)	
	Baseline plasma glucose level measurement before starting	Fasting plasma
	a new antipsychotic	alucose level or
Diabetes	Patients with high risk for diabetes and weight gain should	hemoglobin A <sub>10</sub> value
Diabetes	be frequently monitored	
	The symptoms of new-onset diabetes – weight loss,	Evaluation
	polyuria, polydipsia – should be diagnosed	
	Lipid levels should be monitored	
	Schizophrenic patients should be considered to be at high	
	risk for coronary heart disease	
	National Cholesterol Education Program guidelines	Screening of total
	(http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/about/ncep/) should be followed	cholesterol, low- and
Hvperlipidemia	for screening and treating patients who are at high risk for	high-density
	cardiovascular disease	lipoprotein (LDL and
	If the patient's LDL level is $>130 \text{ mg/dl}$ , the patient should	HDL) cholesterol,
	be sent to a primary care provider or internist and the	and triglycerides
	patient should change his/her diet to reduce fat intake. If	
	the LDL level does not fall into the normal range, a	
	cholesterol-lowering drug should be initiated	
	Thioridazine, mesoridazine, or pimozide should not be	
	prescribed for patients with known heart disease, a	
OT interval	personal history of syncope, a family history of sudden	
prolongation	death at an early age or congenital prolonged QT syndrome	Electrocardiogram
1 8	Patients with any of the risk factors described in the	
	previous recommendation for whom ziprasidone is	
	prescribed should be evaluated with an ECG	

Condition	Recommendation	Monitoring Procedure
	Female patients should be asked about changes in menstruation and libido and whether they have milk coming out of their breasts; male patients should be asked about libido and erectile and ejaculatory function	Asking patients about symptoms associated
Prolactin and sexual function	If a patient is receiving an antipsychotic known to be associated with prolactin elevation, the questions described in the previous recommendation should be asked more frequently	with prolactin elevation
	If having symptoms, the patient's prolactin level should be measured and, if possible, other medical causes of the symptoms should be ruled out; a medication change should be considered to a prolactin-sparing medication	Measuring prolactin level
Extrapyramidal side effects	Extrapyramidal side effects and tardive dyskinesia should be examined before the initiation of any antipsychotic medication to determine the possible preexistence of parkinsonian signs or abnormal involuntary movements After initiation of antipsychotic medication, patients should be evaluated frequently for extrapyramidal side effects until the dose has been stabilized	Examination for rigidity, tremor, akathisia
	Tardive dyskinesia should be examined frequently; patients at high risk for tardive dyskinesia, including elderly patients, should be examined even more frequently	Examination for tardive dyskinesia
Cataracts	Change in vision, especially distance vision and blurry vision should be evaluated	Inquiry about change in vision
	Regular ocular evaluations should be performed	Evaluation
Myocarditis	Clozapine-treated patients should be monitored for myocarditis Myocarditis should be suspected in clozapine-treated patients with unexplained fatigue, dyspnea, tachypnea, fever, chest pain, palpitations, other signs or symptoms of heart failure, or ECG findings such as ST abnormalities and T wave inversions If myocarditis is suspected, the white blood count and serum level of troponin should be measured If myocarditis is identified, clozapine should be stopped and the patient should be urgently evaluated by a primary health care provider	No specific recommendations

Source: Marder et al., 2004<sup>89</sup>.

# 5.2. Olanzapine

#### 5.2.1. Pharmacokinetics

Olanzapine, a thienobenzodiazepine derivative, is an atypical antipsychotic. The FDA approved it in 1996. Doses from 5 to 20 mg once a day are effective and well tolerated by patients <sup>90</sup>.

Olanzapine is well absorbed with 87% of absolute bioavailability and reaches  $T_{max}$  in approximately 6 hours following an oral dose. It is eliminated extensively by first pass metabolism, with approximately 40% of the dose metabolized before reaching the systemic circulation. Food does not affect the rate or extent of olanzapine absorption. Olanzapine displays linear kinetics over the clinical dosing range. Its  $T_{1/2}$  ranges from 21 to 54 hours. When administered once daily, it reaches steady-state concentrations in approximately 1 week. Plasma concentrations,  $T_{1/2}$  and Cl of olanzapine vary based on smoking status, gender, and age. Olanzapine is extensively distributed throughout the body, with a Vd of approximately 1000 L or 21.9 L/kg. 93% of the drug binds to plasma proteins, primarily to albumin and  $\alpha$ 1-acid glycoprotein.

Olanzapine is extensively metabolized by direct glucuronidation via the UDPglucuronosyltransferase (UGT) enzyme family and oxidized by CYP1A2 and secondarily by CYP2D6 and CYP3A4. Direct glucuronidation and CYP mediated oxidation are the primary metabolic pathways for olanzapine. In vitro studies suggest that CYP1A2 and CYP2D6, and the flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 (FMO3) are involved in olanzapine oxidation <sup>90,91</sup>. CYP2D6 mediated oxidation appears to be a minor metabolic pathway in vivo as the clearance of olanzapine is not reduced in CYP2D6-deficient subjects <sup>90</sup>. After multiple dosing, the major circulating metabolites were the 10-glucuronide, present at steady state at 44% of the concentration of olanzapine, and 4'-desmethyl olanzapine, present at steady state at 31% of the concentration of olanzapine. Both metabolites lack pharmacological activity at the concentrations observed <sup>90,92</sup>. Olanzapine acts as an P-glycoprotein (P-gp) inhibitor <sup>93</sup>. The complex metabolic pathways of olanzapine are shown in *Figure* 12.



Figure 12. The metabolic pathways of olanzapine.

Olanzapine is excreted mainly in the urine and partly in the feces. Following a single oral dose of  $^{14}$ C labelled olanzapine, 7% of the dose was recovered in the urine as unchanged drug, indicating that it is highly metabolized. Approximately 57% and 30% of the dose was recovered in the urine and feces, respectively. Approximately half of the radiocarbon was excreted within 3 days, whereas > 70% of the dose was recovered within 7 days of dosing <sup>94</sup>. In plasma, olanzapine accounted for only 12% of the AUC indicating significant exposure to metabolites <sup>95</sup>.

### 5.2.2. Mechanism of action

Olanzapine has significant *in vitro* inhibitory activity at dopamine D2, D3, D4, serotonin 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>, 5-HT<sub>2B</sub>, 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>, 5-HT<sub>3</sub>, 5-HT<sub>6</sub>, histamine H1,  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic and muscarinic M1-5 receptors. It has a higher 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>/ dopamine D2 binding ratio compared to typical antipsychotics <sup>95,96</sup> (*Figure* 13).

Olanzapine has high affinity for muscarinic M1-5 receptor subtypes, what could play an important

role in the suppression of extrapyramidal side effects through reducing dopamine receptor blockade <sup>97</sup>. Additionally, it has lower affinity for  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptors than clozapine and risperidone what may increase its mesocorticolimbic selectivity. In fact, the ideal binding profile for an antipsychotic agent are 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> antagonism, weak dopamine D2 antagonism and moderate  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic antagonism <sup>98</sup>. Olanzapine has higher affinity for histaminergic H1 receptors than haloperidol and risperidone what may be partly responsible for side effects, such as sedation and weight gain <sup>99</sup>. Additionally, it has low affinity for  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors like clozapine and haloperidol, which suggests to be a factor in the development of olanzapine-induced weight gain <sup>100</sup>. Finally, it has lower activity for  $\alpha$ 2-adrenergic receptors than clozapine, which may reduce cardiovascular effects habitually produced by clozapine <sup>101</sup>, however, it can lead to body weight changes <sup>102</sup>.



Figure 13. The mechanism of action of olanzapine.

Boxes are placed in rank order of how potently olanzapine binds to the receptors, with the most potent and largest boxes to the far left and the weakest binding and smallest boxes to the far right. The vertical line indicates the weaker binding to dopamine D2 receptor compared to other typical antipsychotics. Source: Riordan-Eva, Paul *et al.*, 2018<sup>103</sup>.

# 5.3. Aripiprazole

#### 5.3.1. Pharmacokinetics

Aripiprazole, a quinolinone derivative, is an atypical antipsychotic approved in 2002 by FDA. Doses from 15 to 30 mg once a day are effective and well tolerated by patients <sup>104</sup>. Aripiprazole tablet is well absorbed with 87% absolute oral bioavailability. It reaches  $T_{max}$  within 3 to 5 hours with the  $C_{max}$  of 163 to 452 ng/mL with the dose of 10 to 30 mg/day at steady state (day 14) <sup>105</sup>.

The single-dose pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole is linear and dose-proportional between the doses of 5 mg to 30 mg. Its steady-state Vd is high (404 L or 4.9 L/kg), indicating extensive extravascular distribution. At therapeutic concentrations, 99% of aripiprazole and its active metabolite, dehydro-aripiprazole bind to serum proteins, primarily to albumin. In healthy human volunteers 0.5 to 30 mg/day aripiprazole was administered for 14 days when dose-dependent D2 receptor occupancy was observed indicating brain penetration of aripiprazole in humans <sup>106</sup>.

The metabolism and elimination of aripiprazole is mainly mediated through two CYP isoforms, CYP2D6 and CYP3A4. CYP3A4 is responsible for N-dealkylation and both CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 mediate dehydrogenation and hydroxylation of the drug leading to its main active metabolite, dehydro-aripiprazole <sup>107,108</sup>. It amounts to 40% of the parent compound in plasma and has similar affinity for the dopamine D2 receptor, therefore shows similar pharmacological activity <sup>109</sup>. The complex metabolic pathways of aripiprazole are shown in *Figure* 14.



Figure 14. The metabolic pathways of aripiprazole.

Following a single oral dose of <sup>14</sup>C-labeled aripiprazole, approximately 25% and 55% of the administered radioactivity was recovered in the urine and feces, respectively. Less than 1% of unchanged aripiprazole was excreted in the urine and approximately 18% of the oral dose was recovered unchanged in the feces <sup>106</sup>. Its apparent systemic clearance (Cl) is approximately 3.45 L/h <sup>105</sup>. The mean elimination half-life (T<sub>1/2</sub>) is about 47-75 hours for aripiprazole <sup>105</sup>, however, for individuals who do not have sufficient CYP2D6 activity (poor metabolizers; PMs), this can be about 146 hours <sup>110</sup>. T<sub>1/2</sub> for its metabolite, dehydro-aripiprazole is about 83 hours <sup>109</sup>.

### 5.3.2. Mechanism of action

Aripiprazole acts as a partial agonist at dopamine D2, D3, D4 and serotonin 5-HT<sub>1A</sub>, 5-HT<sub>2C</sub> and  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptors and it is a 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> and 5-HT<sub>7</sub> receptor antagonist <sup>111</sup> (*Figure* 15). Due to its unique pharmacological profile, it is frequently defined as a third-generation antipsychotic drug <sup>112</sup>. Being a dopamine D2 partial agonist, it can act either as a functional agonist or a functional antagonist, depending on the surrounding levels of dopamine, a full agonist at this receptor. In the absence of dopamine, aripiprazole shows functional agonist activity, i.e. produces a response while

binding to the receptor. In the presence of dopamine, aripiprazole shows functional antagonist activity: when binding to the receptor, it reduces the response from that seen with the full agonist. This mechanism of action seems to be the ideal treatment for schizophrenia, as aripiprazole should act as a functional antagonist in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway, where excessive dopamine activity causes positive symptoms. Contrastively, it shows functional agonist activity in the mesocortical pathway, where reduced dopamine activity is associated with negative symptoms and cognitive impairment. Consequently, aripiprazole reduces both positive and negative symptoms more effectively compared to first and second generation antipsychotics <sup>113</sup>.



Figure 15. The mechanism of action of aripiprazole.

Boxes are placed in rank order of how potently aripiprazole binds to the receptors, with the most potent and largest boxes to the far left and the weakest binding and smallest boxes to the far right. The vertical line indicates the strongest binding to dopamine D2 receptor among all receptors. Partial agonistic activity is shown with red squares. Source: Stahl, Stephen M., 2016<sup>114</sup>.

Regarding adverse effects, the high occupancy of D2 receptors occurs with less risk of extrapyramidal symptoms as its partial agonism produces a significantly lower level of functional antagonism of D2 receptor-mediated neurotransmission than other atypical antipsychotics. Additionally, patients who switched from other atypical antipsychotics, such as olanzapine and risperidone to aripiprazole showed improvement in their subjective well-being <sup>112</sup>.

Dopamine is not the only factor why aripiprazole is effective and well tolerated in patients without producing many adverse effects. It can also interact with other neurotransmitter receptors, some of which may contribute to its therapeutic activity. The blockade of  $5\text{-HT}_{2A}$  receptors may increase dopamine release at striatal level, thus reducing the incidence of motor side effects, and in the prefrontal cortex where, the decreased dopaminergic transmission contributes to cognitive dysfunction. Moreover, aripiprazole exhibits higher occupancy at D2 receptors (87%) than at  $5\text{-HT}_{2A}$  receptors (52%), suggesting that, its atypical profile is not related to a high  $5\text{-HT}_{2A}/D2$  binding profile alike other atypical antipsychotics <sup>115</sup>. Moreover, aripiprazole shows affinity for muscarinic receptors, which combined with its partial agonist activity for D2 and  $5\text{-HT}_{1A}$  receptors, could explain the improvements in neurocognitive functions <sup>116</sup>.

The greatest factor for weight gain and sedation associated with antipsychotic therapy is thought to be the H1-histamine receptor antagonism, probably along with the antagonism for serotonin 5- $HT_{2C}$  receptors. The moderate affinity of aripiprazole for H1-histamine receptors could explain its low risk to induce weight gain <sup>117</sup>.

# 5.4. Adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole and olanzapine

The most common ( $\geq$  5% prevalence and at least twice than placebo) adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole in schizophrenic patients are akathisia, extrapyramidal disorder, somnolence and tremor <sup>106</sup>. The following adverse reactions have been identified during post-approval clinical trials with aripiprazole: allergic reactions (anaphylactic reaction, angioedema, laryngospasm, pruritus and oropharyngeal spasm), pathological gambling, hiccups and blood glucose fluctuation <sup>106</sup>. On the contrary, the most common ( $\geq$ 5% and at least twice than placebo) adverse drug reactions to olanzapine in schizophrenic patients are constipation, weight gain, dizziness, personality disorder,

akathisia, postural hypotension, sedation, headache, increased appetite, fatigue, dry mouth and abdominal pain <sup>90</sup>. The adverse reactions reported since the introduction of olanzapine to the market were allergic reactions (anaphylactoid reaction, angioedema and pruritus), diabetic coma, diabetic ketoacidosis, diaphoresis, nausea, vomiting, jaundice, neutropenia, pancreatitis, priapism, rash, rhabdomyolysis, venous thromboembolic events (pulmonary embolism and deep venous thrombosis), hypercholesterolemia and hypertriglyceridemia <sup>90</sup>.

Several atypical antipsychotics – including olanzapine – cause plasma prolactin level elevation <sup>118</sup>. Normally, while switching the therapy from olanzapine to aripiprazole mean prolactin levels decrease significantly even after one week of treatment and are maintained forth <sup>119</sup>. Nevertheless, aripiprazole can also cause mild prolactin elevation in less than 5% of patients <sup>118</sup>. Olanzapine is a D2 receptor antagonist and induce hyperprolactinaemia via inhibition of dopamine action at D2 receptors in the hypothalamus, where prolactin secretion is regulated <sup>118</sup>. On the contrary, serotonin stimulates prolactin secretion probably via stimulation of prolactin-releasing factors <sup>120</sup>. Aripiprazole acts as a functional antagonist under hyperdopaminergic conditions while it acts as a functional agonist under hypodopaminergic conditions at dopamine D2 receptors. D2 receptor stimulation provokes a suppression on prolactin secretion, therefore aripiprazole's high D2 receptor occupancy does not induce hyperprolactinemia in the majority of subjects <sup>112</sup>.

Previous clinical trials with schizophrenic patients demonstrated that aripiprazole has more benign side effect profile – regarding weight gain, blood sugar level and lipid profile – as compared to olanzapine in short-term treatment. Weight gain was observed more frequently in olanzapine-treated patients when compared with aripiprazole. Mean serum triglyceride, blood glucose and cholesterol levels in patients treated with olanzapine were higher than in patients treated with aripiprazole <sup>121,122</sup>. Additionally, olanzapine was associated with significantly increased glucose levels compared to placebo and with a significantly greater change in glucose levels compared to other antipsychotics <sup>123</sup>. In addition, when comparing lean mice and others on high-fat diet, olanzapine induced hyperglycemia and therefore systemic insulin resistance <sup>124</sup>.

Several typical and atypical antipsychotics increase the risk of heart rate-corrected QT (QTc)

prolongation and, as a consequence, *Torsades de Pointes* and sudden cardiac death <sup>125</sup>. In previous studies with schizophrenic patients, the mean QTc interval was decreased with aripiprazole and the QTc prolongation risk was lower with aripiprazole and olanzapine compared to placebo and other antipsychotics <sup>125–128</sup>. However, although aripiprazole usually does no produce QTc interval prolongation, some studies reported the contrary with patients and healthy volunteers <sup>129–131</sup>.

Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome, although it is rare, may occur with the administration of all antipsychotics. One of its symptoms is fluctuation in blood pressure <sup>132</sup>. Therefore, it is of emphasized importance to monitor the blood pressure during antipsychotic treatment. Aripiprazole and olanzapine may produce a decrease in blood pressure in both patients and healthy volunteers <sup>129,133,134</sup>. However, aripiprazole may also induce hypertension <sup>135</sup> and olanzapine can induce orthostatic hypotension <sup>133</sup>.

Both aripiprazole and olanzapine can cause an increase in heart rate <sup>129,136</sup>. However, when changing the therapy from olanzapine to aripiprazole, a significant decrease was detected in heart rate <sup>136</sup>. Therefore, olanzapine had a stronger heart rate enhancing effect compared to aripiprazole and its effects were dose-dependent <sup>136</sup>.

# 6. Pupillometry

The iris size, and therefore the pupillary diameter, is controlled by two muscles, the sphincter pupillae and the dilator pupillae, which are mainly under the regulation of the parasympathetic nervous system and the sympathetic nervous system, respectively. Contraction of the sphincter, accompanied by the relaxation of the dilator, produces pupil constriction (miosis), while contraction of the dilator, accompanied by the relaxation of the sphincter, produces pupil dilation (mydriasis)<sup>137</sup> (*Figure* 16).



*Figure* **16**. The mechanism of pupil contraction. Source: https://www.austincc.edu, modified.

Since pupillography was developed in 1958<sup>138</sup>, it is used for the detection of autonomic dysfunction associated with numerous diseases, such as diabetes <sup>139</sup>, heart failure <sup>140</sup>, Parkinson's disease <sup>141</sup>, Alzheimer's disease <sup>142</sup> and hypertension <sup>143</sup>. Pupillometry is a non-invasive and cost-effective method to determine autonomic nerve activity <sup>144</sup>. The majority of studies analyzing the effect of drugs on the pupil diameter were performed with opioids finding that they cause pupil constriction (miosis) <sup>145–148</sup>.

Several atypical antipsychotics caused pupil miosis in overdose patients. It can be due to inducing unopposed parasympathetic stimulation of the pupil with significant alpha-1 adrenergic receptor blockade <sup>149</sup>. On the other hand, these drugs could affect the pupil diameter due to their affinity for dopamine and serotonin receptors <sup>150,151</sup> as serotonin and dopamine are effectors on various types of muscles including the sphincter pupillae and the dilator pupillae <sup>152</sup>. Pupillography could be used for the determination of autonomic nerve activity during aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment <sup>153</sup>.

# 7. The pharmacogenetics of aripiprazole and olanzapine

# 7.1. Genes related to pharmacokinetics

# CYP2D6

*CYP2D6* is highly polymorphic, with over 100 star (\*) alleles described (*Table* 6) (<u>https://www.pharmvar.org/gene/CYP2D6</u>). *CYP2D6*\*1 is the reference (or wild-type) allele encoding the enzyme with normal activity. *CYP2D6*\*2, \*33, and \*35 alleles are also considered to confer normal activity.

Allele	Effect	Enzyme activity	Allele frequency
*1	No effect (wild-type)	Normal	0.2379
*2	No effect	Normal	0.1852
*3	Frameshift	Null	0.0158
*4	Splicing defect	Null	0.1856
*5	Complete gene deletion	No enzyme	0.0299
*6	Frameshift	Null	0.0111
*7	Missense	Null	0.0005
*9	Deletion	Decreased	0.0275
*33	No effect	Normal	0.0190
*35	No effect	Normal	0.0464
*1xN	Duplication	Increased	0.0083
*4xN	Duplication	Null	0.0066

Table 6. Most common CYP2D6 alleles in Caucasians.

Allele frequencies are shown for Caucasians. Source: <u>https://www.pharmgkb.org/</u>.

After genotyping the subject for *CYP2D6* alleles, a phenotype can be described for CYP2D6 metabolism through an activity score. A value is assigned to each allele based on its activity (e.g., alleles causing null enzymatic activity receive 0, while alleles causing increased activity receive 2) (*Table* 7). The activity score of a genotype is the sum of the values assigned to each allele (e.g., *CYP2D6*\*1/\*1 and *CYP2D6*\*2/\*5 genotypes have activity score of 2 and 1, respectively) <sup>154</sup> (*Table* 8).

Value assigned to allele	Alleles
0	*3, *4, *4xN, *5, *6, *7, *16, *36, *40, *42, *56B
0.5	*9, *10 <sup>#</sup> , *17, *29, *41, *45, *46
1	*1, *2, *35, *43, *45xN
2	*1xN, *2xN, *35xN

Table 7. Values assigned to CYP2D6 alleles based on their activity.

Source: <u>https://www.pharmgkb.org/</u>.

<sup>#</sup>Since 2020 January, the recommended value assigned to \*10 is 0.25  $^{232}$ . However, the analysis was performed according to the previous method  $^{154}$ , which is shown in the *Table*.

*Table* 8. CYP2D6 phenotypes based on the sum of the values assigned to both alleles of each subject.

Enzymatic activity	Phenotype
0	Poor metabolizer (PM)
0.5-1#	Intermediate metabolizer (IM)
1.5-2#	Normal metabolizer (NM)
>2#	Ultrarapid metabolizer (UM)

Source: <u>https://www.pharmgkb.org/</u>.

<sup>#</sup>Since 2020 January, IMs are defined as 0 < x < 1.25, NMs as  $1.25 \le x \le 2.25$  and UMs as  $x > 2.25^{232}$ . However, the analysis was performed according to the previous method <sup>154</sup>, which is shown in the *Table*.

Subjects with more than two normal function copies of the *CYP2D6* gene are ultrarapid metabolizers (UMs), whereas subjects with two normal or one normal and one decreased function allele are classified as normal metabolizers (NMs). Subjects with one normal or one decreased and one no function allele or two decreased function alleles are categorized as intermediate metabolizers (IMs). Finally, subjects with two no function alleles are PMs.

The most common no function alleles are *CYP2D6*\*3, \*4, \*5, and \*6, while the most common decreased function alleles include *CYP2D6*\*9, \*10, \*17, \*29 and \*41. The prevalence of CYP2D6 alleles is highly variable between different ethnicities. *CYP2D6*\*4 is the most common no function allele in Caucasians, but less abundant in Africans, and rare in Asians. Contrastively, the decreased function allele *CYP2D6*\*10 is the most common allele in Asians, and *CYP2D6*\*17 is almost

exclusively found in Africans. Consequently, the phenotype frequencies also vary among populations. Approximately 6-10% of Caucasians are PMs, mainly due to the prevalent no function *CYP2D6\*4* and \*5 alleles.

FDA recommends that the half of the usual dose of aripiprazole should be administered to CYP2D6 PMs. In addition, the quarter of the usual dose should be administered when they are taking CYP3A4 inhibitors as concomitant treatment, however, when it is withdrawn, the dosage should be adjusted to its original level <sup>106</sup>. Likewise, the DPWG recommends to reduce the maximum dose of aripiprazole to 10 mg/day in PMs <sup>155</sup>. On the contrary, CYP2D6 does not seem to have a dominating role in olanzapine biotransformation, it is apparently involved with a minor role <sup>107</sup>.

### CYP3A4

Unlike *CYP2D6*, genetic variation cannot explain *CYP3A4* variability. Although 26 allelic variants are currently described, the majority have not been shown to alter CYP3A4 activity (https://www.pharmvar.org/gene/CYP3A4). To date, the most studied no function *CYP3A4* alleles are *CYP3A4\*6*, *CYP3A4\*20* and *CYP3A4\*26*. The *CYP3A4\*20* allele has a frequency of about 0.2% in European Americans and 0.05% in African Americans, while it has a frequency of 1.2% in Spain; what frequency reached up to 3.8% in specific Spanish regions <sup>156</sup>. *CYP3A4\*22*, with the minor allele frequency of 5.0% in Caucasians, is a reduced function allele and was associated with tacrolimus dose requirements, however, its clinical utility is not confirmed to date <sup>157</sup>. Additionally, *CYP3A4\*2* and \*3 were identified as missense polymorphisms <sup>158</sup> decreasing the function of the enzyme with a frequency of 1.1 and 2.1% in Caucasians, respectively <sup>159,160</sup>. The exact role of these polymorphisms in aripiprazole and olanzapine pharmacokinetics is unknown.

### *CYP3A5*

Due to the similar substrate specificity between CYP3A4 and CYP3A5, some drugs metabolized by CYP3A4 are also metabolized by CYP3A5<sup>161</sup>. To date, 26 allelic variants of *CYP3A5* are described. The most common no function variant is *CYP3A5\**3 which results in a splicing defect and has high allele frequency (91% in the Spanish population). Subjects with the \*3/\*3 genotype do not express CYP3A5, therefore, higher aripiprazole concentrations are expected in them during aripiprazole treatment <sup>162</sup>.

#### ABCB1

One of the most studied polymorphisms in *ABCB1* is C3435T, an SNP in exon 26 that seems to have a relevant role in the expression and function of the P-glycoprotein. Studies in knock-out mice for the *ABCB1* gene showed that both aripiprazole and its metabolite are substrates of P-glycoprotein <sup>163</sup>. However, the C3435T SNP does not appear to influence the pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole. Yet, it may have an important role in regulating the entry of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole into the central nervous system through the blood-brain barrier <sup>163</sup>. In addition, two other SNPs (C1236T and G2677T/A) may influence the response to antipsychotic treatment with clozapine, haloperidol and risperidone <sup>164</sup>. However, the pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole was not affected by the G2677T/A polymorphism <sup>165</sup>. Nevertheless, in a previous study by our laboratory, the G2677T/A and C1236T polymorphisms affected aripiprazole clearance <sup>166</sup>. Olanzapine has low to moderate inhibitor affinity for P-gp <sup>107</sup>. Two studies showed a correlation between the 2677T allele and higher serum levels of olanzapine <sup>167,168</sup>. Additionally, C3435T T/T subjects had significantly higher AUC <sup>169</sup>. Likewise, schizophrenic patients with the 1236T/2677T/3435T haplotype had higher serum and cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of olanzapine <sup>167</sup>.

#### CYP1A2

CYP1A2 is a smoking-induced enzyme and smokers seem to have a higher clearance of olanzapine than nonsmokers. Smoking is highly important health concern for psychiatric patients. In fact, the rate of smoking among schizophrenic patients ranges from 70 to 90%, compared with only 28–40% in the general population <sup>170</sup>. Although 41 alleles have been reported (https://www.pharmvar.org/gene/CYP1A2) in the *CYP1A2* gene, only a few have been associated with variability in gene expression or inducibility. Five *CYP1A2* alleles (\*1C, \*1D, \*1E, \*1F and \*1K) have been assessed for their potential influence on olanzapine exposure. The *CYP1A2*\*1F allele was shown to confer a higher inducibility as well as an elevated basal enzyme activity <sup>171,172</sup>. On the other hand, other studies were unable to find this correlation <sup>173,174</sup>. *CYP1A2*\*1D also influenced olanzapine plasma concentrations <sup>175</sup>. Currently, based on the few and contradictory information available about this enzyme, no recommendations exist for *CYP1A2* genotyping before prescribing olanzapine.

### UGT1A4 and UGT2B10

The UGT1 family, especially UGT1A4, is the main enzyme responsible for addition of glucuronic acid to amino groups (N-glucuronidation) <sup>176</sup>. The two most studied variants in this enzyme are UGT1A4\*2 and UGT1A4\*3 <sup>174</sup>. Although the effects of these two variants on glucuronidation are substrate dependent *in vitro*, increased glucuronidation is usually associated with the \*3 variant and reduced (or not changed) with the \*2 variant <sup>176</sup>. Moreover, reduced systemic olanzapine exposure was reported for *UGT1A4*\*3 <sup>177</sup>. UGT2B10 from the UGT2 family catalyzes conjugation of nitrogen-containing heterocycles <sup>178</sup>. *UGT2B10*\*2 significantly altered olanzapine glucuronidation *in vitro* <sup>177</sup>.

#### FMO3

Of the five active human FMO isoenzymes, FMO3 is the major hepatic form in adults. The three most studied *FMO3* polymorphisms, p.E158K, p.V257M and p.E308G, are associated with reduced enzyme activity *in vitro* in a substrate-dependent manner. Regarding olanzapine biotransformation, reduction was observed in its N-oxidation *in vitro* for the protein variant expressed by the K158–G308 allele <sup>91</sup>. The p.E158K variant also affected OLA N-oxidation: the minor allele carriers had its level 50% lower compared to wild-type subjects. However, the variants had no influence on the plasma levels of the parent compound <sup>174</sup>.

# 7.2. Genes related to pharmacodynamics

Many pharmacokinetic studies were performed in order to understand how genetic variants in genes encoding drug targets can impact response and side effect profiles of antipsychotics. These targets include receptors involved in the mechanism of action of the drugs, synapse level transporters and components of the signaling pathways. Antipsychotics have different affinities for dopamine receptors (DRD1, DRD2, DRD3 and DRD4), serotonin receptors (e.g., 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> and 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>), noradrenergic, cholinergic and histaminergic receptors <sup>179</sup>.

#### Dopamine receptor genes

Dopamine receptors are primary targets for atypical antipsychotics, among them aripiprazole and olanzapine. The most studied polymorphism is the Taq1A polymorphism (rs1800497) in the *DRD2* 

gene. This variant is a nonsynonymous coding and its minor allele, T, correlates with low density of DRD2 receptors in the striatum <sup>180</sup>. Moreover, this allele was associated with higher prolactin concentrations and hyperprolactinemia associated adverse events after olanzapine treatment <sup>181,182</sup>. There is some evidence that the T allele may predict better treatment response to aripiprazole <sup>183</sup>. Contrastively, another study found no impact of the variant on response to olanzapine <sup>184</sup>. Moreover, C/C homozygotes for the rs6277 polymorphism of this gene were associated with poor aripiprazole response <sup>185</sup>. Additionally, minor allele carriers of rs6277 and rs1800497 had poorer cognitive performance in schizophrenic patients <sup>186</sup>.

Variability of the *DRD3* gene seems to be associated with the response to olanzapine <sup>96</sup>, especially rs6280, a non - synonymous coding variant (Ser9Gly). In addition, it was found that patients with rs6280 Gly/Gly genotype showed superior response to olanzapine compared with the other genotypes <sup>187</sup>.

#### Serotonin receptor genes

Variations in the *HTR2A* gene (encoding the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor) influence the binding affinities of aripiprazole and olanzapine <sup>188</sup>. Previous studies found that the His/His homozygotes of the His452Tyr (rs6314) and the C/C homozygotes of the T102C (rs6313) polymorphisms respond better to olanzapine <sup>189</sup>. The same association was found with aripiprazole: subjects with the GG/CC genotype of *HTR2A* A-1438G (rs6311)/T102C polymorphisms predict poor aripiprazole response, specifically for negative symptoms <sup>190</sup>. Additionally, patients carrying the HTR2A 1438A, 102T, and 452His haplotype had significantly higher C peptide levels compared with the 1438A, 102T, and 452Tyr haplotype during olanzapine treatment <sup>191</sup>.

By contrast, it is well established that the 5-HT<sub>2C</sub> receptor (encoded by the *HTR2C* gene) mediates several metabolic side effects of olanzapine <sup>192</sup>. Increased activity of the 5-HT<sub>2C</sub> receptor due to genetic variation in HTR2C may increase leptin levels resulting in greater weight gain, and variants that decrease expression of the receptor may be protective against weight gain induced by olanzapine <sup>192</sup>. Moreover, the minor allele of -759C/T (rs3813929) of *HTR2C* was reported as protective for weight gain <sup>193</sup>. It should be noted that, in in-patient studies, in which the diet is

controlled and treatments are of shorter duration, are most likely to produce positive findings for an impact of the -759C/T polymorphism on weight gain <sup>194</sup>. Moreover, olanzapine-treated patients with the HTR2C -759C, -697C and 23Ser haplotype had higher BMI and C peptide levels compared to those with 759T, -697C and 23Cys haplotype <sup>191</sup>.


# **II. OBJECTIVES**

The overall goal of this work was to compare the metabolic effects and safety of two atypical antipsychotics (aripiprazole and olanzapine) and to find biomarkers than can help to predict which subject should have higher risk to develop these effects.

The specific aims of this thesis were:

- To develop and validate a simple LC-MS/MS method for the simultaneous determination of atypical antipsychotics: aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole, olanzapine, risperidone, paliperidone, quetiapine and clozapine in human plasma.
- 2) To evaluate the pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole and olanzapine after 5 days treatment in healthy subjects and how they are altered based on sex and genetic factors.
- To compare the effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on pupil contraction and its relationship with pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics.
- 4) To compare the metabolic effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine and its relationship with pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics.
- 5) To evaluate the adverse drug reactions induced by aripiprazole and olanzapine in healthy subjects and its relationship with pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics.



# III. MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 1. Clinical trial

## 1.1. Study design

The clinical trial was a phase I trial with multiple oral dose design, open-label, randomized, crossover, two-periods, two-sequences, single-centre and comparative study. The aim of the study was to measure the effect of aripiprazole and olanzapine on different metabolic factors, such as oral glucose tolerance, insulin secretion, blood pressure, electrocardiogram, weight, lipid and prolactin levels; along with pupil contraction, evaluation of adverse drug reactions and bioavailability.

Ten mg/day aripiprazole tablets or 5 mg/day film-coated olanzapine tablets were administered during 5 consecutive days. Block randomization was used to assign the treatment to each volunteer on the first day. The drug was administered at 09:00 h each day under fasting conditions with 240 ml water. A mouth check was performed immediately after drug administration to ensure the swallowing of the drug. The subjects were hospitalized from 1 h before the first dose until 24 h after the last dose. In the second period, after a washout period of 28 days, each volunteer received the opposite drug they received in the first period. The random allocation sequence, the recruitment of participants and their assignment to interventions were performed by investigators of the Clinical Trials Unit.

The protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee (10 May 2018), fully authorized by the Spanish Drugs Agency (23 May 2018) and under the guidelines of Good Clinical Practice with the registration number of EUDRA-CT: 2018-000744-26.

# 1.2. Study population

A multiple-dose clinical trial including 24 healthy volunteers was performed in three groups at the Clinical Trials Unit of Hospital Universitario de La Princesa. The study started on 2 July 2018 and ended on 22 April 2019 (*Table 9*). The trial complied with the international standards and with the

Declaration of Helsinki. The Principal Investigator of the trial was Francisco Abad Santos. All subjects were adequately informed about the study and, if agreed to participate, signed an informed consent form.

Group	Date of performing the trial	Number of included subjects
Group 1	July-August 2018	11
Group 2	September-October 2018	10
Group 3	March-April 2019	3

*Table* 9. Dates of performing the study in groups.

#### The inclusion criteria were the following:

- Male and female volunteers between 18 and 65 years old.
- Free from any known organic or psychiatric conditions.
- Normal vital signs and electrocardiogram ECG.
- Normal medical records and physical examination.
- No clinically significant abnormalities in haematology, biochemistry, serology (HIV antibody, Hepatitis C antibody, Hepatitis B surface antigen) and urine tests.

#### The exclusion criteria were the following:

- Individuals who received pharmacological treatment in the last 15 days or any kind of medication in the last 48 hours prior to receiving the study medication, except of contraceptives.
- Individuals with BMI outside the  $18.5-30.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$  range.
- Individuals with history of drug allergy.
- Individuals with galactose intolerance, Lapp lactase deficiency or glucose-galactose malabsorption.
- Suspected consumers of controlled substances.
- Smokers.
- Daily alcohol consumers and/or individuals who experienced acute alcohol poisoning the previous week.

- Individuals who donated blood the previous month.
- Pregnant or breastfeeding women.
- Investigational drug study participants in the previous 3 months.
- Subjects unable to follow instructions or collaborate during the study.

### 1.3. Procedures

#### 1.3.1. Sample collection for pharmacokinetic analysis

Twenty-two blood samples were collected from each participant for pharmacokinetic assessments during each period, thus 44 samples in total: 7 samples on day 1 (predose and 1, 2, 3, 5, 8 and 12 h after dosing); 1 (predose) sample on days 2, 3 and 4; 7 samples on day 5 (predose and 1, 2, 3, 5, 8 and 12 h after dosing) and 1 sample on days 6, 7, 9, 11 and 15 (corresponding to 24, 48, 96, 144 and 240 h after the last dose, respectively) (*Table* 10). Each blood sample was labelled with the protocol code, volunteer number, treatment period and day and extraction time without specifying the administered drug. Subsequently, the samples were centrifuged at 3500 rpm (1900 G) for 10 minutes and then the plasma was collected and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until the determination of drug concentrations.

Day	Hour*	Procedure	Samples	Scales	Others
	8:00-9:00	Admission	END, GTT, PK, PG, PRL, pregnancy, toxics	Ramsay	ECG, BP, HR, weight, pupillometry
	9:00 (0 h)	Dosing			
	10:00 (1 h)		РК		
1	11:00 (2 h)	Breakfast	РК	Ramsay	ECG, BP
1	12:00 (3 h)		РК		
	13:00 (4 h)				pupillometry
	14:00 (5 h)		PK, PRL	Ramsay	ECG, BP
	15:00 (6 h)	Lunch			
	17:00 (8 h)		РК		
	21:00 (12 h)		РК	Ramsay	ECG, BP

<i>Table</i> 10.	Study schedule v	ith all performed	procedures during	g the study.
------------------	------------------	-------------------	-------------------	--------------

Day	Hour*	Procedure	Samples	Scales	Others
	22:00 (13 h)	Dinner			
2	8:30		РК	Ramsay, UKU	ECG, BP, HR, weight, pupillometry
	9:00 (0 h)	Dosing			
	11:00 (2 h)	Breakfast		Ramsay	ECG, BP
	13:00 (4 h)				pupillometry
	14:00 (5 h)			Ramsay	ECG, BP
	15:00 (6 h)	Lunch			
	21:00 (12 h)			Ramsay	ECG, BP
	22:00 (13 h)	Dinner			
	8:30		H, C, BQ, PK, PRL	Ramsay	ECG, BP, HR, weight, pupillometry
	9:00 (0 h)	Dosing			
	11:00 (2 h)	Breakfast		Ramsay	ECG, BP
3	13:00 (4 h)				pupillometry
	14:00 (5 h)			Ramsay	ECG, BP
	15:00 (6 H)	Lunch			
	21:00 (12 h)			Ramsay	ECG, BP
	22:00 (13 h)	Dinner			
	8:30		РК	Ramsay, UKU	ECG, BP, HR, weight, pupillometry
	9:00 (0 h)	Dosing			
	11:00 (2 h)	Breakfast		Ramsay	ECG, BP
4	13:00 (4 h)				Pupillometry
	14:00 (5 h)			Ramsay	ECG, BP
	15:00 (6 H)	Lunch			
	21:00 (12 h)			Ramsay	ECG, BP
	22:00 (13 h)	Dinner			
	8:30		PK, PRL	Ramsay	ECG, BP, HR, weight, pupillometry
	9:00 (0 h)	Dosing			
5	10:00 (1 h)		PK		
3	11:00 (2 h)	Breakfast	РК	Ramsay	ECG, BP
	12:00 (3 h)		РК		
	13:00 (4 h)				pupillometry
	14:00 (5 h)		PK, PRL	Ramsay	ECG, BP

Day	Hour*	Procedure	Samples	Scales	Others
	15:00 (6 h)	Lunch			
	17:00 (8 h)		РК		
	21:00 (12 h)		РК	Ramsay	ECG, BP
	22:00 (13 h)	Dinner			
	9:00 (24 h)		H, C, BQ, END,	Ramsay,	FCG BD
6			GTT, PK, PRL	UKU	ECO, Dr
	10:00 (25 h)	Discharge			
7	9:00 (48 h)		РК	Ramsay	ECG, BP
0	0.00 (06 h)		DV	Ramsay,	ECG DD
,	9.00 (90 ll)		1 K	UKU	ECO, DI
11	9:00 (144 h)		РК	Ramsay	ECG, BP
15	0.00 (240 h)		PK, H, C, BQ, PRL,	Ramsay,	ECG BD HB weight
13	9:00 (240 h) Sa	Safety	pregnancy, toxics	UKU	LCO, DI, IIK, weight

The same procedure and schedule were followed in both periods of the clinical trial.

Abbreviations:

\*The time after dosing is shown in parenthesis.

H: hematology: red blood cells, haemoglobin, haematocrit, mean corpuscular volume, platelets,

leukocytes, leukocyte formula,

C: prothrombin activity,

BQ: biochemistry: glucose, GOT, GPT, LDH, alkaline phosphatase, GGT, total bilirubin, uric acid, creatinine, urea, albumin, total cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, triglycerides,

END: peptide C, glycosylated hemoglobin, insulin, TSH, free T4,

GTT: glucose tolerance test

PK: pharmacokinetics,

PRL: prolactin,

PG: pharmacogenetics,

UKU: Udvalg for kliniske undersøgelser (UKU) Side Effect Rating Scale,

Ramsay: Ramsay sedation scale,

ECG: electrocardiogram,

BP: blood pressure,

HR: heart rate,

Serology: HIV antibody, Hepatitis C antibody, Hepatitis B surface antigen,

Pregnancy test in urine: for women,

Toxics: test in urine for cannabinoids, cocaine, opiates, amphetamines and cotinine.

#### 1.3.2. Biochemical and haematological analyses

The biochemical and haematological analyses were carried out by Eurofins Megalab S.A. (Madrid, Spain). All subjects underwent the oral glucose tolerance test (GTT) on days 1 and 6 with 75 g of oral anhydrous glucose dissolved in 250 mL water; samples were collected before, and 1 and 2 h after glucose administration. Glucose, triglyceride, bilirubin, glutamate-oxaloacetate transaminase (GOT), glutamate-pyruvate transaminase (GPT), gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT), albumin, alkaline phosphatase (ALP), uric acid, urea and creatinine concentrations were measured spectrophotometrically and the samples were collected at screening and on days 3, 6 and 15. Total cholesterol, LDL and HDL levels were analysed by enzymatic colorimetric method at screening and on days 3, 6 and 15. Prolactin levels were analysed on days 1, 3 and 5 before and 5 h after dosing and on days 6 and 15. C-peptide, insulin, thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and free thyroxine (T4) concentrations were quantified on days 1 and 6 by Enzyme-Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay (ELISA). Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) was measured on days 1 and 6. Haematocrit, platelet, leucocyte, haemoglobin and red blood cell counts were measured by flow cytometry at screening and on days 3, 6 and 15. Finally, prothrombin time was determined by coagulometry at screening and on days 3, 6 and 15 (*Table* 10). Tests to detect pregnancy and illicit drug use were performed from urine samples and were repeated each period before the first drug administration.

#### 1.3.3. Analysis of blood pressure and electrocardiogram

The blood pressure was measured in supine position with an automatic monitor (Carescape V100, General Electric, Boston, MA, USA) at screening, before and 2 h, 5 h and 12 h after each dosing and on days 6, 7, 9 ,11 and 15. Likewise, the 12-lead electrocardiogram was obtained at the same time points with an Esaote P8000 instrument (Esaote S.P.A, Florence, Italy) (*Table* 10). The corrected QT interval (QTc) and heart rate were automatically calculated by the electrocardiogram device. The Bazett correction formula was used to correct the QT interval <sup>195</sup>. According to the ICH E14 clinical guidance <sup>196</sup>, a QTc interval greater than 450 milliseconds or a change from baseline greater than 30 milliseconds were considered as QTc interval prolongation.

#### 1.3.4. Safety and tolerability assessments

The safety and tolerability of aripiprazole was assessed by clinical evaluation of adverse drug reactions and other parameters including vital signs, physical examinations and 12-lead electrocardiograms. During the development of the study, volunteers were asked if they had experienced any adverse event. Moreover, the Ramsay sedation scale <sup>197</sup> was evaluated before and 2 h, 5 h and 12 h after each dosing and on days 6, 7, 9, 11 and 15. The UKU side effect rating scale <sup>198</sup> was evaluated on days 2 and 4 before dosing and on days 6, 9 and 15 (*Table* 10). According to the algorithm of the Spanish pharmacovigilance system <sup>199</sup>, the causality of adverse events were classified as definite, probable, possible, unlikely or unrelated. Only those adverse events that were definite, probable, or possible related to the treatment were considered as adverse drug reactions in the statistical analysis. Intensity (mild, moderate, and severe), time sequence and outcome of the adverse events were also registered.

The adverse drug reactions were classified using system organ class allocation as general (asthenia, fatigue, tiredness and gait alterations), cardiovascular (palpitations), gastrointestinal (constipation, nausea, vomiting, hyposalivation, hypersalivation, dry mouth and diarrhea), nervous system (akathisia, headache, difficulties with concentration, dizziness, paraesthesia, presyncope, syncope, tremor, somnolence and restless legs), psychiatric (restlessness, insomnia, anxiety, abnormal orgasms and nightmares), respiratory (epistaxis, hiccups, cough and sore throat), endocrine (galactorrhea), metabolic (lack of appetite, increased appetite and hyporexia), reproductive (dysmenorrhea, mastalgia and menstrual irregularity), skin (hair loss, pruritus, rash, facial rash and sweating), musculoskeletal (shoulder pain, knee pain, neck pain, upper limb weakness, lumbago, cramps, back pain and leg pain), infections (cold), eye (photophobia) and investigations (increased liver enzymes)<sup>200</sup>.

#### 1.3.5. Pupillometric measurements

Pupillometric measurements were performed right before and 4 h after drug administration on each day of hospitalization (*Table* 10). The data was recorded with a PRL-200<sup>TM</sup> automated monocular infrared pupillometer (NeurOptics, Irvine, CA, United States). Each measurement was performed in a hospital room with artificial illumination. In order to adjust for differences in luminosity, light

intensity (*in lux*) was measured at the moment of the pupillometric determination with a lux meter (mobile application).

Before starting the measurement, the subject was instructed to focus on a small target object with the eye that was not being tested open (left eye). Stimuli were single light pulses with a fixed intensity of 180  $\mu$ W during 154 milliseconds. Once the device was focused on the target pupil (right eye), a white light stimulus was flashed. The measurements were sampled at a frequency of 32-frames per second and lasted up to 5 seconds, allowing a full or partial recovery of the pupil size after light constriction.

Eight different pupillometric parameters were measured based on the user guide <sup>201</sup>. Maximum pupil diameter (MAX) and minimum pupil diameter (MIN) represent the pupil diameter before constriction and just at the peak of constriction, respectively. The percentage of constriction (CON) was calculated by (MAX—MIN)/MAX. Latency (LAT) is time of the onset of constriction. ACV and MCV are average and maximum constriction velocity, respectively. The negative sign differentiates constriction from dilation being the opposite movement. After reaching its constriction, the pupil tends to recover and dilate back to its initial resting size, which is measured as average dilation velocity (ADV). T75 is the total time taken by the pupil to recover 75% of the initial resting pupil size after it reached the peak of constriction.

# 2. Analytical method validation

#### 2.1. Chemicals and Reagents

Aripiprazole, its internal standard [2H8]-aripiprazole (aripiprazole-D8) and dehydro-aripiprazole were provided by Toronto Research Chemicals (North York, Canada) and olanzapine, risperidone, paliperidone, quetiapine and clozapine and their internal standards [13C,2H3]-olanzapine (olanzapine-C1-D3), [2H4]-risperidone (risperidone-D4), [2H4]-paliperidone-D4 (paliperidone-D4), [13C4]-quetiapine (quetiapine-C4) and [13C,2H3]-clozapine (clozapine-C1-D3) were provided by AlsaChim (Illkirch Graffenstaden, France). Ultrapure water was acquired from a Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> Water Purification System (Millipore-Ibérica, Madrid, Spain). Acetonitrile, methanol

and ammonium hydroxide solutions in gradient HPLC grade were provided by SYMTA (Madrid, Spain). Formic acid was bought from Sigma-Aldrich (Madrid, Spain). All the used chemicals were of analytical grade. Plasma samples for the preparation of calibration and validation standards were supplied by the Transfusion Center of "Comunidad Autónoma de Madrid" (Madrid, Spain).

#### 2.2. Preparation of calibration standards and quality controls

Stock solutions of aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and aripiprazole-D8 were dissolved in methanol containing 0.5% formic acid solution, while olanzapine and olanzapine -C1-D3 were supplied in acetonitrile solution with 0.1% formic acid. Risperidone and risperidone-D4 were dissolved in methanol -water 1:1 solution with 0.1% formic acid. Paliperidone and paliperidone-D4 were prepared in 100% acetonitrile solution while quetiapine, quetiapine-C4, clozapine and clozapine-C1-D3 were dissolved in 100% methanol solution. The concentration of all standard solutions was 1 mg/mL. Working solutions of each analyte were prepared in methanol and 0.1% formic acid by dilutions at the following concentrations from each stock solution: 0.1 mg/mL, 0.01 mg/mL and 0.001 mg/mL. All stock and working solutions were kept at -80°C.

Calibration standards and quality controls were prepared by independent dilutions method of each stock solution, then they were spiked to blank plasma samples. Entirely 8 calibrators and 4 quality controls (LLOQ; low quality control; medium quality control and high quality control) were made. The used concentrations were calculated based on the therapeutic ranges of each drug described in the literature (summarized in *Tables* 11, 12 and 13). A blank and a zero plasma sample processed without drugs were included to the analysis. Similarly, the stock and working solutions, calibrators, quality controls and internal standards were kept at -80°C until utilization.

#### III. Materials and Methods

Drug/	$\mathbf{P}^2$	Cal 1	Cal 2	Cal 3	Cal 4	Cal 5	Cal 6	Cal 7	Cal 8
metabolite	N				(ng	/mL)			
ARI	0.9991	0.18	0.25	0.50	2	10	50	100	120
DARI	0.9989	0.25	0.35	0.70	2	5	20	40	80
OLA	0.9944	1.00	1.10	1.50	5	10	20	50	100
RIS	0.9968	0.70	0.80	1.20	1.5	5	10	25	60
PAL	0.9815	0.20	0.30	0.50	1	2	5	18	30
QUE	0.9956	0.50	0.60	1.00	5	10	20	80	160
CLO	0.9981	0.50	0.80	2.00	20	100	500	750	1000
CAF	0.9363	1200	1450	1700	1950	2200	2700	3200	3700

*Table* 11. Concentrations of calibration standards (Cal) for each drug.

R<sup>2</sup>: correlation coefficient

Abbreviations: ARI: aripiprazole; DARI: dehydro-aripiprazole; OLA: olanzapine; RIS: risperidone; PAL: paliperidone; QUE: quetiapine; CLO: clozapine; CAF: caffeine. LLOQ: lower limit of quantification

Drug/motobalita	LLOQ	QC 2	QC 3	QC 4			
Drug/ metabolite	ng/mL						
ARI	0.18	1.00	60	100			
DARI	0.25	0.90	40	70			
OLA	1.00	3.00	50	80			
RIS	0.70	1.50	25	50			
PAL	0.20	1.60	15	25			
QUE	0.50	1.50	80	130			
CLO	0.50	7.00	500	800			
CAF	1200	2200	3200	3700			

*Table* 12. Concentrations of quality controls (QC) for each drug.

Drive	Therapeutic range		
Drug	(ng/mL)		
	50-350 <sup>202,203</sup>		
ADI	150-300 204		
ANI	146–254 205		
	$32.1 - 188^{206}$		
	10-100 203,207		
OLA	20-80 208-210		
	1.2-208 211		
	10-100 203,207		
RIS	20-60 212,213		
	0.6-25 214		
	10-100 203,207		
DAT	20-52 212		
FAL	20-60 213		
	10-109 214		
QUE	70-170 203,207,215,216		
CLO	200-800 203,207		
CLO	350-600 217,218		

Table 13. Therapeutic range of each drug.

#### 2.3. Equipment

The chromatographic separation was performed with an HPLC system consisting a 1200 Series separation module (Agilent Technologies, Madrid, Spain) and was coupled to a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (Agilent Technologies 6410B), with positive mode ESI. The instrument was controlled by the MassHunter Workstation Data Acquisition software (Agilent Technologies, Madrid, Spain). For separating the drugs, an ACE C18-PFP (pentafluorophenyl) column (3  $\mu$ m, 4.6 × 100 mm; SYMTA, Madrid, Spain) maintained at 25 °C was used. The flow rate was 0.6 mL/min. The mobile phase was a mixture of formic acid (0.2%, solvent A) and acetonitrile (solvent D) (65:35, v/v). The final pH was 3.0 adjusted with 5 mol/L ammonium hydroxide. The chromatogram was run with the following gradient conditions: initial conditions: 60% of A and 40% of D from 0 to 1.0 min, 60% D maintained from 1.0 to 1.8 min, D increased to 65% from 1.8 to 2.5 min, 65% D kept from 2.5 to 2.7 min, D increased to 99% from 2.7 to 3.5 min, 99% D maintained from 3.5 to 4.0 min and finally, returned to the initial conditions (60% A and 40% D)

from 4.0 to 6.0 minutes. Afterwards, the chromatogram was followed by a re-equilibration time of 3.0 min.

Analytes were quantified in dynamic multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode. All results were based on the peak area ratio between the drug and the internal standard. The MS conditions were as follows: desolvation gas flow and temperature 12 L/min and 350 °C, respectively, nebulizer pressure 60 psi and capillary voltage 3 kV. Highly pure N<sub>2</sub> (>99.9995) was used as MS collision gas. For all the compounds, fragmentor voltage and collision energy were set using selected ion monitoring (SRM) for each transition at specific retention time. A confirmation transition was also monitored to acquire more specific results. Additionally, m/z 184>184 and 104>104 as common in-source collision-induced dissociation ion fragments produced by endogenous phospholipids (phosphatidylcholines and lysophosphatidylcholines) were measured <sup>219</sup>. Moreover, m/z 524.4>184.1, 524.4>104.1, 496.4>184.1 and 496.4>104.1 produced by late-eluting phospholipids (lysophosphatidylcholines 16:0 and 18:0) were also analyzed (*Table* 14).

Furthermore, product ion qualifier ratio was defined along with retention time-, relative retention time-, and ion ratio identity confirmation according to SANTE/11813/2017 and 2002/657/EC COMMISSION DECISION guidelines <sup>220,221</sup>. The acceptance criteria were the following: retention time difference between extracted analyte and neat solution of the analyte should be lower than 0.1 min <sup>220</sup>, relative retention time difference between extracted analyte and neat solution of the analyte and neat solution of the analyte should be lower than 2,5% <sup>221</sup>, and ion ratio difference between calibrator and quality control samples should not differ more than 30% <sup>220</sup>, respectively.

MassHunter Workstation Quantitative Analysis software (Agilent Technologies, Madrid, Spain) was used to quantify the concentrations based on MRM transitions of each analyte.

Compound	Retention time (tR, min)	Quantification SRM Transition (m/z)	Confirmation SRM Transition (m/z)	Qualifier ratio	Fragmentor voltage (V)	Collision energy (eV)
ARI	4.750	448.2 > 285.2	448.2 > 176.2	30.10	100	25
ARI-D8	4.790	456.2 > 293.0			110	30
DARI	4.439	446.2 > 285.0	446.2 > 188.0	0.16	125	22
OLA	1.941	313.2 > 256.2	313.2 > 282.2	10.51	90	25
OLA-C1-D3	1.940	317.3 > 256.2			110	25
RIS	3.373	411.3 > 191.2	411.3 > 110.1	6.47	50	30
RIS-D4	3.405	415.3 > 195.2			90	30
PAL	2.945	427.3 > 207.2	427.3 > 110.2	33.10	110	30
PAL-D4	2.944	431.3 > 211.2			100	30
QUE	3.945	384.3 > 253.2	384.3 > 221.2	45.70	110	35
QUE-C4	3.969	388.3 > 255.2			110	35
CLO	4.029	327.2 > 270.1	331.2 > 270.2	59.54	130	25
CLO-C1-D3	4.029	327.2 > 192.1			110	25
CAF	2.001	195.2 > 138.2	195.2 > 110.2		100	20
PC	1.485	184.1 > 184.1			100	5
LPC	1.537	104.1 > 104.1			100	10
LPC 16:0	8.348	496.4 > 184.1	496.4 > 104.1		135	30
LPC 18:0	8.186	524.4 > 184.1	524.4 > 104.1		135	30

Table 14. Relevant LC-MS/MS characteristics.

Abbreviations: SRM: selected reaction monitoring; m/z: Mass-to-Charge; ARI-D8: [2H8]-aripiprazole; OLA-C1-D3: [13C,2H3]-olanzapine; RIS-D4: [2H4]-risperidone; PAL-D4: [2H4]-paliperidone-D4; QUE-C4: [13C4]-quetiapine; CLO-C1-D3: [13C,2H3]-clozapine; PC: phosphatidylcholine; LPC: lysophosphatidylcholine; LPC 16:0: lysophosphatidylcholine 16:0; LPC 18:0: lysophosphatidylcholine 18:0. Qualifier ratio: the peak area ratio quantifier/qualifier.

#### 2.4. Sample preparation

Plasma samples were extracted by both microelution-solid phase extraction ( $\mu$ SPE) and protein precipitation (PPT).

For PPT, 200  $\mu$ L plasma sample was spiked with 10  $\mu$ L internal standard and 800  $\mu$ L precipitating agent, acetonitrile with 0.1% formic acid (4:1, v/v) and was centrifuged at 14000 rpm at 4°C for 5 min. Afterwards, the supernatant was evaporated using a concentrator (5301, Eppendorf, Germany) at 45°C for 75 min. Consequently, the dry residue was reconstituted with 200  $\mu$ L acetonitrile/methanol/buffer (formic acid, 0.2% at pH 3.0) reconstitution solution (8:1:1, v/v).

Three steps were applied in the  $\mu$ -SPE: sample loading, washing and elution. Initially, 10  $\mu$ L internal standard was added to 200  $\mu$ L of plasma sample along with 290  $\mu$ L of 0.2% formic acid

in water, pH 1.5, and loaded (2×250  $\mu$ L) into the Oasis PRiME HLB (hydrophilic-lipophilic balance) 96-well  $\mu$ Elution Plate (Waters, Madrid, Spain). It was followed by the washing step adding 400  $\mu$ L (2×200  $\mu$ L) 5% methanol solution with water and 2% ammonium hydroxide. After each step, a 5-15 mmHg vacuum was applied until the wells were dry. Then, the compounds were eluted with 200  $\mu$ L (2×100  $\mu$ L) acetonitrile/methanol/buffer (formic acid, 0.2% at pH 3.0) solution (8:1:1, v/v/v) and were collected in a 1 mL 96-well plate (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA).

Finally, 5 µL of eluate was injected directly to the LC-MS/MS system. SPE was chosen as sample preparation process for method validation due to its excellent phospholipid-elimination capacity.

#### 2.5. Method validation

The validation of this method was based on the guidelines of FDA <sup>222</sup>, EMA <sup>223</sup> and ICH <sup>224</sup>. Six validation series were assessed to determine linearity, precision and accuracy, 8 for selectivity, matrix effects, process efficiencies, while 4 validation series were used for different types of stabilities based on the peak area ratio of drug and internal standard.

#### 2.5.1. Linearity

Calibrators were measured in duplicate at the concentrations shown in *Table* 11 covering the plasma therapeutic ranges and expected patients' plasma concentrations. Six calibration curve replicates at the 8 concentration levels were analyzed from different days. To quantify the calibration data, a linear regression model was applied based on the analyte versus internal standard peak area ratio. In order to meet the validation criteria, the error of accuracy and relative standard deviation (RSD, %) should not exceed 15% for each calibrator corresponding to each drug. The final estimated linearity model was verified using the lack-of-fit test, to confirm that the selected regression and linearity are appropriate.

LLOQ was defined as the lowest point of the calibration curve (see *Table 12*) which can be quantified with acceptable precision and accuracy. Based on this practice, for LLOQ, the error of

accuracy and RSD should not exceed 20%. Therefore, the extraction ion chromatogram peak area ratio of each analyte should be at least 5 times higher than the blank.

#### 2.5.2. Selectivity

Method selectivity was ascertained by analyzing 8 different blank plasma samples from human donors. These samples were extracted and injected at the beginning of the HPLC analysis to exclude any endogenous interference. In addition, 8 zero samples (blank sample with internal standard) were analyzed to verify the absence of analyte ions in the respective peaks of internal standard. The method is considered selective when the blank plasma matrix extraction ion chromatogram peak area ratio is less than 20% of the extraction ion chromatogram peak area of LLOQ in plasma matrix for each drug, and less than 5% for the internal standards.

#### 2.5.3. Precision (repeatability and intermediate precision) and accuracy

Quality control samples 'LLOQ', 'Low quality control, 'Medium quality control' and 'High quality control' were prepared at concentrations described in *Table* 12. Six samples of each quality control were measured over a period of 4 following days. The determined concentrations were in the ranges of calibrators. Repeatability and intermediate precision were evaluated by analyzing a single analytical run in a single day and 3 analytical runs from 3 different days, respectively. The precision was defined as RSD, % and was determined at each concentration level. The acceptance limit was <15%, except for LLOQ (<20%). The accuracy describes the closeness of mean test results obtained by the method to the theoretical concentration of the analyte.

#### 2.5.4. Extraction recovery, matrix effect and process efficiency

Extraction recovery was defined as the ratio of analyte response between plasma spiked before (Pre) and after (Post) the extraction process. Extraction recovery can be defined as relative: the ratio of the compound concentration; or absolute: the ratio of the extraction ion chromatogram peak area.

Matrix effect was established as quantitative approach comparing the extraction ion chromatogram peak area ratio (absolute) or the compound concentration ratio (relative) between Post-plasma and

neat solution, which was obtained by the addition of the same amount of analyte to the final elution solution [acetonitrile/methanol/buffer, pH 3.0 (8:1:1, v/v/v)] without undergoing the extraction process.

Process efficiency values were calculated as the ratio of analyte response between plasma spiked before (Pre) the extraction process and neat solution. Absolute and relative values were determined in the same fashion than for extraction recovery and matrix effect.

In each test, 8 repetitions of Low and High quality controls were analyzed in blank plasma samples from 8 different human donors for all analytes. To validate matrix effect, the RSD should not exceed 15% for all quality controls (except for LLOQ, when 20% is allowed).

The following equations were used to calculate the previously described values: Extraction recovery: RE(%) = Pre \* 100/PostMatrix effect: ME(%) = Post \* 100/Neat solution Process efficiency: PE(%) = Pre \* 100/Neat solution

#### 2.5.5. Trueness

'LLOQ', 'Low quality control', and 'High quality control' samples (Pre) were analyzed from 5 weeks in comparison with spiked samples as reference (Post). The results were expressed with Zeta-score which compares a test value to a reference value. Values less than 2 were considered satisfactory, while the values between 2 and 3 were questionable. Values higher than 3 were considered unsatisfactory.

#### 2.5.6. Stability

Four replicates of low and high quality control aliquots were quantified after storing plasma samples at 20°C (room temperature), at +4°C for 24 h and after 3 freeze-thaw cycles in the freezer at  $-80^{\circ}$ C, as well as in extracted samples in the autosampler at 19°C. Additionally, long-term stability was determined by keeping one set of aliquots at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for 1 month, 3 months and 6 months. The analyte stability should be between 85 and 115% and the RSD should not exceed

15% for the studied quality controls. The ratio of analyte concentration before and after storage conditions mentioned above was determined.

#### 2.5.7. Carry-over

After the highest calibrator, a blank plasma sample was injected to determine any possible carryover effect. The peak area of the blank samples should be lower than 20% of the LLOQ and 5% of the internal standard. Additionally, the needle was washed 5 times between injections with acetonitrile/water solution (50:50, v/v) to avoid carry-over.

#### 2.5.8. Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed with Microsoft Excel (Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Office<sup>®</sup> 2010, Microsoft Corp., USA) and the results are presented as mean values and standard deviations. The lack-of-fit test results were compared to pure error variances at a 95% confidence level to evaluate the acceptability of the results and the adequacy of the regression models. For the evaluation of trueness, zeta-score test was applied.

#### 3. Pharmacokinetic analyses

Pharmacokinetic parameters were calculated from drug concentrations measured with the previously described analytical method by noncompartmental analysis using Phoenix<sup>®</sup> WinNonlin<sup>®</sup> (version 8, Pharsight, Mountain View, CA, USA) as "single dose" (i.e. for the first day) and "multiple dose" (i.e. considering all time points). Peak plasma concentration ( $C_{max}$ ) and time to reach maximum concentration ( $T_{max}$ ) were obtained directly from the original data. The area under the plasma concentration-time curve from time zero to the last observed time point (AUC<sub>last</sub>) was calculated using the trapezoidal rule. The AUC from time zero to infinity (AUC<sub>inf</sub>) was determined as the sum of the AUC<sub>last</sub> and the extrapolated area calculated as the last plasma concentration ( $C_{last}$ ) divided by the terminal rate constant ( $k_e$ ) that was determined by regression analysis of the log-linear part of the concentration-time curve. Elimination half-life was determined by 0.693/ $k_e$ . The total apparent clearance adjusted for bioavailability (Cl/F) was calculated using the following formula: Cl/F = dose/AUC<sub>inf</sub>/weight. For multiple-dose pharmacokinetics, the AUC for a dosing interval (AUC<sub>tau</sub>), where tau was 24 h, was calculated.

The volume of distribution adjusted for bioavailability (Vd/F) was calculated as Cl/F divided by  $k_e$ . AUC and  $C_{max}$  were adjusted for dose/weight ratio (AUC/dW and  $C_{max}/dW$ , respectively) and were logarithmically transformed for statistical analysis.

# 4. Genotyping

## 4.1. DNA extraction

DNA was extracted from 1 mL of peripheral blood using a MagNA Pure LC DNA Isolation Kit in an automatic DNA extractor (MagNa Pure<sup>®</sup> System, Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, Indiana, USA). Subsequently, it was quantified spectrophotometrically using a NanoDrop<sup>®</sup> ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (Nanodrop Technologies, Wilmington, Delaware, USA) and the purity of the samples was determined by the by A<sub>260/280</sub> absorbance ratio.

## 4.2. Selected polymorphisms

Polymorphisms analysed in our study are listed in *Table* 15.

Gene	Variant	Alleles	Type of variant	Amino acid change	Functional consequence
	*3 (rs35742686)	T/-	Frameshift	Arg>Gly	No ez activity
	*4 (rs3892097)	C/T	Splice acceptor	No	No ez activity
	*5		Full gene deletion	No	No ez activity
	*6 (rs5030655)	A/-	Frameshift	Trp>Gly	No ez activity
	*7 (rs5030867)	T/G	Missense	His>Pro	No ez activity
	*8 (rs5030865)	C/A	Stop gained	Early stop codon (TGA)	No ez activity
CYP2D6	*9 (rs5030656)	CTT/-	Inframe deletion	No	Decreased ez activity
	*10 (rs1065852)	C/T	Missense	Pro>Ser	Decreased ez activity
	*14 (rs5030865)	C/T	Stop gained	Early stop codon (TGA)	Decreased ez activity
	*17 (rs28371706)	G/A	Missense	Thr>Ile	Decreased ez activity
	*29 (rs16947)	G/A	Missense	Arg>Cys	Decreased ez activity

*Table* **15**. List of all analysed genes and polymorphisms.

Gene	Variant	Alleles	Type of variant	Amino acid	Functional
	*41 ( 00051505)		T .	Change	Decreased ez
	*41 (rs28371725)	C/T	Intron	No	activity
	*2xN (rs16947)	G/A	Duplication More than 1 copy of *2	Arg>Cys	Increased ez activity
	*1C (rs2069514)	G/A	5'UTR	No	Less ez activity
CYP1A2	*1F (rs762551)	A/C	Intron	No	Increased inducibility
	*1B (rs762551)	C/T	Synonymous	No	Increased inducibility
	*2 (rs55785340)	T/C	Missense	Ser>Pro	Decreased ez activity
CYP3A4	*6 (rs4646438)	-/A	Frameshift	Early stop codon (TGA)	No ez activity
	*20 (rs67666821)	-/T	Frameshift	Pro>Thr	No ez activity
	*22 (rs35599367)	C/T	Intron	No	Decreased ez activity
CYP345	*3 (rs776746)	T/C	Splice acceptor	No	No ez activity
	*6 (rs10264272)	C/T	Synonymous	No	No ez activity
	C3435T (rs1045642)	G/A	Synonymous	No	Decreased activity
	C1236T (rs1128503)	G/A	Frameshift	No	Decreased activity
	G2677TA (rs2032582)	C/A/T	Frameshift	Ser>Ala/Thr	Decreased activity
	rs10248420	A/G	Intron	No	Unknown
ABCB1	rs10276036	C/A	Intron	No	Unknown
	rs10280101	A/C	Intron	No	Unknown
	rs11983225	T/C	Intron	No	Unknown
	rs12720067	C/T	Intron	No	Unknown
	rs3842	T/C	3'UTR	No	Unknown
	rs41487/37	T/C	Intron	No	Unknown
	rs4/28/09	G/A	Intron	No	Unknown
400424	rs//8/082	G/A	Intron 521 JTD	NO	Unknown
ADKAZA	rs1800344		5'UTD	NO No	Unknown
AFUAS	rs/1520	A/U C/T	Supernuments	No	Unknown
APOC3	rs5128	C/G	3'UTR	No	Unknown
BDNF	rs6265	C/T	Missense	Val>Met	Decreased
	rs13306278	C/T	5'UTR	No	Unknown
COMT	rs4680	G/A	Missense	Val>Met	Unknown
	rs6277	C/T	Synonymous	No	Unknown
DRD2	rs1799732	G/-	Deletion	No	Increased activity

Gene	Variant	Alleles	Type of variant	Amino acid change	Functional consequence
	rs1800497	C/T	Missense	Glu>Lys	Decreased activity
DRD3	rs6280	C/T	Missense	Gly>Ser	Unknown
	rs6313	C/T	Synonymous	No	Unknown
HTR2A	rs6314	C/T	Missense	His>Tyr	Unknown
	rs7997012	A/G	Intron	No	Unknown
	rs1414334	C/G	Intron	No	Unknown
	rs518147	C/G	5'UTR	No	Unknown
HTR2C	rs3813929	C/T	5'UTR	No	Altered DNA- nuclear factor interactions
LEP	rs7799039	A/G	5'UTR	No	Impaired signaling capacity of the leptin receptor
LEPR	rs1137101	A/G	Missense	Gln>Arg	Higher levels of Leptin binding activity
OPRM1	rs1799971	A/G	Missense	Asn>Asp	Decreased receptor levels
UGT1A1	rs887829	C/T	Intron	No	Decreased activity

Alleles are shown as wild type/mutant.

Abbreviations: A: adenine; Ala: alanine; Arg: arginine; Asn: asparagine; Asp: aspartic acid; C: cytosine; Cys: cysteine; ez: enzyme; G: guanine; Gln: glutamine; Glu: glutamic acid; Gly: glycine; His: histidine; Ile: isoleucine; Lys: lysine; Met: methionine; Pro: proline; Ser: serine; T: thymine; Thr: threonine; Trp: tryptophan; Tyr: tyrosine; Val: valine.

#### 4.3. Genotyping

Samples were genotyped with TaqMan<sup>®</sup> assays on an OpenArray<sup>®</sup> platform on a QuantStudio<sup>TM</sup> 12K Flex instrument. The assay included 120 SNPs, whereof 46 were analysed based on their importance in the metabolism and mechanism of action of aripiprazole and olanzapine (see *Table* **15**).

During PCR, numerous copies are made of a DNA sequence of interest using primers and DNAdependent DNA polymerase. The stages of PCR are denaturation, annealing, and elongation. During denaturation, the two strands of DNA are separated (hydrogen bonds are broken down), requiring high temperatures. Upon annealing, the temperature is lowered so that primers can bind to the DNA strands. Finally, during elongation, the DNA-dependent DNA polymerase creates a new strand, starting from the primer. The copy is made from the original DNA strand.

Real-time PCR additionally uses allele-specific probes (oligonucleotides) which are fluorescently labelled, called TaqMan probes. They have a reporter dye at their 5'UTR ends and a quencher group at their 3'UTR ends. The quencher group is designed to prevent the reporter dye from emitting a fluorescent signal. When the PCR reaction starts, the DNA polymerase cleaves the probe with its 5'exonuclease activity, therefore the quencher group no longer inhibits the release of the reporter dye. Subsequently, a signal can be detected which is proportional to the amount of product. When SNP genotyping is performed, two labelled probes are used with different fluorescent molecules with different colours (FAM and VIC). These probes can bind to the different alleles of the SNP <sup>225</sup> (*Figure* 17).



Figure 17. Real-time PCR method with TaqMan<sup>®</sup> probes.

Real-time PCR method can be multiplexed - based on the TaqMan<sup>®</sup> OpenArray<sup>®</sup> Genotyping System (*Figure* 18). We analysed 24 samples for 120 SNPs on two plates along with 2 negative controls/ plate. DNA samples were normalized to 50 ng/mL concentration. Six  $\mu$ L was used for analysis.

#### III. Materials and Methods



*Figure* 18. The OpenArray<sup>®</sup> plate.

One array (circled area): can analyse 64 SNPs on one sample. The assay contains 48 arrays, therefore 24 samples can be analysed. Source: Arrojo *et al.*, 2013 <sup>226</sup>.

Since the *CYP2D6* \*29 (rs16947) polymorphism was not included in the array, it was genotyped with the same instrument using individual TaqMan<sup>®</sup> probes. CNVs and \*5 deletion in the *CYP2D6* gene were determined with the TaqMan<sup>®</sup> Copy Number Assay (Assay ID: Hs00010001\_cn; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) which detects a specific sequence in exon 9 <sup>227</sup>. Samples were run in the same instrument.

Results were analyzed with the QuantStudio<sup>TM</sup> 12K Flex and the TaqMan<sup>®</sup> Thermo Fisher Cloud software. The Thermo Fisher Cloud software automatically plots the samples on a graph with the color of each genotype group (*Figure* 19). These clouds can be modified and the samples can be checked individually for each SNP in case of uncertainty.



# DRD2 Taq1a allelic discrimination plot



Source: Nerenz et al., 2018<sup>228</sup>.

Additionally, the *CYP3A4*\*20 (rs67666821) polymorphism was genotyped by the KASPar SNP Genotyping System (LGC Genomics, Herts, UK) using 15 ng genomic DNA in the National Cancer Research Center (CNIO), Madrid, Spain. The assay included DNA control samples with known genotypes and negative controls. The ABI PRISM 7900HT Sequence Detection System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) was used for fluorescence detection and allele assignment <sup>156</sup>.

# 5. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed with the SPSS 24.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois). *P* values lower or equal than 0.05 were considered significant.

#### 5.1. Genetic polymorphisms

Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was estimated for all analysed variants. Deviations from the equilibrium were detected by comparing the observed and expected frequencies using a Fisher exact test based on the De Finetti program (available at <u>http://ihg.gsf.de/cgi-bin/hw/hwa1.pl</u>). The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium states that allele and genotype frequencies in a population remain constant from generation to generation in the absence of evolutionary influences, such as mutation, natural selection and migration. A polymorphism meets the Hardy-Weinberg criteria if P>0.05 <sup>229,230</sup>. A significant deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium may indicate genotyping error, because the conditions of Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium are generally applicable to the control subjects in a well-designed study population. However, it can also be caused by the lack of mutated alleles or location of a gene on chromosome X <sup>231</sup>.

*CYP2D6* \*3, \*4, \*5, \*6, \*7, \*8, \*9, \*10, \*14, \*17, \*29 and \*41 alleles were classified in 4 phenotypes (poor metabolizer: PM; intermediate metabolizer: IM; normal metabolizer: NM and ultra-rapid metabolizer: UM), which is based on the functionality of alleles <sup>232</sup> and according to the standardizing pharmacogenetic terms consensus <sup>233</sup> (see Tables 7 and 8).

*CYP3A4* \*2, \*20, \*22 and *CYP3A5* \*3 and \*6 genotypes were merged into a CYP3A phenotype as follows: subjects with at least one CYP3A4 reduced activity allele (i.e. CYP3A4 \*1/\*22 or \*22/\*22) and no CYP3A5 activity (CYP3A5 \*3/\*3) were considered PM; subjects with normal CYP3A4 activity (CYP3A4 \*1/\*1) and no CYP3A5 activity (CYP3A5 \*3/\*3) were considered IM and subjects with normal CYP3A4 activity (CYP3A4 \*1/\*1) and at least one CYP3A5 functional allele (CYP3A5 \*1/\*1 or \*1/\*3) were categorized as extensive metabolizers (EM) <sup>234</sup>.

Furthermore, a value was assigned to *CYP1A2* \*1B, \*1C and \*1F alleles based on their functionality: 0.5 to \*1C, 1 to \*1, 1.5 to \*1F and 1.25 to \*1B. An activity score was calculated as the sum of the values assigned to each allele and finally was translated into phenotypes: normal/rapid metabolizers (NM) and ultrarapid metabolizers (UM)  $^{235}$  (*Tables* 16 and 17).

CYP1A2 allele	Values assigned to the allele
*1C	0.5
*1	1
*1F	1.5
*1 <b>B</b>	1.25

*Table* 16. Values assigned to *CYP1A2* alleles based on their activity.

*Table* 17. CYP1A2 phenotypes based on the sum of the values assigned to both alleles of each subject.

Activity score	Phenotype	
1-1.5	РМ	
1.75-2.5	NM/RM UM	
2.75-3		

*ABCB1* variants were merged into 3 groups: 0-8 mutant alleles were assigned to group 1, 9-12 mutant alleles were assigned to group 2 and 13-17 mutant alleles were assigned to group 3. Another *ABCB1* haplotype was assembled by only considering C3435T, G2677T/A and C1236T polymorphisms due to greater impact on the transporter's activity or expression levels <sup>236</sup>. Zero or one mutant allele carriers were assigned to group 1, carriers of 2 or 3 mutant alleles were assigned to group 2 and carriers of 4, 5 or 6 mutant alleles were assigned to group 3.

*COMT* rs13306278 and rs4680 polymorphisms were merged into a haplotype: carrying no mutant allele was assigned as wild-type, carrying one mutant allele was considered as heterozygous while carrying more than one mutant allele was considered as mutant.

The effect of sex on different genotypes was assessed by chi-square test.

#### 5.2. Clinical parameters

ANOVA was used to compare mean pharmacokinetic values among different genotypes and sexes. Changes in pupillometric parameters (MAX, MIN, T75, MCV, CON, ACV, ADV, LAT) were

#### III. Materials and Methods

analysed by repeated measures ANOVA. The values were adjusted for differences in light intensity (*in lux*) before analysis. Pharmacokinetic parameters and polymorphisms were analysed as covariates. Estimate of effect size (partial eta squared,  $\eta_p^2$ ), i.e. the proportion of the total variance that is attributed to an effect is reported for each ANOVA test to avoid type II errors. The Bonferroni post-hoc test for multiple comparisons was applied for each analysis to avoid type I errors. Multiple linear regression models were used to study factors related to all pupillometric and pharmacokinetic dependent variables.

Metabolic parameters were analysed by repeated measures ANOVA. Pharmacokinetic parameters and polymorphisms were analysed as covariates. MANOVA was used to study factors related to all metabolic data and pharmacokinetic variables. Estimate of effect size is reported for each ANOVA test. The Bonferroni post-hoc test for multiple comparisons was applied for each analysis.

Changes in blood pressure, heart rate and QTc were analysed by repeated measures ANOVA. Pharmacokinetic parameters and polymorphisms were analysed as covariates. Estimate of effect size is reported for each ANOVA test. The chi-square test was used to compare the incidence of adverse effects between different genotypes. The Bonferroni post-hoc test for multiple comparisons was applied for each analysis.



# **IV. RESULTS**

# **1. Demographic characteristics**

Twenty-four subjects were included in the study (12 males and 12 females). Ten subjects were Caucasian and 14 were Latin-American. Age was similar between males and females. Males had greater weight and height than females, however, BMI values did not differ significantly (*Table* **18**).

	N (%)	Age (y)	Weight (kg)	Height (m)	BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )
All	24 (100)	$31.5\pm11.6$	$71.4\pm12.2$	$1.68\pm0.11$	$25.3\pm2.6$
Males	12 (50)	$28.5\pm7.4$	$78.4 \pm 12.2$	$1.76\pm0.09$	$25.4\pm2.8$
Females	12 (50)	$34.6 \pm 14.3$	$64.3\pm7.4$	$1.60\pm0.07$	$25.1\pm2.5$
р		0.104	0.003	< 0.0001	0.798

Table 18. Demographic characteristics.

Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD unless otherwise indicated.

# 2. Analytical method validation

The main results of this chapter were published in:

Koller D, Zubiaur P, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Abad-Santos F, Wojnicz A. Simultaneous determination of six antipsychotics, two of their metabolites and caffeine in human plasma by LC-MS/MS using a phospholipid-removal microelution-solid phase extraction method for sample preparation. *Talanta*. 2019 Jun 1;198:159-168. doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2019.01.112. Epub 2019 Feb 1. PubMed PMID: 30876545.

#### 2.1. Experimental conditions in LC and MS/MS

pKa values were ranging from 7.06 to 8.76 for all drugs included in this method, except for caffeine with the pKa value of -0.92. Water solubility was ranging from 0.008 mg/mL to 0.297 mg/mL for all the compounds, except for caffeine with 11 mg/mL. To optimize chromatographic conditions, we used different analytical columns (XBridge BEH C18, Waters, Madrid, Spain and ACE C18-PFP, Agilent Technologies, Madrid, Spain), buffer compositions (ammonium formate, 0.1% and 0.2% formic acid), buffer pH (2, 3, 4 and 6), mobile phase flow rates (0.5 and 0.6 mL/min) and

variety of gradients. Additionally, the temperature of analytical separation was considered as well (25-30°C). For the present method we applied the ACE C18-PFP column as it offers good resolution and improves analyte separation compared to ordinary C18 column due to  $\pi$ - $\pi$  interactions with the aromatic ring and OH groups. Finally, 0.2% formic acid at pH 3.0 as aqueous buffer, flow rate of 0.6 mL/min and the temperature of 25°C were chosen to improve the chromatographic performance of our method. After each injection, the injection needle and the analytical column were washed with a mixture of organic-aqueous solvent. A mixture of acetonitrile/water (50/50; v/v) and isopropanol/water (50/50; v/v) was tested to avoid carry-over phenomenon in subsequent injections. Finally, acetonitrile/water was found to be more effective in needle cleaning process. The total run time, including washing and re-equilibrating steps, was 9.0 min. Five  $\mu$ L of the sample was injected in the HPLC system. Human plasma was spiked with the LLOQ of each drug before  $\mu$ -SPE. Retention times and concentration values were calculated from calibration curves given for all analytes. Concerning MS/MS conditions, ESI in positive mode was selected for scanning all analytes in dynamic MRM (dMRM) scan mode.

*Table* 14 displays relevant LC–MS/MS characteristics, *Figure* 20 and 21 show XIC of the analytes.



Figure 20. Extraction ion chromatogram (XIC) of the compounds.

Results are presented as the percentage of counts versus time in minutes. All chromatograms were normalized to the largest peak. Dashed lines show the elution area of the antipsychotics and caffeine separated from early- and late-eluting (lysophosphatidylcholines, LPC) endogenous phospholipids.



*Figure* 21. Extraction ion chromatograms (XIC) of the compounds and their isotope-labeled internal standards.

Results are presented as the percentage of counts versus time in minutes.

*Figure* 22 depicts mass spectra obtained by collision-induced dissociation of the indicated precursor ions [M+H]+.



Mass-to-Charge (m/z)

*Figure* 22. Product ion spectra and chemical structures of the compounds and their stable isotopelabeled internal standards obtained by collision-induced dissociation (CID) of the indicated precursor ions  $[M+H]^+$ .

The resolution of elution, a quantitative measure of how well two elution peaks can be differentiated in a chromatographic separation, was also evaluated. It is defined as the difference in retention times between the two peaks, divided by the combined widths of the elution peaks: Rs = 2[(tR)B - (tR)A)]WB + WA

Where rs = resolution factor, tR: retention time, B: compound B, A: compound A, W: width.

Resolutions between the analytes of interest are shown in *Table* 19.

Compounds	Rs
Caffeine-Olanzapine	1.28
Olanzapine-Paliperidone	12.63
Paliperidone-Risperidone	6.24
Risperidone-Quetiapine	7.35
Quetiapine-Clozapine	1.85
Clozapine-Dehydro-aripiprazole	7.81
Dehydro-aripiprazole-Aripiprazole	8.49

*Table* 19. Resolution factor (Rs) between the adjoining compounds.

Apart from isotope-labeled internal standards, ion ratio (qualifier ratio) based identity confirmation was used to ensure the reliability of analyte detection. The ion ratio difference between calibrators and quality controls did not differ more than 30%. Additionally, we analyzed retention time and relative retention time difference between extracted analyte and neat solution of the analyte. The obtained value was lower than 0.1 min in all cases when analyzing retention time difference and lower than 2.5% when analyzing relative retention time – identity confirmation.

DARI

DARI



extraction recovery, \_matrix ARI DARI OLA RIS PAL QUE OLA effects and process efficiency CAF SPE PPT SPE PPT We tested phospholipid cleaning ability of SPE compared to PPT in 36 different human blank plasma samples. With the SPE method we eliminated 99.56% and 99.46% of early eluting endogenous plasma phosphatidilcholines and lysophosphatidilcholines using hydrophilic-LOWD QC SPE sorbent compared to PPT method ( $100.00 \pm 33.49\%$  vs  $0.44 \pm 0.73\%$  High QC for phosphatidilcholines and 100.00 ± 31.57% **∂**vs 160.54  $\pm$  0.17%, p < 0.001 for lysophosphatidilcholines, respectively). Similarly, we evaluated the elimination capability of lateeluting phospholipids. SPE method was able to memory 92.34% and 97.68% of late-eluting endogenous plasma lysophosphatidilcholine 18:0-1 and lysophosphatidilcholine 16:0-1 compared to PPT method ( $100.00 \pm 32.23\%$  vs  $7.66 \pm 3.16\%$ , 2 = 26001 for lysophosphatidilcholine 18:0-1 and  $100.00 \pm 26.16\%$  vs  $2.32 \pm 0.74\%$ , p < 0.001 for sysophosphatidilcholine 16:0-1, respectively). OLA The Results and shown UFF Figure 23. Early eluting phospholipids Are ree DAR with a 1.488 finin and L QUE at 1.537 min, while late-eluting phospholipids were eluted at 8.186 min and at 8.348 min. Analyte

elution was between 1.940 min and 4.790 min.



Figure 23. Endogenous plasma phospholipid elimination efficiency in plasma after undergoing SPE and PPT processes including 36 experiments (RSD, %) at low and high concentrations.

Abbreviations: PCs-e: early eluting phosphatidilcholines, LPCs-e: early eluting lysophosphatidilcholines, LPC 16:0-1: late-eluting lysophosphatidylcholine 16:0, LPC 18:0-1: late-eluting lysophosphatidylcholine 18:0).
Low- and high-quality controls were applied for the determination of relative and absolute extraction recovery, matrix effects and process efficiency. These results are shown in *Figures* 24 and 25, respectively.

Relative mean extraction recovery when applying SPE was within 98.05-108.91% for all compounds, except for CAF with the value of 127.19% with an RSD lower than 10%, while absolute mean extraction recovery ranged between 81.31 and 119.02% with an RSD of 14%. Relative extraction recovery values for PPT ranged from 96.04 to 119.09% (except for CAF with the value of 171.54%) with an RSD not higher than 11.50%, while absolute extraction recovery had values between 57.42 and 75.91% with an RSD within 24.67%.

Regarding matrix effects, relative values were found between 99.05 and 105.14% with an RSD of 3.97% (except for caffeine with 77.52 and 118.85% and RSD of 27.04%), greatly better than absolute matrix effects ranging from 83.24 to 119.37% with an RSD of 15%. Only olanzapine represented higher ion suppression with a value of 75.80%. The results obtained with PPT as extraction method were as follows: relative matrix effects ranged from 94.09 to 106.57% with an RSD of 8.22%, absolute matrix effects for PPT was comprised between 63.92 and 91.11% with an RSD of 12.02%. Regarding extraction recovery and matrix effects, more preferable values were obtained when stable isotope-labeled internal standards were applied (relative) compared to absolute values. Absolute results obtained by SPE and PPT differed considerably. Absolute extraction recovery obtained with PPT compared to SPE was lower and highly variable (57.42 to 75.91%) with an RSD of 24.67%), while ion suppression was also significant (mean matrix effects of 77.51%). Therefore, SPE was chosen as extraction procedure for method validation.

Regarding process efficiency during SPE, relative values were comprised between 95.28 and 113.15% with an RSD of 7.11%, while absolute process efficiency was extent from 95.75 to 119.59% with an RSD less than 13.10%, except for caffeine having values between 77.52 and 152.41% with an RSD of 13.50%. Relative process efficiency during PPT was found between 88.43 and 114.55% with an RSD of 10.45% (except for caffeine with a value of 156.34% and RSD

#### IV. Results

of 10.75%); absolute process efficiency was relatively lower ranging from 38.00 to 61.53% with an RSD of 24.72%.



*Figure* 24. Relative values of extraction recovery, matrix effects and process efficiency tests calculated for each analyte after SPE and PPT processes in low (Low QC) and high (High QC) concentrations.

Panel A shows extraction recovery, Panel B shows matrix effects while Panel C shows process efficiency values with the relative standard deviation (RSD, %) of 8 experiments.



Panel A shows extraction recovery, Panel B shows matrix effects while Panel C shows process efficiency values with the relative standard deviation (RSD, %) of 8 experiments.

## 2.3. Selectivity, LLOQ and linearity PCS-e LPC 16:0-1 LPC 18:0-1 PPT SPE

Blank plasma XIC peak area ratio was less than 10.6% compared to XIC peak area of the LLOQ of all drugs, except for caffeine (13.49%), and less than 0.07% for XIC peak area for all internal standards, except for caffeine (0.27%). LLOQs for the analytes in human plasma were the

following: aripiprazole: 0.18, dehydro-aripiprazole: 0.25, olanzapine: 1.00, risperidone: 0.70, paliperidone: 0.20, quetiapine: 0.50, clozapine: 0.50 ng/mL and caffeine: 1200 ng/mL (*Table* 11).

After performing lack-of-fit test to evaluate linearity of the calibration curve, the F calculated value (0.381-1.687) was lower than the F tabulated value (2.685) for dehydro-aripiprazole, olanzapine, clozapine and caffeine. Thus, for these analytes, a linear regression model was performed. For the rest of the compounds the F calculated value was higher than F tabulated value, therefore non-linear calibration curve adjustment was applied. The most applicable weighting factors were 1/x for aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole, olanzapine, quetiapine and caffeine,  $1/x^2$  for paliperidone and 1/y for clozapine and risperidone. In all cases, we obtained correlation coefficients (R<sup>2</sup>) higher than 0.99, except for caffeine (*Table* 20).

Compound	R <sup>2</sup>	Regression model	Weighting factor	F calculated value
Aripiprazole	0.999	Quadratic	1/x	8.754
Dehydro-aripiprazole	0.999	Linear	1/x	0.875
Caffeine	0.939	Linear	1/x	1.687
Clozapine	0.998	Linear	1/y	1.239
Olanzapine	0.996	Linear	1/x	0.381
Paliperidone	0.985	Quadratic	$1/x^{2}$	18.230
Risperidone	0.998	Quadratic	1/y	14.566
Quetiapine	0.999	Quadratic	1/x	21.345

Table 20	. Linearity	of the	compounds.
----------	-------------	--------	------------

## 2.4. Precision and accuracy

As shown in *Table* 21, precision and accuracy were within the acceptance criteria for the evaluated assay range. The overall RSDs, for all quality controls except for LLOQ, ranging from 1.53 to 13.16% and from 1.78 to 14.84%, were achieved for repeatability and intermediate precision tests,

respectively. Global RSDs for accuracy assessment averaged -7.56 and 12.45%, -14.91 and 14.58%, respectively. LLOQs showed higher RSD values, however, they were consistently below the acceptance limits (20%).

Compound	Concentration (ng/mL)	Repeatability n=6 Mean ± SD (ng/mL)	RSD (%)	Accuracy (%)	Intermediate precision n=24 Mean ± SD (ng/mL)	Pooled RSD (%)	Accuracy (%)
	0.18	$0.17\pm0.01$	0.07	-3.27	$0.19\pm0.02$	7.69	2.56
	1.00	$1.12\pm0.08$	0.07	12.33	$1.08\pm0.06$	5.18	8.17
Aripiprazole	60	$58.84 \pm 1.34$	2.29	-1.93	$59.59 \pm 2.00$	2.83	-0.69
	100	$108.00\pm2.60$	2.41	8.00	112. $86 \pm 9.24$	6.91	12.86
	0.25	$0.25 \pm 0.01$	3.72	0.75	$0.25\pm0.02$	6.89	0.64
Dehydro-	0.90	$0.85\pm0.04$	4.11	-5.23	$0.86\pm0.05$	6.02	-4.87
aripiprazole	40	$42.03\pm0.72$	1.72	5.07	$41.73 \pm 1.97$	4.71	4.32
	70	$68.85 \pm 1.44$	2.10	-1.64	$66.28\pm3.18$	4.80	-5.31
	1.00	$1.05\pm0.03$	3.32	5.09	$1.08\pm0.18$	9.43	7.54
Olanzanina	3.00	$3.01\pm0.40$	13.16	0.33	$3.27\pm0.40$	9.42	9.00
Ofanzapine	50	$47.28\pm0.99$	2.08	-5.43	$51.04 \pm 4.59$	2.90	2.09
	80	$79.14 \pm 1.98$	2.50	-1.08	$75.94 \pm 5.15$	3.15	-5.07
Risperidone	0.70	$0.73\pm0.02$	3.20	4.89	$0.61\pm0.10$	8.08	-12.33
	1.50	$1.68 \pm 0.07$	3.98	12.01	$1.71 \pm 0.10$	5.73	13.70
	25	$25.02 \pm 0.56$	2.22	0.07	$27.79 \pm 0.91$	2.51	3.14
	50	$48.79 \pm 1.25$	2.56	-2.41	$46.06 \pm 3.07$	2.37	-7.88
	0.20	$0.24\pm0.03$	13.04	19.15	$0.24 \pm 0.04$	16.51	17.58
Palinaridana	1.60	$1.67\pm0.05$	3.19	4.39	$1.70\pm0.08$	3.68	6.27
i anperiuone	15	$14.77 \pm 0.98$	6.63	-1.55	$14.71 \pm 0.64$	3.71	-1.92
	25	$23.11 \pm 0.55$	2.36	-7.56	$22.71 \pm 1.09$	2.14	-9.16
	0.50	$0.48\pm0.04$	7.58	-3.65	$0.45\pm0.05$	8.11	-10.69
Quetianine	1.50	$1.67 \pm 0.10$	5.93	11.16	$1.69 \pm 0.10$	5.37	12.74
Quetiaplite	80	$89.96 \pm 1.84$	2.04	12.45	$91.21 \pm 6.16$	6.95	14.00
	130	$123.47 \pm 2.20$	1.78	-5.03	$133.26 \pm 11.30$	3.00	2.50
	0.50	$0.53 \pm 0.02$	3.97	5.12	$0.46 \pm 0.05$	7.35	-8.57
Clozanine	7.00	$7.85 \pm 0.40$	5.03	12.11	$7.46 \pm 0.51$	4.12	6.56
Ciozupine	500	$499.64 \pm 13.29$	2.66	-0.07	$510.27 \pm 21.25$	2.51	2.05
	800	$766.07 \pm 19.99$	2.61	-4.24	$745.22 \pm 50.99$	2.79	-6.85
	1200	$974.48 \pm 82.39$	8.45	-18.79	$1286.27 \pm 322.33$	19.36	7.19
Caffeine	2200	$2364.41 \pm 126.05$	5.33	7.47	$2366.92 \pm 137.84$	6.06	7.59
Currente	3200	$3151.70 \pm 48.25$	1.53	-1.51	$3080.38 \pm 392.77$	9.78	-3.74
	3700	$3647.80 \pm 143.63$	3.94	-1.41	$3290.99 \pm 313.51$	6.86	-11.05

Table 21. Repeatability and intermediate precision and accuracy values.

Precision values are expressed as percentage of RSD (%) for repeated measurement from one day and as pooled RSD (%) from 4 consecutive days. Accuracy is shown as the percentage of the closeness of theoretical concentration to the measured value present in the matrix. The corresponding concentrations are displayed as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) of the number of total experiments (n).

### 2.5. Trueness

Analyzing trueness interpreted with Zeta-score resulted satisfactory (values less than 2) in case of all drugs and concentrations (between -0.10 and 1.20 for LLOQ, -1.07 and 1.16 for Low quality control and 0.56 and 1.70 for High quality control).

## 2.6. Stability

We performed stability tests in unextracted sample (room temperature at 20°C, fridge at 4°C and freezer at -80°C) and after sample extraction in the autosampler. Results of the stability assays at low and high concentrations are summarized in *Figure* 26. Stability tests in unextracted plasma after 24h at 20°C (room temperature) showed global RSDs between 1.16 and 10.32% and mean stabilities of 89.03 and 105.35% (except for caffeine with the value of 111.81%); after 24 h at 4°C in the fridge demonstrated overall RSDs between 0.55 and 8.66% and mean stabilities of 92.93 and 103.49%; after three freeze–thaw cycles (24 h each cycle) in the freezer at –80°C they exhibited global RSDs between 0.17 and 6.02% and mean stabilities of 91.55 and 101.67%; after 1 month in the freezer at –80°C they showed overall RSDs between 0.67 and 6.55% and mean stabilities of 87.28 and 109.04%; for all compounds included in the present method. Stability tests in extracted samples after 24 h at 20°C in the autosampler presented RSDs of minimum 0.76 and maximum 7.88% and mean stabilities ranging from 92.63 to 107.57%. Overall, the RSD value was less than 10.32% and the mean stabilities were close to 100% for all tested compounds.



Figure 26. Stability tests.

Storage stability of at low and high concentrations (Low QC and High QC) in human plasma samples during 24 h at 20°C (room temperature), 24 h at 4°C in the fridge, after 3 freeze-thaw cycle (-80°C), stored in the freezer at -80°C for one month and in extracted samples after 24h at 20°C in the autosampler. Results are given as mean percentages  $\pm$  RSD. Low- and high quality-control (Low QC and High QC)

## 2.7. Carry-over

samples in quadruplicates were used for each stability test.

We applied a mixture of acetonitrile and water (1/1, v/v) for needle wash as well as for blank sample injection after measuring samples with high concentration, in order to reduce carry-over effect. The carry-over effect was lower than 15% for antipsychotic drugs and lower than 16.5% for caffeine (*Table 22*).

Compound	Carry over (%) ± SD
Aripiprazole	$7.41 \pm 3.23$
Dehydro-aripiprazole	$4.92\pm3.22$
Caffeine	$16.13 \pm 19.23$
Clozapine	$14.39\pm8.76$
Olanzapine	$14.68\pm10.65$
Paliperidone	$7.28\pm2.93$
Risperidone	$1.05\pm0.76$
Quetiapine	$7.68\pm3.65$

Table 22. Carry-over effect.

# **3. Genotype frequencies**

Genotype and phenotype frequencies of the analysed variants are shown in *Table 23*. *HTR2C* rs3813929 and rs518147, *ABCB1* rs4728709, *COMT* rs13306278, *CYP2D6* \*14 (rs5030865), \*17 (rs28371706), \*3 (rs35742686), \*6 (rs5030655), \*7 (rs5030867) and \*8 (rs5030865) and *CYP3A4* \*2 (rs55785340) and \*6 (rs4646438) were not in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium ( $p \le 0.05$ ), what can be explained by the low number of subjects. The rest of the polymorphisms were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium ( $p \ge 0.05$ ).

Genotype frequencies of *ABCB1* rs1128503, rs2032582, 10276036 and rs4148737 and *HTR2C* rs518147 polymorphisms were significantly different between males and females (*Table* 23).

*Table* 23. Genotype frequencies of the analysed polymorphisms.

Gene / variant	Genotype / Haplotype	Total	Males	Females
CYP2D6 phenotype	NM	16 (66.7)	8 (66.7)	8 (66.7)
	IM	6 (25.0)	3 (25.0)	3 (25.0)
	UM	2 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)

Gene / variant	Genotype / Haplotype	Total	Males	Females
	NM/RM	17 (70.8)	10 (83.3)	7 (58.3)
CYPIA2 phenotype	UM	7 (29.2)	2 (16.7)	5 (41.7)
	EM	4 (66.7)	3 (25.0)	1 (8.3)
CYP3A4 phenotype	IM	17 (25.0)	7 (58.3)	10 (83.3)
	PM	3 (8.3)	2 (16.7)	1 (8.3)
	1	7 (29.2)	6 (50.0)	1 (8.3)
ABCB1 phenotype*	2	9 (37.5)	3 (25.0)	6 (50.0)
	3	8 (33.3)	3 (25.0)	5 (41.7)
	1	8 (33.3)	7 (58.4)	1 (8.3)
ABCB1 phenotype <sup>#</sup> *	2	10 (41.6)	3 (25.0)	7 (58.4)
	3	6 (25.0)	2 (16.7)	4 (33.3)
	C/C	7 (29.2)	6 (50.0)	1 (8.3)
<i>АВСВ1</i> С3435Т	C/T	12 (50.0)	4 (33.3)	8 (66.7)
	T/T	5 (20.8)	2 (16.7)	3 (25.0)
	C/C	9 (37.5)	7 (58.3)	2 (16.7)
<i>ABCB1</i> G2677T/A*	C/A	12 (50.0)	5 (41.7)	7 (41.7)
	A/T	3 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	3 (41.7)
ABCB1 C1236T*	C/C	8 (33.3)	6 (50.0)	2 (16.7)
	C/T	11 (45.8)	6 (50.0)	5 (41.7)
	T/T	5 (20.8)	0 (0.0)	5 (41.7)
	G/G	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
ABCB1 rs10248420	A/G	11 (45.8)	6 (50.0)	5 (41.7)
	A/A	12 (50.0)	6 (50.0)	6 (50.0)
	<u> </u>	8 (33.3)	6 (50.0)	2 (16.7)
ABCB1 rs10276036*		11 (45.8)	6 (50.0)	5 (41.7)
	C/C	5 (20.8)	0 (0.0)	5 (41.7)
ABCB1 rs10280101		16 (66.7)	7 (58.3)	9 (75.0)
	A/C	8 (33.3)	5 (41.7)	3 (25.0)
			7 (50.2)	0 (77.0)
ABCB1 rs11983225		16 (66.7)	/ (58.3)	9 (75.0)
	C/1	8 (33.3)	S (41./)	3 (25.0)
			7 (50.2)	0 (75.0)
ABCB1 rs12/20067		16 (66.7)	/ (38.3)	9 (75.0)

Gene / variant	Genotype / Haplotype	Total	Males	Females
	C/T	8 (33.3)	5 (41.7)	3 (25.0)
	T/T	19 (79.2)	9 (75.0)	10 (83.3)
ABCB1 rs3842	C/T	4 (16.7)	3 (25.0)	1 (8.3)
	C/C	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
	T/T	9 (37.5)	1 (8.3)	8 (66.7)
ABCB1 rs4148737*	C/T	12 (50.0)	9 (75.0)	3 (25.0)
	C/C	3 (12.5)	2 (16.7)	1 (8.3)
	A/A	1 (4.2)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)
ABCB1 rs4728709	A/G	2 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)
	G/G	21 (87.5)	10 (83.3)	11 (91.7)
	A/A	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
ABCB1 rs7787082	A/G	12 (50.0)	7 (58.3)	5 (41.7)
	G/G	11 (45.8)	5 (41.7)	6 (50.0)
ADRA2A rs1800544	C/C	16 (66.7)	8 (66.7)	8 (66.7)
	C/G	8 (33.3)	4 (33.3)	4 (33.3)
1DO 15 mg(62700	A/A	15 (62.5)	7 (58.3)	8 (66.7)
AFUA3 18002799	A/G	9 (37.5)	5 (41.7)	4 (33.3)
	C/C	4 (16.7)	2 (16.7)	2 (16.7)
<i>APOC3</i> rs4520	C/T	16 (66.7)	6 (50.0)	10 (83.3)
	T/T	4 (16.7)	4 (33.3)	0 (0.0)
	C/C	12 (50.0)	7 (58.3)	5 (41.7)
<i>APOC3</i> rs5128	C/G	11 (45.8)	4 (33.3)	7 (58.3)
	G/G	1 (4.2)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)
	C/C	16 (66.7)	6 (50.0)	10 (83.3)
<b>BDNF</b> rs6265	C/T	6 (25.0)	5 (41.7)	1 (8.3)
	T/T	2 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)
	WT	9 (37.5)	5 (41.7)	4 (33.3)
<b>COMT</b> phenotype	HZ	9 (37.5)	3 (25.0)	6 (50.0)
	MUT	6 (25.0)	4 (33.3)	2 (16.7)
<i>COMT</i> rs13306278	C/C	21 (87.5)	10 (83.3)	11 (91.7)

Gene / variant	Genotype / Hanlotype	Total	Males	Females
	С/Т	2 (8.3)	2 (16.7)	0 (0.0)
	T/T	1(4.2)	0(0.0)	1 (8.3)
		1 (2)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.0)
	G/G	5 (20.8)	3 (25.0)	2 (16.7)
<i>COMT</i> rs4680	A/G	10 (41.7)	4 (33.3)	6 (50.0)
00/11 134000	A/A	9 (37.5)	5 (41.7)	4 (33.3)
				()
	A/A	9 (37.5)	5 (41.7)	4 (33.3)
<b>DRD2</b> rs6277	A/G	13 (54.2)	7 (58.3)	6 (50.0)
	G/G	2 (8.3)	0 (0.0)	2 (16.7)
DDD2 1700722	G/G	18 (75.0)	7 (58.3)	11 (91.7)
<i>DKD2</i> rs1/99/32	G/-	6 (25)	5 (41.7)	1 (8.3)
	A1/A1	14 (58.3)	7 (58.3)	7 (58.3)
<i>DRD2</i> rs1800497	A1/A2	7 (29.2)	4 (33.3)	3 (25.0)
	A2/A2	3 (12.5)	1 (8.3)	2 (16.7)
			, ,	, <i>,</i> ,
	Ser/Ser	6 (25.0)	3 (25.0)	3 (25.0)
<i>DRD3</i> rs6280	Ser/Gly	14 (58.3)	8 (66.7)	6 (50.0)
	Gly/Gly	4 (16.7)	1 (8.3)	3 (25.0)
	C/C	9 (37.5)	3 (25.0)	6 (50.0)
HTR2A rs6313	C/T	9 (37.5)	6 (50.0)	3 (25.0)
	T/T	6 (25.0)	3 (25.0)	3 (25.0)
HTD21 mg6311	C/C	22 (91.7)	11 (91.7)	11 (91.7)
<i>III</i> <b>N</b> 2A 180514	C/T	2 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)
	G/G	11 (45.8)	6 (50.0)	5 (41.7)
<i>HTR2A</i> rs7997012	A/G	12 (50.0)	6 (50.0)	6 (50.0)
	A/A	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
	C/C	20 (83.3)	11 (91.7)	9 (75.0)
HTR2C rs1414334	C/G	3 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	3 (25.0)
	G/G	1 (4.2)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)
	C/C	5 (20.8)	4 (33.3)	1 (8.3)
<i>HTR2C</i> rs518147*	C/G	6 (25.0)	0 (0.0)	6 (50.0)
	G/G	13 (54.2)	8 (66.7)	5 (41.7)

Gene / variant	Genotype / Haplotype	Total	Males	Females
	C/C	18 (75.0)	10 (83.3)	8 (66.7)
<i>HTR2C</i> rs3813929	C/T	3 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	3 (25.0)
	T/T	3 (12.5)	2 (16.7)	1 (8.3)
	A/A	5 (20.8)	2 (16.7)	3 (25.0)
<i>LEP</i> rs7799039	A/G	12 (50.0)	5 (41.7)	7 (58.3)
	G/G	7 (29.2)	5 (41.7)	2 (16.7)
	A/A	9 (37.5)	5 (41.7)	4 (33.3)
<i>LEPR</i> rs1137101	A/G	13 (54.2)	5 (41.7)	8 (66.7)
	G/G	2 (8.3)	2 (16.7)	0 (0.0)
	A/A	19 (79.2)	10 (83.3)	9 (75.0)
<i>OPRM1</i> rs1799971	A/G	4 (16.7)	2 (16.7)	2 (16.7)
	G/G	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
	C/C	8 (33.3)	2 (16.7)	6 (50.0)
UGT1A1 rs887829	C/T	11 (45.8)	7 (58.3)	4 (33.3)
	T/T	5 (20.8)	3 (25.0)	2 (16.7)

\*P < 0.05 females versus males.

<sup>#</sup>ABCB1 phenotype including only *ABCB1* C3435T, G2677T/A and C1236T variants.

Values are shown as n (%).

## 4. Pharmacokinetics and its relationship with polymorphisms

Mean and standard deviation (SD) of the pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole, dehydroaripiprazole and olanzapine are shown in *Table* 24. Females had higher  $T_{1/2}$  (p = 0.044) and Vd/F (p = 0.001) of aripiprazole and higher Vd/F (p = 0.048) and Cl/F (p = 0.015) of dehydroaripiprazole after multiple dose administration. Moreover, males had higher AUC<sub>24h</sub> of dehydroaripiprazole (p = 0.035) after single dose administration. No differences were found in the pharmacokinetic parameters of olanzapine between males and females.

	SINGLE DOSE			MULTIPLE DOSE				
	All	Males	Females	All	Males	Females		
ARIPIPRAZOLE								
AUC (ng·h/mL) <sup>#</sup>	724.9 ± 236.5	647.0± 197.2	802.7± 254.6	$11102.4 \pm 8234.0$	7790.0± 4071.5	$14415.7 \pm 10061.4$		
C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	$50.6 \pm 15.5$	47.7 ± 14.4	53.5 ± 16.6	$138.0\pm45.9$	$129.6\pm47.4$	$146.3 \pm 44.9$		
T <sub>max</sub> (h)	5.2 ± 2.4	4.8 ± 2.8	$5.6 \pm 2.0$	3.2 ± 1.4	3.3 ± 1.4	3.2 ± 1.5		
T½ (h)	NA	NA	NA	66.1 ± 24.6	56.1 ± 19.9	76.1 ± 25.5*		
Vd/F (L/kg)	NA	NA	NA	$6.0 \pm 1.6$	5.1 ± 1.0	$7.0 \pm 1.4$ *		
Cl/F (mL/h/kg)	NA	NA	NA	68.1 ± 21.4	$69.1 \pm 25.6$	67.1 ± 17.5		
		DEHY	DRO-ARIPI	PRAZOLE				
AUC (ng·h/mL)	77.4 ± 43.9	90.3 ± 56.9	$\begin{array}{c} 64.5 \pm \\ 20.6 * \end{array}$	$5149.8 \pm \\1628.6$	$4721.3 \pm 1670.3$	5578.3 ± 1534.8		
C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	$5.4 \pm 8.5$	$6.5 \pm 5.3$	4.3 ± 1.2	$34.9\pm8.5$	$35.6\pm9.6$	34.1 ± 7.4		
T <sub>max</sub> (h)	$21.9\pm4.5$	$20.9\pm5.4$	$22.9 \pm 3.4$	6.1 ± 4.4	7.1 ± 3.9	5.1 ± 4.8		
T½ (h)	NA	NA	NA	$107.3 \pm 62.5$	$89.4\pm45.4$	$126.9\pm74.2$		
Vd/F (L/kg)	NA	NA	NA	$40.0\pm44.0$	$22.4 \pm 10.3$	57.6 ± 57.1*		
Cl/F (mL/h/kg)	NA	NA	NA	$203.5\pm51.0$	181.3 ± 47.3	$230.7 \pm 44.2*$		
	ARI	PIPRAZOLI	E + DEHYDF	RO-ARIPIPRAZ	ZOLE			
AUC (ng·h/mL)	NA	NA	NA	14596.1 ± 6639.1	11883.5± 4788.9	17308.6± 7292.2		
C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	NA	NA	NA	$172.82 \pm 48.74$	$165.27 \pm 53.98$	$180.38\pm43.93$		
AUC ratio	NA	NA	NA	0.64 ± 0.25	$0.74 \pm 0.27$	0.54 ± 0.20*		
C <sub>max</sub> ratio	NA	NA	NA	$0.27 \pm 0.08$	$0.29\pm0.07$	$0.25 \pm 0.09$		

*Table* 24. Pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine after administration of a single dose and 5 multiple doses.

	SINGLE DOSE			MULTIPLE DOSE				
	All	Males	Females	All	Males	Females		
OLANZAPINE								
AUC (ng·h/mL) <sup>#</sup>	127.6± 33.1	127.8± 38.6	127.4± 28.4	$1289.5 \pm 370.1$	1142.7± 291.2	$1436.2 \pm 393.1$		
C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	$7.9 \pm 2.2$	$7.5 \pm 2.0$	8.2 ± 2.5	19.1 ± 4.8	$18.4\pm4.0$	$19.9 \pm 5.5$		
T <sub>max</sub> (h)	5.3 ± 2.3	$5.4 \pm 2.7$	$5.3 \pm 1.9$	4.4 ± 1.7	4.6 ± 1.6	4.3 ± 1.9		
T½ (h)	NA	NA	NA	77.1 ± 28.2	$79.5\pm33.4$	$74.8\pm23.1$		
Vd/F (L/kg)	NA	NA	NA	26.6 ± 15.9	26.1 ± 17.2	27.0 ± 15.3		
Cl/F (mL/h/kg)	NA	NA	NA	$229.7 \pm 54.7$	$218.9\pm51.9$	$240.6\pm57.5$		

\* $P \le 0.05$  vs. males after adjusting for weight. NA: not available.

#for single dose administration the 24 h area under the concentration-time curve (AUC<sub>24h</sub>), while for multiple dose administration area under the curve from zero to infinity (AUC<sub>inf</sub>) are shown. Abbreviations: AUC ratio: dehydro-aripiprazole/aripiprazole AUC ratio;  $C_{max}$  ratio: dehydro-aripiprazole/aripiprazole C<sub>max</sub> ratio.

Univariate and multivariate analyses revealed associations between pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine and several polymorphisms (*Tables* 25, 26 and 27). Additionally, results of the multivariate analysis are shown in *Table* 28. The effect of each polymorphism included in the study on pharmacokinetics was analysed, however, due to the large number of variables, only significant results are shown in the tables.

## Aripiprazole

Cl/F was notably higher in CYP2D6 UMs than in NMs and IMs (p = 0.016 and p = 0.016, respectively). Moreover, although it did not reach the significant level, AUC, C<sub>max</sub> and T<sub>1/2</sub> were lower in UMs compared to NMs and IMs. Additionally, AUC<sub>inf</sub> and C<sub>max</sub> on days 1 and 5 were significantly higher in CYP1A2 UMs than in NMs and RMs (p = 0.034, p = 0.040 and p = 0.012, respectively). Surprisingly, Cl/F was lower in CYP1A2 UMs compared to the other phenotypes (p = 0.033). Additionally, T<sub>max</sub> was higher in *ABCB1* rs1045642 TT compared to CC subjects (p = 0.033). *ABCB1* rs4148737 C/C subjects had 2-times higher T<sub>1/2</sub> and T<sub>max</sub> than T carriers (p = 0.024 and p = 0.004, respectively). Results are shown in *Table* 25. Several of these associations were

confirmed in the multivariate analysis: the effects of CYP2D6 phenotype on AUC,  $T_{1/2}$ , Cl/F and Vd/F; CYP1A2 phenotype on AUC,  $C_{max}$ ,  $T_{1/2}$  and Cl/F; *ABCB1* rs1045642 on  $T_{max}$  and *ABCB1* rs4148737 on AUC,  $T_{max}$  and  $T_{1/2}$  (*Table 28*).

Variable	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T1/2 (h)	Cl/F (L/h·kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)
CYP2D6 phenotype						
IM (n = 6)	$89464\pm34240$	$1025\pm244$	$3.33 \pm 1.37$	$72.4\pm20.2$	$57.2 \pm 11.4$	$5.89 \pm 1.80$
NM (n = 16)	$79899\pm59385$	$1006\pm409$	$3.19 \pm 1.52$	$67.3\pm25.8$	$67.1 \pm 18.5$	$6.11 \pm 1.61$
UM (n = 2)	$24219\pm15580$	$638\pm52$	$3.00\pm0.00$	$37.8\pm8.2$	$108.5 \pm 28.4*$	$5.74\pm0.27$
CYP1A2 phenotype						
NM/RM (n = 17)	$63090\pm35434$	$864\pm219$	$3.12\pm1.37$	$60.5\pm18.5$	$74.0\pm22.1$	$6.07 \pm 1.51$
UM (n = 7)	$113009 \pm 74372 *$	$1261 \pm 503*$	$3.43 \pm 1.51$	$79.7\pm33.2$	$53.8 \pm 11.0 *$	$5.93 \pm 1.77$
ABCB1 rs1045642						
C/C (n = 7)	$63819\pm44267$	$970\pm296$	$3.14 \pm 1.35$	$56.5\pm23.2$	$67.9\pm22.1$	$5.11 \pm 1.52$
C/T (n = 12)	$85227 \pm 64768$	$1020\pm463$	$3.00\pm1.54$	$73.2\pm27.0$	$67.6 \pm 16.9$	$6.75 \pm 1.57$
T/T (n = 5)	$78827\pm37731$	$897 \pm 177$	3.82 ± 1.12*	$62.6 \pm 18.6$	$69.5\pm33.5$	$5.59\pm0.57$
ABCB1 rs4148737						
T/T (n = 9)	$75711 \pm 25536$	$861\pm150$	$3.68 \pm 1.33$	$69.0 \pm 13.2$	$69.1 \pm 16.5$	$6.74 \pm 1.57$
C/T (n = 12)	$66727\pm 38774$	$1008\pm437$	$2.67 \pm 1.23$	$59.6\pm20.7$	$70.8\pm24.9$	$5.60 \pm 1.71$
C/C (n = 3)	$127160 \pm 132397$	$1226\pm481$	$4.00 \pm 1.73^{\#}$	$83.5 \pm 56.3^{*}$	$54.3\pm21.4$	$6.03 \pm 1.55$

Table 25. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole.

Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.

 $\#P \le 0.05$  compared to the wild-type homozygote genotype.

\* $P \le 0.05$  compared to the other genotypes.

#### Dehydro-aripiprazole

 $C_{max}$  was significantly lower in CYP2D6 IM subjects than in NMs and UMs (p = 0.006). CYP3A4 PMs had higher AUC and  $C_{max}$  than IMs and EMs (p = 0.001 and p = 0.001, respectively). Additionally, Vd/F was higher in CYP1A2 UMs than in NMs and RMs (p = 0.046). Additionally,  $T_{max}$  was higher in *ABCB1* rs1045642 T/T and lower in *ABCB1* rs4148737 C/C subjects compared to the other genotypes (p = 0.019 and p = 0.045, respectively). Results are shown in *Table* 26. Several of these associations were confirmed in the multivariate analysis: the effects of CYP2D6 phenotype on  $C_{max}$ ; CYP3A phenotype on AUC,  $C_{max}$  and  $T_{max}$ ; CYP1A2 phenotype on  $C_{max}$  and Vd/F; *ABCB1* rs1045642 on  $T_{max}$  and *ABCB1* rs4148737 on  $T_{max}$  and Vd/F (*Table* 28).

Variable	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T1/2 (h)	Cl/F (L/h·kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)
CYP2D6 phenotype						
IM (n = 6)	$32841\pm10533$	$222.3 \pm 56.1*$	$9.17 \pm 4.49$	$120.6\pm46.6$	$220.7\pm50.5$	$66.8\pm72.0$
NM (n = 16)	$39410\pm13915$	$258.5\pm83.9$	$5.03\pm3.54$	$110.2\pm68.2$	$202.9\pm54.8$	$33.3\pm28.5$
UM (n = 2)	$26862 \pm 11426$	$248.5\pm35.4$	$5.71\pm8.90$	$51.1 \pm 4.3$	$186.5\pm28.2$	$13.7\pm0.93$
CYP3A phenotype						
EM (n = 4)	$35366\pm13389$	$239.0\pm32.4$	$8.50\pm4.04\texttt{*}$	$107.3\pm58.6$	$195.0\pm18.4$	$29.5\pm14.2$
IM (n = 17)	$36871 \pm 12796$	$235.1 \pm 61.1$	$5.52\pm4.42$	$111.0\pm67.1$	$215.6\pm52.3$	$35.5\pm28.2$
PM (n = 3)	$37689 \pm 20275*$	$337.7 \pm 138.2*$	$6.33\pm5.13$	$76.4\pm37.4$	$166.0\pm67.7$	$79.7 \pm 113.2$
CYP1A2 phenotype						
NM/RM (n = 17)	$40899\pm17468$	$268.2\pm149.0$	$8.24\pm0.63$	$116.4\pm48.1$	$235.4\pm116.4$	$35.7\pm8.4$
UM (n = 7)	$55487 \pm 17242$	$371.3 \pm 181.6$	$10.48\pm2.00$	$245.4\pm72.5$	$249.0\pm138.5$	$137.2 \pm 16.8*$
ABCB1 rs1045642						
C/C (n = 7)	$35269\pm13074$	$276.5\pm66.3$	$6.01\pm3.16$	$88.2\pm49.7$	$181.6\pm50.9$	$23.0\pm13.4$
C/T (n = 12)	$36962 \pm 12673$	$247.2\pm84.1$	$4.32\pm4.31$	$117.9\pm77.1$	$215.1\pm49.7$	$52.3\pm59.1$
T/T (n = 5)	$38181\pm17115$	$212.9\pm55.3$	10.60 ± 3.13*	$110.9\pm43.9$	$218.3\pm55.1$	$34.5\pm15.9$
ABCB1 rs4148737						
T/T (n = 9)	$35\overline{175} \pm 13374$	$2\overline{15.0 \pm 45.8}$	$6.20 \pm 5.74$	$109.2 \pm 33.7$	$2\overline{26.8 \pm 47.1}$	$5\overline{4.8}\pm59.5$
C/T (n = 12)	$38045\pm14819$	$275.2\pm88.9$	$6.51\pm3.87$	$91.8\pm42.7$	$189.9\pm50.8$	$24.4\pm10.8$
C/C (n = 3)	$36072\pm7064$	$242.8\pm53.7$	$4.33 \pm 1.15*$	$164.4\pm150.2$	$208.1\pm61.5$	$58.1\pm 66.9$

*Table* 26. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacokinetic parameters of dehydro-aripiprazole.

Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.

 $\#P \le 0.05$  compared to the wild-type homozygote genotype.

\* $P \le 0.05$  compared to the other genotypes.

#### Olanzapine

No relationship was found with CYP2D6 or CYP1A2 phenotypes and olanzapine.  $T_{1/2}$  was 2 times higher in CYP3A EM subjects compared to IMs and PMs (p = 0.025). Additionally, *ABCB1* rs10280101 A/A, rs12720067 C/C and rs11983225 T/T subjects had significantly higher  $T_{1/2}$  compared to the other genotypes (p = 0.046, p = 0.046 and p = 0.046 respectively). Finally, *UGT1A1* rs887829 T/T homozygotes had higher  $T_{max}$  than C/T heterozygotes and C/C homozygotes (p = 0.016). The results are shown in *Table* 27. Several of these associations were confirmed in the multivariate analysis: the effects of CYP3A phenotype, *ABCB1* rs10280101, rs12720067 and rs11983225 on  $T_{1/2}$  and *UGT1A1* rs887829 on  $T_{max}$  (*Table* 28).

Variable	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T1/2 (h)	Cl/F (L/h∙kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)
CYP2D6 phenotype						
IM (n = 6)	$17583 \pm 2541$	$13.5 \pm 2.0$	$4.56 \pm 1.24$	$73.8\pm16.0$	$223.5\pm27.0$	$23.5\pm4.1$
NM (n = 16)	$18741\pm7099$	$14.0\pm3.4$	$4.31\pm1.66$	$74.5\pm24.4$	$229.1\pm59.5$	$25.4\pm14.1$
UM (n = 2)	$17073\pm5134$	$16.7 \pm 11.4$	$5.00\pm4.24$	$108.6\pm76.9$	$253.6\pm104.0$	$45.5\pm44.4$
CYP1A2 phenotype						
NM/RM (n = 17)	$16924\pm4990$	$13.9\pm4.1$	$4.37 \pm 1.63$	$77.2 \pm 32.6$	$237.4\pm57.8$	$27.9 \pm 18.4$
UM (n = 7)	$21684\pm7224$	$14.6\pm3.4$	$4.58\pm2.06$	$76.9 \pm 14.9$	$211.2\pm44.8$	$23.4\pm7.0$
CYP3A phenotype						
EM(n=4)	$15877\pm3836$	$10.6 \pm 1.4$	$5.00\pm2.45$	$109.7\pm41.2$	$265.0\pm59.7$	$42.7\pm23.0$
IM (n = 17)	$19186\pm6586$	$14.8\pm4.0$	$4.55\pm1.51$	$72.3\pm22.0$	$222.0\pm55.7$	$24.0\pm13.5$
PM (n = 3)	$16613\pm4492$	$15.0 \pm 3.1$	$3.01\pm1.72$	$60.9\pm3.3^*$	$226.8\pm35.0$	$19.8\pm2.0$
ABCB1 rs10280101						
A/A (n = 16)	$18614\pm5930$	$13.3 \pm 3.2$	$4.83 \pm 1.72$	$85.2 \pm 31.4$	$231.5\pm56.3$	$29.9 \pm 18.4$
C+(n=8)	$17711 \pm 6459$	$15.6 \pm 4.9$	$3.63\pm1.50$	$61.1 \pm 7.4^{*}$	$226.1\pm55.1$	$20.0\pm5.7$
ABCB1 rs12720067						
C/C (n = 16)	$18614\pm5930$	$13.3 \pm 3.2$	$4.83 \pm 1.72$	$85.2 \pm 31.4$	$231.5\pm56.3$	$29.9 \pm 18.4$
T+(n=8)	$17711 \pm 6459$	$15.6\pm4.9$	$3.63\pm1.50$	$61.1 \pm 7.4^{*}$	$226.1\pm55.1$	$20.0\pm5.7$
ABCB1 rs11983225						
T/T (n = 16)	$18614\pm5930$	$13.3 \pm 3.2$	$4.83 \pm 1.72$	$85.2 \pm 31.4$	$231.5\pm56.3$	$29.9 \pm 18.4$
T+(n=8)	$17711 \pm 6459$	$15.6\pm4.9$	$3.63\pm1.50$	$61.1 \pm 7.4^{*}$	$226.1\pm55.1$	$20.0\pm5.7$
<i>UGT1A1</i> rs887829						
C/C (n = 8)	$17978\pm7920$	$15.5 \pm 3.5$	$3.54 \pm 1.64$	$73.1 \pm 27.7$	$232.1 \pm 63.1$	$25.9 \pm 18.4$
C/T (n = 11)	$18401\pm5658$	$13.9 \pm 4.5$	$4.28 \pm 1.27$	$68.3 \pm 19.4$	$221.2\pm52.6$	$21.8\pm7.5$
T/T (n = 5)	$18655\pm3967$	$12.3 \pm 2.7$	$6.20 \pm 1.64^{*}$	$103.0\pm34.8$	$244.7\pm53.3$	$38.1\pm22.2$

Table 27. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacokinetic parameters of olanzapine.

Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.

 $\#P \le 0.05$  compared to the wild-type homozygote genotype.

\* $P \le 0.05$  compared to the other genotypes.

Variable	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T <sub>1/2</sub> (h)	Cl/F (L/h∙kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)			
	Aripiprazole								
CYP2D6 phenotype	β=-1063.9; <i>p</i> =0.049			β=16.2; <i>p</i> =0.005	$\beta = 15.1;$ p = 0.055	β=1.9; <i>p</i> =0.001			
CYP1A2 phenotype	β=64555; <i>p</i> =0.035	β=421; <i>p</i> =0.044		β=29.3; <i>p</i> =0.041	$\beta$ =-22.1; p=0.054				
<i>ABCB1</i> rs1045642			$\beta = 0.183;$ p = 0.738						
<i>ABCB1</i> rs4148737	β=5894; <i>p</i> =0.026		$\beta = 0.183;$ p = 0.545	β=-17.5; <i>p</i> =0.027					
		De	hydro-aripipraz	ole					
CYP2D6 phenotype		β=17.3; <i>p</i> =0.043							
CYP3A4 phenotype	$\beta = 4257;$ p = 0.273	$\beta = 55.2;$ p = 0.005	β=3.14; <i>p</i> =0.015						
CYP1A2 phenotype		β=70.5; <i>p</i> =0.039				$\beta = 10.2;$ p = 0.387			
ABCB1 rs1045642			$\beta=2.93;$ p=0.021						
<i>ABCB1</i> rs4148737			$\beta = -1.99;$ p = 0.240			β=17.1; <i>p</i> =0.041			
			Olanzapine						
CYP3A4 phenotype				β=-17; <i>p</i> =0.037					
ABCB1 rs10280101				$\beta$ =-26.9; p=0.145					
ABCB1 rs12720067				$\beta$ =-26.9; p=0.145					
ABCB1 rs11983225				$\beta$ =-26.9; p=0.145					
<i>UGT1A1</i> rs887829			β=1.58; <i>p</i> =0.006						

*Table* 28. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine in the multivariate analysis.

Results with  $p \le 0.05$  are highlighted in bold.

# **5.** Pupillometry

The main results of this chapter were published in:

Koller D, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Zubiaur P, Ochoa D, Almenara S, Román M, Romero-Palacián D, de Miguel-Cáceres A, Martín S, Navares-Gómez M, Mejía G, Wojnicz A, Abad-Santos F. The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on pupillary light reflex and its relationship with pharmacogenetics in a randomized multiple-dose trial.

Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2020 Apr 6. doi: 10.1111/bcp.14300. PubMed PMID: 32250470.

## 5.1. The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on pupillary light reflex

Following the first oral administration of aripiprazole, the pupil was significantly dilated. Subsequently, on the next four drug administration days it caused minor constriction. All pupillometric parameters changed significantly (MAX: p = 0.008; MIN: p = 0.009; CON: p = 0.013; LAT: p = 0.009; ACV: p = 0.012; MCV: p = 0.006; ADV: p = 0.024; T75: p = 0.015) (*Figure 27*). Olanzapine showed the same tendency, but only MIN reached the statistically significant level (p = 0.046) (*Figure 27*). No differences were found between males and females in any pupillometric parameters.

IV. Results



Figure 27. Changes in pupillometric parameters after aripiprazole and olanzapine administration.

The figure shows original mean values ± SE corrected with light intensity in lux. Abbreviations: MAX: maximum pupil diameter; MIN: minimum pupil diameter; CON: percent of constriction; LAT: latency; ACV: average constriction velocity; MCV: maximum constriction velocity; ADV: average dilation velocity; T75: total time taken by the pupil to recover 75% of the initial resting pupil size.

## 5.2. The influence of pharmacokinetics on pupillary light reflex

## 5.2.1. Single dose administration

AUC<sub>last</sub> and  $T_{max}$  of aripiprazole had an influence on CON (p = 0.029 and p = 0.043, respectively). Moreover, AUC<sub>last</sub> had an impact on MCV and ADV (p = 0.004 and p = 0.034, respectively) (*Table* 29).

Furthermore, AUC<sub>24h</sub> of dehydro-aripiprazole had an impact on MAX (p = 0.042), MIN (p = 0.050), CON (p = 0.047), ACV (p = 0.049) and MCV (p = 0.046) (*Table 29*).

These associations were not confirmed in the multivariate analysis (p > 0.05). Additionally, olanzapine pharmacokinetics did not have an effect on any of the pupillometric parameters.

## 5.2.2. Multiple dose administration

 $C_{max}$  of dehydro-aripiprazole had an impact on several pupillometric parameters: MAX (p = 0.029), MIN (p = 0.049), CON (p = 0.015), ACV (p = 0.041), MCV (p = 0.027), ADV (p = 0.033) and T75 (p = 0.045) (*Table 29*). These associations were not confirmed in the multivariate analysis (p > 0.05).

Aripiprazole and olanzapine pharmacokinetics did not have any association with any of the pupillometric parameters.

	Aripipraz	zole	Dehydro-aripiprazole		
	Single do	ose	Single dose	Multiple dose	
Variable	AUC <sub>last</sub> (ng·h/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	AUC24h (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	
MAX			$p = 0.042 \downarrow \downarrow$	$p = 0.029 \downarrow \downarrow$	
MIN			$p = 0.050 \downarrow \downarrow$	$p = 0.049 \downarrow \downarrow$	
CON	$p$ = 0.029 $\downarrow \uparrow$	$p = 0.043 \downarrow \downarrow$	$p$ = 0.047 $\downarrow \downarrow$	$p = 0.015 \downarrow \downarrow$	
ACV			$p = 0.049 \downarrow \downarrow$	$p = 0.041 \downarrow \downarrow$	
MCV	$p = 0.004 \downarrow \uparrow$		$p = 0.046 \downarrow \uparrow$	$p = 0.027 \downarrow \uparrow$	
ADV	$p = 0.034 \downarrow \downarrow$			$p = 0.033 \downarrow \downarrow$	
T75				$p = 0.045 \downarrow \downarrow$	

*Table* **29**. Influence of the pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole on pupillometric parameters.

The arrows show the relationship between pharmacokinetic and pupillometric parameters. The first arrow refers to the pharmacokinetic parameter, while the second arrow refers to the pupillometric parameter.  $\downarrow\uparrow$  is indirectly proportional, while  $\downarrow\downarrow$  is directly proportional with the changes.

## 5.3. The influence of polymorphisms on pupillary light reflex

## Aripiprazole

Subjects with the CYP3A IM phenotype had significantly higher MAX levels than PMs (p = 0.019). Moreover, *HTR2A* rs6314 T carriers and *UGT1A1* rs8877829 T/T homozygotes had higher MIN levels than C/C subjects (p = 0.025 and p = 0.039, respectively). Additionally, subjects with CYP3A PM phenotype and *DRD2* rs1800487 A2 carriers had higher CON values than with IM phenotype and A1 carriers, respectively, however, only CYP3A reached the significant level (p = 0.008 and p = 0.058, respectively).

Likewise, CYP3A IM and EM subjects, *DRD2* rs1800487 A2 carriers, *ABCB1* rs10280101 A/A, rs12720067 C/C and rs11983225 T/T subjects had higher LAT values than CYP3A PM subjects, *DRD2* rs1800487 A1 carriers and *ABCB1* 10280101 C, *ABCB1* rs12720067 T and *ABCB1* rs19983225 C carriers, respectively (p = 0.020, p = 0.039 and p = 0.034, respectively). Moreover, CYP3A PM subjects had lower ACV and MCV values than IM subjects (p = 0.028 and p = 0.022, respectively). Finally, *HTR2A* rs6314 T allele carriers had higher T75 levels than C/C homozygotes, although it did not reach the statistically significant level (p = 0.058).

After performing the multivariate tests, the influence of *HTR2A* rs6314 on MIN and T75 remained significant (p = 0.001 and p = 0.020, respectively) (*Figure* 28).

#### Olanzapine

*DRD2* rs1800497 A2 allele carriers had higher MAX, ACV and MCV values than A1/A1 homozygotes (p = 0.025, p = 0.043 and p = 0.038).

After performing the multivariate tests, the influence of *DRD2* rs1800497 on MAX remained significant (p = 0.039) (*Figure 28*).



*Figure* 28. The influence of *HTR2A* rs6314 and *DRD2* rs1800497 polymorphisms on pupillometric parameters.

A: The influence of HTR2A rs6314 on MIN during aripiprazole treatment. B: The influence of HTR2A rs6314 on T75 during aripiprazole treatment. C: The influence of DRD2 rs1800497 on MAX during olanzapine treatment.

The figure shows original mean values  $\pm$  SE corrected with light intensity *in lux*.

## 6. Metabolism

In this section, due to the high number of analysed variables, results are shown from the multivariate analysis.

## 6.1. Prolactin

#### 6.1.1. The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on prolactin concentrations

Olanzapine caused a significant elevation in prolactin levels (p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.474$ ) (*Figure 29*). Males had lower prolactin levels than females, however, the extent of the increment did not differ between them. Additionally, a significant interaction was found between C<sub>max</sub> of olanzapine and prolactin levels (p = 0.006,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.168$ ). Compared to olanzapine, aripiprazole did not elevate prolactin levels. On the contrary, a tendency of decrease was observed but it did not reach the significant level (p = 0.052) (*Figure 29*).

Prolactin levels were significantly higher during olanzapine treatment compared to aripiprazole (p < 0.0001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.356$ ). Prolactin levels were outside of the recommended range (males: 2-18 ng/mL; females: 3-30 ng/mL) during olanzapine treatment in 9 (75%) males and 9 (75%) females <sup>237</sup>. None of the volunteers showed prolactin levels outside of the normal range during aripiprazole treatment.



*Figure* 29. Prolactin concentrations during the administration of 5 daily doses of aripiprazole 10 mg and olanzapine 5 mg tablets in males (A) and females (B).

Results are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

### 6.1.2. The influence of polymorphisms on prolactin concentrations

Volunteers carrying the *DRD3* Gly carriers had significantly higher prolactin concentrations during olanzapine treatment than volunteers with Ser/Ser genotype (p = 0.036,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.121$ ) (*Figure 30*).



*Figure* **30**. The influence of *DRD3* rs6280 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations. The figure shows original mean values  $\pm$  SE.

CYP3A PMs had higher prolactin concentrations during aripiprazole treatment compared to IMs and EMs (p = 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.226$ ). *ABCB1* rs10280101 A/A, rs12720067 C/C and rs11983225 T/T subjects had significantly higher prolactin concentrations compared to C, T and C allele carriers (p = 0.037,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.123$ ) (*Figure 31*). However, when analysing *ABCB1* haplotypes, this association could not be detected.



*Figure* **31**. The influence of CYP3A phenotype and ABCB1 rs10280101, rs12720067 and rs11983225 polymorphisms on prolactin concentrations during aripiprazole treatment.

The figure shows original mean values  $\pm$  SE corrected with light intensity *in lux*.

**A**: The influence of CYP3A phenotype on prolactin concentrations. **B**: The influence of *ABCB1* rs10280101 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations. **C**: The influence of *ABCB1* rs12720067 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations. **D**: The influence of *ABCB1* rs11983225 polymorphism on prolactin concentrations.

The same genetic associations were found in males and females.

## 6.2. Glucose metabolism and its relationship with pharmacogenetics

#### 6.2.1. The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on glucose metabolism

C-peptide concentrations were significantly higher after completing aripiprazole treatment compared to its initial levels (p = 0.030,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.205$ ) (*Table 25*). Likewise, AUC<sub>last</sub> of dehydro-aripiprazole was indirectly proportional with the changes in insulin levels (p = 0.045,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.228$ ).

After completing olanzapine treatment, the 1 h and 2 h glucose levels after performing GTT were higher compared to the measurements on the first day (p = 0.007,  $\eta p 2 = 0.213$ ) (*Table 30*). Moreover, olanzapine administration increased the C-peptide/insulin ratio (p = 0.044,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.196$ ).

On first day's GTT test, glucose levels were higher in olanzapine-treated subjects compared to aripiprazole (p = 0.011,  $\eta p 2 = 0.131$ ), however, ARI showed the same tendency. However, the increment in glucose levels after GTT and the increment of C-peptide levels did not differ between aripiprazole and olanzapine. No changes were detected in HbA1c (*Table 30*).

No differences were found between males and females nor in C-peptide, insulin, glucose and GTT levels neither in the genetic associations. No levels were outside of the normal range.

ARIPIPRAZOLE								
		Da	y 1		Day 6			
C-peptide (ng/mL)*		1.60 ±	0.35		$3.50 \pm 3.85$			
Insulin (mcU/mL)		7.84 ±	= 2.37			9.61	$\pm 4.37$	
C-peptide/insulin		0.22	0.06			0.24		
ratio		0.22 =	= 0.00			0.24	± 0.09	
HbA1c (%)		5.30 ±	- 0.22			5.28	$\pm 0.21$	
	Screenir	ıg		Day 3	Day (	5		Day 15
Glucose (mg/dL)	$80.33 \pm 6$	.64	79	$.71 \pm 6.49$	$80.87 \pm 9$	9.01	79	$.17 \pm 5.84$
		Da	y 1		Day 6			
	0 h	60 1	nin	120 min	0 h	60 1	nin	120 min
CTT (mg/dI)	$81.79 \pm$	$103.38 \pm$		$76.00 \pm$	$84.54 \pm$	$122.04 \pm$		$97.38 \pm$
GII (ing/uL)	7.79	35.63		13.40	8.82	31.80		21.56
			OLAN	ZAPINE				
		Da	y 1			Da	ay 6	
C-peptide (ng/mL)		1.69 ±	- 0.51			2.60	$\pm 2.29$	
Insulin (mcU/mL)		8.19 ±	= 2.31			10.40	$\pm 12.76$	5
C-peptide/insulin ratio*		0.21 ±	= 0.03			0.25	$\pm 0.08$	
HbA1c (%)		5.36 ±	= 0.23			5.07	± 1.09	
	Screenir	ıg		Day 3	Day (	5		Day 15
Glucose (mg/dL)	$79.96 \pm 7.00$	.52	79	$.38 \pm 6.50$	79.14 ± 8	3.05	80	$.71 \pm 6.22$
		Da	y 1			Da	ay 6	
	0 h	60 1	nin	120 min	0 h	60 1	nin	120 min
GTT (mg/dL)*	$\overline{81.88} \pm$	104.	$08 \pm$	$\overline{89.38\pm}$	79.71 ±	124.	21 ±	$101.96 \pm$
	6.73	33.	.81	20.98#	8.65	38.	.07	28.51

*Table* **30**. C-peptide, insulin, haemoglobin A1c and glucose levels during multiple dose treatment with aripiprazole and olanzapine.

\* $P \le 0.05$ . # $p \le 0.05$  compared to aripiprazole. Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

## 6.2.2. The influence of polymorphisms on glucose metabolism

The increase in C-peptide levels was greater in *COMT* rs4680 G/G subjects and rs13306278 T carriers compared to A carriers and C/C homozygotes, respectively during aripiprazole treatment  $(p = 0.010, \eta_p^2 = 0.289; p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.535$ , respectively). This association could not be detected when analysing COMT phenotype. Moreover, although insulin levels only tended to increase after aripiprazole administration (p = 0.073), *BDNF* rs6265 C/C subjects had greater increment compared to other genotypes  $(p = 0.040, \eta_p^2 = 0.237)$  (*Table* 31).

*Table* **31**. The influence of genetic polymorphisms on C-peptide and insulin levels during aripiprazole treatment.

ARIPIPRAZOLE						
	Day 1	Day 6				
	C-peptid	e (ng/mL)				
<i>COMT</i> rs4680						
G/G	$2.05\pm0.32$	$6.32\pm6.27$				
T+	$1.39\pm0.32$	$1.93 \pm 0.90$				
<i>COMT</i> rs13306278						
C/C	$1.50 \pm 0.33$	$2.10 \pm 1.25$				
T+	$2.09\pm0.53$	$14.56 \pm 7.99$				
	Insulin (mcU/mL)					
<b>BDNF</b> rs6265						
C/C	$7.28 \pm 2.42$	$9.66 \pm 4.36$				
T+	$9.13 \pm 1.78$	9.51 ± 4.76				

Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

*UGT1A1* rs887829 C/C homozygote subjects had significantly higher glucose concentrations in GTT both after 1 h and 2 h than the T allele carriers after olanzapine treatment (p = 0.014,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.186$ ). Moreover, this polymorphism was also related to higher increase in glucose levels in C/C subjects compared to the T allele carriers (p = 0.013,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.258$ ). Additionally, insulin levels of CYP3A PMs increased more, compared to EMs and IMs during olanzapine administration (p = 0.029,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.217$ ) (*Table 32*).

OLANZAPINE							
		Iı	nsulin (mcU/mI	.)			
СҮРЗА		Day 1		Day 6			
phenotype		Duy I			Duy		
PM		$7.77\pm0.81$			$10.95\pm4.17$		
EM		$8.53\pm3.44$			$11.10\pm5.53$		
IM		$7.69\pm2.37$			$8.95\pm4.25$		
	·	(	Glucose (mg/dL)	)			
<i>UGT1A1</i> rs887829	Screenin	Screening		Day (	5	Day 15	
C/C	$80.63 \pm 7.$	13 79	$.88 \pm 4.05$	$85.60 \pm 9$	9.10 8	$8\overline{2.00\pm5.48}$	
C/T	$79.00 \pm 9.$	00 77	$.55 \pm 6.30$	$76.50 \pm 50$	5.54 7	$8.91\pm6.30$	
T/T	81.00 ± 5.	39 82	$.60 \pm 9.61$	$73.67 \pm 2.89$		$2.60\pm7.33$	
		· · · · ·	GTT (mg/dL)				
		Day 1			Day 6		
<i>UGT1A1</i> rs887829	0 h	60 min	120 min	0 h	60 min	120 min	
C/C	$82.00\pm4.87$	$94.38\pm30.57$	91.13 ± 21.00	83.13 ± 10.92	$\begin{array}{c} 143.00 \pm \\ 31.21 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 108.25 \pm \\ 23.69 \end{array}$	
C/T	81.27 ± 7.11	109.18± 35.89	89.09 ± 21.53	77.91 ± 7.34	117.55 ± 37.75	99.36 ± 27.19	
T/T	$83.00 \pm 9.46$	$\begin{array}{c} 108.40 \pm \\ 37.86 \end{array}$	87.20 ± 24.25	78.20 ± 7.19	$\begin{array}{c} 108.80 \pm \\ 44.04 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 97.60 \pm \\ 41.49 \end{array}$	

*Table* **32**. The influence of genetic polymorphisms on insulin and glucose levels during olanzapine treatment.

Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

## 6.3. Weight and lipid metabolism

## 6.3.1. The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on weight and lipid metabolism

During aripiprazole treatment, volunteers' weight decreased significantly (p < 0.0001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.301$ ). On the contrary, a tendency to gain weight was observed during olanzapine treatment, but it did not reach the significant level (p = 0.120) (*Figure 32*). Additionally, a significant difference was found when comparing weight changes between aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment (p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.301$ ).

#### IV. Results

Triglyceride levels linearly decreased due to aripiprazole and olanzapine administration (p = 0.009,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.177$ ; p = 0.047,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.125$ , respectively) (*Figure 32*). No significant difference was found in the extent of this decrease between aripiprazole and olanzapine (p = 0.593). Additionally, C<sub>max</sub> of aripiprazole, C<sub>max</sub> of dehydro-aripiprazole and C<sub>max</sub> of their sum were inversely proportional to triglyceride levels (p = 0.003,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.203$ ; p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.327$ ; p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.258$ , respectively).

Likewise, total cholesterol levels diminished significantly during aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment (p = 0.002,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.250$ ; p = 0.004,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.209$ , respectively) (*Figure 32*). No significant difference was found between aripiprazole and olanzapine in the extent of this reduction (p = 0.241).



*Figure* 32. Weight (A), triglyceride (B) and cholesterol (C) concentrations during aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment.

Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

No differences were found between males and females weight changes and triglyceride and cholesterol levels. No levels were outside of the normal range.

#### 6.3.2. The influence of polymorphisms on weight and lipid metabolism

CYP3A PMs had significantly greater decrease in triglyceride levels during aripiprazole treatment compared to the other phenotypes (p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.296$ ). Moreover, *HTR2A* rs6314 T allele carriers had lower cholesterol concentrations during aripiprazole treatment compared to C/C subjects (p = 0.037,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.141$ ) (*Figure 33*).



*Figure* **33.** The influence of CYP3A phenotype (A) and HTR2C rs6314 polymorphism (B) on triglyceride and cholesterol levels during aripiprazole treatment.

The figure shows original mean values  $\pm$  SE.

*HTR2C* rs1414334 C/C subjects gained significantly more weight compared to T allele carriers during olanzapine treatment (p = 0.002;  $\eta_p^2 = 0.196$ ). Furthermore, *APOC3* rs4520 C/C homozygotes had lesser decrease in triglyceride concentrations after olanzapine administration than T allele carriers (p = 0.018,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.162$ ) (*Figure 34*).



*Figure* 34. The influence of *HTR2C* rs1414334 on weight (A) and *APOC3* rs4520 polymorphisms on triglyceride levels (B) during olanzapine treatment.

The figure shows original mean values  $\pm$  SE.

## 6.4. Hepatic performance

GOT, GPT, GGT, ALP and albumin levels significantly decreased during aripiprazole treatment  $(p = 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.249; p = 0.004, \eta_p^2 = 0.209; p = 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.224; p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.312; p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.307$ , respectively) (*Table 33*). Additionally, GGT levels were inversely proportional to C<sub>max</sub> of dehydro-aripiprazole and sum of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole  $(p = 0.050, \eta_p^2 = 0.116; p = 0.043, \eta_p^2 = 0.121)$ . Likewise, ALP levels were dependent on C<sub>max</sub> of aripiprazole and sum of aripiprazole  $(p = 0.042, \eta_p^2 = 0.121; p = 0.048, \eta_p^2 = 0.117)$ .

Olanzapine treatment produced a decline in GGT, bilirubin, ALP and albumin levels (p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.281$ ; p = 0.045,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.123$ ; p = 0.007,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.215$ ; p = 0.004,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.285$ , respectively) (*Table* 33).

All GOT, GPT, GGT, bilirubin and ALP levels normalized after discontinuing aripiprazole or olanzapine treatment (*Table 33*).

Table	<b>33</b> .	Glutamate-oxaloacetate	e transaminase,	glutamate-pyruvate	transaminase,	gamma-
glutam	nyl tra	ansferase, bilirubin, alka	aline phosphatas	e and albumin levels	during aripipra	zole and
olanza	pine	treatment.				

ARIPIPRAZOLE							
	Screening	Day 3	Day 6	Day 15			
GOT (U/L)*	$18.38\pm4.03$	$15.58\pm3.65$	$16.25 \pm 3.34$	$20.25\pm7.22$			
GPT (U/L)*	$18.50\pm7.97$	$14.02\pm4.66$	$15.40\pm4.98$	$19.23\pm9.16$			
GGT (U/L)*	$19.71\pm7.30$	$17.92\pm6.82$	$16.75 \pm 6.17$	$18.38\pm6.09$			
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)	$0.56 \pm 0.32$	$0.66\pm0.36$	$0.65\pm0.43$	$0.68\pm0.44$			
ALP (U/L)*	$71.16 \pm 15.21$	$65.23 \pm 14.90$	$63.72 \pm 12.53$	$67.21 \pm 16.15$			
Albumin (g/dL)*	$4.42\pm0.32$	$4.24\pm0.31$	$4.28\pm0.32$	$4.48\pm0.24$			
	0	LANZAPINE					
	Screening	Day 3	Day 6	Day 15			
GOT (U/L)	$18.58\pm5.48$	$17.67\pm4.83$	$18.25 \pm 11.56$	$21.04\pm7.46$			
GPT (U/L)	$17.33 \pm 6.57$	$18.02\pm9.96$	$19.10 \pm 12.17$	$21.56\pm9.63$			
GGT (U/L)*	$18.88\pm5.83$	$18.00\pm6.78$	$15.83\pm6.94$	$20.29\pm8.21$			
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)*	$0.69 \pm 0.41$	$0.55 \pm 0.34$	$0.54\pm0.41$	$0.58\pm0.33$			
ALP (U/L)*	$69.26 \pm 16.56$	$64.81 \pm 15.21$	$60.03 \pm 19.32$	$70.86\pm14.07$			
Albumin (g/dL)*#	$4.38\pm0.22$	$4.00\pm0.26$	$3.81\pm0.91$	$4.38\pm0.21$			

 $*P \le 0.05$ .

 $\#P \le 0.05$  compared to aripiprazole.

Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

No differences were found between males and females in GOT, GPT, GGT, ALP, bilirubin and albumin levels. Additionally, the changes in albumin levels differed between aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment (p = 0.009,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.183$ ). Changes in the rest of the parameters were not dependent on the treatment (aripiprazole versus olanzapine). No levels were outside of the normal range.

## 6.5. Haematological performance

The platelet count significantly decreased during aripiprazole treatment (p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.361$ ). Additionally, the prothrombin time increased and the prothrombin index decreased over time (p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.360$ ; p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.410$ , respectively) (*Table 34*).

On the contrary, the leucocyte and platelet count decreased during olanzapine treatment (p = 0.004,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.217$ ; p = 0.007,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.199$ , respectively). Similarly to aripiprazole, the prothrombin index decreased over time (p = 0.006,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.237$ ) (*Table* 34).

*Table* **34**. Leucocyte, platelet, haemoglobin, red blood cell and haematocrit count and prothrombin time and index during aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment.

ARIPIPRAZOLE							
	Screening	Day 3	Day 6	Day 15			
Leucocytes (/µL (10 <sup>3</sup> ))	$6.56\pm2.04$	$6.35 \pm 1.88$	$6.02 \pm 2.31$	$6.77 \pm 1.97$			
Platelets (/µL (10 <sup>3</sup> ))*	$263.08 \pm 56.77$	$251.46\pm53.48$	$244.04\pm73.93$	$285.38\pm54.91$			
Hemoglobin (mg/dL)	$13.88 \pm 1.65$	$13.80\pm1.86$	$13.02\pm3.29$	$13.44\pm1.83$			
Red blood cells	$4.69\pm0.56$	$4.66\pm0.60$	$4.42\pm1.10$	$4.52\pm0.57$			
(/µL (10 <sup>6</sup> ))							
Hematocrit (vol%)	$40.88\pm5.20$	$40.97\pm5.33$	$38.43\pm9.74$	$39.76\pm5.12$			
<b>Prothrombin time (sec)*</b>	$11.40\pm0.74$	$12.00\pm0.74$	$12.15\pm0.98$	$11.47\pm0.85$			
Prothrombin index (%)*	$109.04 \pm 10.72$	$99.18\pm10.60$	$96.76 \pm 11.70$	$106.86 \pm 12.35$			
	OLA	ANZAPINE					
	Screening	Day 3	Day 6	Day 15			
Leucocytes (/µL (10 <sup>3</sup> ))*	$6.67 \pm 1.90$	$5.85 \pm 1.63$	$5.54 \pm 1.79$	$6.62\pm1.69$			
Platelets (/µL (10 <sup>3</sup> ))*	$267.42 \pm 54.31$	$240.50\pm53.80$	$236.67 \pm 64.62$	$278.96\pm56.17$			
Hemoglobin (mg/dL)	$13.68\pm1.56$	$13.43\pm1.88$	$12.85\pm3.36$	$13.44\pm1.80$			
Red blood cells	$4.60\pm0.51$	$4.52\pm0.62$	$4.31 \pm 1.11$	$4.55\pm0.59$			
(/µL (10 <sup>6</sup> ))							
Hematocrit (vol%)	$40.69 \pm 4.11$	$39.75 \pm 5.44$	$\overline{38.10}\pm9.84$	$39.75 \pm 5.12$			
Prothrombin time (sec)	$11.50 \pm 0.82$	$11.97 \pm 0.86$	$11.53 \pm 2.61$	$11.37 \pm 0.76$			
Prothrombin index (%)*	$106.96 \pm 11.21$	$100.48 \pm 10.16$	$94.00 \pm 22.47$	$108.78 \pm 11.12$			

\* $P \le 0.05$ . Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

No differences were found between males and females in leucocyte, platelet, haemoglobin, red blood cell and haematocrit count and prothrombin time and index. No levels were outside of the normal range.

### 6.6. Thyroid performance

Free T4 levels significantly increased after aripiprazole treatment (p = 0.035,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.180$ ). On the contrary, after olanzapine treatment, decreased levels were observed. However, this association did not reach the significant level (p = 0.230). Neither aripiprazole, nor olanzapine had a significant effect on TSH levels (*Figure 35*).



*Figure* **35**. Free T4 (A) and TSH concentrations (B) after multiple dose administration of aripiprazole and olanzapine.

Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD. \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01.

Nonetheless, a significant difference was found between aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment in both free T4 and TSH levels (p = 0.010,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.267$ ; p = 0.022,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.216$ , respectively). No

differences were found between males and females in free T4 and TSH levels. No levels were outside of the normal range.

## 6.7. Renal performance

Uric acid levels significantly decreased during aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment (p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.324$ ; p = 0.045,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.116$ ) (*Table* 35).

*Table* **35**. Urea, creatinine and uric acid levels during aripiprazole and olanzapine multiple dose treatment.

ARIPIPRAZOLE							
	Screening	Day 3	Day 6	Day 15			
Urea (mg/dL)	$32.58\pm8.24$	$29.75\pm5.41$	$31.42\pm7.28$	$29.54\pm10.18$			
Creatinine (mg/dL)	$0.78\pm0.13$	$0.76\pm0.15$	$0.76\pm0.15$	$0.80\pm0.15$			
Uric acid (mg/dL)*	$4.82\pm1.43$	$4.20\pm1.23$	$4.24\pm1.20$	$4.34\pm1.20$			
	OI	LANZAPINE					
	Screening	Day 3	Day 6	Day 15			
Urea (mg/dL)	$30.08\pm6.98$	$31.42\pm5.22$	$32.13\pm8.83$	$30.04\pm9.32$			
Creatinine (mg/dL)	$0.82\pm0.17$	$0.76\pm0.16$	$0.74\pm0.22$	$0.78\pm0.15$			
Uric acid (mg/dL)*	$4.78 \pm 1.61$	$4.53 \pm 1.31$	$4.31 \pm 1.63$	$4.68 \pm 1.50$			

\* $P \leq 0.05$ . Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

No differences were found between males and females in urea, creatinine and uric acid levels. Additionally, the changes in their levels were not dependent on the treatment (aripiprazole versus olanzapine). Uric acid levels were not outside of the normal range.
## 6.8. Summary of all metabolic effects

The metabolic effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine are summarized in *Table* 36. Overall, aripiprazole seems to have less harmful metabolic effects than olanzapine.

	Aripiprazole	Olanzapine
Prolactin (ng/mL)*		
C-peptide (ng/mL)	Û	1 ns
Insulin (mcU/mL)	1 ns	1 ns
C-peptide/insulin ratio		Û
HbA1c (%)		Û
Glucose (ng/mL)		
GTT (mg/dL)*	1 ns	Ŷ
Weight (kg)*	🖓 ns	1 ns
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$	$\overline{\mathbf{U}}$
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	$\Box$	$\Box$
GOT (U/L)	$\bigcirc$	
GPT (U/L)	$\bigcirc$	
GGT (U/L)	$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$	Ţ
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)		Û
ALP (U/L)	$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$	Ţ
Leucocytes (/µL (10 <sup>3</sup> ))	🖓 ns	Ţ
Platelets (/µL (10 <sup>3</sup> ))	$\bigcirc$	Ţ
Hemoglobin (mg/dL)	Ӆ ns	$\Box$ ns
Red blood cells (/µL (10 <sup>6</sup> ))	🖓 ns	$\Box$ ns
Hematocrit (vol%)	Ӆ ns	🖓 ns
Prothrombin time (sec)	Û	
Prothrombin index (%)	Ţ	Ţ
Albumin (g/dL)*	Ţ	Ţ
Free T4 (ng/dL)*	Û	
TSH (μUI/mL)*		① ①
Urea (mg/dL)		
Creatinine (mg/dL)		
Uric acid (mg/dL)	$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$	$\Box$

Table 36. The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on all metabolic parameters.

\* $P \leq 0.05$  aripiprazole compared to olanzapine.

## 7. Electrocardiogram and blood pressure

## 7.1. The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on ECG and blood pressure

Aripiprazole had a diastolic blood pressure lowering effect on the first day of treatment (5 mmHg, p = 0.004,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.309$ ) and a QTc lowering effect on days 3 and 5 (20 ms, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.512$ ; 15 ms, p = 0.028,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.193$ , respectively) (*Table* 37). None of the volunteers had a QTc value higher than 450 ms or showed more than a 30 ms change. HR incremented from predose to 5 h after drug administration on the 4<sup>th</sup> day in males, while it did not change in females (p = 0.034,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.197$ ).

ARIPIPRAZOLE		SBP (mmHg)		DBP (mmHg)		HR (bpm)		QTc (ms)	
		predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose
Mal	Malas	$125.0 \pm$	$124.8 \pm$	$67.9 \pm$	$63.1 \pm$	$71.4 \pm$	$69.2 \pm$	$391.7\pm$	$389.9\pm$
	wrates	11.8	11.9	8.8	7.0	12.2	8.8	18.7	18.8
Doco 1	Fomolos	$114.7 \pm$	$107.7 \pm$	$65.8 \pm$	$60.5 \pm$	$71.7 \pm$	$74.6 \pm$	$412.3 \pm$	$418.6\pm$
Duse I	remaies	15.2	15.8	10.4	7.9*	8.4	12.7	17.4	18.3
	A 11	$119.8 \pm$	$116.2 \pm$	$66.8 \pm$	$61.8 \pm$	$71.5 \pm$	$71.9 \pm$	$402.0\pm$	$404.3 \pm$
	All	14.3	16.2	9.5	7.4#	10.2	11.0	20.6	23.3
	Malas	$121.8 \pm$	$123.2 \pm$	$67.7 \pm$	$66.4 \pm$	$69.6 \pm$	$69.7 \pm$	$388.4\pm$	$384.0\pm$
	wrates	12.8	12.6	11.3	10.9	12.2	10.9	18.5	19.4
Dece 2	Fomolos	$113.7 \pm$	$109.7 \pm$	$64.8\pm$	$60.3 \pm$	$73.5\pm$	$74.8 \pm$	$412.5 \pm$	$410.8\pm$
Dose 2	remates	19.2	12.8	9.9	8.8	11.8	9.6	12.4	19.1
	All	$117.7 \pm$	$116.4 \pm$	$66.2\pm$	$63.4 \pm$	$71.5 \pm$	$72.3 \pm$	$400.5 \pm$	$397.4\pm$
		16.5	14.2	10.5	10.2	11.9	10.4	19.7	23.3
	Malas	$124.0 \pm$	$122.3 \pm$	$70.5 \pm$	$71.5 \pm$	$72.8 \pm$	$71.0 \pm$	$394.2 \pm$	$372.9\pm$
	wrates	10.7	13.3	8.0	10.9	10.6	13.1	16.8	19.0
Doso 3	Females	$114.9 \pm$	$109.0 \pm$	$65.3 \pm$	$63.2 \pm$	$76.3 \pm$	$73.8 \pm$	$414.9\pm$	$403.6\pm$
D08C 3		15.3	12.5	8.3	7.2	11.1	8.1	9.7	15.8
	A 11	$119.5 \pm$	$115.6 \pm$	$67.9 \pm$	$67.3 \pm$	$74.5 \pm$	$72.4 \pm$	$404.5 \pm$	$388.3\pm$
	All	13.7	14.3	8.4	10.0	10.8	10.7	17.1	23.2†
	Malas	$126.0\pm$	$122.7 \pm$	$71.3 \pm$	$70.1 \pm$	$72.9\pm$	$79.3 \pm$	$387.0\pm$	$388.8\pm$
	wrates	15.7	14.4	12.5	9.9	11.9	11.3	19.9	17.9
Dose 4	Famalas	$112.8 \pm$	111.5±	$66.6 \pm$	$\overline{66.6\pm}$	$\overline{74.9\pm}$	$\overline{73.7\pm}$	$414.4 \pm$	$406.8\pm$
D03C 4	remaies	11.8	15.2	9.3	8.5	12.3	10.7~	9.8	14.3
	A11	119.7	117.3	69.0	68.4	73.9	76.7	400.1	397.4
	7311	(15.2)	(15.5)	(11.1)	(9.4)	(11.9)	(11.2)	(20.9)	(18.7)

Table 37. Effects of aripiprazole on blood pressure, heart rate and corrected QT interval.

ARIPIPRAZOLE		SBP (mmHg)		DBP (mmHg)		HR (bpm)		QTc (ms)	
		predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose
Males Dose 5 Females	Malas	$125.1 \pm$	$122.8 \pm$	$70.7 \pm$	$68.8 \pm$	$73.2 \pm$	$74.6 \pm$	$389.3 \pm$	$380.3 \pm$
	IVIAICS	22.9	11.9	9.9	9.0	9.2	8.0	22.9	17.9
	Famalas	$113.9 \pm$	$112.9 \pm$	$66.8 \pm$	$66.4 \pm$	$77.3 \pm$	$78.8\pm$	$419.0\pm$	$411.7 \pm$
	remaies	9.1	15.7	6.6	10.2	9.1	10.2	14.9	18.0
	A 11	$119.5 \pm$	117.9±	$68.7 \pm$	$67.6 \pm$	$75.3 \pm$	$76.7 \pm$	$404.1\pm$	$396.0 \pm$
	All	18.0	14.5	8.5	9.5	9.2	9.3	24.2	23.8*

\*P < 0.05, #p < 0.01, †p < 0.001 compared to predose. ~P < 0.05 change from predose compared to males. Abbreviations: SBP: systolic blood pressure, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HR: heart rate, QTc: corrected QT interval. Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

Olanzapine had a systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, heart rate and QTc lowering effect on the first day 5 h after drug administration (16 mmHg, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.678$ ; 8 mmHg, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.537$ ; 10 bpm, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.129$ ; 10 ms, p = 0.002,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.359$ , respectively) (*Table 38*). None of the volunteers had a QTc value higher than 450 ms or showed more than a 30 ms change. HR increased from predose to 5 h after drug administration on the 4<sup>th</sup> day in males, while it did not change in females (p = 0.002,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.350$ ). On the 4<sup>th</sup> day of drug administration, QTc values increased in males and the opposite effect was detected in females (p = 0.018,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.227$ ).

OLANZAPINE		SBP (mmHg)		DBP (mmHg)		HR (bpm)		QTc (ms)	
		predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose
	Malos	$128.8 \pm$	$113.2 \pm$	$73.3 \pm$	$60.5 \pm$	74.1 ±	$57.8 \pm$	$396.6\pm$	$375.6\pm$
	Iviales	9.0	8.5	10.1	5.4	10.7	8.0	21.7	21.2#
Doso 1	Fomolos	$113.2 \pm$	$99.3 \pm$	$64.7 \pm$	$57.2 \pm$	$73.3 \pm$	$62.8 \pm$	$416.3 \pm$	$409.5\pm$
Dose 1	remates	11.3	10.7	7.9	7.4	8.6	5.5	16.3	16.3
	All	$121.0 \pm$	$106.3 \pm$	$69.0 \pm$	$58.8\pm$	$73.7\pm$	$60.3 \pm$	$406.4\pm$	$392.5\pm$
	All	12.8	11.8†	9.9	6.6†	9.5	7.2†	21.3	25.4#
	Malos	$117.4 \pm$	$115.0 \pm$	$67.6 \pm$	$63.7 \pm$	$58.3 \pm$	$62.9 \pm$	$385.0\pm$	$384.7\pm$
	Maics	7.6	12.4	9.5	7.8	7.2	8.3	21.0	14.1
Dose 2	Famalas	$106.2 \pm$	$100.6\pm$	$61.1 \pm$	$57.8 \pm$	$67.8 \pm$	69.1 ±	$415.8 \pm$	$412.6\pm$
Dose 2	remates	12.2	11.0	8.3	5.7	9.0	9.4	14.5	20.6
	All	$111.8 \pm$	$107.8\pm$	$64.3 \pm$	$60.8 \pm$	63.1±	$66.0 \pm$	$400.6\pm$	$398.6\pm$
	FNII	11.5	13.6	9.3	7.3	9.3	9.2	23.5	22.4

Table 38. Effects of olanzapine on blood pressure, heart rate and corrected QT interval.

OLANZAPINE		SBP (mmHg)		DBP (mmHg)		HR (bpm)		QTc (ms)	
		predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose	predose	5 h postdose
	Malas	$120.1 \pm$	$115.8 \pm$	$66.9\pm$	$61.9 \pm$	$60.6\pm$	$60.8 \pm$	$378.6\pm$	$368.2\pm$
	Iviaics	8.9	13.3	7.5	6.0	6.9	8.1	23.3	19.9#
Doso 3	Fomolos	$109.3 \pm$	$107.5 \pm$	$63.4\pm$	$61.5 \pm$	$71.0 \pm$	$72.3 \pm$	$416.7 \pm$	$418.2\pm$
Duse 3	remates	11.5	16.3	9.6	9.0	8.8	10.0	14.0	15.1
	A 11	114.7 ±	111.6±	$65.2 \pm$	$61.7 \pm$	$65.8 \pm$	$66.5 \pm$	$397.6 \pm$	$393.2\pm$
	All	11.5	15.1	8.6	7.5	9.4	10.6	27.1	30.8
	Malas	$117.5 \pm$	$116.7 \pm$	$65.6 \pm$	$65.3 \pm$	$60.8 \pm$	$67.8 \pm$	$373.7 \pm$	$378.1 \pm$
	wrates	10.4	10.5	8.9	7.8	10.3	9.0#	17.9	16.4#
Dose 4	Females	$111.6 \pm$	$104.5\pm$	$64.5 \pm$	$60.4 \pm$	$74.5 \pm$	$72.9 \pm$	$422.8\pm$	$414.4 \pm$
		15.8	12.7*	7.8	9.3*	8.3	6.5~	20.1	23.1~
	All	$114.5 \pm$	$110.6 \pm$	$65.0 \pm$	$62.8 \pm$	$67.6 \pm$	$70.3 \pm$	$398.2\pm$	$396.3 \pm$
		13.4	13.0	8.2	8.7	11.6	8.1	31.2	27.0
	Malos	$120.7 \pm$	$118.2 \pm$	$66.8 \pm$	$63.8\pm$	$62.6\pm$	$68.0 \pm$	$378.5 \pm$	$378.3\pm$
	Iviaics	8.4	9.4	8.6	6.6	9.1	10.8*	21.4	20.8
Doso 5	Fomolos	$113.6 \pm$	$107.6 \pm$	$63.5 \pm$	$61.8 \pm$	$75.7 \pm$	$76.5 \pm$	$431.8\pm$	$425.2 \pm$
Duse 5	remates	13.5	14.7	7.8	7.5	8.1	9.3	19.2	26.1
	A 11	117.1 ±	112.9 ±	65.1±	$62.8 \pm$	69.1±	72.3 ±	$405.1 \pm$	$401.8 \pm$
	All	11.6	13.2	8.2	7.0	10.8	10.8	33.7	33.2

\*P < 0.05, #p < 0.01, †p < 0.001 compared to predose. ~p < 0.05 change from predose compared to males. Abbreviations: SBP: systolic blood pressure, DBP: diastolic blood pressure, HR: heart rate, QTc: corrected QT interval. Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on blood pressure, heart rate and QTc are compared in *Figure* 36. The changes in systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure and QTc were not statistically significant between aripiprazole and olanzapine (p = 0.110, p = 0.145 and p = 0.236, respectively). However, although it did not reach the statistically significant level, olanzapine lowered both systolic blood pressure and diastolic blood pressure to a greater extent compared to aripiprazole. After the 4<sup>th</sup> day, tolerance was developed for the hypotensive effect of olanzapine. Additionally, HR was significantly lower during olanzapine treatment compared to aripiprazole (p < 0.0001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.236$ ).

No relationship was found between drug concentrations and blood pressure, heart rate and QTc.



*Figure* **36.** Effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on blood pressure, heart rate and corrected QT interval.

The shaded section shows the values after the end of treatment. Results are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

#### 7.2. The influence of polymorphisms on ECG and blood pressure

Diastolic blood pressure on the first day of aripiprazole treatment decreased more in *HTR2A* rs6313 C allele carriers and in *ADRA2A* rs1800544 C/C subjects compared to T/T and C/G subjects (7 vs +3 mmHg, p = 0.006,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.296$ ; 7 vs 0 mmHg, p = 0.020,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.224$ , respectively).

Systolic blood pressure on the first day of olanzapine treatment decreased more in *DRD3* rs6280 Ser/Ser and Ser/Gly and in *ADRA2A* rs1800544 C/C subjects compared to volunteers with Gly/Gly and C/G genotypes (21 and 14 vs 6 mmHg, p = 0.025,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.209$ ; 18 vs 8 mmHg, p = 0.048,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.167$ , respectively). Moreover, diastolic blood pressure on the first day diminished more in *COMT* wild-type subjects compared to those with heterozygous and mutant phenotype (16 vs 8 and 5 mmHg, p = 0.022,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.218$ ). Additionally, heart rate on the first day decreased more in *DRD3* rs6280 Ser/Ser and Ser/Gly subjects compared to those with Gly/Gly genotype (16 and 15 vs 4 mmHg, respectively, p = 0.013,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.249$ ).

## 8. Adverse events

During the study, no serious or life-threatening adverse events were documented. All volunteers experienced at least one adverse drug reaction.

## 8.1. Adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole and olanzapine

The most frequent adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole based on the UKU side effect rating scale and those spontaneously notified were somnolence (79%), headache (54%), insomnia (33%), dizziness (21%), restlessness (21%), palpitations (21%), akathisia (17%) and nausea (17%) (*Table* **39**). The number of adverse drug reactions was similar between males and females ( $3.9 \pm 2.3$  and  $4.1 \pm 2.0$  adverse drug reaction/ subject, respectively). Palpitations were only registered in females (5 volunteers, p = 0.012 compared to males).

The most frequent adverse drug reactions to olanzapine based on the UKU side effect rating scale and those spontaneously notified were somnolence (100%), dizziness (29%), asthenia (13%), constipation (13%), dry mouth (13%), headache (13%) and nausea (13%) (*Table* 39). The number of adverse drug reactions was similar between males and females ( $1.7 \pm 1.8$  and  $1.7 \pm 1.1$  ADR/ subject, respectively).

Ramsay scores showed low level of sedation with the average level of activity of 2 (cooperative, orientated and calm) in case of both drugs. No relationship was found between drug concentrations and adverse drug reactions.

T 11 30	A 1	1	. •		• •	1	1	1	•
Tahle 39	Adverse	driio	reactions	to	arinir	nrazole	and	olanzai	nine
1 4010 07.	110,0190	urug	reactions	iU	արրե	Juzoic	unu	orunzu	pine.

Adverse event	Aripiprazole N (%)	Olanzapine N (%)						
Nervous system disorders								
Akathisia	4 (17)	-						
Dizziness	5 (21)	7 (29)						
Headache	13 (54)	3 (13)						
Restless legs	1 (4)	-						
Somnolence	19 (79)	24 (100)						
Pre-syncope	_	1 (4)						

A duarsa avant	Aripiprazole	Olanzapine
Auverse event	N (%)	N (%)
Syncope	1 (4)	1 (4)
Left hand tremor	-	1 (4)
Psychiatric disorders		
Anxiety	2 (8)	-
Early awakening	1 (4)	-
Restlessness	5 (21)	1 (4)
Insomnia	8 (33)	2 (8)
General disorders		
Asthenia	2 (8)	3 (13)
Fatigue	2 (8)	-
Gait alterations	1 (4)	-
Tiredness	1 (4)	-
Weakness	1 (4)	1 (4)
Gastrointestinal disorders		
Constipation	3 (13)	3 (13)
Dry mouth	-	3 (13)
Gastric discomfort	1 (4)	-
Hypersalivation	-	1 (4)
Hyposalivation	1 (4)	-
Nausea	4 (17)	3 (13)
Vomiting	2 (8)	-
Skin and subcutaneous tissue disorder	rs	
Facial rash	1 (4)	1 (4)
Hair loss	1 (4)	-
Rash	-	1 (4)
Sweating	3 (13)	-
Pruritus	-	1 (4)
Respiratory, thoracic and mediastinal	l disorders	
Hiccups	3 (13)	-
Metabolism and nutrition disorders		
Hyporexia	1 (4)	-
Increased appetite	-	1 (4)
Investigations		
Increased liver enzymes	2 (8)	1 (4)
Cardiac disorders		
Palpitations	5 (21)	2 (8)
Musculoskeletal and connective tissue	disorders	
Upper limb weakness	1 (4)	-
Left shoulder pain	-	1 (4)
Eye disorders		
Photophobia	-	1 (4)

#### IV. Results

Adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole and olanzapine classified by system organ class allocation are shown in *Figure* 37. The number of registered adverse drug reactions was significantly higher after aripiprazole administration (91 vs 60, p < 0.035). Likewise, more psychiatric and cardiac adverse drug reactions were detected during aripiprazole treatment compared to olanzapine (16 vs 3 and 7 vs 2, respectively, p < 0.001).



Figure 37. Adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole and olanzapine classified in groups.

#### 8.2. The incidence of adverse drug reactions among different genotypes

The incidence of akathisia was higher in *DRD3* rs6280 Ser/Ser homozygotes compared to Gly allele carriers (22.2% vs 0%, respectively, p = 0.003). Moreover, only *DRD2* rs1799732 G/-subjects experienced asthenia compared to G/G homozygotes (33.3% vs 0%, respectively, p = 0.011). The incidence of headache was significantly higher in *HTR2C* rs3813929 T carriers than in C/C homozygotes (66.7% vs 28.6%, respectively, p = 0.030). Additionally, an association was found between CYP1A2 NM/RM phenotype and the incidence of insomnia (41.2% vs 0% in UM,

p = 0.044). Finally, somnolence was detected more frequently in *HTR2A* rs6314 C/C and *OPRM1* rs1799971 A/A subjects compared to C/T subjects and G carriers, respectively (86.4% vs 0%, p = 0.004 and 89.5% vs 40%, p = 0.029, respectively).

Constipation was detected more frequently in *HTR2A* rs6314 T allele carriers, *HTR2A* rs7997012 A allele carriers and *UGT1A1* rs887829 T/T subjects compared to C/C homozygotes, G/G homozygotes and C allele carriers (100.0% vs 4.5%, p < 0.001; 15.4% vs 9.0%, p = 0.026 and 60.0% vs 0%, p = 0.001, respectively). Moreover, only *DRD3* rs6280 Ser/Ser subjects experienced dry mouth compared to Gly allele carriers (50.0% vs 0%, respectively, p = 0.006). The incidence of insomnia was higher in *HTR2C* rs1414334 G/G homozygotes compared to C allele carriers (100.0% vs 4.2%, respectively, p = 0.003). In addition, nausea was only detected in *HTR2C* rs518147 C/T heterozygotes and not in C/C and T/T homozygotes (33.3% vs 0%, respectively, p = 0.038). Finally, palpitations were only reported in CYP1A2 UM and *HTR2A* rs7997012 A allele carriers and not in NM/RMs and G/G homozygotes (28.6% vs 0%, p = 0.021 and 15.4% vs 0%, p = 0.002, respectively).



## **V. DISCUSSION**

## 1. Analytical method validation

The method was developed and validated including 6 antipsychotic drugs and 2 of their metabolites. For the present study, we only needed to detect aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine concentrations. Nevertheless, the reason of including other antipsychotics was to use this method for further studies, mostly in clinical environment for therapeutic drug monitoring. Additionally, we included caffeine to the method. The metabolism of clozapine and olanzapine is mainly dependent on CYP1A2 <sup>107</sup>, similar to caffeine, which is a central nervous system stimulant <sup>238</sup>. It was shown that caffeine increases plasma levels of these drugs due to CYP1A2 competitive inhibition <sup>238</sup>. Therefore, caffeine was added to the method to be able to monitor its effect on their metabolism. To date, there is no documented record on the simultaneous determination of these antipsychotics along with caffeine in a single-run process. The method was developed based on the recommendations from EMA, FDA and ICH regulatory agencies including the following tests: precision, accuracy, sensitivity, matrix effects, extraction recovery, process efficiency, trueness, linearity, stability and carry-over effect <sup>22–24</sup>.

#### 1.1. Experimental conditions in LC and MS/MS

Strongest basic pKa values are ranging from 7.06 to 8.76<sup>239</sup> for all drugs included in this method. Due to this matter, it was possible to optimize extraction method and validate an LC-MS/MS method for simultaneous quantification of aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole, olanzapine, risperidone, paliperidone, quetiapine and clozapine. However, caffeine has a pKa value of -0.92, thus the extraction process was less efficient for this compound. Drugs' water solubility ranging from 0.008 mg/mL to 0.297 mg/mL, except for CAF with 11 mg/mL<sup>239</sup> enabled us to perform an excellent chromatographic separation. Additionally, the column we used, ACE C18-PFP, is characterized by a good resolution and improves analyte separation compared to ordinary C18 column due to  $\pi$ - $\pi$  interactions with the aromatic ring and OH groups. After each injection, the injection needle and the analytical column were washed with a mixture of acetonitrile and water (50/50; v/v) which was chosen due to its better efficacy compared to the mixture of isopropanol and water (50/50; v/v). The total run time, including washing and re-equilibrating steps, was 9.0 min. Although our run time – 9 minutes – was longer compared to the methods described in the

literature (5.5-6 minutes) <sup>240,241</sup>, it was considered essential to elute endogenous phospholipids outside of the elution profile of the analytes. Additionally, our method was performed with HPLC which requires longer run time compared to UPLC methods.

LC-MS/MS with ESI and small particle sizes of the analytical column (up to 3.5  $\mu$ m) required small injection volume in order to avoid overloading, matrix effects and instrument contamination <sup>242</sup>. Thus, we injected 5  $\mu$ L of the sample, which was applicable for the column particle size and the HPLC system.

Concerning MS/MS conditions, ESI in positive mode was selected for scanning all analytes. As their polarity was positive, dynamic MRM (dMRM) scan mode was applied to significantly improve analytes' peak shape and selectivity. Ion ratio (qualifier ratio) identity confirmation was used in addition to stable isotope-labeled internal standards to ensure the reliability of analyte detection as aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole have the same product ions and can undergo crosstalk phenomenon in the collision cell.

## 1.2. Sample preparation: phospholipid elimination, extraction recovery, matrix effects and process efficiency

We tested phospholipid cleaning ability of SPE compared to PPT in 36 different human blank plasma samples. As PPT extraction methods were associated with the highest degree of matrix effects compared to SPE <sup>243</sup>, we used this method as a positive control (100% of phospholipid content). According to our knowledge, there is no method which is able to remove 100% of phospholipids from the matrix. However, we were able to eliminate efficiently more than 92% of early- and late-eluting endogenous plasma phosphatidylcholines and lysophosphatidylcholines using hydrophilic-lipophilic SPE sorbent compared to PPT method. It was impossible to eliminate 100% of endogenous phospholipids, yet we were able to separate them chromatographically from the target compounds. Among LC-MS/MS and UHPLC-MS/MS methods for antipsychotic drug quantification <sup>241,244</sup>, only our previous publication about the simultaneous determination of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole in human plasma considered endogenous phospholipid elimination efficiency during method development <sup>245</sup>.

Caffeine had less efficient extraction recovery values due to the lack of its stable isotope-labeled internal standard and the extraction method, which was adjusted for antipsychotic drugs. When comparing the extraction recovery achieved in the present extraction method to the literature, we found that other authors <sup>246,247</sup> accomplished similar values for relative extraction recovery ranging from 71-123% using SPE as sample preparation method. Our results are slightly better, ranging from 98-109%. The extraction recovery of PPT method was between 50 and 111% (except for olanzapine, 185%) for LC-MS/MS methods, while improved when UHPLC-MS/MS was applied, ranging from 65 to 114% <sup>202,241,248</sup>. These differences can be due to the lower injection volume and less important matrix effects in UHPLC-MS/MS analysis.

Regarding matrix effects, more preferable values were obtained when stable isotope-labeled internal standards were applied (relative) compared to absolute values. Moreover, extraction recovery and matrix effects of SPE were slightly better than PPT values. These results were expected, because stable isotope-labeled internal standards compensate for analyte loss during extraction process. Absolute extraction recovery obtained with PPT compared to SPE was lower and highly variable, while ion suppression was also significant. Therefore, SPE was chosen as extraction procedure for method validation.

Matrix effects are commonly evaluated using qualitative methods, applying post-column infusion <sup>249</sup>. Nevertheless, manipulating the chromatographic separation to avoid matrix effects due to coelution is not always applicable <sup>250</sup>. Matrix effects for SPE in the literature range from 91 to 133% <sup>246</sup>, while for PPT it varies between 89 and 119% <sup>249,251</sup>. Although these results are analogous, the differences lie in the RSD values. RSD is greatly higher for PPT sample preparation method and cause method irreproducibility and as a consequence compromised precision and accuracy <sup>22</sup>.

Regarding process efficiency, the results obtained with PPT were certainly worse compared to SPE. There are only a few methods evaluating relative process efficiency as a test included in method validation <sup>247,248</sup>, ranging from 42 to 147%. The best process efficiency was achieved by Patel *et al.* <sup>247</sup>, with values between 92.3 and 98.9% for only aripiprazole included in the analytical method. Our global relative process efficiency was found between 95 and 113%. Relative process efficiency of aripiprazole ranged from 101 to 103%, being closer to 100% than Patel *et al.*' results.

Based on our experience, process efficiency and phospholipid elimination ability should be included to method validation, along with extraction recovery and matrix effects. Process efficiency and phospholipid removal efficiency offer a more complete overview regarding the effect of possible analyte loss during sample preparation and ionization suppression/ enhancement in the ion source.

## 1.3. Selectivity, LLOQ and linearity

The present approach was selective and able to differentiate and quantify the analytes from endogenous matrix components, as no significant interferences were found in analyte detection. Moreover, the mobile phase and gradient modifications improved the response of dehydro-aripiprazole in the present method compared to our previously reported method <sup>245</sup>.

LLOQ for caffeine was considerably higher, 1200 ng/mL, due to its high plasma levels after oral coffee consumption described in the literature <sup>252</sup>. Although more sensitive LC-MS/MS approaches were reported, with LLOQs lower than ours, some of these methods used larger plasma volumes for extraction between 250 and 500  $\mu$ L <sup>248,253</sup>, than we have (200  $\mu$ L), except for Vecchione *et al.* <sup>241</sup>, who used only 100  $\mu$ L of plasma. Our LLOQs were better than those reported by Choong *et al.* <sup>246</sup> and Fisher *et al.* <sup>254</sup> (*Table* 40). Of note, our LLOQ for paliperidone was the best compared to bibliographic values. It can be due to the applied sample preparation method. Fisher *et al.* applied liquid-liquid extraction with methyl-tertbutyl ether as sample extraction method, which is known to produce lower extraction recovery and higher LLOQ values.

Compound	Our LLOQ value (ng/mL)	LLOQ value by Choong <i>et al</i> . <sup>246</sup> (ng/mL)	LLOQ value by Fisher <i>et al.</i> <sup>254</sup> (ng/mL)
Aripiprazole	0.18	5.00	
Dehydro-aripiprazole	0.25	5.00	
Clozapine	0.50	2.00	
Olanzapine	1.00	2.00	1-5 (not specified for each drug)
Paliperidone	0.20	-	
Risperidone	0.70	-	
Quetiapine	0.50	-	

Table 40. LLOQ values of the included antipsychotics compared to bibliographic data.

#### 1.4. Precision and accuracy

Precision and accuracy were within the acceptance criteria for the evaluated assay range (RSD < 15%, except for LLOQ (< 20%)). These results indicate that it is possible to generate accurate data with the present method for the plasma determination of antipsychotics and caffeine.

#### 1.5. Trueness

Due to our low Zeta-score values, which shows the level of systematic error, our LC-MS/MS method was verified <sup>22–24</sup>.

## 1.6. Stability

Overall, the RSD value was less than 10.32% and mean stabilities were close to 100% for all tested compounds. Therefore, the concentration of the analytes remained the same in time. Degradation usually lowers the analyte content. If the analyte is unstable, its decomposition influences trueness and precision of the procedure. Furthermore, besides the analyte in the samples, analyte in the standards can also decompose. If both occur at the same rate then decomposition only affects precision <sup>22</sup>. Olanzapine was shown to be unstable in whole blood and oral fluid under most of the

conditions studied by Fisher *et al.*<sup>255</sup>, although the addition of ascorbic acid to blood or serum showed protective properties against olanzapine degradation. Likewise, we added formic acid to all plasma samples resulting in the preservation of olanzapine in all stability tests.

#### 1.7. Carry-over

Carry-over effect, if detected, should be prevented to ensure the precision and accuracy of the method. Application of the optimal washing procedures of the injection needle and the analytical column should be optimized. Similarly to others <sup>246,256</sup>, we managed to avoid a significant carry-over effect with the mixture of acetonitrile and water (50/50; v/v). The carry-over phenomenon detected by other authors was higher <sup>246</sup> than ours (1.05-16.13%), except for Patel *et al.* <sup>247</sup>, who were able to reduce the carry-over effect to less than 0.05%, however, only aripiprazole was included in the method. Most methods do not test carry-over effect. We included this test to ascertain that no significant contamination was present in the instrument.

## 2. The influence of sex on pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics

In the current study, pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole were affected by sex. Females had higher  $T_{1/2}$  and Vd/F of aripiprazole than males, which is consistent with our previous single-dose studies <sup>153,257</sup>. However, in the present study females had higher Vd/F and Cl/F and lower AUC<sub>last</sub> of dehydro-aripiprazole. Based on previous studies, Cl/F should be lower in males compared to females <sup>90,258</sup>. However, it can still be higher in females due to differences in metabolism or pharmacogenetics. Additionally, differences in Vd/F can be due to higher fat content in females <sup>259</sup>. Nonetheless, no dosage adjustment is recommended for aripiprazole or olanzapine based on sex differences, because they are predominantly explained by the differences in body weight <sup>90,106</sup>.

The differences observed in the prevalence of *HTR2C* rs3813929, rs518147, *ABCB1* rs1128503, rs2032582, rs10276036 and rs4148737 polymorphisms regarding sex may be explained by the reduced sample size. Regarding *HTR2C*, it is explained by the location of the gene on chromosome X. Some polymorphisms were not in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium. The disequilibrium for *HTR2C* rs3813929, rs518147, *ABCB1* rs4728709 and *COMT* rs13306278 could be explained by the small

sample size. Regarding the *CYP2D6* and *CYP3A4* polymorphisms it is explained by the low frequency of mutated alleles.

## 3. The influence of polymorphisms on pharmacokinetics

Our study confirms the impact of CYP2D6 phenotypes on the pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole  $^{153,165,260}$ . AUC was 4 times less,  $C_{max}$  and  $T_{1/2}$  were about half and Cl/F was two times higher in UMs compared to the other phenotypes, similarly to our previous single-dose study  $^{166}$ .

CYP3A had an impact on the pharmacokinetics of dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine confirming its involvement in aripiprazole and olanzapine metabolism <sup>261</sup>. The lack of association with the parent drug, aripiprazole, may be due to the low sample size, because CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 contribute about equally to the metabolism of aripiprazole <sup>261</sup>. Moreover, CYP3A activity varies predominantly by sex and inhibition or induction of a wide range of substrates, rather than by polymorphisms <sup>262</sup>.

Based on the literature, aripiprazole is not a substrate of CYP1A2 <sup>106</sup>. Unexpectedly, in our study, the CYP1A2 phenotype influenced the pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole as UMs showed a lower disposition compared to the other phenotypes. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to report a similar result, therefore, it can be a false positive. Based on our findings, more studies should be performed to confirm the role of CYP1A2 in the pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole.

Based on previous studies, CYP1A2, CYP3A4 and CYP2D6 are involved in the metabolism of olanzapine <sup>107</sup>. However, we did not find any association, what can be due to the lack of effect or small number of subjects in some phenotype groups.

To date, there are no consistent findings about the role of polymorphisms in *ABCB1*. In our previous studies the C1236T (rs1128503) polymorphism had an influence on the pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole <sup>153,166</sup>. In the current study, the C3435T (rs1045642) and rs4148737 polymorphisms

were related to  $T_{1/2}$  and  $C_{max}$  of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole and the rs10280101, rs12720067 and rs11983225 polymorphisms had an influence on  $T_{1/2}$  of olanzapine. Presumably *ABCB1* has an effect on the pharmacokinetics of these antipsychotics being substrates of P-gp <sup>263</sup>. According to our knowledge, no other study analysed polymorphisms in *ABCB1* other than C3435T (rs1045642), G2677TA (rs2032582), C1236T (rs1128503). More studies are needed including more polymorphisms in *ABCB1* to provide a wider insight of its role in the pharmacokinetics of these drugs. Additionally, as stated previously, the lack of consensus on P-gp pharmacogenetics is partially explained by the lack of studies and the guidelines describing phenotype interference from variants.

Finally, the *UGT1A1* rs887829 polymorphism affected the pharmacokinetics of olanzapine. In a previous study, this polymorphism was related to some adverse effects but not to pharmacokinetics <sup>264</sup>. Olanzapine is metabolized predominantly by direct glucuronidation via the UGT enzyme family <sup>261</sup>, but clear evidence was found only for UGT1A4 <sup>265</sup>. Additionally, *UGT1A4* and *UGT2B10* polymorphisms significantly contributed to the interindividual variability in its metabolism in previous studies <sup>177,266</sup>. We did not include polymorphisms in these genes in our study, as the array we used did not contain them. Our study is the first reporting an association between an *UGT1A1* polymorphism and the pharmacokinetics of olanzapine.

## 4. Pupillometry

The mechanism of action of aripiprazole and olanzapine is still not perfectly understood <sup>267</sup>. Aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole achieve their pharmacological effect possibly by partial agonistic activity at dopamine D2 and 5-HT1A receptors and antagonistic activity at 5-HT2A receptors. Pharmacodynamic effects on receptors other than dopamine D2, 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A may explain other clinical effects: changes in pupillary light reflex could be caused by partial agonistic activity at adrenergic alpha1 receptors <sup>106</sup>. Pupil dilatation is primarily an α1-adrenergic receptor mediated effect <sup>268</sup>, while it is mediated to a lesser extent by dopamine and serotonin receptors <sup>269,270</sup>.

The dilatation observed after the administration of the first dose of aripiprazole could be explained by its partial agonism at these receptors. On the contrary, olanzapine is an antagonist at these receptors <sup>95</sup>, therefore, it could explain the lack of pupil dilatation. Both aripiprazole and dehydroaripiprazole have higher affinity for dopamine D2 and 5-HT1A than for alpha1 adrenergic receptors <sup>112</sup>. When dehydro-aripiprazole was present, neither aripiprazole nor dehydroaripiprazole bound to  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptors due to competitive inhibition caused by the higher affinity for dopamine D2 and 5-HT1A receptors. Hence, a constriction was observed after drug administration. Our results could confirm the fact that pupillary changes may rather be caused by the metabolite than the parent compound <sup>268</sup>. This could be the reason why C<sub>max</sub> and AUC<sub>last</sub> of dehydro-aripiprazole had an influence on several pupillometric parameters, while the pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole influenced only a few of them.

In conclusion, aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole caused changes in pupillary light reflex due to their unique pharmacological profile. Measuring dynamic pupillary light reflex is already a valid test for the pharmacodynamic effects of opioid- and some noradrenergic drugs <sup>271,272</sup>. Both drugs caused pupil constriction in two previous studies <sup>153,273</sup>, however, in another study, neither aripiprazole nor olanzapine affected pupil contraction <sup>274</sup>. Hence, more studies are needed to alleviate the ambiguity and they should be repeated in patients. Afterwards, pupillometry could be introduced in the practice to assess autonomic nerve activity.

## 4.1. The influence of polymorphisms on pupillary light reflex

In previous studies with opioids, CYP2D6 UMs experienced increased and PMs experienced decreased pupil size compared to EMs <sup>271,272</sup>. We could not replicate these findings with aripiprazole and olanzapine, which may be due to their different mechanism of action. Additionally, we did not find any PM and only 2 UMs were present in our population. Our results confirm those in our previous single-dose study with healthy volunteers that no associations can be found between CYP2D6 phenotypes and pupillometric parameters <sup>153</sup>.

CYP3A phenotypes are unrelated to opioid pharmacokinetics <sup>275</sup>. Notwithstanding, in the present study, CYP3A IM pupil size was increased compared to that of PMs after aripiprazole

#### V. Discussion

administration. This was expected as aripiprazole caused pupil constriction after multiple dose administration; the pupil was under prolonged aripiprazole exposure in PM subjects.

The effects of dopamine and serotonin on pupillary light reflex are well known. High serotonin levels cause pupil dilatation  $^{270}$  and dopamine may cause pupil dilatation or constriction through sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves, respectively  $^{269}$ . Based on our results, pupil constriction could be due to the antagonist activity of aripiprazole at 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> and 5-HT<sub>7</sub> receptors, while its dilatation could be explained by its partial agonism at dopamine D<sub>2</sub>, D<sub>3</sub>, D<sub>4</sub> and serotonin 5-HT<sub>1A</sub>, 5-HT<sub>2C</sub> receptors  $^{112}$ . This theory was confirmed by our study: both *HTR2A* rs6314 and *DRD2* rs1800487 had an influence on the pupil size, the proportion of its change, the time of onset of constriction and pupil recovery. Additionally, *DRD2* rs1800487 also affected the pupil size and its constriction velocity after olanzapine treatment. In our previous single-dose study some *HTR2A*, *HTR2C*, *DRD2* and *DRD3* polymorphisms were also related to pupillometric parameters  $^{153}$ . The lack of associations with *HTR2C* and *DRD3* polymorphisms in the present study could be due to the low sample size.

Both aripiprazole and olanzapine are transported by P-gp <sup>263</sup>. However, to our knowledge, no previous study could associate the genetic differences in *ABCB1* to pupil contraction. We previously analysed 3 polymorphisms: rs1045642 (C3435T), rs1128503 (C1236T) and rs2032582 (G2677T/A), but no associations were found <sup>153</sup>. In the current study we analysed 12 *ABCB1* polymorphisms. No association was found with the 3 previously mentioned polymorphisms, however, 3 others had an influence on pupil recovery after aripiprazole treatment. It may suggest that though the 3 most common polymorphisms do not affect the pupillary light reflex, others could have an influence. Further research including other less studied *ABCB1* polymorphisms should be performed.

*UGT1A1* rs8877829 subjects with the mutated T/T genotype had greater pupil size after aripiprazole treatment. Based on in vitro studies, aripiprazole does not undergo direct glucuronidation by UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) enzymes <sup>106</sup>, however, no sufficient

evidence is available thus far. Considering our results, *UGT1A1* may be involved in aripiprazole metabolism. Nevertheless, it can be a false positive result due to the analysis of many variables.

## **5. Metabolic effects**

#### 5.1. Prolactin concentrations

Olanzapine caused prolactin elevation instantly after administering the first dose. Hyperprolactinemia is a common side effect of olanzapine treatment along with other atypical antipsychotics  $^{276}$ , what is produced by DRD2 blockage. Therefore, it causes loss of the dopaminergic prolactin inhibitory factor in the lactotroph cells in the anterior pituitary. Hence, antipsychotics with a greater D2 occupation index produce significant prolactin elevation  $^{277}$ . Our previous study revealed that prolactin levels significantly increase after administering a single dose of olanzapine  $^{278}$ . Additionally, prolactin concentration was higher in all time points in subjects with higher C<sub>max</sub>. Our current study confirms that the administration of 5 multiple doses of olanzapine also causes prolactin elevation. Nevertheless, this increment was much less than that produced with single-dose risperidone treatment in our previous study  $^{279}$ .

Prolactin levels decreased after changing the therapy from other atypical antipsychotics - including olanzapine - to aripiprazole <sup>280</sup>. Our previous single-dose study showed that a single dose of aripiprazole mildly increases prolactin levels compared to the controls <sup>281</sup>. However, compared to olanzapine, no change was observed in prolactin levels after administration in the present study. Our study is the first to report a comparison between prolactin elevation induced by aripiprazole and olanzapine in the same subjects. Therefore, the results can be considered reliable as the intraindividual variability is discarded. Schizophrenic patients usually receive several antipsychotic agents before aripiprazole, therefore they are almost never drug-naïve <sup>280</sup>. Our healthy subjects had not received any antipsychotic medication previously, hence no prior drug treatment could cause prolactin elevation. The current clinical practice recommends switching to aripiprazole monotherapy in case of having high prolactin levels and if it does not appear to be normalized after 4 weeks of treatment, it should be discontinued <sup>282</sup>.

Sex has a clear effect on prolactin concentrations, what was confirmed in several studies <sup>283,284</sup>. Its levels tend to be higher in females than in males <sup>284</sup>. Therefore, the effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on prolactin secretion were analysed both jointly and separately.

*HTR2C* rs17326429 and rs3813929, *COMT* rs4680, *DRD2* rs1800497, *DRD3* rs6280 and *ABCB1* rs1045642, rs1128503, rs2032582 and rs2235048 polymorphisms and CYP2D6 phenotypes were previously associated to prolactin levels after risperidone, quetiapine, clozapine, aripiprazole or olanzapine treatment <sup>279,281,285,286</sup>. We expected similar results as aripiprazole is a partial agonist at DRD2 and at 5HT1A receptors and an antagonist at 5HT2A receptors while olanzapine is an antagonist at DRD2 and at 5HT2A and 2C receptors <sup>116,287</sup>. In addition, aripiprazole is metabolized by CYP2D6 and CYP3A4. However, aripiprazole usually does not induce hyperprolactinemia <sup>118</sup>, therefore a clear difference in prolactin levels would not be expected among phenotype groups. However, CYP3A PM subjects had significantly higher prolactin concentrations compared to the other phenotypes during aripiprazole treatment. These subjects were under prolonged aripiprazole exposure what could cause mild prolactin increase. Regarding *ABCB1*, subjects with rs10280101, rs12720067 and rs11983225 A-C-T haplotype had higher prolactin concentrations compared to those carrying the mutated alleles. This confirms the hypothesis that *ABCB1* polymorphisms and haplotypes might affect P-glycoprotein activity, therefore aripiprazole brain availability and prolactin levels <sup>286</sup>.

Regarding olanzapine, *DRD3* rs6280 Ser/Ser subjects had lower prolactin levels compared to those carrying the Gly allele. Consequently, they may show higher DRD3 occupancy, thus dopamine can inhibit prolactin release <sup>118</sup>. Previous findings imply that *DRD3* does not play a major role in olanzapine-induced prolactin secretion <sup>182</sup>. Notwithstanding, we did not expect these results considering that none of the *DRD2* polymorphisms affected prolactin levels. More studies are needed to resolve the ambiguity.

V. Discussion

#### 5.2. Glucose metabolism

#### 5.2.1. C-peptide levels

C-peptide levels were significantly higher after aripiprazole treatment. However, these levels were not significantly different between aripiprazole and olanzapine. Clozapine, olanzapine, risperidone and sulpiride were associated with an increase in C-peptide levels in schizophrenic patients <sup>288</sup>. In our study, olanzapine tended to increase its levels without reaching statistical significance; however, the C-peptide/ insulin ratio was higher after the 5 days treatment. This ratio is an indirect index of hepatic insulin clearance <sup>289</sup>. The observed increase in the ratio may be due to the increase in hepatic insulin clearance therefore decreased insulin secretion <sup>290</sup>. Teff *et al.* with similar study design – 3 days of olanzapine treatment in healthy volunteers – found the contrary: a decrease was observed in the ratio what may imply an increase in insulin secretion <sup>291</sup>. In the latter study, opposite to us, aripiprazole did not cause elevation in C-peptide levels <sup>291</sup>. High C-peptide levels can imply insulin resistance and finally can lead to type 2 diabetes, atherosclerosis and metabolic syndrome. Thus, it may serve as a biomarker to identify the risk to develop these diseases <sup>292</sup>.

*COMT* rs4680 G/G and rs1330678 T carriers had higher increase in C-peptide levels after ARI treatment. *COMT* polymorphisms were previously associated with glycaemic function and type 2 diabetes, what can alter catecholamine production <sup>293</sup>. *COMT* rs4680 A carriers achieved a significantly lower change in C-peptide levels compared to subjects with G/G genotype what is consistent with a previous study <sup>294</sup>. Thus, A may be the protective allele against changes in glucose metabolism. Aripiprazole and olanzapine seem to have an effect on C-peptide levels, however, more studies are needed both in patients and healthy volunteers to confirm these findings.

#### 5.2.2. Glucose levels

Olanzapine is associated with glucoregulatory abnormalities. The 5-HT<sub>1</sub> antagonism may decrease the responsiveness of the pancreatic beta cells, thus reducing the secretion of insulin and causing hyperglycemia <sup>295</sup>. In our study, basal glucose levels did not change during acute treatment, however, the GTT performed after treatment showed higher 1 h and 2 h glucose levels compared to the first day. These levels were significantly higher than during ARI treatment. Previous findings show the same association in patients undergoing chronic treatment and healthy

volunteers with acute treatment <sup>296,297</sup>. *UGT1A1* rs887829 C/C homozygotes had higher basal glucose levels and also higher glucose levels in GTT after 1 h and 2 h on day 6 compared to the first day. OLA is metabolized predominantly by the UGT enzyme family, but clear evidence was found only for UGT1A4 <sup>265</sup>. Based on our results, T allele carriers may be under prolonged OLA exposure and therefore show higher glucose concentrations. This result is confirmed by our previous study as this polymorphism affected OLA pharmacokinetics <sup>298</sup>.

## 5.2.3. Insulin levels

Aripiprazole and olanzapine tended to increase insulin levels. In addition, *BDNF* rs6265 C/C subjects showed higher insulin levels compared to the other genotypes after aripiprazole administration and in CYP3A PMs compared to the other phenotypes after olanzapine administration. In a previous study the *BDNF* rs6265 polymorphism did not affect insulin levels during chronic risperidone and olanzapine treatment <sup>299</sup>. Based on our knowledge, our study is the first to report this relationship with aripiprazole. C/C subjects may have more predisposition to develop high insulin levels and finally insulin resistance during aripiprazole treatment.

## 5.3. Weight gain and lipid metabolism

#### 5.3.1. Weight gain

It is not completely understood how antipsychotics cause weight gain, but  $5\text{-HT}_{2C}$  and  $5\text{-HT}_{1A}$  receptors, histamine H<sub>1</sub> receptor and DRD<sub>2</sub> presumably play a role <sup>300</sup>. However, olanzapine pharmacology is not the only factor to affect weight gain; the diet and activity level may also play a role. Weight increases rapidly within the first 6 weeks of olanzapine treatment and patients continue to gain weight <sup>301</sup>. Based on our knowledge, our study is the first to report olanzapine-related weight gain during only 5 days of treatment. Aripiprazole did not induce weight gain in the same volunteers, what strengthens our results as we can discard the effect of the diet. *HTR2C* polymorphisms are clearly linked to susceptibility to gain weight with antipsychotics <sup>194</sup>. The *HTR2C* rs1414334 polymorphism was widely analysed and the C allele was associated to olanzapine, clozapine and risperidone-induced weight gain and metabolic syndrome <sup>302</sup>, what we confirm in our study.

#### 5.3.2. Lipid metabolism

Based on current knowledge, olanzapine, but not aripiprazole, increments triglyceride and cholesterol levels in chronic treatment <sup>303</sup>. Moreover, in a previous study, after administering 3 daily doses of olanzapine to healthy volunteers, cholesterol and triglyceride levels were higher <sup>297</sup>. These results suggest that olanzapine may have acute adverse effects on lipid profiles as well. However, in our study, both triglyceride and cholesterol levels decreased during aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment. The observed decrease could be due to the low carbohydrate diet during their stay <sup>304</sup>. It could explain why triglyceride and cholesterol levels recovered by the safety visit (10 days after discontinuing the treatment).

CYP3A PMs showed a greater decrease in triglyceride levels during aripiprazole treatment compared to the other phenotypes. PMs could have a prolonged aripiprazole exposure, therefore higher effect on triglyceride levels as aripiprazole is metabolized by CYP3A  $^{92}$ . Furthermore, *APOC3* rs4520 C/C homozygotes had higher triglyceride concentrations after OLA administration than T allele carriers, what is consistent with a previous study  $^{305}$ . Polymorphisms in this gene influence serum or plasma triglyceride levels as the APOC3 protein raises plasma triglyceride levels by the inhibition of lipoprotein lipase, stimulates low-density lipoprotein secretion and intestinal triglyceride trafficking modulation  $^{306}$ . *HTR2A* rs6314 C/C homozygotes had greater cholesterol levels during aripiprazole therapy. In a previous study the contrary was found: T carriers had higher cholesterol levels. However, Korean population when compared to Iberians, have a lower frequency of *HTR2A* rs6314 C allele (approximately 0.515 versus 0.893, respectively), therefore the frequency variation among different ethnic groups could cause this difference  $^{307}$ . Our study is the first to report differences between *HTR2A* rs6314 alleles in cholesterol level changes during antipsychotic therapy.

#### 5.4. Hepatic performance

In a previous study, aripiprazole elevated mildly, while olanzapine elevated greatly the transaminase levels (eg. GOT and GPT) <sup>308</sup>. The effects of aripiprazole on GGT and ALP levels were not reported to date. However, olanzapine was reported to increase GGT, ALP and bilirubin levels <sup>308</sup>. Based on our knowledge, our study is the first to report changes in hepatic enzyme and

bilirubin levels during short time antipsychotic treatment in healthy volunteers. In our study, GOT, GPT, GGT and ALP levels significantly decreased during aripiprazole treatment while GGT, bilirubin and ALP levels significantly decreased during olanzapine treatment. The observed decrease could be explained by the low carbohydrate diet during their stay <sup>304</sup>. Additionally, the albumin levels also decreased during aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment alike risperidone and clozapine, what suggest that these drugs have a negative impact on serum antioxidant protection <sup>309</sup>. In addition, none of these levels were outside of the reference range.

## 5.5. Haematological performance

Olanzapine may cause leukopenia <sup>310</sup>, thrombocytopenia <sup>311</sup> and thromboembolism <sup>312</sup>. Aripiprazole only causes these conditions when co-administered with other CYP2D6 substrates <sup>313</sup>. Our study confirms that both antipsychotics cause significant decrease in platelet count and olanzapine additionally induces a decrease in leucocyte count. Additionally, hemoglobin levels were also decreased during treatment, what can be due to the several blood extractions throughout the study. The current study is the first to report that these alterations are detected immediately after starting treatment, although none of these levels were outside of the reference range.

## 5.6. Thyroid performance

The free T4 levels significantly increased after aripiprazole treatment. Aripiprazole drug label states that it can induce both hypo,- and hyperthyroidism. Nevertheless, the underlying mechanism is currently unknown <sup>106</sup>. In studies with quetiapine, only free T4 changes were detected, and not TSH <sup>314</sup>, similar to our results. Additionally, compared to the aripiprazole group, the olanzapine group had higher TSH and lower free T4 levels after treatment. Olanzapine was associated with lower free T4 and higher TSH levels in patients compared to healthy controls in a previous study <sup>315</sup>. Our study is the first to report increase in free T4 levels after aripiprazole treatment in healthy volunteers.

#### 5.7. Renal performance

Atypical antipsychotics can increase the risk to develop chronic kidney diseases through the elevation of urea and creatinine levels <sup>316,317</sup>. After the acute treatment with aripiprazole and olanzapine we could not see this effect. Uric acid levels decreased during haloperidol <sup>318</sup>, but not risperidone or clozapine treatment <sup>309</sup>. In the current study, we observed that both aripiprazole and olanzapine reduced its levels during treatment, but the levels were normalized after discontinuing the drugs. This can be due to the controlled diet what subjects received throughout the study. Uric acid is one of the principal antioxidants in the human plasma, therefore its low levels may cause oxidative stress <sup>309</sup>. Based on the authors' knowledge, this is the first study to analyse uric acid alterations in acute aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment.

## 6. Effects on blood pressure, heart rate and corrected QT interval

Aripiprazole caused both hyper- and hypotension in previous studies. Hypertension was reported in case reports, and the elevated blood pressure dropped immediately after aripiprazole withdrawal <sup>135</sup>. In contrast, in other studies, dose-related hypotension was also reported: when aripiprazole was reduced to 5 mg/day <sup>134</sup> or discontinued <sup>319</sup>, the blood pressure returned to normal range. On the contrary, olanzapine has little effects on the cardiovascular system, if any <sup>320</sup>. Nevertheless, it can cause orthostatic hypotension <sup>321</sup>. Bradycardia was also reported previously during olanzapine treatment <sup>321,322</sup>.

In our study, aripiprazole decreased systolic (without reaching significance) and diastolic blood pressure on the first day of treatment, but this effect was not repeated on the rest of the days. The blood pressure lowering mechanism may be due to blocking the  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptors. Moreover, its 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> antagonism could induce vasodilation and its 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> agonism could produce hypotension and bradycardia <sup>323</sup>. Regarding olanzapine, systolic and diastolic blood pressure and heart rate significantly decreased after the first dose. These changes could be explained by its  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic antagonism <sup>324</sup>. These effects were only significant on the first day of treatment and progressively diminished on the following days (*Figure 2*) as tolerance was developed. It was reported previously that only the first dose of olanzapine caused hypotension and bradycardia <sup>325</sup>. Our study is the first to report this association with aripiprazole.

#### V. Discussion

The mean QTc interval normally decreases with aripiprazole and the QTc prolongation risk is lower compared to other atypical antipsychotics <sup>127</sup>. The QTc interval was overall decreased in case reports and clinical trials including schizophrenic patients and healthy volunteers, however, QTc prolongation events were also discovered <sup>127</sup>. Our study confirms that aripiprazole induces QTc decrease what started on the second day of drug administration and was maintained forth until the last day. Therefore, based on our results, aripiprazole does not seem to cause QTc prolongation and consequently *Torsades de Pointes* and sudden cardiac death. Olanzapine does not induce QTc prolongation <sup>126</sup>. Based on the authors knowledge, the current study is the first to report QTc decrease. However, it was produced only on the first day of drug administration alike blood pressure and heart rate. To date, the clinical significance of its QTc-shortening is uncertain. Nevertheless, it may induce proarrhythmia <sup>326</sup>.

#### 6.1. The influence of polymorphisms on blood pressure and heart rate

Systolic and diastolic blood pressure decreased more in *ADRA2A* rs1800544 C/C subjects compared to C/G subjects during olanzapine and aripiprazole treatment, respectively.  $\alpha_{2A}$ -adrenergic receptors have important roles in sympathetic cardiovascular regulation. Mice that do not express *ADRA2A* had increased blood pressure and heart rate <sup>327</sup>. Consequently, rs1800544 mutant allele carriers may have increased blood pressure compared to wild-type homozygotes.

Diastolic blood pressure decreased more in *HTR2A* rs6313 C allele carriers compared to T/T subjects during aripiprazole treatment. Carriers of the wild-type allele of *HTR2A* rs6313 could have induced vasodilatation, and therefore a decrease in blood pressure <sup>323</sup>.

During olanzapine treatment, systolic blood pressure and heart rate decreased more in *DRD3* rs6280 Ser/Ser and Ser/Gly subjects compared to those with Gly/Gly genotype. Dopamine causes cardiac stimulation and therefore vasoconstriction and increase in blood pressure. Olanzapine blocks dopamine receptors, therefore less dopamine binds to them what can result in decreased blood pressure and heart rate <sup>328</sup>. D<sub>3</sub> dopamine receptor blockage depends on the genotype, what explains that carriers of the mutant genotype may have a less efficient interaction between the drug

and the receptor, causing smaller variations in blood pressure and heart rate.

In previous studies, *COMT* rs4680 A (Val, wild-type) allele carriers had lower systolic and diastolic blood pressure throughout the study <sup>329,330</sup>. Our study confirmed these findings: subjects with the COMT wild-type phenotype (including COMT rs4680) had significantly higher diastolic blood pressure decrease after olanzapine administration. However, another study found the opposite: the wild-type allele was associated with systolic blood pressure elevation <sup>331</sup>. Thus, there is no clear consensus about the role of *COMT* polymorphisms in its blood pressure-lowering capacity. Nevertheless, this association could be due to its role in modulating dopamine function <sup>332</sup>.

Habitually, females show higher heart rate and QTc than males <sup>333,334</sup>. In our previous single-dose study both were higher in females after a single dose of aripiprazole <sup>129</sup>. In our current study we found the contrary with aripiprazole and olanzapine, however, as this difference could only be seen on the 4<sup>th</sup> day of drug administration, it may be considered an artefact.

## 7. Adverse drug reactions

## 7.1. Most common adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole

According to the drug label, the most common ( $\geq$ 5% and at least twice than placebo) ADRs to aripiprazole in schizophrenic patients are akathisia, extrapyramidal symptoms, somnolence and tremor <sup>106</sup>. Somnolence and akathisia were among the most frequent ADRs that we observed. The most common ADRs in clinical trials in healthy volunteers and psychotic patients were somnolence, nausea, vomiting, constipation, headache, dizziness, akathisia, anxiety, insomnia, and restlessness <sup>106</sup>. All these ADRs were detected in our clinical trial in 79, 17, 8, 13, 54, 21, 17, 8, 33 and 21% of the volunteers, respectively. Somnolence was detected in 79% of the subjects. There is no evidence on sex differences in the prevalence of ADRs <sup>335</sup>. Our study confirms this hypothesis. In general, the most common ADRs to aripiprazole were nervous system and psychiatric conditions.

#### 7.2. Most common adverse drug reactions to olanzapine

According to the drug label, the most common ( $\geq$ 5% and at least twice than placebo) ADRs to olanzapine in schizophrenic patients are constipation, weight gain, dizziness, personality disorder, akathisia, postural hypotension, sedation, headache, increased appetite, fatigue, dry mouth and abdominal pain <sup>90</sup>. Constipation, dizziness, headache and dry mouth were among the most frequent ADRs that we observed in 13, 29, 13 and 13% of the volunteers, respectively. Somnolence was detected in all subjects, however, it was mostly present at the first 2 days of treatment and they developed tolerance to the drug on the following days. ADRs that we could not detect in our clinical trial were personality disorder, fatigue, sedation and abdominal pain. The absence of these findings could be due to the short treatment; the majority of these ADRs usually appear after at least 6 weeks of treatment <sup>90</sup>. There are possible sex differences in the prevalence of ADRs to olanzapine <sup>336</sup>. However, we did not see a difference between the two sexes in our study. The lack of association could be due to the short-time treatment and the low sample size.

#### 7.3. Cardiac alterations

Palpitations are considered infrequent ADRs to aripiprazole <sup>106</sup>. However, 5 female volunteers and no males experienced it in our study. Palpitations may also occur during olanzapine treatment, however, they are not considered as frequent ADRs <sup>337</sup>. Our study confirms this finding; only 2 volunteers were registered with palpitations. Interestingly, both were females, similar to aripiprazole. We are the first to report these findings. Palpitations can be associated with arrhythmias. The proarrhythmic effect, drug-induced *Torsade de Pointes* occurs more frequently in females than in males <sup>338</sup> and was observed with aripiprazole <sup>127</sup>, but not with olanzapine <sup>339</sup>. Therefore, as in the current study, palpitations, a proarrhythmic sign, may occur more frequently in females.

In addition, during olanzapine treatment palpitations were only reported in CYP1A2 UMs and *HTR2A* rs7997012 A allele carriers. Olanzapine is metabolized by CYP1A2 <sup>92</sup>. UMs may reach high concentrations of olanzapine metabolites rapidly, which could be related to the development of palpitations. Additionally, palpitations were only reported in *HTR2A* rs7997012 mutant (A)

allele carriers. Serotonin can induce the development of palpitations <sup>340</sup>. Therefore, A allele carriers may have reduced 5-HTR2A blockage and consequently higher serotonin levels.

## 7.4. Nervous system alterations

Akathisia is commonly associated with first generation antipsychotics. It would be expected that aripiprazole had a low incidence of akathisia being an antagonist at 5-HT2A receptors <sup>341</sup>. However, aripiprazole seems to increase the risk of akathisia. Therefore, its pathophysiology seems complex, involving several neurotransmitters including dopamine, acetylcholine, - aminobutyric acid, norepinephrine, serotonin and neuropeptides <sup>342</sup>. Consequently, *DRD3* mutant (Gly) allele carriers could be more protected from developing akathisia. The fact that *DRD2* rs1799732 G/- subjects experienced asthenia but not G/G homozygotes strengthens the dopamine theory: polymorphisms in its receptors seem to have a role in developing nervous system ADRs. On the contrary, olanzapine does not cause akathisia <sup>341</sup> what was confirmed in our study. It appears that its sedating properties could be responsible for attenuating the effects of akathisia <sup>341</sup>.

5-HT receptors are related to the development of somnolence and headache during antipsychotic treatment, but the molecular background is unknown to date  $^{343,344}$ . Aripiprazole relates to a lower risk of somnolence and headache compared to other atypical antipsychotics  $^{343}$ , however, they are still among the most common ADRs  $^{106}$ . 100% and 79% of the volunteers experienced somnolence at least once during the study with aripiprazole and olanzapine, respectively. Somnolence was detected more frequently in *HTR2A* rs6314 wild-type subjects while headache was observed more in mutant allele carriers of *HTR2C* rs3813929. Our study is the first to report these findings. It strengthens the hypothesis that 5-HT receptor variability can lead to the development of these ADRs.

In our previous study, *OPRM1* rs1799971 mutant (G) allele carriers were associated with the increased likelihood of somnolence to fentanyl in healthy volunteers <sup>345</sup>. In the current study we observed the contrary: wild-type (A/A) homozygous subjects developed somnolence more frequently during aripiprazole treatment. The G variant is reported as a protective allele against ADRs <sup>346</sup>. However, its role in developing ADRs to aripiprazole is currently unknown. Opioid

receptor activation inhibits GABAergic interneurons in order to increase dopamine release <sup>347</sup>. Therefore, higher dopamine concentration in *OPRM1* rs1799971 wild-type homozygotes may increase the risk of somnolence.

In addition, CYP1A2 NM/RM subjects showed a higher prevalence of insomnia during ARI treatment than UM subjects. Based on current knowledge, aripiprazole is not metabolized by CYP1A2<sup>106</sup>. However, in our population, CYP1A2 UMs showed lower ARI and DARI disposition compared to the other phenotypes <sup>298</sup>. Therefore, NM/RM subjects were under prolonged aripiprazole exposure what could cause the development of insomnia. Regarding olanzapine, insomnia is not among the most common ADRs to olanzapine <sup>90</sup>. However, 2 volunteers experienced it during our study, both carrying *HTR2C* rs1414334 G/G genotype. The lack of serotonin can cause insomnia <sup>348</sup>. *HTR2C* rs1414334 mutant (G/G) homozygotes may have less 5-HTR2C receptor blocking effect and consequently higher risk to experience insomnia.

#### 7.5. Gastrointestinal alterations

Serotonin and acetylcholine activate the colonic smooth muscles inducing their contraction. Olanzapine, being a 5-HT antagonist, inhibits their contraction and consequently causes constipation <sup>349</sup>. Carriers of *HTR2A* rs6314 and rs7997012 mutant alleles (T and A, respectively) displayed a higher incidence of constipation, therefore, in these subjects, OLA possibly has higher binding affinity to 5-HT2A receptors. In our previous study, the prevalence of fatigue in *UGT1A1* rs887829 T/T subjects was significantly higher compared to wild-type (C) allele carriers <sup>173</sup>. In the current study, we found the same association, but with constipation. This enzyme may be responsible for the phase II metabolism of olanzapine <sup>298</sup>. These associations were not found with aripiprazole what we expected as it is not metabolized by the UGT enzyme family. However, similar to olanzapine, it is a 5-HT2A antagonist. Nevertheless, this mechanism should be more complex; dopamine or other neurotransmitters could have a role in the development of constipation.

Normally, a balance is maintained between acetylcholine and dopamine. When this balance is disturbed, acetylcholine levels increase, while dopamine levels decrease <sup>350</sup>. Dry mouth is an

anticholinergic side effect of olanzapine, but not to aripiprazole given its special mechanism of action: olanzapine blocks muscarinic receptors but not aripiprazole <sup>95,96</sup>. *DRD3* rs6280 wild-type (Ser/Ser) subjects may have higher dopamine level due to the low amount of acetylcholine, therefore experiencing dry mouth after olanzapine.

Nausea during olanzapine treatment was only detected in *HTR2C* rs518147 C/T heterozygotes and not in C/C and T/T homozygotes what can be due to the low sample size. This association was not found with aripiprazole.

## 8. Study limitations

Only 24 subjects were included in the study, what we consider its main limitation. Therefore, it is important to interpret these results with caution: studies including more subjects are necessary to increase the statistical reliability of the results. Moreover, the present study should be repeated in schizophrenic patients, whose brain structure and genetics may differ from healthy volunteers, to demonstrate the clinical utility of these results.

Moreover, neither aripiprazole, nor olanzapine reached steady state during 5 days of treatment. Both could have had a greater effect on autonomic nerve activity and metabolism if they had reached steady-state. Likewise, several ADRs could appear later than 5 days. However, the Research Ethics Committee would not have authorized a treatment longer than 5 days with antipsychotics in healthy volunteers. Additionally, Cl/F and Vd/F values were calculated without knowing bioavailability, which can yield questionable results, especially for dehydro-aripiprazole.

Nevertheless, despite of applying the Bonferroni post hoc test to each analysis, some of our results could be false positives due to the high number of analysed variables. Nevertheless, we have very well controlled conditions what can reduce the influence of other factors, such as comorbidity, smoking and nutrition. In addition, we administered both drugs to each volunteer which make them perfectly comparable.



# **VI. CONCLUSIONS**

Analytical method and pharmacokinetics:

- Our LC-MS/MS method was validated based on the recommendations from regulatory guidelines and it is adequate for precise and accurate simultaneous measurement of antipsychotic drugs and caffeine in human plasma.
- Simple sample preparation and three step μ-SPE offer high phospholipid removal efficiency compared to PPT.
- Pharmacokinetics of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole were affected by sex. Females had higher T<sub>1/2</sub> and Vd/F of aripiprazole; higher Vd/F and Cl/F and lower AUC <sub>last</sub> of dehydro-aripiprazole compared to males.
- 4) Pharmacokinetics were significantly affected by polymorphisms in *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A*, *CYP1A2*, *ABCB1* and *UGT1A1* genes.

#### Pupillometry:

- 5) Aripiprazole, but not olanzapine produced pupil dilatation after the first dosing, which was followed by constriction after each day of treatment.
- 6) The effects of aripiprazole on the pupil were associated with polymorphisms in *CYP3A*, *HTR2A*, *UGT1A1*, *DRD2* and *ABCB1* genes.
- 7) Pupillography could be a non-invasive tool to assess autonomic nervous system activity during antipsychotic drug treatment.

#### Metabolic effects:

- 8) Olanzapine caused significant prolactin elevation, but not aripiprazole, which was influenced by *CYP3A*, *ABCB1* and *DRD3* polymorphisms.
- 9) Aripiprazole caused C-peptide elevation what was dependent on *COMT* genotypes, while the C-peptide/ insulin ratio was higher after olanzapine treatment.
- 10) Glucose levels in GTT were higher after olanzapine treatment and were influenced by *UGT1A1* genotypes.
- 11) Insulin levels did not change with any treatment, but were dependent on *BDNF* genotypes and CYP3A phenotypes.

- 12) Olanzapine, but not aripiprazole caused weight gain, which was influenced by *HTR2C* alleles.
- Uric acid, triglyceride and cholesterol levels decreased during aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment.
- 14) Although both antipsychotics had significant metabolic effects in acute treatment, we can confirm that aripiprazole has a more benign metabolic profile compared to olanzapine.

#### Safety:

- 15) Olanzapine had more cardiovascular effects than aripiprazole. However, blood pressure, heart rate and QTc decreased significantly only on the first day of drug administration. Therefore, it seems that a rapid tolerance was developed to the drug.
- 16) *HTR2A*, *ADRA2A*, *DRD3* and *COMT* polymorphisms establish the interindividual variability of the cardiovascular effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine.
- 17) More adverse drug reactions were related to aripiprazole than to olanzapine, especially psychiatric and nervous system disorders.
- 18) Some polymorphisms in HTR2A, HTR2C, DRD2, DRD3, OPRM1, UGT1A1 and CYP1A2 genes may explain the difference in the incidence of adverse drug reactions among subjects.
# Método analítico y farmacocinética:

- Nuestro método LC-MS/MS fue validado de acuerdo a las recomendaciones regulatorias y es adecuado para la medición simultánea precisa y exacta de fármacos antipsicóticos y cafeína en el plasma humano.
- La simple preparación de la muestra y los tres pasos de μ-SPE ofrecen una alta eficiencia de eliminación de fosfolípidos en comparación con el PPT.
- 3) La farmacocinética del aripiprazol y del dehidro-aripiprazol se vio afectada por el sexo. Las mujeres tenían una mayor T<sub>1/2</sub> y Vd/F de aripiprazol; una mayor Vd/F y Cl/F y una menor AUC<sub>last</sub> de dehidro-aripiprazol en comparación con los hombres.
- 4) La farmacocinética se vio afectada significativamente por los polimorfismos en los genes *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A*, *CYP1A2*, *ABCB1* y *UGT1A1*.

## Pupilometría:

- 5) El aripiprazol, pero no la olanzapina, produjo dilatación de la pupila después de la primera dosis, a la que siguió una constricción después de cada día de tratamiento.
- 6) Los efectos del aripiprazol en la pupila se asociaron con polimorfismos en los genes *CYP3A*, *HTR2A*, *UGT1A1*, *DRD2* y *ABCB1*.
- 7) La pupilografía podría ser una herramienta no invasiva para evaluar la actividad del sistema nervioso autónomo durante el tratamiento con fármacos antipsicóticos.

## Efectos metabólicos:

- 8) La olanzapina causó una importante elevación de la prolactina, pero no el aripiprazol, que fue influenciado por los polimorfismos en *CYP3A*, *ABCB1* y *DRD3*.
- El aripiprazol causó una elevación del péptido C, lo que dependía de los genotipos de la COMT, mientras que la relación péptido C/ insulina fue mayor después del tratamiento con olanzapina.
- 10) Los niveles de glucosa en el GTT fueron más altos después del tratamiento con olanzapina y se vieron influidos por los genotipos del *UGT1A1*.
- 11) Los niveles de insulina no cambiaron con ningún tratamiento, pero dependieron de los genotipos del *BDNF* y los fenotipos del *CYP3A*.

- 12) La olanzapina, pero no el aripiprazol, causó un aumento de peso, que fue influenciado por los alelos *HTR2C*.
- Los niveles de ácido úrico, triglicéridos y colesterol disminuyeron durante el tratamiento con aripiprazol y olanzapina.
- 14) Aunque ambos antipsicóticos tuvieron efectos metabólicos significativos, podemos confirmar que el aripiprazol tiene un perfil metabólico más benigno en comparación con la olanzapina.

## Seguridad:

- 15) La olanzapina tuvo más efectos cardiovasculares que el aripiprazol. Sin embargo, la presión arterial, la frecuencia cardíaca y el QTc disminuyeron significativamente sólo en el primer día de administración del medicamento. Por lo tanto, parece que se desarrolló una rápida tolerancia al fármaco.
- 16) Los polimorfismos en *HTR2A*, *ADRA2A*, *DRD3* y *COMT* establecen la variabilidad interindividual de los efectos cardiovasculares del aripiprazol y la olanzapina.
- 17) Más reacciones adversas se relacionaron con el aripiprazol que con la olanzapina, especialmente trastornos psiquiátricos y del sistema nervioso.
- 18) Algunos polimorfismos en los genes HTR2A, HTR2C, DRD2, DRD3, OPRM1, UGT1A1 y CYP1A2 pueden explicar la diferencia en la incidencia de las reacciones adversas entre los sujetos.



# REFERENCES

- Umscheid, C. A.; Margolis, D. J.; Grossman, C. E. Key Concepts of Clinical Trials: A Narrative Review. *Postgraduate Medicine* 2011, *123* (5), 194–204. https://doi.org/10.3810/pgm.2011.09.2475.
- Steenburg, C. The Food and Drug Administration's Use of Postmarketing (Phase IV) Study Requirements: Exception to the Rule? *Food Drug Law J* 2006, *61* (2), 295–383.
- (3) Kane, J. M.; Leucht, S. Unanswered Questions in Schizophrenia Clinical Trials. *Schizophrenia Bulletin* **2007**, *34* (2), 302–309. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbm143.
- (4) Concepts and Principles of High Performance Liquid Chromatography. In *Methods of Biochemical Analysis*; Rossomando, E. F., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2006; pp 13–40. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470110591.ch2.
- (5) Fornstedt, T.; Forssén, P.; Westerlund, D. Basic HPLC Theory and Definitions: Retention, Thermodynamics, Selectivity, Zone Spreading, Kinetics, and Resolution. In *Analytical Separation Science*; Pino, V., Anderson, J. L., Berthod, A., Stalcup, A. M., Eds.; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA: Weinheim, Germany, 2015; pp 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527678129.assep001.
- (6) Snyder, L. R.; Kirkland, J. J.; Dolan, J. W. Introduction to Modern Liquid Chromatography, 3rd ed.; Wiley: Hoboken, N.J, 2010.
- (7) Koller, D.; Zubiaur, P.; Saiz-Rodríguez, M.; Abad-Santos, F.; Wojnicz, A. Simultaneous Determination of Six Antipsychotics, Two of Their Metabolites and Caffeine in Human Plasma by LC-MS/MS Using a Phospholipid-Removal Microelution-Solid Phase Extraction Method for Sample Preparation. *Talanta* 2019, 198, 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2019.01.112.
- (8) Pitt, J. J. Principles and Applications of Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry in Clinical Biochemistry. *Clin Biochem Rev* 2009, 30 (1), 19–34.
- Scott, R. P. W. *Liquid Chromatography Column Theory*; Separation science series; Wiley: Chichester, West Sussex, Eng.; New York, 1992.
- (10) Tal'Roze, V. L.; Karpov, I. G.; Grdetskii, I. G.; Skurat, V. E. Capillary System for the Introduction of Liquid Mixtures into an Analytical Mass Spectrometer. *Russ. J. Phys. Chem.* 1968.

- (11) Fenn, J. B.; Mann, M.; Meng, C. K.; Wong, S. F.; Whitehouse, C. M. Electrospray Ionization for Mass Spectrometry of Large Biomolecules. *Science* **1989**, *246* (4926), 64– 71. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2675315.
- (12) The Nobel Prize in Chemistry. 2002. [(Accessed 23 November 2008)]. Http://Nobelprize.Org/Nobel\_prizes/Chemistry/Laureates/2002/.
- Tanaka, K.; Waki, H.; Ido, Y.; Akita, S.; Yoshida, Y.; Yoshida, T.; Matsuo, T. Protein and Polymer Analyses up Tom/z 100 000 by Laser Ionization Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 1988, 2 (8), 151–153. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.1290020802.
- (14) Skoog, D. A.; West, D. M.; Holler, F. J.; Crouch, S. R. Fundamentals of Analytical Chemistry; Cengage Learning, 2014.
- (15) Hird, S. J.; Lau, B. P.-Y.; Schuhmacher, R.; Krska, R. Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry for the Determination of Chemical Contaminants in Food. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2014, 59, 59–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2014.04.005.
- Horning, E. C.; Horning, M. G.; Carroll, D. I.; Dzidic, I.; Stillwell, R. N. New Picogram Detection System Based on a Mass Spectrometer with an External Ionization Source at Atmospheric Pressure. *Anal. Chem.* 1973, 45 (6), 936–943. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac60328a035.
- Morrison, J. D. Personal Reminiscences of Forty Years of Mass Spectrometry in Australia.
   Org. Mass Spectrom. 1991, 26 (4), 183–194. https://doi.org/10.1002/oms.1210260404.
- (18) Polson, C.; Sarkar, P.; Incledon, B.; Raguvaran, V.; Grant, R. Optimization of Protein Precipitation Based upon Effectiveness of Protein Removal and Ionization Effect in Liquid Chromatography–Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography B* 2003, 785
   (2), 263–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1570-0232(02)00914-5.
- (19) Henion, J.; Brewer, E.; Rule, G. Sample Preparation for LC/MS/MS: Analyzing Biological and Environmental Samples. *Anal. Chem.* 1998, 70 (19), 650A-656A. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac981991q.
- Hennion, M. C. Solid-Phase Extraction: Method Development, Sorbents, and Coupling with Liquid Chromatography. J Chromatogr A 1999, 856 (1–2), 3–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9673(99)00832-8.

- (21) Shen, J. X.; Motyka, R. J.; Roach, J. P.; Hayes, R. N. Minimization of Ion Suppression in LC-MS/MS Analysis through the Application of Strong Cation Exchange Solid-Phase Extraction (SCX-SPE). *J Pharm Biomed Anal* 2005, *37* (2), 359–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2004.10.035.
- (22) EMA. EMA, Guideline on Bioanalytical Method Validation, EMEA/CHMP/EWP/192217/2009, Http://Www.Ema.Europa.Eu/Docs/En\_GB/Document\_library/Scientific\_guideline/2011/ 08/WC500109686.Pdf. 2011.
- (23) FDA. FDA, Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Validation, Https://Www.Fda.Gov/Downloads/Drugs/Guidances/Ucm368107.Pdf. 2013.
- (24) ICH. ICH Harmonized Tripartite Guideline, Validation of Analytical Procedures: Text and Methology Q2 (R1), Https://Www.Ich.Org/Fileadmin/Public\_Web\_Site/ ICH\_Products/Guidelines/Quality/Q2\_R1/Step4/Q2\_R1\_Guideline.Pdf. 1994.
- (25) IUPAC Compendium of Chemical Terminology: Gold Book, 2.1.0.; Nič, M., Jirát, J., Košata, B., Jenkins, A., McNaught, A., Eds.; IUPAC: Research Triagle Park, NC, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1351/goldbook.
- (26) Kupiec, T. Quality-Control Analytical Methods: High-Performance Liquid Chromatography. *Int J Pharm Compd* **2004**, *8* (3), 223–227.
- (27) Thompson, M.; Ellison, S. L. R.; Wood, R. Harmonized Guidelines for Single-Laboratory Validation of Methods of Analysis (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure and Applied Chemistry* 2002, 74 (5), 835–855. https://doi.org/10.1351/pac200274050835.
- (28) Vogeser, M.; Seger, C. Pitfalls Associated with the Use of Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry in the Clinical Laboratory. *Clin. Chem.* 2010, *56* (8), 1234– 1244. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2009.138602.
- (29) Nelson, E. Kinetics of Drug Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Excretion. *J Pharm Sci* 1961, 50, 181–192. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.2600500302.
- (30) Doogue, M. P.; Polasek, T. M. The ABCD of Clinical Pharmacokinetics. *Therapeutic Advances in Drug Safety* 2013, 4 (1), 5–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/2042098612469335.
- (31) Fernández-Liz, E.; Modamio, P.; Catalán, A.; Lastra, C. F.; Rodríguez, T.; Mariño, E. L. Identifying How Age and Gender Influence Prescription Drug Use in a Primary Health

Care Environment in Catalonia, Spain. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* **2008**, *65* (3), 407–417. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.2007.03029.x.

- (32) Sadava, S. W. Concurrent Multiple Drug Use: Review and Implications. *Journal of Drug Issues* 1984, 14 (4), 623–636. https://doi.org/10.1177/002204268401400403.
- (33) Zhou, Q.; Pan, S.; Zhu, L.; Chen, M.; Xia, P. Weight-Based Dosing in Medication Use: What Should We Know? *PPA* 2016, 549. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S103156.
- (34) Roman, Y. M. Race and Precision Medicine: Is It Time for an Upgrade? *Pharmacogenomics J* **2019**, *19* (1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41397-018-0046-0.
- (35) Steinstraesser, A.; Wesch, R.; Frick, A. Clinical Pharmacokinetic Studies. In *Drug Discovery and Evaluation: Safety and Pharmacokinetic Assays*; Vogel, H. G., Maas, J., Hock, F. J., Mayer, D., Eds.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013; pp 1139–1210. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-25240-2 49.
- (36) Feng, K.; Leary, R. H. Toward Personalized Medicine with Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling. *Int. J. Pharmacokinet.* 2017, 2 (1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.4155/ipk-2016-0014.
- (37) Kang, J.-S.; Lee, M.-H. Overview of Therapeutic Drug Monitoring. *Korean J Intern Med* 2009, 24 (1), 1. https://doi.org/10.3904/kjim.2009.24.1.1.
- (38) Mehrotra, N.; Gupta, M.; Kovar, A.; Meibohm, B. The Role of Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics in Phosphodiesterase-5 Inhibitor Therapy. *Int J Impot Res* 2007, *19*(3), 253–264. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijir.3901522.
- (39) Iyanagi, T. Molecular Mechanism of Phase I and Phase II Drug-Metabolizing Enzymes: Implications for Detoxification. In *International Review of Cytology*; Elsevier, 2007; Vol. 260, pp 35–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7696(06)60002-8.
- (40) Pirmohamed, M. Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics: Editorial. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2001, 52 (4), 345–347. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0306-5251.2001.01498.x.
- (41) Nebert, D. W. Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics: Why Is This Relevant to the Clinical Geneticist? *Clin Genet* 1999, 56 (4), 247–258. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-0004.1999.560401.x.

- (42) Vogel, F. Moderne Probleme Der Humangenetik. In *Ergebnisse der Inneren Medizin und Kinderheilkunde*; Heilmeyer, L., Schoen, R., Rudder, B., Eds.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1959; pp 52–125. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-94744-5 2.
- (43) Gray, I. C. Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms as Tools in Human Genetics. *Human Molecular Genetics* 2000, 9 (16), 2403–2408. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/9.16.2403.
- (44) Nakamura, Y. DNA Variations in Human and Medical Genetics: 25 Years of My Experience. J Hum Genet 2009, 54 (1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/jhg.2008.6.
- (45) McCarroll, S. A.; Altshuler, D. M. Copy-Number Variation and Association Studies of Human Disease. *Nat. Genet.* 2007, *39* (7 Suppl), S37-42. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng2080.
- (46) Ronai, Z. DNS, Replikáció, Géntechnika, Biotechnika. In *Biokémia, molekuláris és sejtbiológia*; Semmelweis Kiadó, 2015.
- (47) Sachidanandam, R.; Weissman, D.; Schmidt, S. C.; Kakol, J. M.; Stein, L. D.; Marth, G.; Sherry, S.; Mullikin, J. C.; Mortimore, B. J.; Willey, D. L.; Hunt, S. E.; Cole, C. G.; Coggill, P. C.; Rice, C. M.; Ning, Z.; Rogers, J.; Bentley, D. R.; Kwok, P. Y.; Mardis, E. R.; Yeh, R. T.; Schultz, B.; Cook, L.; Davenport, R.; Dante, M.; Fulton, L.; Hillier, L.; Waterston, R. H.; McPherson, J. D.; Gilman, B.; Schaffner, S.; Van Etten, W. J.; Reich, D.; Higgins, J.; Daly, M. J.; Blumenstiel, B.; Baldwin, J.; Stange-Thomann, N.; Zody, M. C.; Linton, L.; Lander, E. S.; Altshuler, D.; International SNP Map Working Group. A Map of Human Genome Sequence Variation Containing 1.42 Million Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms. *Nature* 2001, *409* (6822), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1038/35057149.
- (48) Amos, W.; Driscoll, E.; Hoffman, J. I. Candidate Genes versus Genome-Wide Associations: Which Are Better for Detecting Genetic Susceptibility to Infectious Disease? *Proc. R. Soc. B* 2011, 278 (1709), 1183–1188. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.1920.
- (49) Katara, P.; Yadav, A. Pharmacogenes (PGx-Genes): Current Understanding and Future Directions. *Gene* 2019, 718, 144050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2019.144050.
- (50) Slaughter, R. L.; Edwards, D. J. Recent Advances: The Cytochrome P450 Enzymes. *Ann Pharmacother* 1995, *29* (6), 619–624. https://doi.org/10.1177/106002809502900612.
- (51) Nelson, D. R. Cytochrome P450 Nomenclature, 2004. In *Cytochrome P450 Protocols*;
   Humana Press: New Jersey, 2005; Vol. 320, pp 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1385/1-59259-998-2:1.

- (52) Lewis, D. Human Cytochromes P450 Associated with the Phase 1 Metabolism of Drugs and Other Xenobiotics: A Compilation of Substrates and Inhibitors of the CYP1, CYP2 and CYP3 Families. CMC 2003, 10 (19), 1955–1972. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867033456855.
- (53) Zanger, U. M.; Klein, K.; Thomas, M.; Rieger, J. K.; Tremmel, R.; Kandel, B. A.; Klein, M.; Magdy, T. Genetics, Epigenetics, and Regulation of Drug-Metabolizing Cytochrome P450 Enzymes. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2014, 95 (3), 258–261. https://doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2013.220.
- (54) Hillgren, K. M.; Keppler, D.; Zur, A. A.; Giacomini, K. M.; Stieger, B.; Cass, C. E.; Zhang,
  L.; International Transporter Consortium. Emerging Transporters of Clinical Importance:
  An Update from the International Transporter Consortium. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 2013, 94 (1), 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2013.74.
- (55) Schinkel, A. H. The Physiological Function of Drug-Transporting P-Glycoproteins. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 1997, 8 (3), 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1006/scbi.1997.0068.
- Juliano, R. L.; Ling, V. A Surface Glycoprotein Modulating Drug Permeability in Chinese Hamster Ovary Cell Mutants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1976, 455 (1), 152–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2736(76)90160-7.
- (57) Cordon-Cardo, C.; O'Brien, J. P.; Boccia, J.; Casals, D.; Bertino, J. R.; Melamed, M. R. Expression of the Multidrug Resistance Gene Product (P-Glycoprotein) in Human Normal and Tumor Tissues. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 1990, 38 (9), 1277–1287. https://doi.org/10.1177/38.9.1974900.
- (58) Schinkel, A. H.; Smit, J. J.; van Tellingen, O.; Beijnen, J. H.; Wagenaar, E.; van Deemter, L.; Mol, C. A.; van der Valk, M. A.; Robanus-Maandag, E. C.; te Riele, H. P. Disruption of the Mouse Mdr1a P-Glycoprotein Gene Leads to a Deficiency in the Blood-Brain Barrier and to Increased Sensitivity to Drugs. *Cell* **1994**, 77 (4), 491–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(94)90212-7.
- (59) Li, Y.-H.; Wang, Y.-H.; Li, Y.; Yang, L. MDR1 Gene Polymorphisms and Clinical Relevance. *Yi Chuan Xue Bao* 2006, *33* (2), 93–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0379-4172(06)60027-9.

- (60) Relling, M. V.; Altman, R. B.; Goetz, M. P.; Evans, W. E. Clinical Implementation of Pharmacogenomics: Overcoming Genetic Exceptionalism. *Lancet Oncol.* 2010, *11* (6), 507–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70097-8.
- (61) Kirchheiner, J.; Brøsen, K.; Dahl, M. L.; Gram, L. F.; Kasper, S.; Roots, I.; Sjöqvist, F.; Spina, E.; Brockmöller, J. CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 Genotype-Based Dose Recommendations for Antidepressants: A First Step towards Subpopulation-Specific Dosages. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 2001, *104* (3), 173–192. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0447.2001.00299.x.
- (62) Bank, P.; Caudle, K.; Swen, J.; Gammal, R.; Whirl-Carrillo, M.; Klein, T.; Relling, M.; Guchelaar, H. Comparison of the Guidelines of the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium and the Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* **2018**, *103* (4), 599–618. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.762.
- (63) Bell, C. C. DSM-IV: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. *JAMA* 1994, 272 (10), 828. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1994.03520100096046.
- (64) Schultz, S. H.; North, S. W.; Shields, C. G. Schizophrenia: A Review. *Am Fam Physician* 2007, 75 (12), 1821–1829.
- (65) Winklbaur, B.; Ebner, N.; Sachs, G.; Thau, K.; Fischer, G. Substance Abuse in Patients with Schizophrenia. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* 2006, 8 (1), 37–43.
- Mortensen, P. B.; Pedersen, C. B.; Westergaard, T.; Wohlfahrt, J.; Ewald, H.; Mors, O.; Andersen, P. K.; Melbye, M. Effects of Family History and Place and Season of Birth on the Risk of Schizophrenia. *N Engl J Med* 1999, 340 (8), 603–608. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199902253400803.
- (67) Bromet, E. J.; Fennig, S. Epidemiology and Natural History of Schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry* 1999, 46 (7), 871–881. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00153-5.
- (68) Tienari, P.; Wynne, L. C.; Sorri, A.; Lahti, I.; Läksy, K.; Moring, J.; Naarala, M.; Nieminen, P.; Wahlberg, K.-E. Genotype-Environment Interaction in Schizophrenia-Spectrum Disorder. Long-Term Follow-up Study of Finnish Adoptees. *Br J Psychiatry* 2004, 184, 216–222. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.184.3.216.

- (69) Kposowa, A. J.; Tsunokai, G. T.; Butler, E. W.; Butle, E. W. The Effects of Race and Ethnicity on Schizophrenia: Individual and Neighborhood Contexts. *Race, Gender & Class* 2002, 9 (1), 33–54.
- (70) Veling, W.; Hoek, H. W.; Wiersma, D.; Mackenbach, J. P. Ethnic Identity and the Risk of Schizophrenia in Ethnic Minorities: A Case-Control Study. *Schizophrenia Bulletin* 2010, 36 (6), 1149–1156. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbp032.
- Soares, D. C.; Carlyle, B. C.; Bradshaw, N. J.; Porteous, D. J. DISC1: Structure, Function, and Therapeutic Potential for Major Mental Illness. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* 2011, *2* (11), 609–632. https://doi.org/10.1021/cn200062k.
- (72) Narr, K. L.; Szeszko, P. R.; Lencz, T.; Woods, R. P.; Hamilton, L. S.; Phillips, O.; Robinson, D.; Burdick, K. E.; DeRosse, P.; Kucherlapati, R.; Thompson, P. M.; Toga, A. W.; Malhotra, A. K.; Bilder, R. M. DTNBP1 Is Associated with Imaging Phenotypes in Schizophrenia. *Hum Brain Mapp* 2009, 30 (11), 3783–3794. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20806.
- (73) Harrison, P. J.; Law, A. J. Neuregulin 1 and Schizophrenia: Genetics, Gene Expression, and Neurobiology. *Biol. Psychiatry* 2006, 60 (2), 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.11.002.
- Meloto, C. B.; Segall, S. K.; Smith, S.; Parisien, M.; Shabalina, S. A.; Rizzatti-Barbosa, C. M.; Gauthier, J.; Tsao, D.; Convertino, M.; Piltonen, M. H.; Slade, G. D.; Fillingim, R. B.; Greenspan, J. D.; Ohrbach, R.; Knott, C.; Maixner, W.; Zaykin, D.; Dokholyan, N. V.; Reenilä, I.; Männistö, P. T.; Diatchenko, L. COMT Gene Locus: New Functional Variants. *Pain* 2015, *156* (10), 2072–2083. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000000273.
- Henriksen, M. G.; Nordgaard, J.; Jansson, L. B. Genetics of Schizophrenia: Overview of Methods, Findings and Limitations. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 2017, *11*, 322. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00322.
- (76) Freedman, R. Schizophrenia. N. Engl. J. Med. 2003, 349 (18), 1738–1749. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra035458.
- (77) Glick, I. D.; Murray, S. R.; Vasudevan, P.; Marder, S. R.; Hu, R. J. Treatment with Atypical Antipsychotics: New Indications and New Populations. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 2001, *35* (3), 187–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3956(01)00020-6.

- Ban, T. A. Fifty Years Chlorpromazine: A Historical Perspective. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 2007, 3 (4), 495–500.
- Mauri, M. C.; Paletta, S.; Maffini, M.; Colasanti, A.; Dragogna, F.; Di Pace, C.; Altamura,
  A. C. Clinical Pharmacology of Atypical Antipsychotics: An Update. *EXCLI J* 2014, 13, 1163–1191.
- Lieberman, J. A.; Stroup, T. S.; McEvoy, J. P.; Swartz, M. S.; Rosenheck, R. A.; Perkins, D. O.; Keefe, R. S. E.; Davis, S. M.; Davis, C. E.; Lebowitz, B. D.; Severe, J.; Hsiao, J. K.; Clinical Antipsychotic Trials of Intervention Effectiveness (CATIE) Investigators. Effectiveness of Antipsychotic Drugs in Patients with Chronic Schizophrenia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2005, *353* (12), 1209–1223. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa051688.
- (81) Leucht, S.; Barnes, T. R. E.; Kissling, W.; Engel, R. R.; Correll, C.; Kane, J. M. Relapse Prevention in Schizophrenia With New-Generation Antipsychotics: A Systematic Review and Exploratory Meta-Analysis of Randomized, Controlled Trials. *AJP* 2003, *160* (7), 1209–1222. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.7.1209.
- (82) Geddes, J.; Freemantle, N.; Harrison, P.; Bebbington, P. Atypical Antipsychotics in the Treatment of Schizophrenia: Systematic Overview and Meta-Regression Analysis. *BMJ* 2000, *321* (7273), 1371–1376. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.321.7273.1371.
- (83) Wyatt, R. J.; Green, M. F.; Tuma, A. H. Long-Term Morbidity Associated with Delayed Treatment of First Admission Schizophrenic Patients: A Re-Analysis of the Camarillo State Hospital Data. *Psychol Med* 1997, 27 (2), 261–268. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291796004345.
- (84) Barnes, T. R. E.; Paton, C. Antipsychotic Polypharmacy in Schizophrenia: Benefits and Risks. CNS Drugs 2011, 25 (5), 383–399. https://doi.org/10.2165/11587810-00000000-00000.
- (85) Mauri, M. C.; Regispani, F.; Beraldo, S.; Volonteri, L. S.; Ferrari, V. M.; Fiorentini, A.; Invernizzi, G. Patterns of Clinical Use of Antipsychotics in Hospitalized Psychiatric Patients. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry* 2005, 29 (6), 957–963. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.06.009.
- (86) Cornett, E. M.; Novitch, M.; Kaye, A. D.; Kata, V.; Kaye, A. M. Medication-Induced Tardive Dyskinesia: A Review and Update. *Ochsner J* 2017, *17* (2), 162–174.

- (87) Munetz, M. R.; Benjamin, S. How to Examine Patients Using the Abnormal Involuntary Movement Scale. *Hosp Community Psychiatry* **1988**, *39* (11), 1172–1177. https://doi.org/10.1176/ps.39.11.1172.
- (88) Lean, M. E. J.; Pajonk, F.-G. Patients on Atypical Antipsychotic Drugs: Another High-Risk Group for Type 2 Diabetes: Response to Hardy and Breier. *Diabetes Care* 2003, *26* (11), 3202–3203. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.26.11.3202.
- (89) Marder, S. R.; Essock, S. M.; Miller, A. L.; Buchanan, R. W.; Casey, D. E.; Davis, J. M.; Kane, J. M.; Lieberman, J. A.; Schooler, N. R.; Covell, N.; Stroup, S.; Weissman, E. M.; Wirshing, D. A.; Hall, C. S.; Pogach, L.; Pi-Sunyer, X.; Bigger, J. T.; Friedman, A.; Kleinberg, D.; Yevich, S. J.; Davis, B.; Shon, S. Physical Health Monitoring of Patients with Schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* 2004, *161* (8), 1334–1349. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.161.8.1334.
- (90) ZYPREXA (olanzapine), FDA. ZYPREXA (Olanzapine). HIGHLIGHTS OF PRESCRIBING INFORMATION. U S Food and Drug Administration 1996.
- (91) Söderberg, M. M.; Dahl, M.-L. Pharmacogenetics of Olanzapine Metabolism. *Pharmacogenomics* **2013**, *14* (11), 1319–1336. https://doi.org/10.2217/pgs.13.120.
- (92) Callaghan, J. T.; Bergstrom, R. F.; Ptak, L. R.; Beasley, C. M. Olanzapine. Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Profile. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 1999, *37* (3), 177–193. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-199937030-00001.
- (93) Wang, J.-S.; Zhu, H.-J.; Markowitz, J. S.; Donovan, J. L.; DeVane, C. L. Evaluation of Antipsychotic Drugs as Inhibitors of Multidrug Resistance Transporter P-Glycoprotein. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 2006, 187 (4), 415–423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-006-0437-9.
- (94) Kassahun, K.; Mattiuz, E.; Nyhart, E.; Obermeyer, B.; Gillespie, T.; Murphy, A.; Goodwin, R. M.; Tupper, D.; Callaghan, J. T.; Lemberger, L. Disposition and Biotransformation of the Antipsychotic Agent Olanzapine in Humans. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 1997, 25 (1), 81–93.
- (95) Bhana, N.; Foster, R. H.; Olney, R.; Plosker, G. L. Olanzapine: An Updated Review of Its Use in the Management of Schizophrenia. *Drugs* 2001, 61 (1), 111–161.

- (96) Bymaster, F. P.; Calligaro, D. O.; Falcone, J. F.; Marsh, R. D.; Moore, N. A.; Tye, N. C.; Seeman, P.; Wong, D. T. Radioreceptor Binding Profile of the Atypical Antipsychotic Olanzapine. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1996, 14 (2), 87–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/0893-133X(94)00129-N.
- (97) Richelson, E. Receptor Pharmacology of Neuroleptics: Relation to Clinical Effects. *J Clin Psychiatry* 1999, 60 Suppl 10, 5–14.
- (98) Svensson, T. H.; Mathé, J. M.; Andersson, J. L.; Nomikos, B. G.; Hildebrand, B. E.; Marcus, M. Mode of Action of Atypical Neuroleptics in Relation to the Phencyclidine Model of Schizophrenia: Role of 5-HT2 Receptor and A1-Adrenoreceptor Antagonism: *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology* **1995**, *15*, 11S-18S. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004714-199502001-00003.
- (99) Sato, H.; Ito, C.; Hiraoka, K.; Tashiro, M.; Shibuya, K.; Funaki, Y.; Yoshikawa, T.; Iwata, R.; Matsuoka, H.; Yanai, K. Histamine H1 Receptor Occupancy by the New-Generation Antipsychotics Olanzapine and Quetiapine: A Positron Emission Tomography Study in Healthy Volunteers. *Psychopharmacology* 2015, *232* (19), 3497–3505. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-4002-2.
- (100) Ujike, H.; Nomura, A.; Morita, Y.; Morio, A.; Okahisa, Y.; Kotaka, T.; Kodama, M.; Ishihara, T.; Kuroda, S. Multiple Genetic Factors in Olanzapine-Induced Weight Gain in Schizophrenia Patients: A Cohort Study. J. Clin. Psychiatry 2008, 69 (9), 1416–1422. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.v69n0909.
- (101) Bymaster, F.; Perry, K. W.; Nelson, D. L.; Wong, D. T.; Rasmussen, K.; Moore, N. A.;
  Calligaro, D. O. Olanzapine: A Basic Science Update. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl* 1999, No. 37, 36–40.
- Park, Y.-M.; Chung, Y.-C.; Lee, S.-H.; Lee, K.-J.; Kim, H.; Byun, Y.-C.; Lim, S.-W.; Paik, J.-W.; Lee, H.-J. Weight Gain Associated with the A2a-Adrenergic Receptor –1291 C/G Polymorphism and Olanzapine Treatment. *Am. J. Med. Genet.* 2006, *141B* (4), 394–397. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.30311.
- (103) Riordan-Eva, P.; Augsburger, J. J.; Vaughan, D. Vaughan & Asbury's General Ophthalmology; 2018.

- (104) McGavin, J. K.; Goa, K. L. Aripiprazole. CNS Drugs 2002, 16 (11), 779–786; discussion 787-788.
- (105) Mallikaarjun, S.; Salazar, D. E.; Bramer, S. L. Pharmacokinetics, Tolerability, and Safety of Aripiprazole Following Multiple Oral Dosing in Normal Healthy Volunteers. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* **2004**, *44* (2), 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270003261901.
- (106) Abilify, Otsuka Pharmaceutical, Co., Ltd. Food and Drug Administration. Aripiprazole Label. Available at: Http://Www.Accessdata.Fda.Gov/Drugsatfda\_docs/Label/2014/021436s038, 021713s030,021729s022,021866s023lbl.Pdf. July 1, 2014.
- (107) Urichuk, L.; Prior, T. I.; Dursun, S.; Baker, G. Metabolism of Atypical Antipsychotics: Involvement of Cytochrome P450 Enzymes and Relevance for Drug-Drug Interactions. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 2008, 9 (5), 410–418.
- (108) Kirschbaum, K. M.; Müller, M. J.; Malevani, J.; Mobascher, A.; Burchardt, C.; Piel, M.; Hiemke, C. Serum Levels of Aripiprazole and Dehydroaripiprazole, Clinical Response and Side Effects. *World J. Biol. Psychiatry* 2008, 9 (3), 212–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/15622970701361255.
- (109) Kim, J.-R.; Seo, H.-B.; Cho, J.-Y.; Kang, D.-H.; Kim, Y. K.; Bahk, W.-M.; Yu, K.-S.; Shin, S.-G.; Kwon, J. S.; Jang, I.-J. Population Pharmacokinetic Modelling of Aripiprazole and Its Active Metabolite, Dehydroaripiprazole, in Psychiatric Patients. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2008, 66 (6), 802–810. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.2008.03223.x.
- (110) Dean, L. Aripiprazole Therapy and CYP2D6 Genotype. In *Medical Genetics Summaries*; Pratt, V., McLeod, H., Dean, L., Malheiro, A., Rubinstein, W., Eds.; National Center for Biotechnology Information (US): Bethesda (MD), 2012.
- (111) Shapiro, D. A.; Renock, S.; Arrington, E.; Chiodo, L. A.; Liu, L.-X.; Sibley, D. R.; Roth, B. L.; Mailman, R. Aripiprazole, A Novel Atypical Antipsychotic Drug with a Unique and Robust Pharmacology. *Neuropsychopharmacol* 2003, 28 (8), 1400–1411. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300203.

- (112) Di Sciascio, G.; Riva, M. A. Aripiprazole: From Pharmacological Profile to Clinical Use. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* 2015, *11*, 2635–2647. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S88117.
- (113) Lieberman, J. A. Dopamine Partial Agonists: A New Class of Antipsychotic. *CNS Drugs* 2004, *18* (4), 251–267. https://doi.org/10.2165/00023210-200418040-00005.
- (114) Stahl, S. M. Mechanism of Action of Brexpiprazole: Comparison with Aripiprazole. CNS Spectr. 2016, 21 (1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852915000954.
- (115) Kuroki, T.; Meltzer, H. Y.; Ichikawa, J. Effects of Antipsychotic Drugs on Extracellular Dopamine Levels in Rat Medial Prefrontal Cortex and Nucleus Accumbens. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 1999, 288 (2), 774–781.
- (116) Kern, R. S.; Green, M. F.; Cornblatt, B. A.; Owen, J. R.; McQuade, R. D.; Carson, W. H.; Ali, M.; Marcus, R. The Neurocognitive Effects of Aripiprazole: An Open-Label Comparison with Olanzapine. *Psychopharmacology* 2006, 187 (3), 312–320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-006-0428-x.
- (117) Kroeze, W. K.; Hufeisen, S. J.; Popadak, B. A.; Renock, S. M.; Steinberg, S.; Ernsberger, P.; Jayathilake, K.; Meltzer, H. Y.; Roth, B. L. H1-Histamine Receptor Affinity Predicts Short-Term Weight Gain for Typical and Atypical Antipsychotic Drugs. *Neuropsychopharmacol* 2003, 28 (3), 519–526. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300027.
- (118) Bargiota, S. I.; Bonotis, K. S.; Messinis, I. E.; Angelopoulos, N. V. The Effects of Antipsychotics on Prolactin Levels and Women's Menstruation. *Schizophr Res Treatment* 2013, 2013, 502697. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/502697.
- (119) Casey, D. E.; Carson, W. H.; Saha, A. R.; Liebeskind, A.; Ali, M. W.; Jody, D.; Ingenito, G. G.; Aripiprazole Study Group. Switching Patients to Aripiprazole from Other Antipsychotic Agents: A Multicenter Randomized Study. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 2003, *166* (4), 391–399. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-002-1344-3.
- (120) Hall, T. R.; Harvey, S.; Chadwick, A. Mechanism of Serotonin Effects on Prolactin and Growth Hormone Secretion in Domestic Fowl. *Acta Endocrinologica* 1983, *104* (3), 266– 271. https://doi.org/10.1530/acta.0.1040266.
- (121) Kane, J. M.; Osuntokun, O.; Kryzhanovskaya, L. A.; Xu, W.; Stauffer, V. L.; Watson, S. B.; Breier, A. A 28-Week, Randomized, Double-Blind Study of Olanzapine versus

Aripiprazole in the Treatment of Schizophrenia. *J Clin Psychiatry* **2009**, *70* (4), 572–581. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.08m04421.

- (122) Rummel-Kluge, C.; Komossa, K.; Schwarz, S.; Hunger, H.; Schmid, F.; Lobos, C. A.; Kissling, W.; Davis, J. M.; Leucht, S. Head-to-Head Comparisons of Metabolic Side Effects of Second Generation Antipsychotics in the Treatment of Schizophrenia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Schizophr. Res.* 2010, *123* (2–3), 225–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2010.07.012.
- (123) Zhang, Y.; Liu, Y.; Su, Y.; You, Y.; Ma, Y.; Yang, G.; Song, Y.; Liu, X.; Wang, M.; Zhang, L.; Kou, C. The Metabolic Side Effects of 12 Antipsychotic Drugs Used for the Treatment of Schizophrenia on Glucose: A Network Meta-Analysis. *BMC Psychiatry* 2017, *17* (1), 373. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1539-0.
- (124) Townsend, L. K.; Peppler, W. T.; Bush, N. D.; Wright, D. C. Obesity Exacerbates the Acute Metabolic Side Effects of Olanzapine. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 2018, 88, 121– 128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.12.004.
- (125) Ray, W. A.; Chung, C. P.; Murray, K. T.; Hall, K.; Stein, C. M. Atypical Antipsychotic Drugs and the Risk of Sudden Cardiac Death. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2009, 360 (3), 225–235. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0806994.
- (126) Czekalla, J.; Beasley, C. M.; Dellva, M. A.; Berg, P. H.; Grundy, S. Analysis of the QTc Interval during Olanzapine Treatment of Patients with Schizophrenia and Related Psychosis. J Clin Psychiatry 2001, 62 (3), 191–198.
- Polcwiartek, C.; Sneider, B.; Graff, C.; Taylor, D.; Meyer, J.; Kanters, J. K.; Nielsen, J. The Cardiac Safety of Aripiprazole Treatment in Patients at High Risk for Torsade: A Systematic Review with a Meta-Analytic Approach. *Psychopharmacology* 2015, *232* (18), 3297–3308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-4024-9.
- (128) Vieweg, W. V. New Generation Antipsychotic Drugs and QTc Interval Prolongation. *Prim Care* Companion J Clin Psychiatry 2003, 5 (5), 205–215. https://doi.org/10.4088/pcc.v05n0504.
- (129) Belmonte, C.; Ochoa, D.; Román, M.; Cabaleiro, T.; Talegón, M.; Sánchez-Rojas, S. D.; Abad-Santos, F. Evaluation of the Relationship Between Pharmacokinetics and the Safety of Aripiprazole and Its Cardiovascular Effects in Healthy Volunteers. *J Clin*

 Psychopharmacol
 2016,
 36
 (6),
 608–614.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.0000000000577.

 </

- (130) Hategan, A.; Bourgeois, J. A. Aripiprazole-Associated QTc Prolongation in a Geriatric Patient: *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology* 2014, 34 (6), 766–768. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.00000000000213.
- (131) Suzuki, Y.; Ono, S.; Fukui, N.; Sugai, T.; Watanabe, J.; Tsuneyama, N.; Someya, T. Dose-Dependent Increase in the QTc Interval in Aripiprazole Treatment after Risperidone. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry* 2011, 35 (2), 643– 644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.10.024.
- (132) Sarkar, S.; Gupta, N. Drug Information Update. Atypical Antipsychotics and Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome: Nuances and Pragmatics of the Association. *BJPsych Bull* 2017, *41* (4), 211–216. https://doi.org/10.1192/pb.bp.116.053736.
- (133) Jana, A. K.; Praharaj, S. K.; Roy, N. Olanzapine-Induced Orthostatic Hypotension. *Clinical Psychopharmacology and Neuroscience* 2015, 13 (1), 113–114. https://doi.org/10.9758/cpn.2015.13.1.113.
- (134) Wang, Y.-C. Dose-Related Reversible Hypotension During Aripiprazole Treatment. JNP 2013, 25 (1), E33–E33. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.12030046.
- (135) Yasui-Furukori, N.; Akira Fujii. Worsened Hypertension Control Induced by Aripiprazole.
   *NDT* 2013, 505. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S43950.
- (136) Tajiri, M.; Suzuki, Y.; Sugai, T.; Tsuneyama, N.; Someya, T. Effects of Olanzapine on Resting Heart Rate in Japanese Patients with Schizophrenia. *PLoS ONE* 2018, *13* (7), e0199922. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199922.
- (137) McDougal, D. H.; Gamlin, P. D. Autonomic Control of the Eye. In *Comprehensive Physiology*; Terjung, R., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2014; pp 439–473. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c140014.
- (138) Lowenstein, O.; Loewenfeld, I. E. Electronic Pupillography; a New Instrument and Some Clinical Applications. AMA Arch Ophthalmol 1958, 59 (3), 352–363.
- (139) Piha, S. J.; Halonen, J. P. Infrared Pupillometry in the Assessment of Autonomic Function. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 1994, 26 (1), 61–66.

- (140) Keivanidou, A.; Fotiou, D.; Arnaoutoglou, C.; Arnaoutoglou, M.; Fotiou, F.; Karlovasitou,
   A. Evaluation of Autonomic Imbalance in Patients with Heart Failure: A Preliminary Study
   of Pupillomotor Function. *Cardiol J* 2010, *17* (1), 65–72.
- (141) Jain, S.; Siegle, G. J.; Gu, C.; Moore, C. G.; Ivanco, L. S.; Jennings, J. R.; Steinhauer, S. R.; Studenski, S.; Greenamyre, J. T. Autonomic Insufficiency in Pupillary and Cardiovascular Systems in Parkinson's Disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 2011, *17* (2), 119–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2010.11.005.
- (142) Fotiou, F.; Fountoulakis, K. N.; Tsolaki, M.; Goulas, A.; Palikaras, A. Changes in Pupil Reaction to Light in Alzheimer's Disease Patients: A Preliminary Report. Int J Psychophysiol 2000, 37 (1), 111–120.
- (143) Koike, Y.; Kawabe, T.; Nishihara, K.; Iwane, N.; Hano, T. Effects of Azelnidipine and Amlodipine on Exercise-Induced Sympathoexcitation Assessed by Pupillometry in Hypertensive Patients. *Hypertens. Res.* 2016, 39 (12), 863–867. https://doi.org/10.1038/hr.2016.94.
- (144) Granholm, E.; Steinhauer, S. R. Pupillometric Measures of Cognitive and Emotional Processes. Int J Psychophysiol 2004, 52 (1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2003.12.001.
- (145) Harris, S. C.; Cipriano, A.; Colucci, S. V.; Kapil, R. P.; Geoffroy, P.; Hopyan, T.; Levy-Cooperman, N. Oral Abuse Potential, Pharmacokinetics, and Safety of Once-Daily, Single-Entity, Extended-Release Hydrocodone (HYD) in Recreational Opioid Users. *Pain Med* 2017, *18* (7), 1278–1291. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnw208.
- (146) Levy-Cooperman, N.; McIntyre, G.; Bonifacio, L.; McDonnell, M.; Davenport, J. M.; Covington, P. S.; Dove, L. S.; Sellers, E. M. Abuse Potential and Pharmacodynamic Characteristics of Oral and Intranasal Eluxadoline, a Mixed μ- and κ-Opioid Receptor Agonist and δ-Opioid Receptor Antagonist. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2016**, *359* (3), 471– 481. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.116.236547.
- (147) Mangas-Sanjuan, V.; Pastor, J. M.; Rengelshausen, J.; Bursi, R.; Troconiz, I. F. Population Pharmacokinetic/Pharmacodynamic Modelling of the Effects of Axomadol and Its O-Demethyl Metabolite on Pupil Diameter and Nociception in Healthy Subjects. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2016, *82* (1), 92–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.12921.

- (148) Pickworth, W. B.; Lee, H.; Fudala, P. J. Buprenorphine-Induced Pupillary Effects in Human Volunteers. *Life Sci.* **1990**, *47* (14), 1269–1277.
- (149) Rasimas, J. J.; Liebelt, E. L. Adverse Effects and Toxicity of the Atypical Antipsychotics: What Is Important for the Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practitioner? *Clinical Pediatric Emergency Medicine* 2012, *13* (4), 300–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpem.2012.09.005.
- (150) de Bartolomeis, A.; Tomasetti, C.; Iasevoli, F. Update on the Mechanism of Action of Aripiprazole: Translational Insights into Antipsychotic Strategies Beyond Dopamine Receptor Antagonism. CNS Drugs 2015, 29 (9), 773–799. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-015-0278-3.
- (151) Lord, C. C.; Wyler, S. C.; Wan, R.; Castorena, C. M.; Ahmed, N.; Mathew, D.; Lee, S.; Liu, C.; Elmquist, J. K. The Atypical Antipsychotic Olanzapine Causes Weight Gain by Targeting Serotonin Receptor 2C. J. Clin. Invest. 2017, 127 (9), 3402–3406. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI93362.
- (152) Costagliola, C.; Parmeggiani, F.; Semeraro, F.; Sebastiani, A. Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors: A Review of Its Effects on Intraocular Pressure. *Current Neuropharmacology* 2008, 6 (4), 293–310. https://doi.org/10.2174/157015908787386104.
- (153) Koller, D.; Belmonte, C.; Lubomirov, R.; Saiz-Rodríguez, M.; Zubiaur, P.; Román, M.; Ochoa, D.; Carcas, A.; Wojnicz, A.; Abad-Santos, F. Effects of Aripiprazole on Pupillometric Parameters Related to Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacogenetics after Single Oral Administration to Healthy Subjects. *J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford)* 2018, *32* (11), 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881118798605.
- (154) Gaedigk, A.; Simon, S. D.; Pearce, R. E.; Bradford, L. D.; Kennedy, M. J.; Leeder, J. S. The CYP2D6 Activity Score: Translating Genotype Information into a Qualitative Measure of Phenotype. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* **2008**, *83* (2), 234–242. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.clpt.6100406.
- (155) Swen, J. J.; Nijenhuis, M.; de Boer, A.; Grandia, L.; Maitland-van der Zee, A. H.; Mulder, H.; Rongen, G. A. P. J. M.; van Schaik, R. H. N.; Schalekamp, T.; Touw, D. J.; van der Weide, J.; Wilffert, B.; Deneer, V. H. M.; Guchelaar, H.-J. Pharmacogenetics: From Bench to Byte— An Update of Guidelines. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2011, *89* (5), 662–673. https://doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2011.34.

- (156) Apellániz-Ruiz, M.; Inglada-Pérez, L.; Naranjo, M. E. G.; Sánchez, L.; Mancikova, V.; Currás-Freixes, M.; de Cubas, A. A.; Comino-Méndez, I.; Triki, S.; Rebai, A.; Rasool, M.; Moya, G.; Grazina, M.; Opocher, G.; Cascón, A.; Taboada-Echalar, P.; Ingelman-Sundberg, M.; Carracedo, A.; Robledo, M.; Llerena, A.; Rodríguez-Antona, C. High Frequency and Founder Effect of the CYP3A4\*20 Loss-of-Function Allele in the Spanish Population Classifies CYP3A4 as a Polymorphic Enzyme. *Pharmacogenomics J* 2015, *15* (3), 288–292. https://doi.org/10.1038/tpj.2014.67.
- (157) Tang, J. T.; Andrews, L. M.; van Gelder, T.; Shi, Y. Y.; van Schaik, R. H. N.; Wang, L. L.; Hesselink, D. A. Pharmacogenetic Aspects of the Use of Tacrolimus in Renal Transplantation: Recent Developments and Ethnic Considerations. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol* 2016, *12* (5), 555–565. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425255.2016.1170808.
- (158) Sata, F.; Sapone, A.; Elizondo, G.; Stocker, P.; Miller, V. P.; Zheng, W.; Raunio, H.; Crespi, C. L.; Gonzalez, F. J. CYP3A4 Allelic Variants with Amino Acid Substitutions in Exons 7 and 12: Evidence for an Allelic Variant with Altered Catalytic Activity. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 2000, 67 (1), 48–56. https://doi.org/10.1067/mcp.2000.104391.
- (159) van Schaik, R. H.; de Wildt, S. N.; Brosens, R.; van Fessem, M.; van den Anker, J. N.;
  Lindemans, J. The CYP3A4\*3 Allele: Is It Really Rare? *Clin. Chem.* 2001, 47 (6), 1104–1106.
- (160) Zhou, Y.; Ingelman-Sundberg, M.; Lauschke, V. M. Worldwide Distribution of Cytochrome P450 Alleles: A Meta-Analysis of Population-Scale Sequencing Projects. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 2017, *102* (4), 688–700. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.690.
- (161) Huang, W.; Lin, Y. S.; McConn, D. J.; Calamia, J. C.; Totah, R. A.; Isoherranen, N.; Glodowski, M.; Thummel, K. E. Evidence of Significant Contribution from CYP3A5 to Hepatic Drug Metabolism. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 2004, *32* (12), 1434–1445. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.104.001313.
- (162) Lamba, J.; Hebert, J. M.; Schuetz, E. G.; Klein, T. E.; Altman, R. B. PharmGKB Summary: Very Important Pharmacogene Information for CYP3A5. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 2012, 22 (7), 555–558. https://doi.org/10.1097/FPC.0b013e328351d47f.
- (163) Kirschbaum, K. M.; Uhr, M.; Holthoewer, D.; Namendorf, C.; Pietrzik, C.; Hiemke, C.; Schmitt, U. Pharmacokinetics of Acute and Sub-Chronic Aripiprazole in P-Glycoprotein

Deficient Mice. *Neuropharmacology* **2010**, *59* (6), 474–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.06.010.

- (164) Vijayan, N. N.; Mathew, A.; Balan, S.; Natarajan, C.; Nair, C. M.; Allencherry, P. M.; Banerjee, M. Antipsychotic Drug Dosage and Therapeutic Response in Schizophrenia Is Influenced by ABCB1 Genotypes: A Study from a South Indian Perspective. *Pharmacogenomics* 2012, *13* (10), 1119–1127. https://doi.org/10.2217/pgs.12.86.
- (165) Suzuki, T.; Mihara, K.; Nakamura, A.; Kagawa, S.; Nagai, G.; Nemoto, K.; Kondo, T. Effects of Genetic Polymorphisms of CYP2D6, CYP3A5, and ABCB1 on the Steady-State Plasma Concentrations of Aripiprazole and Its Active Metabolite, Dehydroaripiprazole, in Japanese Patients with Schizophrenia. *Ther Drug Monit* 2014, *36* (5), 651–655. https://doi.org/10.1097/FTD.0000000000000070.
- (166) Belmonte, C.; Ochoa, D.; Román, M.; Saiz-Rodríguez, M.; Wojnicz, A.; Gómez-Sánchez, C. I.; Martín-Vilchez, S.; Abad-Santos, F. Influence of CYP2D6, CYP3A4, CYP3A5 and ABCB1 Polymorphisms on Pharmacokinetics and Safety of Aripiprazole in Healthy Volunteers. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 2018. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcpt.12960.
- (167) Skogh, E.; Sjödin, I.; Josefsson, M.; Dahl, M.-L. High Correlation between Serum and Cerebrospinal Fluid Olanzapine Concentrations in Patients with Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder Medicating with Oral Olanzapine as the Only Antipsychotic Drug. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2011, 31 (1), 4–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.0b013e318204d9e2.
- (168) Bozina, N.; Kuzman, M. R.; Medved, V.; Jovanovic, N.; Sertic, J.; Hotujac, L. Associations between MDR1 Gene Polymorphisms and Schizophrenia and Therapeutic Response to Olanzapine in Female Schizophrenic Patients. *J Psychiatr Res* 2008, 42 (2), 89–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2006.10.002.
- (169) Markowitz, J. S.; DeVane, C. L.; Malcolm, R. J.; Gefroh, H. A.; Wang, J.-S.; Zhu, H.-J.; Donovan, J. L. Pharmacokinetics of Olanzapine after Single-Dose Oral Administration of Standard Tablet versus Normal and Sublingual Administration of an Orally Disintegrating Tablet in Normal Volunteers. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2006, *46* (2), 164–171. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270005283839.

- (170) Carrillo, J. A.; Herráiz, A. G.; Ramos, S. I.; Gervasini, G.; Vizcaíno, S.; Benítez, J. Role of the Smoking-Induced Cytochrome P450 (CYP)1A2 and Polymorphic CYP2D6 in Steady-State Concentration of Olanzapine: *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology* 2003, 23 (2), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004714-200304000-00003.
- (171) Shirley, K. L.; Hon, Y. Y.; Penzak, S. R.; Lam, Y. W. F.; Spratlin, V.; Jann, M. W. Correlation of Cytochrome P450 (CYP) 1A2 Activity Using Caffeine Phenotyping and Olanzapine Disposition in Healthy Volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2003, *28* (5), 961–966. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300123.
- (172) Laika, B.; Leucht, S.; Heres, S.; Schneider, H.; Steimer, W. Pharmacogenetics and Olanzapine Treatment: CYP1A2\*1F and Serotonergic Polymorphisms Influence Therapeutic Outcome. *The Pharmacogenomics Journal* **2010**, *10* (1), 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1038/tpj.2009.32.
- (173) Cabaleiro, T.; López-Rodríguez, R.; Ochoa, D.; Román, M.; Novalbos, J.; Abad-Santos, F. Polymorphisms Influencing Olanzapine Metabolism and Adverse Effects in Healthy Subjects. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 2013, 28 (3), 205–214. https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.2308.
- (174) Söderberg, M. M.; Haslemo, T.; Molden, E.; Dahl, M.-L. Influence of CYP1A1/CYP1A2 and AHR Polymorphisms on Systemic Olanzapine Exposure. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 2013, 23 (5), 279–285. https://doi.org/10.1097/FPC.0b013e3283602876.
- (175) Czerwensky, F.; Leucht, S.; Steimer, W. CYP1A2\*1D and \*1F Polymorphisms Have a Significant Impact on Olanzapine Serum Concentrations. *Ther Drug Monit* 2015, *37* (2), 152–160. https://doi.org/10.1097/FTD.00000000000119.
- (176) Benoit-Biancamano, M.-O.; Adam, J.-P.; Bernard, O.; Court, M. H.; Leblanc, M.-H.; Caron, P.; Guillemette, C. A Pharmacogenetics Study of the Human Glucuronosyltransferase UGT1A4: *Pharmacogenetics and Genomics* 2009, *19* (12), 945– 954. https://doi.org/10.1097/FPC.0b013e3283331637.
- (177) Erickson-Ridout, K. K.; Zhu, J.; Lazarus, P. Olanzapine Metabolism and the Significance of UGT1A448V and UGT2B1067Y Variants: *Pharmacogenetics and Genomics* 2011, *21* (9), 539–551. https://doi.org/10.1097/FPC.0b013e328348c76b.

- (178) Fowler, S.; Kletzl, H.; Finel, M.; Manevski, N.; Schmid, P.; Tuerck, D.; Norcross, R. D.; Hoener, M. C.; Spleiss, O.; Iglesias, V. A. A UGT2B10 Splicing Polymorphism Common in African Populations May Greatly Increase Drug Exposure. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2015, *352* (2), 358–367. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.114.220194.
- (179) Shayegan, D. K.; Stahl, S. M. Atypical Antipsychotics: Matching Receptor Profile to Individual Patient's Clinical Profile. CNS Spectr 2004, 9 (10 Suppl 11), 6–14. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1092852900025086.
- (180) Jönsson, E. G.; Nöthen, M. M.; Grünhage, F.; Farde, L.; Nakashima, Y.; Propping, P.; Sedvall, G. C. Polymorphisms in the Dopamine D2 Receptor Gene and Their Relationships to Striatal Dopamine Receptor Density of Healthy Volunteers. *Mol. Psychiatry* 1999, 4 (3), 290–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4000532.
- (181) Young, R. Mcd.; Lawford, B. R.; Barnes, M.; Burton, S. C.; Ritchie, T.; Ward, W. K.; Noble, E. P. Prolactin Levels in Antipsychotic Treatment of Patients with Schizophrenia Carrying the DRD2\*A1 Allele. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2004, *185* (02), 147–151. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.185.2.147.
- (182) López-Rodríguez, R.; Román, M.; Novalbos, J.; Pelegrina, M. L.; Ochoa, D.; Abad-Santos,
  F. DRD2 Taq1A Polymorphism Modulates Prolactin Secretion Induced by Atypical Antipsychotics in Healthy Volunteers: *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology* 2011, *31*(5), 555–562. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.0b013e31822cfff2.
- (183) Kwon, J. S.; Kim, E.; Kang, D.-H.; Choi, J. S.; Yu, K.-S.; Jang, I.-J.; Shin, S.-G.; APLUS study group. Taq1A Polymorphism in the Dopamine D2 Receptor Gene as a Predictor of Clinical Response to Aripiprazole. *European Neuropsychopharmacology* 2008, *18* (12), 897–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2008.07.010.
- (184) Tybura, P.; Samochowiec, A.; Beszlej, A.; Grzywacz, A.; Mak, M.; Frydecka, D.; Bieńkowski, P.; Mierzejewski, P.; Potemkowski, A.; Samochowiec, J. Some Dopaminergic Genes Polymorphisms Are Not Associated with Response to Antipsychotic Drugs in Schizophrenic Patients. *Pharmacol Rep* 2012, 64 (3), 528–535. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1734-1140(12)70848-4.
- (185) Shen, Y.-C.; Chen, S.-F.; Chen, C.-H.; Lin, C. C. H.; Chen, S.-J.; Chen, Y.-J.; Luu, S.-U. Effects of DRD2/ANKK1 Gene Variations and Clinical Factors on Aripiprazole Efficacy

in Schizophrenic Patients. *J Psychiatr Res* **2009**, *43* (6), 600–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2008.09.005.

- (186) Ramsay, H.; Barnett, J. H.; Miettunen, J.; Mukkala, S.; Mäki, P.; Liuhanen, J.; Murray, G. K.; Jarvelin, M.-R.; Ollila, H.; Paunio, T.; Veijola, J. Association between Dopamine Receptor D2 (DRD2) Variations Rs6277 and Rs1800497 and Cognitive Performance According to Risk Type for Psychosis: A Nested Case Control Study in a Finnish Population Sample. *PLoS ONE* 2015, *10* (6), e0127602. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127602.
- (187) Adams, D. H.; Close, S.; Farmen, M.; Downing, A. M.; Breier, A.; Houston, J. P. Dopamine Receptor D3 Genotype Association with Greater Acute Positive Symptom Remission with Olanzapine Therapy in Predominately Caucasian Patients with Chronic Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder. *Hum. Psychopharmacol. Clin. Exp.* 2008, 23 (4), 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.930.
- (188) Davies, M. A.; Conley, Y.; Roth, B. L. Functional SNPs in Genes Encoding the 5-HT <sub>2A</sub> Receptor Modify the Affinity and Potency of Several Atypical Antipsychotic Drugs. *Biological Research For Nursing* 2011, 13 (1), 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/1099800409358760.
- (189) Olajossy-Hilkesberger, L.; Godlewska, B.; Schosser-Haupt, A.; Olajossy, M.; Wojcierowski, J.; Landowski, J.; Marmurowska-Michałowska, H.; Kasper, S. Polymorphisms of the 5-HT2A Receptor Gene and Clinical Response to Olanzapine in Paranoid Schizophrenia. *Neuropsychobiology* 2011, 64 (4), 202–210. https://doi.org/10.1159/000327602.
- (190) Chen, S.-F.; Shen, Y.-C.; Chen, C.-H. HTR2A A-1438G/T102C Polymorphisms Predict Negative Symptoms Performance upon Aripiprazole Treatment in Schizophrenic Patients. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 2009, 205 (2), 285–292. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-009-1538-z.
- (191) Gunes, A.; Melkersson, K. I.; Scordo, M. G.; Dahl, M.-L. Association Between HTR2C and HTR2A Polymorphisms and Metabolic Abnormalities in Patients Treated With Olanzapine or Clozapine: *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology* 2009, *29* (1), 65–68. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.0b013e31819302c3.

- (192) Reynolds, G. P.; Kirk, S. L. Metabolic Side Effects of Antipsychotic Drug Treatment Pharmacological Mechanisms. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 2010, *125* (1), 169–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.10.010.
- (193) Templeman, L. A.; Reynolds, G. P.; Arranz, B.; San, L. Polymorphisms of the 5-HT2C Receptor and Leptin Genes Are Associated with Antipsychotic Drug-Induced Weight Gain in Caucasian Subjects with a First-Episode Psychosis: *Pharmacogenetics and Genomics* 2005, *15* (4), 195–200. https://doi.org/10.1097/01213011-200504000-00002.
- (194) Wallace, T. J.; Zai, C. C.; Brandl, E. J.; Müller, D. J. Role of 5-HT(2C) Receptor Gene Variants in Antipsychotic-Induced Weight Gain. *Pharmgenomics Pers Med* 2011, *4*, 83–93. https://doi.org/10.2147/PGPM.S11866.
- (195) Bazett, H. C. AN ANALYSIS OF THE TIME-RELATIONS OF ELECTROCARDIOGRAMS. Ann Noninv Electrocard 1997, 2 (2), 177–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-474X.1997.tb00325.x.
- (196) International Council on Harmonisation. The Clinical Evaluation of QT/QTc Interval Prolongation and Proarrhythmic Potential for Non-Antiarrhythmic Drugs. November 2005.
- (197) Ramsay, M. A. E.; Savege, T. M.; Simpson, B. R. J.; Goodwin, R. Controlled Sedation with Alphaxalone-Alphadolone. *BMJ* 1974, 2 (5920), 656–659. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.2.5920.656.
- (198) Lingjærde, O.; Ahlfors, U. G.; Bech, P.; Dencker, S. J.; Elgen, K. The UKU Side Effect Rating Scale: A New Comprehensive Rating Scale for Psychotropic Drugs and a Cross-Sectional Study of Side Effects in Neuroleptic-Treated Patients. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* **1987**, 76 (s334), 1–100. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1987.tb10566.x.
- (199) Aguirre, C.; García, M. Evaluación de la causalidad en las comunicaciones de reacciones adversas a medicamentos. Algoritmo del Sistema Español de Farmacovigilancia. *Medicina Clínica* 2016, *147* (10), 461–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medcli.2016.06.012.
- (200) Brown, E. G.; Wood, L.; Wood, S. The Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA). Drug Saf 1999, 20 (2), 109–117. https://doi.org/10.2165/00002018-199920020-00002.
- (201) NeurOptics, Inc. Neuroptics PLR-200<sup>TM</sup> Pupillometer Instruction Manual. 2010.

- (202) Kirchherr, H.; Kühn-Velten, W. N. Quantitative Determination of Forty-Eight Antidepressants and Antipsychotics in Human Serum by HPLC Tandem Mass Spectrometry: A Multi-Level, Single-Sample Approach. J. Chromatogr. B Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 2006, 843 (1), 100–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2006.05.031.
- (203) Saar, E.; Gerostamoulos, D.; Drummer, O. H.; Beyer, J. Identification and Quantification of 30 Antipsychotics in Blood Using LC-MS/MS. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* 2010, 45 (8), 915–925. https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.1783.
- (204) Kirschbaum, K. M. Therapeutic Monitoring of Aripiprazole by HPLC with Column-Switching and Spectrophotometric Detection. *Clinical Chemistry* 2005, *51* (9), 1718– 1721. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2005.049809.
- (205) Kirschbaum, K. M.; Müller, M. J.; Malevani, J.; Mobascher, A.; Burchardt, C.; Piel, M.; Hiemke, C. Serum Levels of Aripiprazole and Dehydroaripiprazole, Clinical Response and Side Effects. *World J. Biol. Psychiatry* 2008, 9 (3), 212–218.
- (206) Mallikaarjun, S.; Kane, J. M.; Bricmont, P.; McQuade, R.; Carson, W.; Sanchez, R.; Forbes, R. A.; Fleischhacker, W. W. Pharmacokinetics, Tolerability and Safety of Aripiprazole Once-Monthly in Adult Schizophrenia: An Open-Label, Parallel-Arm, Multiple-Dose Study. *Schizophrenia Research* 2013, *150* (1), 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2013.06.041.
- (207) Kratzsch, C.; Peters, F. T.; Kraemer, T.; Weber, A. A.; Maurer, H. H. Screening, Library-Assisted Identification and Validated Quantification of Fifteen Neuroleptics and Three of Their Metabolites in Plasma by Liquid Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry with Atmospheric Pressure Chemical Ionization. J Mass Spectrom 2003, 38 (3), 283–295. https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.440.
- (208) Fekete, S.; Wewetzer, C.; Mehler-Wex, C.; Holtkamp, K.; Burger, R.; Reichert, S.; Taurines, R.; Romanos, M.; Gerlach, M.; Egberts, K. Therapeutic Drug Monitoring in Children and Adolescents Under Pharmacotherapy With Olanzapine in Daily Clinical Practice. *Ther Drug Monit* 2017, *39* (3), 273–281. https://doi.org/10.1097/FTD.00000000000398.

- (209) Lu, M.-L.; Wu, Y.-X.; Chen, C.-H.; Kuo, P.-T.; Chen, Y.-H.; Lin, C.-H.; Wu, T.-H. Application of Plasma Levels of Olanzapine and N-Desmethyl-Olanzapine to Monitor Clinical Efficacy in Patients with Schizophrenia. *PLOS ONE* **2016**, *11* (2), e0148539. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0148539.
- (210) Perry, P. J.; Lund, B. C.; Sanger, T.; Beasley, C. Olanzapine Plasma Concentrations and Clinical Response: Acute Phase Results of the North American Olanzapine Trial. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 2001, *21* (1), 14–20.
- (211) Bergemann, N.; Frick, A.; Parzer, P.; Kopitz, J. Olanzapine Plasma Concentration, Average Daily Dose, and Interaction with Co-Medication in Schizophrenic Patients. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 2004, 37 (2), 63–68. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-815527.
- (212) Nazirizadeh, Y.; Vogel, F.; Bader, W.; Haen, E.; Pfuhlmann, B.; Gründer, G.; Paulzen, M.; Schwarz, M.; Zernig, G.; Hiemke, C. Serum Concentrations of Paliperidone versus Risperidone and Clinical Effects. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 2010, *66* (8), 797–803. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-010-0812-7.
- (213) Olesen, O. V.; Licht, R. W.; Thomsen, E.; Bruun, T.; Viftrup, J. E.; Linnet, K. Serum Concentrations and Side Effects in Psychiatric Patients during Risperidone Therapy. *Ther Drug Monit* 1998, 20 (4), 380–384.
- (214) Spina, E.; Avenoso, A.; Facciolà, G.; Salemi, M.; Scordo, M. G.; Ancione, M.; Madia, A. G.; Perucca, E. Relationship between Plasma Risperidone and 9-Hydroxyrisperidone Concentrations and Clinical Response in Patients with Schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology* 2001, *153* (2), 238–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002130000576.
- (215) Baumann, P.; Hiemke, C.; Ulrich, S.; Eckermann, G.; Gaertner, I.; Gerlach, M.; Kuss, H.-J.; Laux, G.; Müller-Oerlinghausen, B.; Rao, M. L.; Riederer, P.; Zernig, G.; Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur neuropsychopharmakologie und pharmakopsychiatrie. The AGNP-TDM Expert Group Consensus Guidelines: Therapeutic Drug Monitoring in Psychiatry. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 2004, 37 (6), 243–265. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-832687.
- (216) Small, J. G.; Hirsch, S. R.; Arvanitis, L. A.; Miller, B. G.; Link, C. G. Quetiapine in Patients with Schizophrenia. A High- and Low-Dose Double-Blind Comparison with Placebo. Seroquel Study Group. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* **1997**, *54* (6), 549–557.

- (217) Perry, P. J.; Miller, D. D.; Arndt, S. V.; Cadoret, R. J. Clozapine and Norclozapine Plasma Concentrations and Clinical Response of Treatment-Refractory Schizophrenic Patients. *Am J Psychiatry* **1991**, *148* (2), 231–235. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.148.2.231.
- (218) VanderZwaag, C.; McGee, M.; McEvoy, J. P.; Freudenreich, O.; Wilson, W. H.; Cooper, T. B. Response of Patients with Treatment-Refractory Schizophrenia to Clozapine within Three Serum Level Ranges. *Am J Psychiatry* 1996, *153* (12), 1579–1584. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.153.12.1579.
- (219) Little, J. L.; Wempe, M. F.; Buchanan, C. M. Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry/Mass Spectrometry Method Development for Drug Metabolism Studies: Examining Lipid Matrix Ionization Effects in Plasma. J. Chromatogr. B Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 2006, 833 (2), 219–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2006.02.011.
- (220) SANTE. SANTE/11813/2017. EUROPEAN COMMISSION Directorate General for Health and Food Safety. Implemented by 01/01/2018. November 2, 2017.
- (221) 2002/657/EC. COMMISSION DECISION Implementing Council Directive 96/23/EC Concerning the Performance of Analytical Methods and the Interpretation of Results. August 12, 2002.
- (222) FDA. Bioanalytical Method Validation. Guidance for Industry. May 2018.
- (223) EMA, Guideline on Bioanalytical Method Validation, EMEA/CHMP/EWP/192217/2009, Http://Www.Ema.Europa.Eu/Docs/En\_GB/Document\_library/Scientific\_guideline/2011/ 08/WC500109686.Pdf. 2011.
- (224) ICH. International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use. Harmonized Tripartite Guideline, Validation of Analytical Procedures: Text and Methology Q2 (R1). 2005.
- (225) Applied BioSystems. TaqMan<sup>®</sup> OpenArray<sup>™</sup> Genotyping System. User Guide. 2011.
- (226) Martins, F. T. A.; Ramos, P. Z.; Svidnicki, M. C. C. M.; Castilho, A. M.; Sartorato, E. L. Optimization of Simultaneous Screening of the Main Mutations Involved in Non-Syndromic Deafness Using the TaqMan® OpenArray<sup>TM</sup> Genotyping Platform. *BMC Med Genet* 2013, *14* (1), 112. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2350-14-112.
- (227) Saiz-Rodríguez, M.; Belmonte, C.; Román, M.; Ochoa, D.; Koller, D.; Talegón, M.;Ovejero-Benito, M. C.; López-Rodríguez, R.; Cabaleiro, T.; Abad-Santos, F. Effect of

Polymorphisms on the Pharmacokinetics, Pharmacodynamics and Safety of Sertraline inHealthyVolunteers.BasicClin.Pharmacol.Toxicol.2017.https://doi.org/10.1111/bcpt.12938.

- (228) Nerenz, R. D.; Tsongalis, G. J. Pharmacogenetics of Opioid Use and Implications for Pain Management. Jrnl App Lab Med 2018, 2 (4), 622–632. https://doi.org/10.1373/jalm.2017.023150.
- (229) Hardy, G. H. MENDELIAN PROPORTIONS IN A MIXED POPULATION. Science 1908, 28 (706), 49–50. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.28.706.49.
- (230) Weinberg, W. Über Den Nachweis Der Vererbung Beim Menschen. Jahresh. Ver. Vaterl. Naturkd. Württemb. 1908, No. 64, 369–382.
- (231) Zintzaras, E. Impact of Hardy–Weinberg Equilibrium Deviation on Allele-Based Risk Effect of Genetic Association Studies and Meta-Analysis. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2010, 25 (8), 553–560. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-010-9467-z.
- (232) Caudle, K. E.; Sangkuhl, K.; Whirl-Carrillo, M.; Swen, J. J.; Haidar, C. E.; Klein, T. E.; Gammal, R. S.; Relling, M. V.; Scott, S. A.; Hertz, D. L.; Guchelaar, H.; Gaedigk, A. Standardizing *CYP2D6* Genotype to Phenotype Translation: Consensus Recommendations from the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium and Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group. *Clin Transl Sci* 2019, cts.12692. https://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12692.
- (233) Caudle, K. E.; Dunnenberger, H. M.; Freimuth, R. R.; Peterson, J. F.; Burlison, J. D.; Whirl-Carrillo, M.; Scott, S. A.; Rehm, H. L.; Williams, M. S.; Klein, T. E.; Relling, M. V.; Hoffman, J. M. Standardizing Terms for Clinical Pharmacogenetic Test Results: Consensus Terms from the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC). *Genet. Med.* 2017, *19* (2), 215–223. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2016.87.
- (234) Sanchez Spitman, A. B.; Moes, D. J. A. R.; Gelderblom, H.; Dezentje, V. O.; Swen, J. J.; Guchelaar, H. J. Effect of CYP3A4\*22, CYP3A5\*3, and CYP3A Combined Genotypes on Tamoxifen Metabolism. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2017, 73 (12), 1589–1598. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-017-2323-2.
- (235) Saiz-Rodríguez, M.; Ochoa, D.; Belmonte, C.; Román, M.; Vieira de Lara, D.; Zubiaur,P.; Koller, D.; Mejía, G.; Abad-Santos, F. Polymorphisms in CYP1A2, CYP2C9 and

ABCB1 Affect Agomelatine Pharmacokinetics. *J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford)* **2019**, *33* (4), 522–531. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881119827959.

- (236) Vivona, D.; Lima, L. T.; Rodrigues, A. C.; Bueno, C. T.; Alcantara, G. K. S.; Barros, L. S. R.; De Moraes Hungria, V. T.; Chiattone, C. S.; De Lourdes Lopes Ferrari Chauffaille, M.; Guerra-Shinohara, E. M. ABCB1 Haplotypes Are Associated with P-Gp Activity and Affect a Major Molecular Response in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Patients Treated with a Standard Dose of Imatinib. *Oncology Letters* 2014, 7 (4), 1313–1319. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2014.1857.
- (237) Einarson, T. R.; Hemels, M. E.; Nuamah, I.; Gopal, S.; Coppola, D.; Hough, D. An Analysis of Potentially Prolactin-Related Adverse Events and Abnormal Prolactin Values in Randomized Clinical Trials with Paliperidone Palmitate. *Ann Pharmacother* 2012, *46* (10), 1322–1330. https://doi.org/10.1345/aph.1R123.
- (238) de Leon, J. Atypical Antipsychotic Dosing: The Effect of Smoking and Caffeine. *Psychiatr Serv* 2004, 55 (5), 491–493. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.55.5.491.
- (239) Drugbank. Https://Www.Drugbank.ca/Drugs.
- (240) Patteet, L.; Maudens, K. E.; Sabbe, B.; Morrens, M.; De Doncker, M.; Neels, H. High Throughput Identification and Quantification of 16 Antipsychotics and 8 Major Metabolites in Serum Using Ultra-High Performance Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 2014, 429, 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2013.11.024.
- (241) Vecchione, G.; Casetta, B.; Chiapparino, A.; Bertolino, A.; Tomaiuolo, M.; Cappucci, F.; Gatta, R.; Margaglione, M.; Grandone, E. A Reliable and Rapid Tool for Plasma Quantification of 18 Psychotropic Drugs by ESI Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* 2012, 67–68, 104–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2012.04.016.
- (242) Jessome, L. L.; Volmer, D. A. Ion Suppression : A Major Concern in Mass Spectrometry. LCGC North America 24, 498- 510 2006.
- (243) Ismaiel, O. A.; Zhang, T.; Jenkins, R. G.; Karnes, H. T. Investigation of Endogenous Blood Plasma Phospholipids, Cholesterol and Glycerides That Contribute to Matrix Effects in Bioanalysis by Liquid Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. B Analyt.

*Technol. Biomed. Life Sci.* **2010**, 878 (31), 3303–3316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2010.10.012.

- (244) Kirchherr, H.; Kuhnvelten, W. Quantitative Determination of Forty-Eight Antidepressants and Antipsychotics in Human Serum by HPLC Tandem Mass Spectrometry: A Multi-Level, Single-Sample Approach. *Journal of Chromatography B* 2006, *843* (1), 100–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2006.05.031.
- (245) Wojnicz, A.; Belmonte, C.; Koller, D.; Ruiz-Nuño, A.; Román, M.; Ochoa, D.; Abad Santos, F. Effective Phospholipids Removing Microelution-Solid Phase Extraction LC-MS/MS Method for Simultaneous Plasma Quantification of Aripiprazole and Dehydro-Aripiprazole: Application to Human Pharmacokinetic Studies. *J Pharm Biomed Anal* 2017, 151, 116–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2017.12.049.
- (246) Choong, E.; Rudaz, S.; Kottelat, A.; Guillarme, D.; Veuthey, J.-L.; Eap, C. B. Therapeutic Drug Monitoring of Seven Psychotropic Drugs and Four Metabolites in Human Plasma by HPLC-MS. *J Pharm Biomed Anal* 2009, 50 (5), 1000–1008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2009.07.007.
- (247) Patel, D. P.; Sharma, P.; Sanyal, M.; Shrivastav, P. S. SPE–UPLC–MS/MS Method for Sensitive and Rapid Determination of Aripiprazole in Human Plasma to Support a Bioequivalence Study. *Journal of Chromatography B* 2013, 925, 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2013.02.022.
- (248) Ansermot, N.; Brawand-Amey, M.; Kottelat, A.; Eap, C. B. Fast Quantification of Ten Psychotropic Drugs and Metabolites in Human Plasma by Ultra-High Performance Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry for Therapeutic Drug Monitoring. J Chromatogr A 2013, 1292, 160–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2012.12.071.
- (249) Wang, J.; Huang, H.; Yao, Q.; Lu, Y.; Zheng, Q.; Cheng, Y.; Xu, X.; Zhou, Q.; Wu, D.; Zhang, M.; Li, X.; Zhang, J. Simple and Accurate Quantitative Analysis of 16 Antipsychotics and Antidepressants in Human Plasma by Ultrafast High-Performance Liquid Chromatography/Tandem Mass Spectrometry: *Therapeutic Drug Monitoring* 2015, 37 (5), 649–660.
- (250) Guo, X.; Lankmayr, E. Phospholipid-Based Matrix Effects in LC-MS Bioanalysis. Bioanalysis 2011, 3 (4), 349–352. https://doi.org/10.4155/bio.10.213.

- Wijma, R. A.; van der Nagel, B. C. H.; Dierckx, B.; Dieleman, G. C.; Touw, D. J.; van Gelder, T.; Koch, B. C. P. Identification and Quantification of the Antipsychotics Risperidone, Aripiprazole, Pipamperone and Their Major Metabolites in Plasma Using Ultra-High Performance Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry: LC-MS/MS Analysis of Risperidone, Aripiprazole and Pipamperone. *Biomedical Chromatography* 2016, *30* (6), 794–801. https://doi.org/10.1002/bmc.3610.
- (252) Teekachunhatean, S.; Tosri, N.; Rojanasthien, N.; Srichairatanakool, S.; Sangdee, C. Pharmacokinetics of Caffeine Following a Single Administration of Coffee Enema versus Oral Coffee Consumption in Healthy Male Subjects. *ISRN Pharmacology* 2013, 2013, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/147238.
- (253) Berna, M.; Shugert, R.; Mullen, J. Determination of Olanzapine in Human Plasma and Serum by Liquid Chromatography/Tandem Mass Spectrometry. J Mass Spectrom 1998, 33 (10), 1003–1008. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9888(1998100)33:10<1003::AID-JMS716>3.0.CO;2-P.
- (254) Fisher, D. S.; Partridge, S. J.; Handley, S. A.; Couchman, L.; Morgan, P. E.; Flanagan, R. J. LC–MS/MS of Some Atypical Antipsychotics in Human Plasma, Serum, Oral Fluid and Haemolysed Whole Blood. *Forensic Science International* 2013, *229* (1–3), 145–150.
- (255) Fisher, D. S.; Partridge, S. J.; Handley, S. A.; Couchman, L.; Morgan, P. E.; Flanagan, R. J. LC–MS/MS of Some Atypical Antipsychotics in Human Plasma, Serum, Oral Fluid and Haemolysed Whole Blood. *Forensic Science International* 2013, *229* (1–3), 145–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2013.02.010.
- (256) Hasselstrøm, J. Quantification of Antidepressants and Antipsychotics in Human Serum by Precipitation and Ultra High Pressure Liquid Chromatography–Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography B* 2011, 879 (1), 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2010.11.024.
- (257) Belmonte, C.; Ochoa, D.; Román, M.; Cabaleiro, T.; Talegón, M.; Sánchez-Rojas, S. D.;
  Abad-Santos, F. Evaluation of the Relationship Between Pharmacokinetics and the Safety of Aripiprazole and Its Cardiovascular Effects in Healthy Volunteers. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 2016, 36 (6), 608–614. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.00000000000577.

- Bigos, K. L.; Pollock, B. G.; Coley, K. C.; Miller, D. D.; Marder, S. R.; Aravagiri, M.; Kirshner, M. A.; Schneider, L. S.; Bies, R. R. Sex, Race, and Smoking Impact Olanzapine Exposure. J Clin Pharmacol 2008, 48 (2), 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270007310385.
- (259) Schwartz, J. B. The Influence of Sex on Pharmacokinetics. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2003, *42*(2), 107–121. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-200342020-00001.
- (260) Hendset, M.; Hermann, M.; Lunde, H.; Refsum, H.; Molden, E. Impact of the CYP2D6 Genotype on Steady-State Serum Concentrations of Aripiprazole and Dehydroaripiprazole. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 2007, 63 (12), 1147–1151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-007-0373-6.
- (261) Urichuk, L.; Prior, T. I.; Dursun, S.; Baker, G. Metabolism of Atypical Antipsychotics: Involvement of Cytochrome P450 Enzymes and Relevance for Drug-Drug Interactions. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 2008, 9 (5), 410–418.
- (262) Cotreau, M. M.; von Moltke, L. L.; Greenblatt, D. J. The Influence of Age and Sex on the Clearance of Cytochrome P450 3A Substrates: *Clinical Pharmacokinetics* 2005, 44 (1), 33–60. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-200544010-00002.
- Moons, T.; de Roo, M.; Claes, S.; Dom, G. Relationship between P-Glycoprotein and Second-Generation Antipsychotics. *Pharmacogenomics* 2011, *12* (8), 1193–1211. https://doi.org/10.2217/pgs.11.55.
- (264) Cabaleiro, T.; López-Rodríguez, R.; Ochoa, D.; Román, M.; Novalbos, J.; Abad-Santos,
   F. Polymorphisms Influencing Olanzapine Metabolism and Adverse Effects in Healthy
   Subjects: OLANZAPINE PHARMACOGENETICS. *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental* 2013, 28 (3), 205–214. https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.2308.
- (265) Linnet, K. Glucuronidation of Olanzapine by CDNA-Expressed Human UDP-Glucuronosyltransferases and Human Liver Microsomes. *Hum. Psychopharmacol. Clin. Exp.* 2002, 17 (5), 233–238. https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.403.
- (266) Ghotbi, R.; Mannheimer, B.; Aklillu, E.; Suda, A.; Bertilsson, L.; Eliasson, E.; Ösby, U. Carriers of the UGT1A4 142T>G Gene Variant Are Predisposed to Reduced Olanzapine Exposure—an Impact Similar to Male Gender or Smoking in Schizophrenic Patients. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2010, *66* (5), 465–474. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-009-0783-8.

- (267) Horacek, J.; Bubenikova-Valesova, V.; Kopecek, M.; Palenicek, T.; Dockery, C.; Mohr, P.; H??schl, C. Mechanism of Action of Atypical Antipsychotic Drugs and the Neurobiology of Schizophrenia: CNS Drugs 2006, 20 (5), 389–409. https://doi.org/10.2165/00023210-200620050-00004.
- (268) Turner, P. The Human Pupil as a Model for Clinical Pharmacological Investigations. J R Coll Physicians Lond 1975, 9 (2), 165–171.
- (269) Spiers, A. S.; Calne, D. B. Action of Dopamine on the Human Iris. Br Med J 1969, 4 (5679), 333–335.
- (270) Yu, Y.; Ramage, A. G.; Koss, M. C. Pharmacological Studies of 8-OH-DPAT-Induced Pupillary Dilation in Anesthetized Rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 2004, 489 (3), 207–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2004.03.007.
- (271) Fliegert, F.; Kurth, B.; Göhler, K. The Effects of Tramadol on Static and Dynamic Pupillometry in Healthy Subjects--the Relationship between Pharmacodynamics, Pharmacokinetics and CYP2D6 Metaboliser Status. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 2005, *61* (4), 257–266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-005-0920-y.
- (272) Theofilopoulos, N.; McDade, G.; Szabadi, E.; Bradshaw, C. Effects of Reboxetine and Desipramine on the Kinetics of the Pupillary Light Reflex. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 1995, 39 (3), 251–255. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.1995.tb04444.x.
- (273) Kleinloog, D.; Liem-Moolenaar, M.; Jacobs, G.; Klaassen, E.; de Kam, M.; Hijman, R.; van Gerven, J. Does Olanzapine Inhibit the Psychomimetic Effects of Δ<sup>9</sup>-Tetrahydrocannabinol? J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford) 2012, 26 (10), 1307–1316. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881112446534.
- (274) Cumurcu, T.; Keser, S.; Cumurcu, B. E.; Gunduz, A.; Kartalci, S. Refraction and Eye Anterior Segment Parameters in Schizophrenic Patients. *Arq Bras Oftalmol* 2015, 78 (3), 180–184. https://doi.org/10.5935/0004-2749.20150046.
- (275) Samer, C. F.; Daali, Y.; Wagner, M.; Hopfgartner, G.; Eap, C. B.; Rebsamen, M. C.; Rossier, M. F.; Hochstrasser, D.; Dayer, P.; Desmeules, J. A. Genetic Polymorphisms and Drug Interactions Modulating CYP2D6 and CYP3A Activities Have a Major Effect on

Oxycodone Analgesic Efficacy and Safety. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2010**, *160* (4), 919–930. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00709.x.

- (276) Bushe, C.; Shaw, M.; Peveler, R. C. A Review of the Association between Antipsychotic Use and Hyperprolactinaemia. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford) 2008, 22 (2 Suppl), 46–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881107088435.
- (277) Montejo, Á. L.; Arango, C.; Bernardo, M.; Carrasco, J. L.; Crespo-Facorro, B.; Cruz, J. J.; Del Pino-Montes, J.; García-Escudero, M. A.; García-Rizo, C.; González-Pinto, A.; Hernández, A. I.; Martín-Carrasco, M.; Mayoral-Cleries, F.; Mayoral-van Son, J.; Mories, M. T.; Pachiarotti, I.; Pérez, J.; Ros, S.; Vieta, E. Multidisciplinary Consensus on the Therapeutic Recommendations for Iatrogenic Hyperprolactinemia Secondary to Antipsychotics. *Front Neuroendocrinol* 2017, 45, 25–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2017.02.003.
- (278) Cabaleiro, T.; López-Rodríguez, R.; Ochoa, D.; Román, M.; Novalbos, J.; Abad-Santos,
  F. Polymorphisms Influencing Olanzapine Metabolism and Adverse Effects in Healthy
  Subjects. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 2013, 28 (3), 205–214.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.2308.
- (279) López-Rodríguez, R.; Román, M.; Novalbos, J.; Pelegrina, M. L.; Ochoa, D.; Abad-Santos,
  F. DRD2 Taq1A Polymorphism Modulates Prolactin Secretion Induced by Atypical Antipsychotics in Healthy Volunteers. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 2011, *31* (5), 555–562. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.0b013e31822cfff2.
- (280) Torre, D. L.; Falorni, A. Pharmacological Causes of Hyperprolactinemia. *Ther Clin Risk Manag* 2007, 3 (5), 929–951.
- (281) Koller, D.; Belmonte, C.; Saiz-Rodríguez, M.; Zubiaur, P.; Román, M.; Ochoa, D.; Abad-Santos, F. Effects of Aripiprazole on Circadian Prolactin Secretion Related to Pharmacogenetics in Healthy Volunteers. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 2019. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcpt.13323.
- Miyamoto, B. E.; Galecki, M.; Francois, D. Guidelines for Antipsychotic-Induced Hyperprolactinemia. *Psychiatric Annals* 2015, 45 (5), 266–272. https://doi.org/10.3928/00485713-20150501-09.
# References

- (283) Nagai, G.; Mihara, K.; Nakamura, A.; Suzuki, T.; Nemoto, K.; Kagawa, S.; Ohta, I.; Arakaki, H.; Kondo, T. Prolactin Concentrations during Aripiprazole Treatment in Relation to Sex, Plasma Drugs Concentrations and Genetic Polymorphisms of *Dopamine D2 Receptor* and *Cytochrome P450 2D6* in Japanese Patients with Schizophrenia: Prolactin Response to Aripiprazole. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences* **2012**, *66* (6), 518–524. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1819.2012.02391.x.
- (284) Yamaji, T.; Shimamoto, K.; Ishibashi, M.; Kosaka, K.; Orimo, H. EFFECT OF AGE AND SEX ON CIRCULATING AND PITUITARY PROLACTIN LEVELS IN HUMAN. *Acta Endocrinologica* 1976, 83 (4), 711–719. https://doi.org/10.1530/acta.0.0830711.
- (285) Yoshida, K.; Müller, D. J. Pharmacogenetics of Antipsychotic Drug Treatment: Update and Clinical Implications. *Mol Neuropsychiatry* 2018, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1159/000492332.
- (286) Hattori, S.; Suda, A.; Kishida, I.; Miyauchi, M.; Shiraishi, Y.; Fujibayashi, M.; Tsujita, N.; Ishii, C.; Ishii, N.; Moritani, T.; Taguri, M.; Hirayasu, Y. Effects of ABCB1 Gene Polymorphisms on Autonomic Nervous System Activity during Atypical Antipsychotic Treatment in Schizophrenia. *BMC Psychiatry* 2018, *18* (1), 231. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1817-5.
- (287) Conley, R. R.; Kelly, D. L. Second-Generation Antipsychotics for Schizophrenia: A Review of Clinical Pharmacology and Medication-Associated Side Effects. *Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci* 2005, 42 (1), 51–60.
- (288) Wu, R.-R.; Zhao, J.-P.; Liu, Z.-N.; Zhai, J.-G.; Guo, X.-F.; Guo, W.-B.; Tang, J.-S. Effects of Typical and Atypical Antipsychotics on Glucose-Insulin Homeostasis and Lipid Metabolism in First-Episode Schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 2006, *186* (4), 572–578. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-006-0384-5.
- (289) Polonsky, K. S.; Rubenstein, A. H. C-Peptide as a Measure of the Secretion and Hepatic Extraction of Insulin: Pitfalls and Limitations. *Diabetes* 1984, 33 (5), 486–494. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.33.5.486.
- (290) Najjar, S. M.; Perdomo, G. Hepatic Insulin Clearance: Mechanism and Physiology. *Physiology* (*Bethesda*) 2019, 34 (3), 198–215. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00048.2018.

- (291) Teff, K. L.; Rickels, M. R.; Grudziak, J.; Fuller, C.; Nguyen, H.-L.; Rickels, K. Antipsychotic-Induced Insulin Resistance and Postprandial Hormonal Dysregulation Independent of Weight Gain or Psychiatric Disease. *Diabetes* 2013, 62 (9), 3232–3240. https://doi.org/10.2337/db13-0430.
- (292) Khan, H. A.; Sobki, S. H.; Ekhzaimy, A.; Khan, I.; Almusawi, M. A. Biomarker Potential of C-Peptide for Screening of Insulin Resistance in Diabetic and Non-Diabetic Individuals. *Saudi J Biol Sci* 2018, 25 (8), 1729–1732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2018.05.027.
- Marco, G. S. D.; Colucci, J. A.; Fernandes, F. B.; Vio, C. P.; Schor, N.; Casarini, D. E. Diabetes Induces Changes of Catecholamines in Primary Mesangial Cells. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 2008, 40 (4), 747–754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2007.10.016.
- (294) Bozek, T.; Blazekovic, A.; Perkovic, M. N.; Jercic, K. G.; Sustar, A.; Smircic-Duvnjak, L.; Outeiro, T. F.; Pivac, N.; Borovecki, F. The Influence of Dopamine-Beta-Hydroxylase and Catechol O-Methyltransferase Gene Polymorphism on the Efficacy of Insulin Detemir Therapy in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetol Metab Syndr* 2017, 9, 97. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13098-017-0295-0.
- (295) Bettinger, T. L.; Mendelson, S. C.; Dorson, P. G.; Crismon, M. L. Olanzapine-Induced Glucose Dysregulation. *Ann Pharmacother* 2000, 34 (7–8), 865–867. https://doi.org/10.1345/aph.19327.
- (296) Haupt, D. W.; Fahnestock, P. A.; Flavin, K. A.; Schweiger, J. A.; Stevens, A.; Hessler, M. J.; Maeda, J.; Yingling, M.; Newcomer, J. W. Adiposity and Insulin Sensitivity Derived from Intravenous Glucose Tolerance Tests in Antipsychotic-Treated Patients. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2007, 32 (12), 2561–2569. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301392.
- (297) Albaugh, V. L.; Singareddy, R.; Mauger, D.; Lynch, C. J. A Double Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Randomized Crossover Study of the Acute Metabolic Effects of Olanzapine in Healthy Volunteers. *PLoS ONE* 2011, 6 (8), e22662. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022662.
- (298) Koller, D.; Saiz-Rodríguez, M.; Zubiaur, P.; Ochoa, D.; Almenara, S.; Román, M.;
  Romero-Palacián, D.; de Miguel-Cáceres, A.; Martín, S.; Navares, M.; Mejía, G.; Wojnicz,
  A.; Abad-Santos, F. The Effects of Aripiprazole and Olanzapine on Pupillary Light Reflex

and Its Relationship with Pharmacogenetics in a Randomised Multiple-Dose Trial. *Unpublished manuscript* **2020**.

- (299) Bonaccorso, S.; Sodhi, M.; Li, J.; Bobo, W. V.; Chen, Y.; Tumuklu, M.; Theleritis, C.; Jayathilake, K.; Meltzer, H. Y. The Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) Val66Met Polymorphism Is Associated with Increased Body Mass Index and Insulin Resistance Measures in Bipolar Disorder and Schizophrenia. *Bipolar Disord* 2015, *17* (5), 528–535. https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12294.
- (300) Reynolds, G. P.; Hill, M. J.; Kirk, S. L. The 5-HT2C Receptor and Antipsychotic induced Weight Gain Mechanisms and Genetics. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford) 2006, 20 (4 Suppl), 15–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359786806066040.
- (301) Dayabandara, M.; Hanwella, R.; Ratnatunga, S.; Seneviratne, S.; Suraweera, C.; de Silva,
  V. A. Antipsychotic-Associated Weight Gain: Management Strategies and Impact on Treatment Adherence. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* 2017, *13*, 2231–2241. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S113099.
- (302) Ma, X.; Maimaitirexiati, T.; Zhang, R.; Gui, X.; Zhang, W.; Xu, G.; Hu, G. HTR2C Polymorphisms, Olanzapine-Induced Weight Gain and Antipsychotic-Induced Metabolic Syndrome in Schizophrenia Patients: A Meta-Analysis. *Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract* 2014, 18 (4), 229–242. https://doi.org/10.3109/13651501.2014.957705.
- (303) Olfson, M.; Marcus, S. C.; Corey-Lisle, P.; Tuomari, A. V.; Hines, P.; L'Italien, G. J. Hyperlipidemia Following Treatment with Antipsychotic Medications. *Am J Psychiatry* 2006, *163* (10), 1821–1825. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2006.163.10.1821.
- (304) Purkins, L.; Love, E. R.; Eve, M. D.; Wooldridge, C. L.; Cowan, C.; Smart, T. S.; Johnson, P. J.; Rapeport, W. G. The Influence of Diet upon Liver Function Tests and Serum Lipids in Healthy Male Volunteers Resident in a Phase I Unit: Effect of Diet upon Liver Function Tests and Serum Lipids. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2003, *57* (2), 199–208. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2125.2003.01969.x.
- (305) Smith, R. C.; Segman, R. H.; Golcer-Dubner, T.; Pavlov, V.; Lerer, B. Allelic Variation in ApoC3, ApoA5 and LPL Genes and First and Second Generation Antipsychotic Effects on Serum Lipids in Patients with Schizophrenia. *Pharmacogenomics J* 2008, 8 (3), 228– 236. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.tpj.6500474.

- (306) Kohan, A. B. Apolipoprotein C-III: A Potent Modulator of Hypertriglyceridemia and Cardiovascular Disease. *Current Opinion in Endocrinology & Diabetes and Obesity* 2015, 22 (2), 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1097/MED.00000000000136.
- (307) Choi, J.-H.; Zhang, S.-Y.; Park, K.-W.; Cho, Y.-S.; Oh, B.-H.; Lee, M.-M.; Park, Y.-B.; Kim, H.-S. The Association between the T102C Polymorphism of the HTR2A Serotonin Receptor Gene and HDL Cholesterol Level in Koreans. *BMB Reports* 2005, *38* (2), 238–242. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBRep.2005.38.2.238.
- (308) Marwick, K. F. M.; Taylor, M.; Walker, S. W. Antipsychotics and Abnormal Liver Function Tests: Systematic Review. *Clinical Neuropharmacology* 2012, 35 (5), 244–253. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNF.0b013e31826818b6.
- (309) Gilca, M.; Piriu, G.; Gaman, L.; Delia, C.; Iosif, L.; Atanasiu, V.; Stoian, I. A Study of Antioxidant Activity in Patients with Schizophrenia Taking Atypical Antipsychotics. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 2014, 231 (24), 4703–4710. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-014-3624-0.
- (310) Buchman, N.; Strous, R. D.; Ulman, A.-M.; Lerner, M.; Kotler, M. Olanzapine-Induced Leukopenia with Human Leukocyte Antigen Profiling: *International Clinical Psychopharmacology* 2001, *16* (1), 55–57. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004850-200101000-00007.
- (311) Malik, Y. K.; Sahoo, S.; Avasthi, A. Olanzapine-Induced Leucopaenia and Thrombocytopaenia in an Elderly Patient: A Case Report and Review of the Evidence. *Gen Psych* 2018, 31 (2), e000013. https://doi.org/10.1136/gpsych-2018-000013.
- (312) Hägg, S.; Tätting, P.; Spigset, O. Olanzapine and Venous Thromboembolism: *International Clinical Psychopharmacology* 2003, 18 (5), 299–300. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.yic.0000085241.99018.30.
- (313) Mendhekar, D.; Duggal, H.; Andrade, C. Leukopenia and Thrombocytopenia on Adding Aripiprazole to Phenytoin. *The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry* 2009, *10* (4–3), 1043–1044. https://doi.org/10.1080/15622970802032292.
- (314) Lambert, C. G.; Mazurie, A. J.; Lauve, N. R.; Hurwitz, N. G.; Young, S. S.; Obenchain, R. L.; Hengartner, N. W.; Perkins, D. J.; Tohen, M.; Kerner, B. Hypothyroidism Risk

Compared among Nine Common Bipolar Disorder Therapies in a Large US Cohort. *Bipolar Disord* **2016**, *18* (3), 247–260. https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12391.

- (315) Iversen, T.; Steen, N. E.; Birkeland, K. I.; Mørch, R. H.; Reponen, E. J.; Anderssen, J. F.; Rødevand, L.; Melle, I.; Andreassen, O. A.; Molden, E.; Jönsson, E. T229. ANTIPSYCHOTIC DRUG USE AND THYROID FUNCTION IN PATIENTS WITH SEVERE MENTAL DISORDERS. *Schizophrenia Bulletin* 2018, 44 (suppl\_1), S205– S206. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sby016.505.
- (316) Lozano, R. Influence of Drug Treatment with Antidepressants and Antipsychotics on Plasma Urea Levels. NDT 2012, 245. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S32635.
- (317) Wang, H.-Y.; Huang, C. L.-C.; Feng, I. J.; Tsuang, H.-C. Second-Generation Antipsychotic Medications and Risk of Chronic Kidney Disease in Schizophrenia: Population-Based Nested Case-Control Study. *BMJ Open* 2018, 8 (5), e019868. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019868.
- (318) Yao, J. K.; Reddy, R.; van Kammen, D. P. Reduced Level of Plasma Antioxidant Uric Acid in Schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Research* 1998, 80 (1), 29–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-1781(98)00051-1.
- (319) Torgovnick, J.; Sethi, N. K.; Arsura, E. Aripiprazole-Induced Orthostatic Hypotension and Cardiac Arrhythmia. *Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 2008, 62 (4), 485. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1819.2008.01833.x.
- (320) Khasawneh, F. T.; Shankar, G. S. Minimizing Cardiovascular Adverse Effects of Atypical Antipsychotic Drugs in Patients with Schizophrenia. *Cardiology Research and Practice* 2014, 2014, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/273060.
- (321) Lee, T.-W.; Tsai, S.-J.; Hwang, J.-P. Severe Cardiovascular Side Effects of Olanzapine in an Elderly Patient: Case Report. *Int J Psychiatry Med* 2003, 33 (4), 399–401. https://doi.org/10.2190/U99G-XDML-0GRG-BYE0.
- (322) Markowitz, J. S.; DeVane, C. L.; Boulton, D. W.; Liston, H. L.; Risch, S. C. Hypotension and Bradycardia in a Healthy Volunteer Following a Single 5 Mg Dose of Olanzapine. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2002, 42 (1), 104–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270002042001013.

- (323) Lin, Y.-S.; Ho, P.-S.; Liang, C.-S. Severe Orthostatic Hypotension after Adding Low-Dose Aripiprazole to Clozapine. Arch. Clin. Psychiatry (São Paulo) 2017, 44 (3), 84–84. https://doi.org/10.1590/0101-60830000000125.
- (324) Beasley, C. M.; Tollefson, G.; Tran, P.; Satterlee, W.; Sanger, T.; Hamilton, S. Olanzapine versus Placebo and Haloperidol. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **1996**, *14* (2), 111–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/0893-133X(95)00069-P.
- (325) Bever, K. A.; Perry, P. J. Olanzapine: A Serotonin-Dopamine-Receptor Antagonist for Antipsychotic Therapy. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy* 1998, 55 (10), 1003–1016. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajhp/55.10.1003.
- (326) Shah, R. R. Drug-Induced QT Interval Shortening: Potential Harbinger of Proarrhythmia and Regulatory Perspectives: Drugs, QT Shortening and Regulatory Perspectives. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2010, 159 (1), 58–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00191.x.
- (327) Kurnik, D.; Muszkat, M.; Li, C.; Sofowora, G. G.; Friedman, E. A.; Scheinin, M.; Wood, A. J. J.; Stein, C. M. Genetic Variations in the α(2A)-Adrenoreceptor Are Associated with Blood Pressure Response to the Agonist Dexmedetomidine. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* 2011, 4 (2), 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.110.957662.
- (328) Bangash, M. N.; Kong, M.-L.; Pearse, R. M. Use of Inotropes and Vasopressor Agents in Critically Ill Patients: Inotropes and Vasopressors in the Critically Ill. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2012, 165 (7), 2015–2033. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01588.x.
- (329) Ge, L.; Wu, H.-Y.; Pan, S.-L.; Huang, L.; Sun, P.; Liang, Q.-H.; Pang, G.-F.; Lv, Z.-P.; Hu, C.-Y.; Liu, C.-W.; Zhou, X.-L.; Huang, L.-J.; Yin, R.-X.; Peng, J.-H. COMT Val158Met Polymorphism Is Associated with Blood Pressure and Lipid Levels in General Families of Bama Longevous Area in China. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* 2015, 8 (11), 15055–15064.
- (330) Htun, N. C.; Miyaki, K.; Song, Y.; Ikeda, S.; Shimbo, T.; Muramatsu, M. Association of the Catechol-O-Methyl Transferase Gene Val158Met Polymorphism With Blood Pressure and Prevalence of Hypertension: Interaction With Dietary Energy Intake. *American Journal of Hypertension* 2011, 24 (9), 1022–1026. https://doi.org/10.1038/ajh.2011.93.

- (331) Hagen, K.; Pettersen, E.; Stovner, L. J.; Skorpen, F.; Holmen, J.; Zwart, J.-A. High Systolic Blood Pressure Is Associated with Val/Val Genotype in the Catechol-o-Methyltransferase Gene. The Nord-Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT). Am. J. Hypertens. 2007, 20 (1), 21–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjhyper.2006.05.023.
- (332) Tunbridge, E. M. The Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Gene: Its Regulation and Polymorphisms. Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 2010, 95, 7–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-381326-8.00002-8.
- (333) Li, G.; Cheng, G.; Wu, J.; Zhou, X.; Liu, P.; Sun, C. Drug-Induced Long QT Syndrome in Women. *Adv Ther* 2013, *30* (9), 793–802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12325-013-0056-x.
- (334) Lutfi, M. F.; Sukkar, M. Y. The Effect of Gender on Heart Rate Variability in Asthmatic and Normal Healthy Adults. *Int J Health Sci (Qassim)* **2011**, *5* (2), 146–154.
- (335) Montero, I.; Talavera, M.; Ruiz, I. Clinical Trials with a New Atypical Antipsychotic (Aripiprazole): Gender Specific Information Analysis. *Women Health* 2008, 47 (4), 39–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/03630240802100051.
- (336) Seeman, M. V. Secondary Effects of Antipsychotics: Women at Greater Risk Than Men. Schizophrenia Bulletin 2009, 35 (5), 937–948. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbn023.
- (337) Chaves, K. M.; Serrano-Blanco, A.; Ribeiro, S. B.; Soares, L. A. L.; Guerra, G. C. B.; do Socorro Costa Feitosa Alves, M.; de Araújo Júnior, R. F.; de Paula Soares Rachetti, V.; Filgueira Júnior, A.; de Araújo, A. A. Quality of Life and Adverse Effects of Olanzapine Versus Risperidone Therapy in Patients with Schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Q* 2013, *84* (1), 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-012-9233-3.
- (338) Wolbrette, D.; Naccarelli, G.; Curtis, A.; Lehmann, M.; Kadish, A. Gender Differences in Arrhythmias. *Clin Cardiol* 2002, 25 (2), 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1002/clc.4950250203.
- (339) Glassman, A. H.; Bigger, J. T. Antipsychotic Drugs: Prolonged QTc Interval, Torsade de Pointes, and Sudden Death. *AJP* 2001, *158* (11), 1774–1782. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.158.11.1774.
- (340) Trindade, E.; Menon, D.; Topfer, L. A.; Coloma, C. Adverse Effects Associated with Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors and Tricyclic Antidepressants: A Meta-Analysis. *CMAJ* 1998, 159 (10), 1245–1252.

- (341) Thomas, J. E.; Caballero, J.; Harrington, C. A. The Incidence of Akathisia in the Treatment of Schizophrenia with Aripiprazole, Asenapine and Lurasidone: A Meta-Analysis. *Curr Neuropharmacol* 2015, *13* (5), 681–691. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159x13666150115220221.
- (342) Iqbal, N.; Lambert, T.; Masand, P. Akathisia: Problem of History or Concern of Today. *CNS Spectr.* 2007, *12* (S14), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852900026201.
- (343) Fang, F.; Sun, H.; Wang, Z.; Ren, M.; Calabrese, J. R.; Gao, K. Antipsychotic Drug-Induced Somnolence: Incidence, Mechanisms, and Management. *CNS Drugs* 2016, *30* (9), 845–867. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-016-0352-5.
- (344) LaPorta, L. D. Relief From Migraine Headache With Aripiprazole Treatment. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 2007, 47 (6), 922–926. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4610.2007.00777.x.
- (345) Saiz-Rodríguez, M.; Ochoa, D.; Herrador, C.; Belmonte, C.; Román, M.; Alday, E.; Koller, D.; Zubiaur, P.; Mejía, G.; Hernández-Martínez, M.; Abad-Santos, F. Polymorphisms Associated with Fentanyl Pharmacokinetics, Pharmacodynamics and Adverse Effects. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 2019, *124* (3), 321–329. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcpt.13141.
- (346) Matic, M.; de Wildt, S. N.; Tibboel, D.; van Schaik, R. H. N. Analgesia and Opioids: A Pharmacogenetics Shortlist for Implementation in Clinical Practice. *Clinical Chemistry* 2017, 63 (7), 1204–1213. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2016.264986.
- (347) Hirasawa-Fujita, M.; Bly, M. J.; Ellingrod, V. L.; Dalack, G. W.; Domino, E. F. Genetic Variation of the Mu Opioid Receptor (OPRM1) and Dopamine D2 Receptor (DRD2) Is Related to Smoking Differences in Patients with Schizophrenia but Not Bipolar Disorder. *Clinical Schizophrenia & Related Psychoses* 2017, *11* (1), 39–48. https://doi.org/10.3371/1935-1232-11.1.39.
- (348) Murray, N. M.; Buchanan, G. F.; Richerson, G. B. Insomnia Caused by Serotonin Depletion Is Due to Hypothermia. *Sleep* 2015, 38 (12), 1985–1993. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.5256.

# References

- (349) Zhang, J.; Qiao, Y.; Le, J.; Sun, D.; Guan, Y.; Li, Z. Olanzapine May Inhibit Colonic Motility Associated with the 5-HT Receptor and Myosin Light Chain Kinase. *Psychiatry Investig* 2016, *13* (2), 232–238. https://doi.org/10.4306/pi.2016.13.2.232.
- (350) Aosaki, T.; Miura, M.; Suzuki, T.; Nishimura, K.; Masuda, M. Acetylcholine-Dopamine Balance Hypothesis in the Striatum: An Update. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* 2010, 10 Suppl 1, S148-157. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0594.2010.00588.x.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Acknowledgments

# Hospital Universitario de La Princesa

En primer lugar, quiero agradecer al director de mi tesis, Dr. Francisco Abad Santos, por darme la oportunidad de hacer mi doctorado aquí en España. Mi sueño era tener la beca Marie Curie, pero nunca pensaba que se haría realidad. Gracias a Francisco por cumplir mi sueño y acogerme desde fuera, sin conocerme. Muchas gracias por lo mucho que me has enseñado, muchas gracias por confiar en mí y en mi trabajo y por darme la oportunidad de aprender tanto sobre los ensayos clínicos, la espectrometría de masas y la farmacogenética. Gracias por escucharme siempre y por tener paciencia conmigo y con mis planes.

Mil gracias al grupo de Farmacogenética. Gracias Miriam por esperarme con los brazos abiertos inmediatamente cuando llegué, gracias por todo el esfuerzo y la ayuda y por enseñarme cómo empezar mi viaje en el Servicio. Por último, gracias por ser mi amiga. Gracias Pablo por participar en todos mis proyectos. Siempre puedo contar contigo y siempre estás de mi lado cuando te necesito. Muchas gracias por las risas y por ser idiota. Gracias a Marcos por todo, por la infinita ayuda tanto en el profesional como en el personal. Gracias por ser mi disenador y por ser tan organizado y toc friendly. Gracias a Susi por hacerse cargo de la monitorización del ensayo. No tendría la tesis hecha sin tu ayuda. Gracias por ser mi amiga, y aunque nacimos en otros paises, nos entendemos super bien y somos iguales en muchas cosas. Tengo la suerte de tener vosotros 4 como mis amigos, no solo mis compañeros.

Dziękuję bardzo a Aneta, que me cogió la primera semana y me enseñaba todo lo que sabía. Gracias por ser tan listo, pero humilde y por hacer tanto esfuerzo en el proyecto de 6APS. Ademas, tengo la suerte de tenerte como una de mis mejores amigas. Aunque no nos vemos mucho, siempre hablamos y sabemos que pasa en la vida de la otra. Te quiero mucho!

Por último, gracias para todos en la Unidad de Ensayos Clínicos, especialmente a Alex por estar dispuesto para mis preguntas y ayudarnos tanto con el ensayo de Treatment. Gracias a Gina por siempre estar preocupada por el proyecto y por presionar la gente. Gracias a Dani por ser mi amigo

y por hacerme reír mil veces al día en el despacho. Gracias a las Elenas, Bea, Paula y Gonzalo por los desayunos y pasarnos tan bien en los descansos.

# **Semmelweis Egyetem**

Hatalmas köszönet az Orvosi Vegytani, Molekuláris Biológiai és Patobiokémiai Intézet Molekuláris Genetika kutatócsoport minden tagjának. Köszönöm Dr. Rónai Zsoltnak, hogy olyan fiatalon és nagyon kevés tapasztalattal felvett, mint laborasszisztens. Még inkább köszönöm, hogy hamar kutatóként és a csapat teljes részeként kezelt. Köszönöm, hogy ennyit tanított nekem, olyan hatalmas türelemmel, amit kevésszer láttam életemben. Köszönöm Dr. Németh Nórának, hogy senior PhD hallgatóként mégis időt szánt arra, hogy engem tanítson. Köszönöm Dénes Rékának a közös projektjeinket, a karrier tanácsadást, de legfőképp a barátságát. Köszönöm Dr. Barta Csabának a barátságát és a nyitottságát, meg persze a szakmai segítségét, ajánlóleveleit és cikk javításait. Köszönöm Dr. Vereczkei Andreának, hogy holott az elején nem úgy tűnt, hogy megtaláljuk a közös hangot, mégis esélyt adott nekem és a baratjává fogadott, emellett köszönöm azt, hogy megmutatta, hogy bárhonnan is jössz, elérhetsz bármit, ha küzdesz érte. Köszönöm mindannyiótoknak, hogy az első tudományos munkám ilyen kellemes társaságban és ilyen jó emberek között volt. Finally, thanks to Luca, for pushing me to practice English with him, for recommending me to try to go abroad with the Marie Curie grant and for letting me believe that I can do it.

# **TREATMENT** project

The biggest thanks to my colleagues in the Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, University of Coimbra, where I spent a 3 months secondment. Many thanks to Dr. John Jones for letting me work in his group, although I was originally sent to another place. He is a really good example for a good researcher, as he knows the balance between work and personal life. He is an expert in his field, but very humble. Thanks to Ludgero, the best postdoc I have ever met, for his patience and availability whenever I needed help. Thanks to Giada and Assel, for having such good times together. Thanks to the other postdocs, Mariana and Ivan for the good environment they made and helped me whenever I needed something. Thanks to all my friends, especially to Mario, Rui and Mireia for making my stay unforgettable.

I would like to thank Barbara for being such a good and honest friend, my confidante. From the first moment I knew that you were going to a be a really important person in my life. I miss you like crazy, but we always find a way to see each other. Thanks to Ramazan for being my good friend. He always appreciated me and even when I was sharp, he knew that I am doing it from love and wanted him to be happy. Thanks to Monica and Gaurang for our conversations and good times together.

# A barátaimnak, testvéreimnek és a szerelmemnek

Az egyik legnagyobb ajándék az életemben az, hogy ilyen barátaim vannak. Ennél nem is tudnék hálásabb lenni értük. A legtöbben messze vannak tőlem, de mégis mindig ott vannak és mégis bármikor számíthatok rájuk. Dóri, a legjobb barátnőm nélkül sosem tudtam volna végigcsinálni ezt az utat, hatalmas köszönettel tartozom neki. Azért, hogy mindig meghallgat, mindig van egy jó szava hozzám és a feltétlen szeretetéért. Köszönöm a testvéreimnek, Blankának és Hannának és Blanka férjének, Ákosnak, hogy büszkék rám és támogatnak. Ákos, biztos vagyok benne, hogy egyszer az életben fogunk még együtt dolgozni valamin. Köszönöm Zsófinak, Zsaninak, Lilinek, Máténak, Barbinak, Verának, Orsinak és Dorkának a támogatást és a szeretetet.

A legvégére hagytam azt a valakit, aki nélkül az elmúlt 7 évem nem lett volna olyan amilyen. Hatalmas köszönet a szerelmemnek, Marcinak, aki a legjobb barátom, akiben 100%-ban megbízok és akiről tudom, hogy semmi sem választhatja el tőlem. Köszönöm az összes kalandunkat, köszönöm, hogy mindig számíthatok rád, köszönöm a végtelen türelmedet. Te vagy az aki annyi rosszat is kap, amennyi jót, de mégis bármikor ott vagy mellettem. Se a BSc, se az MSc és se a PhD nem lett volna lehetséges a te segítséged nélkül.





# **Publications related to the Doctoral Thesis**

**Article 1:** Simultaneous determination of six antipsychotics, two of their metabolites and caffeine in human plasma by LC-MS/MS using a phospholipid-removal microelution-solid phase extraction method for sample preparation.

Koller D, Zubiaur P, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Abad-Santos F, Wojnicz A.

Talanta. 2019 Jun 1;198:159-168. doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2019.01.112. PMID: 30876545.

Impact factor: 4.916.

The results of this article were presented in on the XXII. International Mass Spectrometry Conference in Florence, Italy from August 26 to

#### Talanta 198 (2019) 159-168



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Talanta



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/talanta

# Simultaneous determination of six antipsychotics, two of their metabolites and caffeine in human plasma by LC-MS/MS using a phospholipid-removal microelution-solid phase extraction method for sample preparation



Dora Koller, Pablo Zubiaur, Miriam Saiz-Rodríguez, Francisco Abad-Santos, Aneta Wojnicz\*

Clinical Pharmacology Department, Hospital Universitario de la Princesa, Instituto Teófilo Hernando, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria la Princesa (IP), Spain

#### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Antipsychotics Caffeine Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry Solid phase extraction Phospholipids Therapeutic drug monitoring

## ABSTRACT

A simple and sensitive liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method was developed and validated in human plasma for the simultaneous determination of aripiprazole (ARI) and its metabolite dehydro-aripiprazole (DARI); olanzapine (OLA), risperidone (RIS), paliperidone (PAL), quetiapine (QUE), clozapine (CLO) and caffeine (CAF). CAF is included to the method because it can have an influence on drug metabolism due to competitive inhibition. The above mentioned compounds and their isotope-labeled internal standards were extracted from 200  $\mu L$  human plasma samples by both, effective phospholipids-eliminating three-step microelution-solid-phase extraction (µ-SPE) and protein precipitation (PPT) for comparison. A combination of formic acid (0.2%)-acetonitrile (pH 3.0; 65:35, v/v) was used as mobile phase and the chromatogram was run under gradient conditions at a flow rate of 0.6 mL/min. Run time lasted 6 min, followed by a re-equilibration time of 3 min. All analytes were monitored by mass spectrometric detection operating in multiple reaction monitoring mode and the method was validated covering the corresponding therapeutic ranges: 0.18-120 ng/mL for ARI, 0.25-80 ng/mL for DARI, 1.00-100 ng/mL for OLA, 0.70-60 ng/mL for RIS, 0.20-30 ng/mL for PAL, 0.50-160 ng/mL for QUE, 0.50-1000 ng/mL for CLO, and finally 1200-3700 ng/mL for CAF. The method was validated based on the recommendations of regulatory agencies through tests of precision, accuracy, extraction recovery, identity confirmation, trueness, matrix effect, process efficiency, stability, selectivity, linearity and carry-over effect fulfilling the guideline requirements. Our µ-SPE method results in the elimination of more than 99% of early eluting and more than 92% of late-eluting phospholipids compared to PPT. Additionally, the method was successfully applied for quantifying ARI and OLA plasma concentrations from healthy volunteers.

#### 1. Introduction

Aripiprazole (ARI), olanzapine (OLA), risperidone (RIS), paliperidone (PAL; 9-hydroxyrisperidone), quetiapine (QUE) and clozapine (CLO) are commonly used atypical antipsychotics with demonstrated efficacy in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder [1]. PAL is not only a parent compound, but also a metabolite of RIS [2]. These denominated second generation antipsychotics are effective in the treatment of

Correspondence to: Clinical Pharmacology Department, Hospital Universitario de la Princesa, C/Diego de León 62, 28006 Madrid, Spain.

*E-mail addresses*: dora.koller@salud.madrid.org (D. Koller), pablo.zubiaur@salud.madrid.org (P. Zubiaur), miriam.saiz@salud.madrid.org (M. Saiz-Rodríguez), francisco.abad@salud.madrid.org (F. Abad-Santos), aneta.wojna@gmail.com (A. Wojnicz).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2019.01.112

Received 10 September 2018; Received in revised form 30 January 2019; Accepted 31 January 2019 Available online 01 February 2019 0039-9140/ © 2019 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Abbreviations: CAN, acetonitrile; ARI, aripiprazole;  $AUC_{0-t}$ , area under the concentration-time curve from time 0 until the last measurable concentration; CAF, caffeine; CAL, calibration standard; CID, collision-induced dissociation; CLO, clozapine;  $C_{max}$ , maximum plasma concentration; CV, coefficient of variation; CYP, cytochrome P450; DAD, diode array detection; DARI, dehydro-aripiprazole; EDTA, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; EMA, European Medicines Agency; ESI, electrospray ionization; FDA, US Food and Drug Administration; HLB, hydrophilic-lipophilic balance; HPLC, high-performance liquid chromatography; ICH, International Conference on Harmonization; IS, internal standard; LC-MS, liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry; LC-MS/MS, liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry; LLE, liquid-liquid extraction; LLQ, lower limit of quantification; LPC, lysophophatidylcholine; PE, Process efficiency; PFP, penta-fluorophenyl; PPT, protein precipitation; QC, quality control; QUE, quetiapine;  $R^2$ , correlation coefficient; RE, Extraction recovery; RIS, risperidone; SD, standard deviation; SEM, standard error of mean; SIL-IS, stable isotopically labeled internal standards; SLE, supported liquid extraction; SPE, solid phase extraction; SRM, selected ion monitoring; TIC, total ion chromatogram;  $T_{max}$ , time of occurrence of  $C_{max}$ ;  $T_{1/2}$ , half-life; tR, retention time; UHPLC-MS/MS, ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry; UV, ultraviolet; XIC, extraction ion chromatogramphy-tandem mass spectrometry; UV, ultraviolet; XIC, extraction ion chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry; UV, ultraviolet; XIC, extraction ion chromatogramphy-tandem mass spectrometry; UV, ultraviolet; XIC, extraction ion chromatogramma

schizophrenia - including both positive and negative symptoms - and are less likely to produce extrapyramidal symptoms and tardive dyskinesia when compared to first generation antipsychotics [1]. These six drugs were included in the analysis based on their importance in the worldwide market. The metabolite of ARI, dehydro-aripiprazole (DARI) was also selected, because it shows pharmacological activity similar to ARI.

The metabolism of CLO and OLA is mainly dependent on cytochrome P450 isoenzyme 1A2 (CYP1A2) [3], similar to CAF, which is a central nervous system stimulant [4]. It was shown that CAF increases the plasma levels of these drugs due to CYP1A2 competitive inhibition [4]. Therefore, CAF was added to the method to be able to monitor its effect on their metabolism. To date, there is no documented record on the simultaneous determination of these antipsychotics along with CAF in a single-run process.

In a clinical environment, the analysis of antipsychotics in blood is necessary in order to monitor patient compliance and to maintain drug concentrations within the recommended therapeutic range. Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) of several antipsychotics is already introduced into the clinical practice. Based on controlled clinical trials and clinical data, it is 1) strongly recommended for OLA and CLO, 2) recommended for ARI, RIS and PAL, and 3) useful for QUE [5].

Several methods are available in the bibliography about the quantification of a single compound with its related metabolite [6,7]. Simultaneous quantification of various psychotropic drugs were reported as well [8,9]. Numerous methods are applied to determine these drugs in human plasma using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC, hereafter LC) coupled to ultraviolet (UV) detector (LC-UV) [10] or tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) [6]. However, LC-MS/MS allows to achieve shorter run times and better lower limits of quantification (LLOQs).

Despite improved sensitivity and selectivity in LC-MS/MS, matrix components may cause ion suppression or enhancement of the analyte, especially when electrospray is used as the ionization source (electrospray ionization, ESI) [11]. The evaluation of matrix effects (ME) in quantitative drug analysis in plasma is an important aspect of assay validation. ME should be investigated in each analysis, despite of using stable isotope-labeled internal standards (SIL-ISs), as they might not compensate all ME. Endogenous phospholipids often cause ion suppression, therefore less efficient extraction recovery (RE), increased variability and irreproducibility of the analytical method. Blood contains several subtypes of phospholipids from which phosphatidylcholine (PC), sphingomyelin and lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) account for 70% [12], 20% [12] and 8% [13], respectively. Phospholipids impair not only the ionization process but the chromatographic separation as well. Highly abundant PCs and LPCs with the polar head groups of strong ionic characteristics are eluted later in a reverse-phase C18 column when high percentage of organic solvent is applied. They are known to cause broad analyte peaks with tailing, by the late elution of their apolar hydrocarbon chains. On the contrary, the early eluted polar PCs and LPCs influence the early eluted analytes [14]. Therefore, they should be eliminated from plasma during the extraction process in order to obtain reliable results and to preserve the instrument clean.

Process efficiency (PE) represents the combination of ME and RE of the analyte from the matrix by the sample extraction process [15]. Its low value can be pernicious to the accuracy and the LLOQ of a particular method [16].

Despite the advances in separation and quantitation techniques, several sample preparation procedures are based on traditional technologies such as protein precipitation (PPT) and liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) [17]. PPT is the simplest and fastest method for sample preparation. However, it does not lead to a completely clean extract. PPT often causes ion suppression in ESI, since this method does not sufficiently remove endogenous compounds such as lipids, phospholipids and fatty acids. Moreover, LLE procedure is longer requiring multiple extraction steps to increase analyte recovery and to obtain cleaner extracts [11]. Compared to the sample preparation methods mentioned previously, solid phase extraction (SPE) offers reduced processing time, lower solvent consumption and it can be considered more environment friendly. Furthermore, SPE enables to enrich the concentration of target compounds and allows utilizing a smaller quantity of sample [17].

Our aim was to develop a simple LC–MS/MS method based on effective phospholipids' removal three-step microelution-SPE ( $\mu$ -SPE) sample preparation process that can determine ARI, DARI, OLA, RIS, PAL, QUE, CLO and CAF using a small sample quantity  $-200 \,\mu$ L– while comparing it to PPT. According to our knowledge, apart from our previous study measuring ARI and DARI levels [6], none of the analytical methods designed for the monitorization of antipsychotic drugs compared the phospholipids' elimination efficacy of different extraction methods nor included CAF.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Chemicals and reagents

ARI, DARI and [2H8]-aripiprazole (ARI-D8) were provided by Toronto Research Chemicals (North York, Canada) and OLA, RIS, PAL, QUE and CLO and their internal standards [13C,2H3]-olanzapine (OLA-C1-D3), [2H4]-risperidone (RIS-D4), [2H4]-paliperidone-D4 (PAL-D4), [13C4]-quetiapine (QUE-C4) and [13C,2H3]-clozapine (CLO-C1-D3) were provided by AlsaChim (Illkirch Graffenstaden, France). Ultrapure water was acquired from a Milli-Q\* Water Purification System (Millipore-Ibérica, Madrid, Spain). Acetonitrile (ACN), methanol (MeOH), ammonia and ammonia hydroxide 5 N solutions in gradient HPLC grade were provided by SYMTA (Madrid, Spain). Formic acid was bought from Sigma-Aldrich (Madrid, Spain). All the used chemicals were of analytical grade. Plasma samples for the preparation of calibration and validation standards were supplied by the Transfusion Center of "Comunidad Autónoma de Madrid" (Madrid, Spain).

## 2.2. Preparation of calibration standards and quality controls

Stock solutions of ARI, DARI and ARI-D8 were dissolved in MeOH containing 0.5% formic acid solution, while OLA and OLA-C1-D3 were supplied in ACN solution with 0.1% formic acid. RIS and RIS-D4 were dissolved in MeOH-water 1:1 solution with 0.1% formic acid. PAL and PAL-D4 were prepared in 100% ACN solution while QUE, QUE-C4, CLO and CLO-C1-D3 were dissolved in 100% MeOH solution. The concentration of all standard solutions was 1 mg/mL. Working solutions of each analyte were prepared in MeOH and 0.1% formic acid by dilutions at the following concentrations from each stock solution: 0.1 mg/mL, 0.01 mg/mL and 0.001 mg/mL. All stock and working solutions were kept at -80 °C.

The calibration standards (CALs) and the quality controls (QCs) were prepared by independent dilutions method of each stock solution and spiked to blank plasma samples. Entirely 8 CALs and 4 QCs (LLOQ; low, Low QC; medium, Medium QC and high, High QC) were made. The used concentrations were calculated based on the therapeutic ranges of each drug described in the literature (summarized in Supplementary Tables 1 and 2). A blank and a zero (IS added) plasma sample processed without drugs were included to the analysis according to the recommendations for bioanalytical method validation of the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) [18], the European Medicines Agency (EMA) [19] and the International Conference on Harmonization (ICH) [20]. Similarly to stock and working solutions, CALs, QCs, and ISs were kept in -80 °C until utilization.

### 2.3. Equipment

The chromatographic separation was performed with an HPLC system consisting a 1200 Series separation module (Agilent Technologies, Madrid, Spain) and was coupled to a triple quadrupole

mass spectrometer (Agilent Technologies 6410B), with positive mode ESI. The instrument was controlled by the Agilent MassHunter Workstation Data Acquisition software. For separating the drugs an ACE C18-PFP (pentafluorophenyl) column (3  $\mu m,~4.6 \times ~100 \ mm;$ SYMTA, Madrid, Spain) maintained at 25 °C was used. The flow rate was 0.6 mL/min. The mobile phase was a mixture of formic acid (0.2%, solvent A) and ACN (solvent D) (65:35, v/v). The final pH was 3.0 adjusted with 5 mol/L ammonium hydroxide. The chromatogram was run with the following gradient conditions: initial conditions: 60% of A and 40% of D from 0 to 1.0 min, 60% D maintained from 1.0 to 1.8 min, D increased to 65% from 1.8 to 2.5 min, 65% D kept from 2.5 to 2.7 min, D increased to 99% from 2.7 to 3.5 min, 99% D maintained from 3.5 to 4.0 min and finally, returned to the initial conditions (60% A and 40% D) from 4.0 to 6.0 min. Afterwards, the chromatogram was followed by a re-equilibration time of 3.0 min. Five µL volume was injected in the HPLC system.

Analytes were quantified in dynamic multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode. All results were based on the peak area ratio between the drug and the IS. The MS conditions were as follows: desolvation gas flow and temperature 12 L/min and  $350 \degree$ C, respectively, nebulizer pressure 60 psi, capillary voltage 3 kV. Highly pure N2 (> 99.9995) was used as MS collision gas. For all the compounds, fragmentor voltage and collision energy were set using selected ion monitoring (SRM) for each transition at specific retention time (tR) (Table 1). A confirmation transition was also monitored to acquire more specific results. Additionally, m/z 184 > 184 and 104 > 104 as common in-source collision-induced dissociation (CID) ion fragments produced by endogenous phospholipids were measured [21]. Moreover, m/z524.4 > 184.1, 524.4 > 104.1, 496.4 > 184.1 and 496.4 > 104.1 produced by late-eluting phospholipids were analyzed. Furthermore, product ion qualifier ratio was defined along with tR-, relative tR-, and ion ratio identity confirmation according to SANTE/11813/2017 and 2002/657/EC COMMISSION DECISION guidelines [22,23]. The acceptance criteria were the following: retention time difference between extracted analyte and neat solution of the analyte should be lower than 0.1 min [22], relative tR difference between extracted analyte and neat solution of the analyte should be lower than 2,5% [23], and ion ratio difference between CALs and QCs (samples) should not differ more than 30% [22], respectively. MassHunter Workstation Quantitative Analysis software (Agilent Technologies, Madrid, Spain) was used to quantify

Table 1

Relevant LC-MS/MS characteristics.

the concentrations based on MRM transitions of each analyte.

#### 2.4. Sample preparation

#### 2.4.1. Plasma samples were extracted by both SPE and PPT

For PPT, 200  $\mu$ L plasma sample was spiked with 10  $\mu$ L IS and 800  $\mu$ L precipitating agent, ACN with 0.1% formic acid (4:1, v/v) and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm at 4 °C for 5 min. Afterwards, the supernatant was evaporated using a concentrator (5301, Eppendorf, Germany) at 45 °C for 75 min. Consequently, the dry residue was reconstituted with 200  $\mu$ L ACN/MeOH/buffer (formic acid, 0.2% at pH 3.0) reconstitution solution (8:1:1, v/v/v).

Three steps were applied in the  $\mu$ -SPE: sample loading, washing and elution. Initially, 10  $\mu$ L IS was added to 200  $\mu$ L of plasma sample along with 290  $\mu$ L of 0.2% formic acid in water, pH 1.5, and loaded (2 × 250  $\mu$ L) into the Oasis PRiME HLB (hydrophilic-lipophilic balance) 96-well  $\mu$ Elution Plate (Waters, Madrid, Spain). It was followed by the washing step adding 400  $\mu$ L (2 × 200  $\mu$ L) 5% MeOH solution with water and 2% ammonia. After each step, a 5–15 mmHg vacuum was applied until the wells were dry. Then, the compounds were eluted with 200  $\mu$ L (2 × 100  $\mu$ L) ACN/MeOH/buffer (formic acid, 0.2% at pH 3.0) solution (8:1:1, v/v/v) and collected in a 1 mL 96-well plate (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA).

Finally,  $5\,\mu$ L of eluate was injected directly to the LC-MS/MS system. SPE was chosen as sample preparation process for method validation.

#### 2.5. Method validation

The validation of this method was based on the guidelines of FDA [18], EMA [19] and ICH [20]. Six validation series were assessed to determine linearity, precision and accuracy, eight for selectivity, matrix effects, process efficiencies, while 4 validation series were used for different types of stabilities based on the peak area ratio of drug and IS.

#### 2.6. Linearity

CALs were measured in duplicate at the concentrations shown in Supplementary Table 1 covering the plasma therapeutic ranges and expected patients' plasma concentrations (see Supplementary Table 2).

Compound	Retention time (tR, min)	Quantification SRM Transition ( <i>m</i> / <i>z</i> )	Confirmation SRM Transition ( <i>m</i> / <i>z</i> )	Qualifier ratio	Fragmentor voltage (V)	Collision energy (eV)
ARI	4.750	448.2 > 285.2	448.2 > 176.2	30.10	100	25
ARI-D8	4.790	456.2 > 293.0			110	30
DARI	4.439	446.2 > 285.0	446.2 > 188.0	0.16	125	22
OLA	1.941	313.2 > 256.2	313.2 > 282.2	10.51	90	25
OLA-C1-D3	1.940	317.3 > 256.2			110	25
RIS	3.373	411.3 > 191.2	411.3 > 110.1	6.47	50	30
RIS-D4	3.405	415.3 > 195.2			90	30
PAL	2.945	427.3 > 207.2	427.3 > 110.2	33.10	110	30
PAL-D4	2.944	431.3 > 211.2			100	30
QUE	3.945	384.3 > 253.2	384.3 > 221.2	45.70	110	35
QUE-C4	3.969	388.3 > 255.2			110	35
CLO	4.029	327.2 > 270.1	331.2 > 270.2	59.54	130	25
CLO-C1-D3	4.029	327.2 > 192.1			110	25
CAF	2.001	195.2 > 138.2	195.2 > 110.2		100	20
PC	1.485	184.1 > 184.1			100	5
LPC	1.537	104.1 > 104.1			100	10
LPC 16:0	8.348	496.4 > 184.1	496.4 > 104.1		135	30
LPC 18:0	8.186	524.4 > 184.1	524.4 > 104.1		135	30

Abbreviations: SRM: selected reaction monitoring; *m/z*: Mass-to-Charge; ARI: aripiprazole; ARI-D8: [2H8]-aripiprazole; DARI: dehydro-aripiprazole; OLA: olanzapine; OLA-C1-D3: [13C,2H3]-olanzapine; RIS: risperidone; RIS-D4: [2H4]-risperidone; PAL: paliperidone; PAL-D4: [2H4]-paliperidone-D4; QUE: quetiapine; QUE-C4: [13C4]-quetiapine; CLO: clozapine; CLO-C1-D3: [13C,2H3]-clozapine; CAF: caffeine; PC: phosphatidylcholine; LPC: lysophosphatidylcholine; LPC 16:0: lysophosphatidylcholine 16:0; LPC 18:0: lysophosphatidylcholine 18:0. Qualifier ratio: the peak area ratio quantifier/qualifier.

Six calibration curve replicates at the 8 concentration levels were analyzed from different days. To quantify the CAL data, a linear regression model was applied based on the analyte versus IS peak area ratio. In order to meet the validation criteria, the error of accuracy and relative standard deviation (RSD, %) should not exceed 15% for each CALs corresponding to each drug. The final estimated linearity model was verified using the lack-of-fit test, to confirm that the selected regression and linearity are appropriate.

LLOQ was defined as the lowest point of the calibration curve (see Supplementary Table 1) which can be quantified with acceptable precision and accuracy. Based on this practice, for LLOQ, the error of accuracy and RSD should not exceed 20%. Therefore, the extraction ion chromatogram (XIC) peak area ratio of each analyte should be at least 5 times higher than the blank.

#### 2.7. Selectivity

Method selectivity was ascertained by analyzing 8 different blank plasma samples from human donors. These samples were extracted and injected at the beginning of the HPLC analysis to exclude any endogenous interference. In addition, 8 zero samples (blank sample with IS) were analyzed to verify the absence of analyte ions in the respective peaks of IS. The method is considered selective when the blank plasma matrix XIC peak area ratio is less than 20% of the XIC peak area of LLOQ in plasma matrix for each drug, and less than 5% for the ISs.

## 2.8. Precision (repeatability and intermediate precision) and accuracy

QC samples 'LLOQ', 'Low QC, 'Medium QC' and 'High QC' were

#### Talanta 198 (2019) 159–168

prepared at concentrations described in Table 2. Six samples of each QC concentration were measured over a period of 4 following days. The determined concentrations were in the ranges of CALs. Repeatability and intermediate precision were evaluated by analyzing a single analytical run in a single day and 3 analytical runs from 3 different days, respectively. The precision was defined as the relative standard deviation (RSD, %) and determined at each concentration level. The acceptance limit was < 15%, except for LLOQ (< 20%). The accuracy describes the closeness of mean test results obtained by the method to the theoretical concentration of the analyte.

#### 2.9. Extraction recovery, matrix effect and process efficiency

RE was defined as the ratio of analyte response between plasma spiked before (Pre) and after (Post) the extraction process. RE can be defined as relative: the ratio of the compound concentration; or absolute: the ratio of the XIC peak area.

ME was established as quantitative approach comparing the XIC peak area ratio (absolute) or the compound concentration ratio (relative) between Post-plasma and neat solution, which was obtained by the addition of the same amount of analyte to the final elution solution [ACN/MeOH/buffer, pH 3.0 (8:1:1, v/v/v)] without undergoing the extraction process.

PE values were calculated as the ratio of analyte response between plasma spiked before (Pre) the SPE process and neat solution. Absolute and relative values were determined in the same fashion than for RE and ME.

In each test, 8 repetitions of Low QC and High QC were analyzed in blank plasma samples from 8 different human donors for all analytes.

#### Table 2

Repeatability and intermediate precision and accuracy values. Precision values are expressed as the percentage of the relative standard deviation (RSD, %) for repeated measurement from one day and as pooled RSD (%) from 4 consecutive days. Accuracy is shown as the percentage of the closeness of theoretical concentration to the measured value present in the matrix. The corresponding concentrations are displayed as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) of the number of total experiments (n).

	2.56
ARI 0.18 0.17 ± 0.01 0.07 - 3.27 0.19 ± 0.02 7.69 2	2.30
$1.00$ $1.12 \pm 0.08$ $0.07$ $12.33$ $1.08 \pm 0.06$ $5.18$ $8$	8.17
$60$ 58.84 $\pm$ 1.34 2.29 - 1.93 59.59 $\pm$ 2.00 2.83 -	- 0.69
100 $108.00 \pm 2.60$ 2.41 8.00 112.86 $\pm$ 9.24 6.91 1	12.86
DARI 0.25 0.25 ± 0.01 3.72 0.75 0.25 ± 0.02 6.89 0	0.64
$0.90$ $0.85 \pm 0.04$ $4.11 - 5.23$ $0.86 \pm 0.05$ $6.02$	- 4.87
40 42.03 ± 0.72 1.72 5.07 41.73 ± 1.97 4.71 4	4.32
70 $68.85 \pm 1.44$ 2.10 $-1.64$ $66.28 \pm 3.18$ 4.80 $-$	- 5.31
OLA 1.00 1.05 ± 0.03 3.32 5.09 1.08 ± 0.18 9.43 7	7.54
$3.00$ $3.01 \pm 0.40$ $13.16$ $0.33$ $3.27 \pm 0.40$ $9.42$	9.00
50 $47.28 \pm 0.99$ $2.08 - 5.43$ $51.04 \pm 4.59$ $2.90$ $2$	2.09
80 79.14 $\pm$ 1.98 2.50 - 1.08 75.94 $\pm$ 5.15 3.15 -	- 5.07
RIS $0.70$ $0.73 \pm 0.02$ $3.20$ $4.89$ $0.61 \pm 0.10$ $8.08$	- 12.33
1.50 $1.68 \pm 0.07$ 3.98 12.01 $1.71 \pm 0.10$ 5.73 1	13.70
25 $25.02 \pm 0.56$ 2.22 $0.07$ $27.79 \pm 0.91$ 2.51 3	3.14
50 $48.79 \pm 1.25$ $2.56 - 2.41$ $46.06 \pm 3.07$ $2.37$ -	- 7.88
PAL 0.20 0.24 ± 0.03 13.04 19.15 0.24 ± 0.04 16.51 1	17.58
1.60 $1.67 \pm 0.05$ $3.19$ $4.39$ $1.70 \pm 0.08$ $3.68$ 6	5.27
15 14.77 $\pm$ 0.98 6.63 $-$ 1.55 14.71 $\pm$ 0.64 3.71 $-$	- 1.92
$25$ $23.11 \pm 0.55$ $2.36 - 7.56$ $22.71 \pm 1.09$ $2.14$ -	- 9.16
QUE 0.50 0.48 ± 0.04 7.58 - 3.65 0.45 ± 0.05 8.11	- 10.69
1.50 $1.67 \pm 0.10$ 5.93 11.16 $1.69 \pm 0.10$ 5.37 1	12.74
80 89.96 ± 1.84 2.04 12.45 91.21 ± 6.16 6.95 1	14.00
130 123.47 $\pm$ 2.20 1.78 $-$ 5.03 133.26 $\pm$ 11.30 3.00 2	2.50
CLO 0.50 0.53 ± 0.02 3.97 5.12 0.46 ± 0.05 7.35	- 8.57
7.00 7.85 $\pm$ 0.40 5.03 12.11 7.46 $\pm$ 0.51 4.12 6	6.56
500 $499.64 \pm 13.29$ 2.66 $-0.07$ 510.27 $\pm$ 21.25 2.51 2	2.05
800 $766.07 \pm 19.99$ $2.61 - 4.24$ $745.22 \pm 50.99$ $2.79$ -	- 6.85
CAF 1200 974.48 ± 82.39 8.45 - 18.79 1286.27 ± 322.33 19.36 7	7.19
$2200 \qquad 2364.41 \pm 126.05 \qquad 5.33 \qquad 7.47 \qquad 2366.92 \pm 137.84 \qquad 6.06 \qquad 7$	7.59
$3200 \qquad 3151.70 \pm 48.25 \qquad 1.53 \qquad -1.51 \qquad 3080.38 \pm 392.77 \qquad 9.78 \qquad -$	- 3.74
3700 3647.80 ± 143.63 3.94 - 1.41 3290.99 ± 313.51 6.86 -	- 11.05

Abbreviations: ARI: aripiprazole; DARI: dehydro-aripiprazole; OLA: olanzapine; RIS: risperidone; PAL: paliperidone; QUE: quetiapine; CLO: clozapine; CAF: caffeine.

To validate the ME, the RSD should not exceed 15% for all QCs (except of LLOQ, when 20% is allowed).

The following equations were used to calculate the previously described values [19,24,25]:

$$RE(\%) = Pre^{100/Post}$$

ME(%) = Post\*100/Neat solution

 $PE(\%) = Pre^{100}/Neat$  solution

#### 2.10. Trueness

'LLOQ', 'Low QC', and 'High QC' samples (Pre) were analyzed from 5 weeks in comparison with spiking samples as reference (Post). The results were expressed with Zeta-score which compares a test value to a reference value. Values less than 2 were considered satisfactory, while the values between 2 and 3 were questionable. Values higher than 3 were considered unsatisfactory.

#### 2.11. Stability

Four replicates of low and high QC aliquots were quantified after storing plasma samples at 20 °C (room temperature), at +4 °C for 24 h and after 3 cycles of freeze-thaw in the freezer at -80 °C, and in extracted samples in the autosampler at 19 °C. Additionally, long-term stability was determined by keeping one set of aliquots at -80 °C for 1 month. The analyte stability should be between 85% and 115% and the RSD should not exceed 15% for the studied QCs. The ratio of analyte concentration before and after storage conditions mentioned above was determined.

#### 2.12. Carry-over

After the highest CAL, a blank plasma sample was injected to determine any possible carry-over effect. The peak area of the blank samples should be lower than 20% of the LLOQ and 5% of the IS. Additionally, the needle was washed 5 times between injections with ACN/water solution (50:50, v/v) to avoid carry-over.

#### 2.13. Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed with Microsoft Excel (Microsoft<sup>\*</sup> Office<sup>\*</sup> 2010, Microsoft Corp., USA) and the results are presented as mean values and standard deviations. The lack-of-fit test results were compared to pure error variances at a 95% confidence level to evaluate the acceptability of the results and the adequacy of the regression models. For the evaluation of trueness, zeta-score test was applied.

#### 2.14. Pharmacokinetic applications of the method

Our method was successfully applied to pharmacokinetic analysis of 66 samples from 3 healthy volunteers who received 5 oral doses of ARI (10 mg) or OLA (5 mg) in fasting conditions. Blood samples were collected at 22 times during 14 days in EDTA dipotassium dihydrate (EDTA K2) tubes (Vacuette, Madrid, Spain) and centrifuged at 1900 × g for 10 min at 4 °C. The plasma was separated and stored at -20 °C. The study was approved by the local Ethics Committee (Clinical Research Ethics Committee of "Hospital Universitario de La Princesa", Madrid, Spain), and informed consent was obtained from the healthy volunteers. Pharmacokinetic parameters were estimated by noncompartmental analysis using PKSolver, a menu-driven add-in program for Microsoft Excel [26]. Maximum plasma concentration ( $C_{max}$ ) and time to reach  $C_{max}$  ( $T_{max}$ ) were determined directly from plasma concentration data. The area under the plasma concentration-time curve from time 0 to the time of the last measurable concentration (AUC<sub>0-4</sub>)

Talanta 198 (2019) 159-168

was calculated using the trapezoidal method. Half-life was calculated by dividing 0.693 by  $k_{\rm e}.$ 

#### 3. Results and discussion

#### 3.1. Experimental conditions in LC and MS/MS

Due to the similar pKa values ranging from 7.06 to 8.76 [27], for all drugs included in this method, it was possible to optimize extraction method and validate an LC-MS/MS method for simultaneous quantification of ARI, DARI, OLA, RIS, PAL, QUE, and CLO. Only CAF has different pKa value of -0.92, thus the extraction process was less efficient for this compound. Differences in water solubility ranging from 0.008 mg/mL to 0.297 mg/mL, except for CAF, which has very high water solubility of 11 mg/mL [27] enabled us to perform an excellent chromatographic separation. To optimize chromatographic conditions, we used different analytical columns (XBridge BEH C18, Waters, Madrid, Spain and ACE C18-PFP, Agilent Technologies, Madrid, Spain), buffer compositions (ammonium formate, 0.1% and 0.2% formic acid), buffer pH (2, 3, 4 and 6), mobile phase flow rates (0.5 and 0.6 mL/min) and variety of gradients. Additionally, the temperature of analytical separation was considered as well (25-30 °C). For the present method we applied the ACE C18-PFP column. This column is characterized by a good resolution and improves analyte separation compared to ordinary C18 column due to  $\pi$ - $\pi$  interactions with the aromatic ring and OH groups. It enables us to obtain good resolution factor for all antipsychotic drugs and their metabolites included in the present method (see Supplementary Table 3).

Finally 0.2% formic acid at pH 3.0 as aqueous buffer, flow rate of 0.6 mL/min and the temperature of 25 °C were chosen to improve chromatographic performance of our method. After each injection, the injection needle and the analytical column were washed with a mixture of organic-aqueous solvent. A mixture of ACN/water (50/50; v/v) and isopropanol/water (50/50; v/v) was tested to avoid carry-over phenomenon in subsequent injections, while ACN/water was found to be more effective in needle cleaning process. The total run time, including washing and re-equilibrating steps, was 9.0 min. Although our run time is longer compared to the methods described in the literature [9,28], it was considered essential to elute endogenous phospholipids outside of the elution profile of the analytes (Fig. 1).

LC-MS/MS with ESI and small particle sizes of the analytical column (up to  $3.5 \,\mu$ m) required small injection volume in order to avoid overloading, ME and instrument contamination [29]. Thus, we injected  $5 \,\mu$ L of the sample, which was applicable for the column particle size and the HPLC system. Table 1 displays relevant LC-MS/MS characteristics, Supplementary Fig. 1 depicts mass spectra obtained by collisioninduced dissociation (CID) of the indicated precursor ions [M+H] + and Fig. 1 shows XIC chromatograms of ARI, DARI, OLA, RIS, PAL, QUE, CLO and CAF. Human plasma was spiked with the LLOQ of each drug before  $\mu$ -SPE procedure. Retention times (tR) and concentration values were calculated from calibration curves given for all analytes. Concerning MS/MS conditions, ESI in positive mode was selected for scanning all analytes. As their polarity was positive, dynamic MRM (dMRM) scan mode was applied to significantly improve analytes' peak shape and selectivity.

As long as some compounds has the same product ions (ARI and DARI) and may undergo crosstalk phenomenon in the collision cell, we used, apart from SIL-ISs, ion ratio (qualifier ratio) based identity confirmation to ensure the reliability of the analyte detection. The ion ratio difference between CALs and QCs did not differ more than 30%. Additionally, we have analyzed tR - and relative tR - difference between extracted analyte and neat solution of the analyte and the obtained value was lower than 0.1 min in all cases when analyzing tR - difference and lower than 2.5% when analyzing relative tR - identity confirmation.



**Fig. 1.** Extraction ion chromatograms (XIC) of aripiprazole (ARI), dehydro-aripiprazole (DARI), olanzapine (OLA), risperidone (RIS), paliperidone (PAL), quetiapine (QUE), clozapine (CLO), and caffeine (CAF) stable isotope-labeled internal standards (SIL-ISs): aripiprazole-D8 (ARI-D8), olanzapine-C1-D3 (OLA-C1-D3), risperidone-D4 (RIS-D4), paliperidone-D4 (PAL-D4), quetiapine-C4 (QUE-C4) and clozapine C1-D3 (CLO-D3). The results are presented as the percentage of counts versus time in minutes. All chromatograms have been normalized to the largest peak. The dashed lines show the elution area of the antipsychotics and CAF separated from early- and late-eluting endogenous phospholipids.

3.2. Sample preparation: phospholipid elimination, extraction recovery, matrix effect and process efficiency

We tested phospholipid cleaning ability of SPE compared to PPT in 36 different human blank plasma samples. As PPT extraction methods were associated with the highest degree of ME in comparison with SPE [30], we used this method as a positive control (100% of phospholipids) compared to SPE.

According to our knowledge, there is no method which is able to remove 100% of phospholipids from the matrix. However, we were able to eliminate efficiently 99.56% and 99.46% of early eluting endogenous plasma PCs-e (in source CID ion fragment 184.1 > 184.1) and LPCs-e (in source CID ion fragment 104.1 > 104.1) using hydrophilic-lipophilic SPE sorbent compared to PPT method (100.00  $\pm$  33.49% vs 0.44  $\pm$  0.73%, p < 0.001 for PCs-e and 100.00  $\pm$  31.57% vs 0.54  $\pm$  0.17%, p < 0.001 for LPCs-e, respectively). Similarly, we evaluated the elimination capability of late-eluting pholipids. SPE method was able to remove 92.34% and 97.68% of late-eluting endogenous plasma LPC 18:0-1 and LPC 16:0-1 compared to PPT method (100.00  $\pm$  32.23% vs 7.66  $\pm$  3.16%, p < 0.001 for LPC 18:0-1 and 100.00  $\pm$  26.16% vs 2.32  $\pm$  0.74%, p < 0.001 for LPC 16:0-1, respectively). The results are shown in the Supplementary Fig. 2D.

As it was impossible to eliminate 100% of endogenous phospholipids, we were able to separate them chromatographically from the target compounds. Early eluting phospholipids were eluted with the tR = 1.485 min and tR = 1.537, late-eluting phospholipid species with the tR = 8.186 min and tR = 8.348, while analyte elution was found between tR = 1.940 min and tR = 4.790 min, outside of the phospholipid elution times. Among LC-MS/MS and UHPLC-MS/MS methods for antipsychotic drug quantification available in the bibliography [28,31], only our previous publication about the simultaneous determination of ARI and DARI in human plasma [6] considered endogenous phospholipid elimination efficiency during method development.

Two QC levels, Low QC and High QC, were applied for the determination of relative and absolute RE, ME and PE. The RE, ME and PE results for SPE and PPT sample preparation are exhibited in Fig. 2 and Supplementary Fig. 2 as mean percentages of relative (Fig. 2A, B, C) and absolute (Supplementary Fig. 2A, B, C) RE, ME and PE, while RSD values are shown as error bars.

The relative mean RE applying SPE was achieved within 98.05–108.91% for all compounds, except for CAF with the value of 127.19% with RSD lower than 10%, while absolute RE ranges between 81.31% and 119.02% and RSD within 14%. CAF is characterized by less efficient extraction recovery values due to the lack of its SIL-IS and extraction method itself, which was adjusted for the antipsychotic drugs and not for CAF being a polar compound. Relative RE values for PPT ranged from 96.04% to 119.09% (except for CAF with the value of 171.54%) and RSD not higher than 11.50%, while absolute RE represents values achieved from 57.42% to 75.91%, and RSD within 24.67%.

When comparing the RE achieved in the present extraction method to the literature, we found that other authors [32,33] accomplished similar values for relative RE ranging from 71% to 123% using SPE as sample preparation method. Our results are slightly better, ranging from 98% to 109%. Among the bibliography, PPT RE results oscillated between 50% and 111% (except for OLA, 185%) for LC-MS/MS methods, while improved when UHPLC-MS/MS was applied, ranging from 65% to 114%. These differences can be due to the lower injection volume and less important ME in UHPLC-MS/MS analysis.

Regarding ME, relative values were found between 99.05% and 105.14% and RSD within 3.97% (except for CAF being found between 77.52% and 118.85% and RSD of 27.04%), greatly better than absolute ME ranging from 83.24% to 119.37% and RSD of 15%. Only OLA represented higher ion suppression, therefore ME value of 75.80%. The results obtained with PPT as extraction method were as follows: relative ME ranged from 94.09% to 106.57% and RSD within 8.22%, absolute

ME for PPT was comprised between 63.92% and 91.11% and RSD of 12.02%. According to RE and ME results, more preferable values were obtained when SIL-ISs was applied (relative) in comparison to absolute values. However, SPE RE and ME were slightly better than PPT values. These results were expected, because SIL-ISs compensate for ME analyte loss during extraction process. Nevertheless, the absolute results obtained by SPE and PPT differed considerably. Absolute RE obtained with PPT compared to SPE was lower and highly variable (57.42–75.91%, and CV within 24.67%), while ion suppression was also significant (mean ME of 77.51%). Therefore, SPE was chosen as extraction procedure for method validation.

ME is commonly evaluated using qualitative methods, applying post-column infusion [34]. Nevertheless, manipulating the chromatographic separation to avoid ME due to co-elution is not always applicable [14]. ME calculated for SPE in the literature ranges from 91% to 133%, while for PPT it varies between 89% and 119%. Although these results are analogous, the differences lie in the RSD values. RSD is greatly higher for PPT sample preparation method and cause method irreproducibility and as a consequence compromised precision and accuracy.

Regarding SPE-PE, relative values were comprised between 95.28% and 113.15% and RSD within 7.11%, while absolute PE was extent from 95.75% to 119.59% and RSD less than 13.10%, except for CAF having values between 77.52% and 152.41% and CV of 13.50%. On the contrary, the results obtained with PPT were certainly worse compared to SPE. Relative PPT-PE were found between 88.43% and 114.55% and RSD within 10.45% (with the exception of CAF with a value of 156.34% and RSD of 10.75%); absolute PE were relatively lower ranging from 88.00% to 61.53%, and RSD of 24.72%. There are only a few methods evaluating relative PE as a test included in method validation [33,35], ranging from 42% to 147%. The best PE results were achieved by Patel et al. [33], with values between 92.3% and 98.9% for only ARI included in the analytical method. Our global relative PE ranged from 101% to 103%, being closer to 100% than Patel et al. 'results.

Based on our study, PE and phospholipid elimination ability should be included, along with RE and ME, in the tests performed during method development and validation. PE and phospholipid removal efficiency offer a more complete overview regarding the effect of possible analyte loss during sample preparation and ionization suppression/ enhancement in the ion source.

#### 3.3. Selectivity, LLOQ and linearity

The present approach was selective and able to differentiate and quantify the analytes from endogenous matrix components, as no significant interferences were found in analyte detection. Blank plasma XIC peak area ratio was less than 10.6% compared to XIC peak area of the LLOQ for all the drugs, except for CAF (13.49%), and less than 0.07% for XIC peak area for all ISs, except for CAF (0.27%). Moreover, the mobile phase and gradient modifications improved DARI response in the present method compared to our previously reported method [6].

LLOQs achieved for antipsychotic drugs, their two metabolites and CAF in human plasma were as follows: ARI: 0.18, DARI: 0.25, OLA: 1.00, RIS: 0.70, PAL: 0.20, QUE: 0.50 and CLO: 0.50 ng/mL. For CAF the LLOQ value was considerably higher, 1200 ng/mL, due to high CAF plasma levels after oral coffee consumption described in the literature [36]. Although more sensitive LC-MS/MS approaches were reported, with LLOQs lower than ours, some of these methods used larger plasma volumes for extraction between 250 and 500  $\mu$ L [35,37], than we have (200  $\mu$ L), except for Vecchione et al. [28], who used only 100  $\mu$ L of plasma. Our LLOQs were better than those reported by Choong et al. [32] and Fisher et al. [38]. Of note, LLOQ for PAL achieved by our method was the best compared to bibliographic values. It can be due to the applied sample preparation method. Fisher et al. applied LLE with methyl-tertbutyl ether as sample extraction method, which is known to







Talanta 198 (2019) 159-168







**HIGH QC** n=8 Relative process efficiency (%) 180 160 140 120 100 80 60 40 20 0 ARI DARI OLA RIS PAL CLO CAF QUE SPE PPT

**Fig. 2.** Relative values of extraction recovery, matrix effect, and process efficiency tests calculated for aripiprazole (ARI), dehydro-aripiprazole (DARI), olanzapine (OLA), risperidone (RIS), paliperidone (PAL), quetiapine (QUE), clozapine (CLO), and caffeine (CAF) in plasma for each compound after undergoing solid phase extraction (SPE) and protein precipitation (PPT) processes in low and high concentrations (Low QC and High QC). *Panel A* shows extraction recovery, *Panel B* displays matrix effect while *Panel C* presents process efficiency values showing the relative standard deviation (RSD, %) of 8 experiments.

produce lower RE and higher LLOQ values.

After performing lack-of-fit test to evaluate the linearity of the calibration curve, the F calculated value (0.381–1.687) was lower than the F tabulated value (2.685) for DARI, OLA, PAL, CLO and CAF. Thus, for these analytes, a linear regression model was performed. For ARI, RIS and QUE the F calculated value was higher than F tabulated value, therefore non-linear calibration curve adjustment was applied. The most applicable weighting factors were 1/x for ARI, DARI, OLA and QUE, 1/x2 for PAL and 1/y for CLO and RIS. In all cases, we obtained correlation coefficients ( $R^2$ ) higher than 0.99 except for CAF ( $R^2$ = 0.94).

#### 3.4. Precision and accuracy

As shown in Table 2, precision and accuracy were within the acceptance criteria for the evaluated assay range. The overall RSDs, for all QCs except for LLOQ, ranging from 1.53% to 13.16% and from 1.78% to 14.84%, were achieved for repeatability and intermediate precision tests, respectively. Global RSDs for accuracy assessment averaged -7.56% and 12.45%, -14.91% and 14.58%, respectively. LLOQs showed higher RSD values, however, they were consistently below the acceptance limits. These results indicate that it is possible to generate accurate data with the present method for antipsychotics and CAF plasma determination.

#### 3.5. Trueness

Analyzing trueness interpreted with Zeta-score resulted satisfactory (values less than 2) in case of all drugs and concentrations (between -0.10 and 1.20 for LLOQ, -1.07 and 1.16 for Low QC and 0.56 and 1.70 for High QC). Therefore, due to the low Zeta-score values, which shows the level of systematic error, our LC-MS/MS method was verified.

#### 3.6. Stability

We performed stability tests in unextracted sample (room temperature at 20 °C, fridge at 4 °C and freezer at -80 °C) and after sample extraction in autosampler. The results of the stability assays at low and high concentrations are summarized in Supplementary Fig. 3. Stability tests in unextracted plasma after 24 h at 20 °C (room temperature) showed global RSDs between 1.16% and 10.32% and mean stabilities of 89.03% and 105.35% (except for CAF: 111.81%); after 24 h at 4 °C in the fridge demonstrated overall RSDs between 0.55% and 8.66% and mean stabilities of 92.93% and 103.49%; after three freeze-thaw cycles (24 h each cycle) in the freezer at -80 °C they exhibited global RSDs between 0.17% and 6.02% and mean stabilities of 91.55% and 101.67%; after 1 month in the freezer at -80 °C they showed overall RSDs between 0.67% and 6.55% and mean stabilities of 87.28% and 109.04%; for all compounds included in the present method. Stability tests in extracted samples after 24 h at 20 °C in the autosampler presented RSDs of minimum 0.76 and maximum 7.88% and mean stabilities ranging from 92.63% to 107.57%. Overall, the RSD value was less than 10.32% and the mean stabilities were close to 100% for all tested compounds. OLA was shown to be unstable in whole blood and oral fluid under most of the conditions studied by Fisher et al. [39], although the addition of ascorbic acid to the blood or serum showed protective properties against OLA degradation. Likewise, we added formic acid to all plasma samples resulting in the preservation of OLA in all stability tests.

#### 3.7. Carry-over

Carry-over effect, if detected, should be prevented to ensure the precision and accuracy of the method. Application of the optimal washing procedures of the injection needle and the analytical column should be optimized. We applied a mixture of ACN and water (1/1, v/v) for needle wash as well as for blank sample injection after measuring high concentration samples, in order to reduce carry-over effect. Similarly to others [32,40], we managed to avoid a significant carry-over effect, which was lower than 15% for the antipsychotic drugs and lower than 16.5% for CAF. The carry-over phenomenon detected by other authors was even higher [34] than ours, except for Patel et al. [33], who were able to reduce the carry-over effect to less than 0.05%.

#### 3.8. Pharmacokinetic applications of the method

The method was successfully applied to the multiple-dose pharmacokinetic study. Supplementary Fig. 4 exhibits ARI, DARI (Panel A) and OLA (Panel B) plasma concentrations (ng/mL) versus time acquired after 5 multiple doses of ARI (10 mg) and OLA (5 mg) oral administration in 3 healthy volunteers (1 for ARI and DARI; 2 and 3 for OLA). Supplementary Fig. 4C shows mean pharmacokinetic parameters of ARI, DARI and OLA. Cmax data were collected only for day 1 and 5. The obtained C<sub>max</sub> in day 1 was consistent with the results by Mallikaarjun et al., however, as their study design was different,  $C_{max}$  and AUC in day 5 were not available. In the same study, T<sub>max</sub> was lower than ours, while  $T_{1/2}$  was comparable [41]. To date there is no other study analyzing the pharmacokinetics of ARI and DARI in a multiple dose design during 5 days performed in healthy volunteers. OLA samples were checked for CAF interference. No CAF plasmatic levels were observed in volunteers taking OLA and therefore we obtained expected OLA concentrations.

#### 4. Conclusion

Our LC-MS/MS method is adequate for precise and accurate simultaneous measurement of antipsychotic drugs and CAF in human plasma. Simple sample preparation and three step  $\mu$ -SPE offer high phospholipid removal efficiency compared to PPT, as required by our clinical studies. Validation data have assessed its precision, accuracy, sensitivity, and immunity from matrix effects, good extraction recoveries and process efficiency, trueness, as well as competitive LLOQs and calibration range, good analyte stabilities and with no significant carry-over effect. The present method can be successfully implemented in the clinical laboratory and applied for routine TDM.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Fernando Tamarit, Julián de la Mata, and Oscar Santos (Agilent Technologies) as well as to Esteban Paniagua (SYMTA) and Waters for technical assistance.

#### **Funding sources**

This work and D. Koller were supported by the H2020 Marie Skłodowska-Curie Actions Innovative Training Network 721236 grant. P. Zubiaur is co-financed by "Consejería de Educación, Juventud y Deporte" from "Comunidad de Madrid" and "Fondo Social Europeo".

#### Declaration of conflicting interests

F. Abad-Santos has been consultant or investigator in clinical trials sponsored by the following pharmaceutical companies: Abbott, Alter, Chemo, Cinfa, FAES, Farmalíder, Ferrer, GlaxoSmithKline, Galenicum, Gilead, Janssen-Cilag, Kern, Normon, Novartis, Servier, Silverpharma, Teva, and Zambon. The remaining authors declare no conflicts of interest.

#### Appendix A. Supporting information

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at doi:10.1016/j.talanta.2019.01.112.

#### References

- R.R. Conley, D.L. Kelly, Second-generation antipsychotics for schizophrenia: a review of clinical pharmacology and medication-associated side effects, Isr. J. Psychiatry Relat. Sci. 42 (2005) 51–60.
- [2] M. Corena-McLeod, Comparative pharmacology of risperidone and paliperidone, Drugs RD 15 (2015) 163–174, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40268-015-0092-x.
- [3] L. Urichuk, T.I. Prior, S. Dursun, G. Baker, Metabolism of atypical antipsychotics: involvement of cytochrome p450 enzymes and relevance for drug-drug interactions, Curr. Drug Metab. 9 (2008) 410–418.
- [4] J. de Leon, Atypical antipsychotic dosing: the effect of smoking and caffeine, Psychiatr. Serv. 55 (2004) 491–493, https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.55.5.491.
- [5] P. Baumann, C. Hiemke, S. Ulrich, G. Eckermann, I. Gaertner, M. Gerlach, H.-J. Kuss, G. Laux, B. Müller-Oerlinghausen, M.L. Rao, P. Riederer, G. Zernig, Arbeitsge-meinschaft fur neuropsychopharmakologie und pharmakopsychiatrie, The AGNP-TDM expert group consensus guidelines: therapeutic drug monitoring in psychiatry, Pharmacopsychiatry 37 (2004) 243–265, https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-832687.
- [6] A. Wojnicz, C. Belmonte, D. Koller, A. Ruiz-Nuño, M. Román, D. Ochoa, F. Abad Santos, Effective phospholipids removing microelution-solid phase extraction LC-MS/MS method for simultaneous plasma quantification of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole: application to human pharmacokinetic studies, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 151 (2017) 116–125, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2017.12.049.
- [7] M. Aravagiri, S.R. Marder, Simultaneous determination of risperidone and 9-hydroxyrisperidone in plasma by liquid chromatography/electrospray tandem mass spectrometry, J. Mass Spectrom. JMS 35 (2000) 718–724, https://doi.org/10.1002/ 1096-9888(200006)35:6 < 718::AID-JMS999 > 3.0.CO;2-0.
- [8] E. Saar, D. Gerostamoulos, O.H. Drummer, J. Beyer, Identification and quantification of 30 antipsychotics in blood using LC-MS/MS, J. Mass Spectrom. 45 (2010) 915–925, https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.1783.
- [9] L. Patteet, K.E. Maudens, B. Sabbe, M. Morrens, M. De Doncker, H. Neels, High throughput identification and quantification of 16 antipsychotics and 8 major metabolites in serum using ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, Clin. Chim. Acta Int. J. Clin. Chem. 429 (2014) 51–58, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2013.11.024.
- [10] M. Silva Gracia, A. Köppl, S. Unholzer, E. Haen, Development and validation of an HPLC-UV method for the simultaneous determination of the antipsychotics clozapine, olanzapine and quetiapine, several beta-blockers and their metabolites, Biomed. Chromatogr. BMC 31 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1002/bmc.3968.
- [11] A. Van Eeckhaut, K. Lanckmans, S. Sarre, I. Smolders, Y. Michotte, Validation of bioanalytical LC-MS/MS assays: evaluation of matrix effects, J. Chromatogr. B Anal.

Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 877 (2009) 2198–2207, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jchromb.2009.01.003.

- [12] G.B. Phillips, J.T. Dodge, Composition of phospholipids and of phospholipid fatty acids of human plasma, J. Lipid Res. 8 (1967) 676–681.
- [13] P.G. Munder, M. Modolell, R. Andreesen, H.U. Weltzien, O. Westphal, Lysophosphatidylcholine (lysolecithin) and its synthetic analogues. Immunemodulating and other biologic effects, Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 2 (1979) 187–203, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01891668.
- [14] X. Guo, E. Lankmayr, Phospholipid-based matrix effects in LC-MS bioanalysis, Bioanalysis 3 (2011) 349–352, https://doi.org/10.4155/bio.10.213.
- [15] D.L. Buhrman, P.I. Price, P.J. Rudewicz, Quantitation of SR 27417 in human plasma using electrospray liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry: a study of ion suppression, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 7 (1996) 1099–1105, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1044-0305(96)00072-4.
- [16] B.K. Matuszewski, Standard line slopes as a measure of a relative matrix effect in quantitative HPLC-MS bioanalysis, J. Chromatogr. B 830 (2006) 293–300, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2005.11.009.
- [17] M.F. Alpendurada, Solid-phase microextraction: a promising technique for sample preparation in environmental analysis, J. Chromatogr. A 889 (2000) 3–14.
  [18] FDA, Bioanalytical Method Validation. Guidance for Industry, (2018) https://www.
- [18] FDA, Bioanalytical Method Validation. Guidance for Industry, (2018) https://www. fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guidances/ucm070107.Pdf.
- [19] EMA, Guideline on Bioanalytical Method Validation, EMEA/CHMP/EWP/192217/ 2009, 2011. <a href="http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/scientific\_guideline/2011/08/WC500109686.pdf">http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/ scientific\_guideline/2011/08/WC500109686.pdf</a>.
- [20] ICH, International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use. Harmonized Tripartite Guideline, Validation of Analytical Procedures: Text and Methology Q2 (R1), 2005. <a href="https://academy.gmp-compliance.org/guidemgr/files/Q2(R1).PDF">https://academy.gmp-compliance.org/guidemgr/files/Q2(R1).PDF</a>).
- [21] J.L. Little, M.F. Wempe, C.M. Buchanan, Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry/mass spectrometry method development for drug metabolism studies: examining lipid matrix ionization effects in plasma, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 833 (2006) 219–230, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2006. 02.011.
- [22] SANTE, SANTE/11813/2017. European Commission Directorate General for Health and food Safety. Implemented by 01/01/2018, 2017. <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/plant/docs/pesticides\_mrl\_guidelines\_wrkdoc\_2017-11813.pdf">https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/plant/docs/pesticides\_mrl\_guidelines\_wrkdoc\_2017-11813.pdf</a>).
- [24] P.J. Taylor, Matrix effects: the Achilles heel of quantitative high-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray-tandem mass spectrometry, Clin. Biochem. 38 (2005) 328–334, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2004.11.007.
- B.K. Matuszewski, M.L. Constanzer, C.M. Chavez-Eng, Strategies for the assessment of matrix effect in quantitative bioanalytical methods based on HPLC-MS/MS, Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 3019–3030, https://doi.org/10.1021/ac020361s.
   Y. Zhang, M. Huo, J. Zhou, S. Xie, PKSolver: an add-in program for pharmacokinetic
- [26] Y. Zhang, M. Huo, J. Zhou, S. Xie, PKSolver: an add-in program for pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic data analysis in Microsoft Excel, Comput. Methods Prog. Biomed. 99 (2010) 306–314, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmpb.2010.01.007.
- [27] Drugbank, <https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs>, (n.d.).
- [28] G. Vecchione, B. Casetta, A. Chiapparino, A. Bertolino, M. Tomaiuolo, F. Cappucci, R. Gatta, M. Margaglione, E. Grandone, A reliable and rapid tool for plasma quantification of 18 psychotropic drugs by ESI tandem mass spectrometry, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 67–68 (2012) 104–113, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba. 2012.04.016.
- [29] L.L. Jessome, D.A. Volmer, Ion suppression: a major concern in mass spectrometry, 2006. <a href="http://alfresco.ubm-us.net/alfresco\_images/pharma/2014/08/22/">http://alfresco.ubm-us.net/alfresco\_images/pharma/2014/08/22/</a>

6a265f12-bf1f-41f3-a506-e463219150dc/article-327407.pdf>.

- [30] O.A. Ismaiel, T. Zhang, R.G. Jenkins, H.T. Karnes, Investigation of endogenous blood plasma phospholipids, cholesterol and glycerides that contribute to matrix effects in bioanalysis by liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 878 (2010) 3303–3316, https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jchromb.2010.10.012.
- [31] H. Kirchherr, W. Kuhnvelten, Quantitative determination of forty-eight antidepressants and antipsychotics in human serum by HPLC tandem mass spectrometry: a multi-level, single-sample approach, J. Chromatogr. B 843 (2006) 100–113, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2006.05.031.
- [32] E. Choong, S. Rudaz, A. Kottelat, D. Guillarme, J.-L. Veuthey, C.B. Eap, Therapeutic drug monitoring of seven psychotropic drugs and four metabolites in human plasma by HPLC-MS, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 50 (2009) 1000–1008, https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jpba.2009.07.007.
- [33] D.P. Patel, P. Sharma, M. Sanyal, P.S. Shrivastav, SPE–UPLC–MS/MS method for sensitive and rapid determination of aripiprazole in human plasma to support a bioequivalence study, J. Chromatogr. B 925 (2013) 20–25, https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jchromb.2013.02.022.
- [34] J. Wang, H. Huang, Q. Yao, Y. Lu, Q. Zheng, Y. Cheng, X. Xu, Q. Zhou, D. Wu, M. Zhang, X. Li, J. Zhang, Simple and accurate quantitative analysis of 16 antipsychotics and antidepressants in human plasma by ultrafast high-performance liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry, Ther. Drug Monit. 37 (2015) 649–660 (http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid = WKPTLP:landingpage&an = 00007691-201510000-00014> (Accessed 16 August 2017).
- [35] N. Ansermot, M. Brawand-Amey, A. Kottelat, C.B. Eap, Fast quantification of ten psychotropic drugs and metabolites in human plasma by ultra-high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry for therapeutic drug monitoring, J. Chromatogr. A 1292 (2013) 160–172, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2012. 12.071.
- [36] S. Teekachunhatean, N. Tosri, N. Rojanasthien, S. Srichairatanakool, C. Sangdee, Pharmacokinetics of caffeine following a single administration of coffee enema versus oral coffee consumption in healthy male subjects, ISRN Pharmacol. 2013 (2013) 1–7, https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/147238.
- [37] M. Berna, R. Shugert, J. Mullen, Determination of olanzapine in human plasma and serum by liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry, J. Mass Spectrom. JMS 33 (1998) 1003–1008, https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9888(1998100) 33:10 < 1003::AID-JMS716 > 3.0.CO;2-P.
- [38] D.S. Fisher, S.J. Partridge, S.A. Handley, L. Couchman, P.E. Morgan, R.J. Flanagan, LC–MS/MS of some atypical antipsychotics in human plasma, serum, oral fluid and haemolysed whole blood, Forensic Sci. Int. 229 (2013) 145–150 <a href="http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0379073813000753">http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0379073813000753</a> (Accessed 21 August 2017).
- [39] D.S. Fisher, S.J. Partridge, S.A. Handley, R.J. Flanagan, Stability of some atypical antipsychotics in human plasma, haemolysed whole blood, oral fluid, human serum and calf serum, Forensic Sci. Int. 229 (2013) 151–156, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. forsciint.2013.03.021.
- [40] J. Hasselstrøm, Quantification of antidepressants and antipsychotics in human serum by precipitation and ultra high pressure liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. B 879 (2011) 123–128, https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jchromb.2010.11.024.
- [41] S. Malikaarjun, J.M. Kane, P. Bricmont, R. McQuade, W. Carson, R. Sanchez, R.A. Forbes, W.W. Fleischhacker, Pharmacokinetics, tolerability and safety of aripiprazole once-monthly in adult schizophrenia: an open-label, parallel-arm, multiple-dose study, Schizophr. Res. 150 (2013) 281–288, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. schres.2013.06.041.

Drug/ metabolite	R <sup>2</sup>	Cal 1	Cal 2	Cal 3	Cal 4 (ng/n	Cal 5 nL)	Cal 6	Cal 7	Cal 8
ARI	0.9991	0.18	0.25	0.50	2	10	50	100	120
DARI	0.9989	0.25	0.35	0.70	2	5	20	40	80
OLA	0.9944	1.00	1.10	1.50	5	10	20	50	100
RIS	0.9968	0.70	0.80	1.20	1.5	5	10	25	60
PAL	0.9815	0.20	0.30	0.50	1	2	5	18	30
QUE	0.9956	0.50	0.60	1.00	5	10	20	80	160
CLO	0.9981	0.50	0.80	2.00	20	100	500	750	1000
CAF	0.9363	1200	1450	1700	1950	2200	2700	3200	3700

Supplementary Table 1. Concentrations of the calibration standards (CALs) for each drug.

*Abbreviations: ARI: aripiprazole; DARI: dehydro-aripiprazole; OLA: olanzapine; RIS: risperidone; R<sup>2</sup>: correlation coefficient; PAL: paliperidone; QUE: quetiapine; CLO: clozapine; CAF: caffeine.* 

Drug	Therapeutic range (ng/mL)	References
	50-350	[1,2]
ADI	150-300	[3]
AKI	146–254	[4]
	32.1–188	[5]
	10-100	[2,6]
OLA	20-80	[7–9]
	1.2-208	[10]
	10-100	[2,6]
RIS	20–60	[11,12]
	0.6-25	[13]
	10-100	[2,6]
DAI	20-52	[11]
FAL	20-60	[12]
	10-109	[13]
QUE	70-170	[2,6,14,15]
CLO	200-800	[2,6]
	350-600	[16,17]

Supplementary Table 2. Therapeutic drug ranges for each drug.

Abbreviations: ARI: aripiprazole; DARI: dehydro-aripiprazole; OLA: olanzapine; RIS: risperidone;  $R^2$ : correlation coefficient; PAL: paliperidone; QUE: quetiapine; CLO: clozapine; CAF: caffeine.

Compounds	Rs		
CAF-OLA	1.28		
OLA-PAL	12.63		
PAL-RIS	6.24		
<b>RIS-QUE</b>	7.35		
QUE-CLO	1.85		
CLO-DARI	7.81		
DARI-ARI	8.49		

Supplementary Table 3. The resolution factor between the adjoining compounds.

Abbreviations: ARI: aripiprazole; DARI: dehydro-aripiprazole; OLA: olanzapine; RIS: risperidone; PAL: paliperidone; QUE: quetiapine; CLO: clozapine; CAF: caffeine; Rs: resolution factor.



*Supplementary Figure 1.* Product ion spectra and chemical structures of aripiprazole (ARI), dehydro-aripiprazole (DARI), olanzapine (OLA), risperidone (RIS), paliperidone (PAL), quetiapine (QUE), clozapine (CLO), and caffeine (CAF) and stable isotope-labeled internal standards (SIL-ISs): aripiprazole-D8 (ARI-D8), olanzapine-C1-D3 (OLA-C1-D3), risperidone-D4 (RIS-D4), paliperidone-D4 (PAL-D4), quetiapine-C4 (QUE-C4) and clozapine C1-D3 (CLO-D3). obtained by collision-induced dissociation (CID) of the indicated precursor ions [M+H]<sup>+</sup>.

The fragmentation patterns of all analytes are indicated by an arrow on their chemical structure of each analyte. The residual precursor and the product ions, quantifier and qualifier, are shown in the figure. The results are presented as the percentage of counts versus Mass-to-Charge (m/z). All mass peaks have been normalized to the most abundant.



*Supplementary Figure* **2**. Absolute values of extraction recovery, matrix effect, process efficiency tests obtained for aripiprazole (ARI), dehydro-aripiprazole (DARI), olanzapine (OLA), risperidone (RIS), paliperidone (PAL), quetiapine (QUE), clozapine (CLO), and caffeine (CAF) as well as endogenous plasma phospholipid elimination efficiency in plasma after undergoing solid phase extraction (SPE) and protein precipitation (PPT) processes at low and high concentrations (Low QC and High QC).

*Panel A* shows extraction recovery, *Panel B* displays matrix effect while *Panel C* presents process efficiency in percentages along with the relative standard deviation (RSD, %) of 8 experiments. *Panel D* depicts endogenous plasma phospholipid content (PCs-e: early eluting phosphatidilcholines, LPCs-e: early eluting lysophosphatidilcholine 16:0, LPC 18:0-1: late-eluting lysophosphatidylcholine 16:0, LPC 18:0-1: late-eluting lysophosphatidylcholine 18:0) in percentages, including the RSD (%) of 36 experiments, after PPT or SPE used as a sample preparation method.



*Supplementary Figure 3.* Stability tests. Storage stability of aripiprazole (ARI), dehydroaripiprazole (DARI), olanzapine (OLA), risperidone (RIS), paliperdione (PAL), quetiapine (QUE), clozapine (CLO) and caffeine (CAF) at low and high concentrations (Low QC and High QC) in human plasma samples being 24 h at 20°C (room temperature), 24 h at 4°C in the fridge, the 3rd freeze-thaw cycle (-80°C), stored in the freezer at -80°C for one month, and in the human plasma samples extract after 24 h at 20°C in the autosampler.

Results are given as mean percentages  $\pm$  relative standard deviation (RSD). Low and high quality control (Low QC and High QC) samples in quatruplicates were used for each single stability test.



Pharmacokinetic parameters of ARI, DARI and OLA

Parameter	ARI-Vol 1	DARI-Vol 1	OLA-Vol 2	OLA-Vol 3
C <sub>max</sub> Day 1 (ng/mL)	38.15	22.79	10.87	15.71
C <sub>max</sub> Day 5 (ng/mL)	73.05	27.49	21.65	32.77
T <sub>max</sub> Day 1 (h)	8.00	12.00	12.00	3.00
T <sub>max</sub> Day 5 (h)	8.00	8.00	5.00	5.00
T <sub>1/2</sub> Day 14 (h)	45.10	77.90	65.37	59.44
AUC <sub>0-t</sub> Day 14 (ng x h/mL)	7670.43	4741.17	2876.97	3643.81

*Supplementary Figure 4.* Plasma concentrations versus time and obtained pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole (ARI), dehydro-aripiprazole (DARI) and olanzapine (OLA) in a pharmacokinetic study with healthy volunteers under fasting conditions. *Panel A* shows ARI and DARI plasma concentrations after 5 multiple doses oral administration of 10 mg ARI in one volunteer (Vol 1) at 22 time points. *Panel B* exhibits OLA plasma concentrations after 5 multiple oral doses of 5 mg OLA in two volunteers (Vol 2 and 3) at 22 time points. *Panel C* displays pharmacokinetic parameters - maximum plasma concentration ( $C_{max}$ ), time of occurrence of  $C_{max}$  ( $T_{max}$ ), half-life ( $t_{1/2}$ ) and area under the concentration-time curve from time 0 until the last measurable concentration (AUC<sub>0-1</sub>) - of ARI, DARI and OLA. All pharmacokinetic parameters are expressed as mean percentage. Data were analysed with PKSolver, a menu-driven add-in program for Microsoft Excel.

# **TP-17**



Simultaneous determination of aripiprazole, dehydroaripiprazole, olanzapine, risperidone, paliperidone, quetiapine and clozapine in human plasma by LC-MS/MS



Dora Koller<sup>1</sup>, Francisco Abad-Santos<sup>1</sup>, Aneta Wojnicz<sup>1</sup>

dora.koller@salud.madrid.org

Clinical Pharmacology Department, Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Instituto Teófilo Hernando, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid (UAM), Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria La Princesa (IP). Madrid, Spain

## Introduction

A simple and sensitive liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC–MS/MS) method was developed and validated for the simultaneous quantification of aripiprazole (ARI) and its active metabolite dehydro-aripiprazole (ARI), olanzapine (OLA), risperidone (RIS) and its active metabolite paliperidone (PAL), quetiapine (QUE) and clozapine (CLO) along with caffeine (CAF) in human plasma. These drugs have been widely used in the treatment of schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorders.



orizon 2020

281

UAF

USFC 🖻

FIB

This project has received funding from the European Union's EU Framework Programme for Research and Innovation Horizon 2020 under Grant Agreement No 721236. The authors want to thank Waters and Agilent for their kind assistance.

Article 2: The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on pupillary light reflex and its relationship with pharmacogenetics in a randomized multiple-dose trial.

<u>Koller D</u>, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Zubiaur P, Ochoa D, Almenara S, Román M, Romero-Palacián D, de Miguel-Cáceres A, Martín S, Navares-Gómez M, Mejía G, Wojnicz A, Abad-Santos F.

Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2020 Apr 6. doi: 10.1111/bcp.14300.

Impact factor: 3.867.

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE



# The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on pupillary light reflex and its relationship with pharmacogenetics in a randomized multiple-dose trial

Dora Koller<sup>1</sup> | Miriam Saiz-Rodríguez<sup>1</sup> | Pablo Zubiaur<sup>1</sup> | Dolores Ochoa<sup>1,2</sup> | Susana Almenara<sup>1</sup> | Manuel Román<sup>1,2</sup> | Daniel Romero-Palacián<sup>1</sup> | Alejandro de Miguel-Cáceres<sup>1</sup> | Samuel Martín<sup>1,2</sup> | Marcos Navares-Gómez<sup>1</sup> | Gina Mejía<sup>1,2</sup> | Aneta Wojnicz<sup>1</sup> | Francisco Abad-Santos<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Clinical Pharmacology Department, Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Instituto Teófilo Hernando, Pharmacology Department, Faculty of Medicine, Autonomous University of Madrid, Madrid, Spain

<sup>2</sup>Plataforma SCReN (Spanish Clinical Research Network), Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria La Princesa, UICEC Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Madrid, Spain

#### Correspondence

Francisco Abad-Santos, Clinical Pharmacology Department, La Princesa University Hospital, Diego de León 62, 28006, Madrid, Spain. Email: francisco.abad@salud.madrid.org

#### Funding information

Consejería de Educación, Juventud y Deporte, Comunidad de Madrid, Grant/Award Number: PEJD-2017-PRE/BMD-4164; H2020 Marie Skłodowska-Curie Actions, Grant/Award Number: 721236 **Aims:** Pupillography is a noninvasive and cost-effective method to determine autonomic nerve activity. Genetic variants in cytochrome P450 (*CYP*), dopamine receptor (*DRD2*, *DRD3*), serotonin receptor (*HTR2A*, *HTR2C*) and ATP-binding cassette subfamily B (*ABCB1*) genes, among others, were previously associated with the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of antipsychotic drugs. Our aim was to evaluate the effects of **aripiprazole** and **olanzapine** on pupillary light reflex related to pharmacogenetics.

**Methods:** Twenty-four healthy volunteers receiving 5 oral doses of 10 mg aripiprazole and 5 mg olanzapine tablets were genotyped for 46 polymorphisms by quantitative polymerase chain reaction. Pupil examination was performed by automated pupillometry. Aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine plasma concentrations were measured by high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry.

**Results:** Aripiprazole affected pupil contraction: it caused dilatation after the administration of the first dose, then caused constriction after each dosing. It induced changes in all pupillometric parameters (P < .05). Olanzapine only altered minimum pupil size (P = .046). Polymorphisms in CYP3A, HTR2A, UGT1A1, DRD2 and ABCB1 affected pupil size, the time of onset of constriction, pupil recovery and constriction velocity. Aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine pharmacokinetics were significantly affected by polymorphisms in CYP2D6, CYP3A, CYP1A2, ABCB1 and UGT1A1 genes.

**Conclusions:** In conclusion, aripiprazole and its main metabolite, dehydro-aripiprazole altered pupil contraction, but olanzapine did not have such an effect. Many polymorphisms may influence pupillometric parameters and several polymorphisms had an effect on aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine pharmacokinetics.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

The authors confirm that the Principal Investigator for this paper is Francisco Abad-Santos and that he had direct clinical responsibility for patients.

<sup>© 2020</sup> The Authors. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British Pharmacological Society

Pupillography could be a useful tool for the determination of autonomic nerve activity during antipsychotic treatment.

## KEYWORDS

antipsychotics, genetics and pharmacogenetics, pharmacodynamics, pharmacokinetics, schizophrenia

# 1 | INTRODUCTION

Aripiprazole (ARI) and olanzapine (OLA) are atypical (second generation) antipsychotics commonly prescribed for patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorders.<sup>1</sup> ARI has partial agonistic activity at **dopamine** D2, D3, D4 and **serotonin** 5-HT1A, 5-HT2C as well as  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptors and also exhibits 5-HT2A and 5-HT7 receptor antagonism.<sup>2</sup> OLA has higher antagonistic affinity for 5-HT2A serotonin receptors than for D2 dopamine receptors. Additionally, it has antagonistic activity at dopamine D3 and D4, serotonin 5-HT3 and 5-HT6, histamine H1,  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic, and muscarinic M1–5 receptors.<sup>3,4</sup>

ARI is extensively metabolized by cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes CYP3A4 and CYP2D6. Dehydro-aripiprazole (DARI), its main active metabolite, accounts for 40% of the parent compound in plasma. Moreover, the pharmacological activity of DARI is similar to ARI.<sup>5</sup> Olanzapine is predominantly metabolized by direct glucuronidation via the UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) enzyme family, principally by UGT1A4,<sup>6</sup> CYP1A2 and to a lesser extent by CYP2D6 and CYP3A4.<sup>7</sup>

Pupillography is a noninvasive and cost-effective method to determine autonomic nerve activity,<sup>8</sup> which was developed in 1958.<sup>9</sup> It was thoroughly described that opioid drugs cause pupil constriction (miosis).<sup>10-13</sup>

Several atypical antipsychotics caused pupil miosis in overdose patients. It can be due to inducing unopposed parasympathetic stimulation of the pupil with significant  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptor blockade.<sup>14</sup> By contrast, these drugs could affect the pupil diameter due to their affinity for dopamine and serotonin receptors<sup>15,16</sup> as serotonin and dopamine are effectors on various types of muscles including the sphincter pupillae and the dilator pupillae.<sup>17</sup> Accordingly, genetic polymorphisms present in these genes can affect pupil response.<sup>18</sup>

The aim of the current study was to evaluate if ARI and OLA affect pupillometric parameters in healthy subjects after multiple dose administration. Furthermore, their relationship with pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics was also evaluated.

### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 2.1 | Study population

A multiple-dose clinical trial including 24 healthy volunteers (12 males and 12 females) was performed at the Clinical Trials Unit of Hospital

## What is already known about this subject

 Atypical antipsychotics can provoke pupil contraction due to blocking α1-adrenergic receptors. However, these drugs could affect pupil diameter due to their affinity for dopamine and serotonin receptors. Accordingly, polymorphisms present in these genes can affect pupil response.

## What this study adds

This study is the first to reveal that aripiprazole has a significant influence on pupillary light reflex compared to olanzapine. Furthermore, several genetic polymorphisms affect these changes. Therefore, pupillography could be an important and useful tool to assess autonomic nervous system activity during antipsychotic drug treatment.

Universitario de La Princesa (Madrid, Spain). The protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee duly authorized by the Spanish Drugs Agency and under the guidelines of Good Clinical Practice (EUDRA-CT: 2018–000744-26). All subjects were adequately informed about the study and, if agreeing to participate, signed an informed consent form. The trial complied with the international standards and with the Declaration of Helsinki.

The inclusion criteria were the following: male and female volunteers between 18 and 65 years old; free from any known organic or psychiatric conditions; normal vital signs and electrocardiogram (ECG); normal medical records and physical examination; no clinically significant abnormalities in haematology, biochemistry, serology and urine tests.

## 2.2 | Study design

The clinical trial was phase I with multiple oral dose design, open-label, randomized, crossover, 2-periods, 2-sequences, single-centre and comparative study performed between June 2018–April 2019. ARI 10 mg/day tablets or OLA 5 mg/day film-coated tablets were administered during 5 consecutive days. Block randomization was used to
assign the treatment to each volunteer on the first day.<sup>19</sup> The drug was administered at 09:00 each day under fasting conditions. The subjects were hospitalized from 1 hour before the first dose until 24 hours after the last dose. In the second period, after a washout period of 28 days, each volunteer received the opposite drug they received in the first period. The random allocation sequence, the recruitment of participants and their assignment to interventions were performed by investigators of the Clinical Trials Unit.

Twenty-two blood samples were collected from each participant for pharmacokinetic assessments during each period, thus 44 samples in total: 7 samples on day 1 (predose and 1, 2, 3, 5, 8 and 12 hours after dosing); 1 (predose) sample on days 2, 3 and 4; 7 samples on day 5 (predose and 1, 2, 3, 5, 8 and 12 hours after dosing) and 1 sample on days 6, 7, 9, 11 and 15 (corresponding to 24, 48, 96, 144 and 240 hours after the last dose, respectively). Each blood sample was labelled with the protocol code, volunteer number, treatment period and day and extraction time without specifying the administered drug. Subsequently, the samples were centrifuged at 1900 g for 10 minutes and then the plasma was collected and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until the determination of drug concentrations.

#### 2.3 | Pharmacokinetic analysis

Plasma concentrations of ARI, DARI and OLA were quantified by a high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method developed in our laboratory.<sup>20</sup>

The pharmacokinetic parameters were calculated bv noncompartmental analysis by Phoenix WinNonlin (version 8, Pharsight, Mountain View, CA, USA) as single dose (i.e. for the first day) and multiple dose (i.e. considering all time points). Peak plasma concentration (C<sub>max</sub>) and time to reach maximum concentration (T<sub>max</sub>) were obtained directly from the original data. The area under the plasma concentration-time curve from time zero to the last observed time point (AUC<sub>last</sub>) was calculated using the trapezoidal rule. The AUC from time zero to infinity (AUC<sub>inf</sub>) was determined as the sum of the AUC<sub>last</sub> and the extrapolated area calculated as the last plasma concentration (Clast) divided by the terminal rate constant (ke) that was determined by regression analysis of the log-linear part of the concentration-time curve. Elimination half-life ( $T_{1/2}$ ) was determined by 0.693/ $k_e$ . The total apparent clearance adjusted for bioavailability (CI/F) was calculated using the formula: Cl/F = dose/AUCinf. The volume of distribution adjusted for bioavailability (Vd/F) was calculated as Cl/F divided by ke. AUC and  $C_{max}$  were adjusted for dose/weight ratio (AUC/dW and  $C_{max}$ / dW, respectively) and were logarithmically transformed for statistical analysis.

#### 2.4 | Pupillary light reflex measurements

Pupillometric measurements were performed right before and 4 hours after drug administration on each day of hospitalization. The data were recorded with a PRL-200 automated monocular infrared pupillometer (NeurOptics, Irvine, CA, USA). Each measurement was performed in a hospital room with artificial illumination. In order to adjust for differences in luminosity, light intensity (in lux) was measured at the moment of the pupillometric determination.

Before starting the measurement, the subject was instructed to focus on a small target object with the eye that was not being tested open (left eye). Stimuli were single light pulses with a fixed intensity of 180  $\mu$ W during 154 ms. Once the device was focused on the target pupil (right eye), a white light stimulus was flashed. The measurements were sampled at a frequency of 32-frames/s and lasted up to 5 seconds, allowing a full or partial recovery of the pupil size after light constriction.

Eight different pupillometric parameters were measured based on the user guide.<sup>21</sup> Maximum pupil diameter (MAX) and minimum pupil diameter (MIN) represent the pupil diameter before constriction and just at the peak of constriction, respectively. The percentage of constriction (CON) was calculated by (MAX – MIN)/MAX. Latency (LAT) is time of the onset of constriction. ACV and MCV are average and maximum constriction velocity, respectively. The negative sign differentiates constriction from dilation being the opposite movement. After reaching its constriction, the pupil tends to recover and dilate back to its initial resting size, which is measured as average dilation velocity (ADV). T75 is the total time taken by the pupil to recover 75% of the initial resting pupil size after it reached the peak of constriction.

#### 2.5 | Genotyping

DNA was extracted from 1 mL of peripheral blood using a MagNA Pure LC DNA Isolation Kit in an automatic DNA extractor (MagNa Pure System, Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, Indiana, USA). Subsequently, it was quantified spectrophotometrically using a NanoDrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (Nanodrop Technologies, Wilmington, Delaware, USA) and the purity of the samples was determined by the A<sub>260/280</sub> absorbance ratio.

Samples were genotyped with TaqMan assays on an OpenArray platform on a QuantStudio 12 K Flex instrument. Results were analysed with the QuantStudio 12 K Flex and the TaqMan Genotyper softwares (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA).

The assay included 120 single nucleotide polymorphisms, of which the following 46 were analysed based on their importance in the metabolism and mechanism of action of ARI and OLA: CYP1A2 <sup>\*</sup>1C (rs2069514); <sup>\*</sup>1F (rs762551); <sup>\*</sup>1B 5347 T > C (rs2470890); CYP2D6 \*3 (rs35742686); \*4 (rs3892097); \*6 (rs5030655); \*7 (rs5030867); \*8 (rs5030865); \*9 (rs5030656); <sup>\*</sup>14 (rs5030865); \*10 (rs1065852); \*17 (rs28371706); \*41 (rs28371725); CYP3A4 \*22 (rs35599367); \*2 (rs55785340); \*6 (rs4646438); CYP3A5 \*3 (rs776746); \*6 (rs10264272); ABCB1 C3435T (rs1045642); G2677T/A (rs2032582); C1236T (rs1128503); rs3842; 1000-44G > T (rs10276036); 2895 + 3559C > T (rs7787082); 330-3208C > T (rs4728709); 2481 + 788 T > C (rs10248420);

3

2686-3393 T > G (rs10280101); 2320-695G > A (rs12720067); 2482-707A > G (rs11983225); 2212-372A > G (rs4148737); ADRA2A rs1800544; BDNF Val66Met (rs6265); COMT rs4680; rs13306278; DRD2 TaqIA (rs1800497); 957C > T (rs6277); -141 lns/Del (rs1799732); DRD3 Ser9Gly (rs6280); HTR2A T102C (rs6313); C1354T (rs6314); rs7997012; HTR2C -759C/T (rs3813929); -697G/C (rs518147); rs1414334; OPRM1 rs1799971; and UGT1A1 rs887829.

Copy number variations in the *CYP2D6* gene were determined with the TaqMan Copy Number Assay (Assay ID: Hs00010001\_cn; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) which detects a specific sequence in exon 9.<sup>22</sup> Samples were run in the same instrument.

Since the *CYP2D6* <sup>\*</sup>29 (rs16947) polymorphism was not included in the array, it was genotyped with the same instrument using individual TaqMan probes. Additionally, the *CYP3A4* <sup>\*</sup>20 (rs67666821) polymorphism was genotyped by the KASPar SNP Genotyping System (LGC Genomics, Herts, UK). The ABI PRISM 7900HT Sequence Detection System (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used for fluorescence detection and allele assignment.<sup>23</sup>

#### 2.6 | Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with the SPSS 24.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). *P* values ≤.05 were considered significant. Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium was estimated for all analysed variants. Deviations from the equilibrium were detected by comparing the observed and expected frequencies using a Fisher exact test based on the De Finetti program (available at http://ihg.gsf.de/cgibin/hw/hwa1.pl).

ANOVA was used to compare mean pharmacokinetic values according to different categories, e.g. genotype, sex and race. Changes in pupillometric parameters (MAX, MIN, T75, MCV, CON, ACV, ADV, LAT) were analysed by repeated measures ANOVA. The values were adjusted for differences in light intensity (in lux) before analysis. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to associate pupillometric parameters to pharmacokinetic parameters and polymorphisms. A Bonferroni correction was applied for each analysis. Multiple linear regression models were used to study factors related to all pupillometric and pharmacokinetic dependent variables.

CYP2D6 genotypes were classified in 4 phenotypes (poor metabolizer: PM; intermediate metabolizer: IM; normal/rapid

metabolizer: NM and ultra-rapid metabolizer: UM), which is based on the functionality of alleles<sup>24</sup> and according to the standardizing pharmacogenetic terms consensus.<sup>25</sup> CYP3A4 \*2, \*20, \*22 and CYP3A5 \*3 and \*6 genotypes were merged into a CYP3A phenotype as follows: subjects with at least 1 CYP3A4 reduced activity allele (i.e. CYP3A4 \*1/\*22 or \*22/\*22) and no CYP3A5 activity (CYP3A5 \*3/\*3) were considered PM; subjects with normal CYP3A4 activity (CYP3A4 \*1/\*1) and no CYP3A5 activity (CYP3A5 \*3/\*3) were considered IM and subjects with normal CYP3A4 activity (CYP3A4  $^{*}1/^{*}1$ ) and at least 1 CYP3A5 functional allele (CYP3A5 <sup>\*</sup>1/<sup>\*</sup>1 or <sup>\*</sup>1/<sup>\*</sup>3) were categorized as extensive metabolizers (EM).<sup>26</sup> Furthermore, a value was assigned to CYP1A2 \*1B, \*1C and \*1F alleles based on their functionality: 0.5 to <sup>\*</sup>1C, 1 to <sup>\*</sup>1, 1.5 to <sup>\*</sup>1F and 1.25 to <sup>\*</sup>1B. An activity score was calculated as the sum of the values assigned to each allele and finally was translated into phenotypes: NMs and UMs.<sup>27</sup>

#### 3 | RESULTS

#### 3.1 | Demographic and genotypic characteristics

Ten subjects were Caucasian and 14 were Latin American. The average age was similar between males and females. Males had greater weight and height than females; however, the body mass index values did not differ significantly (Table 1).

Genotype and phenotype frequencies of the analysed variants are shown in Table S1. *HTR2C* rs3813929, rs518147, *ABCB1* rs4728709, *COMT* rs13306278, *CYP2D6* <sup>1</sup>14 (rs5030865), <sup>\*</sup>17 (rs28371706), <sup>\*</sup>3 (rs35742686), <sup>\*</sup>6 (rs5030655), <sup>\*</sup>7 (rs5030867), <sup>\*</sup>8 (rs5030865), *CYP3A4* <sup>\*</sup>2 (rs55785340) and <sup>\*</sup>6 (rs4646438) were not in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium ( $P \le .05$ ). The rest of the polymorphisms were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium ( $P \ge .05$ ).

Genotype frequencies of *ABCB1* rs1128503, rs2032582, 10276036 and rs4148737 and *HTR2C* rs518147 polymorphisms were significantly different between males and females (Table S1).

#### 3.2 | Pharmacokinetic analysis

Mean and standard deviation of ARI, DARI and OLA pharmacokinetic parameters are shown in Table 2. Females had higher ARI  $T_{1/2}$ 

	n (%)	Age (y)	Weight (kg)	Height (m)	BMI (kg/m²)
All	24 (100)	31.5 ± 11.6	71.4 ± 12.2	$1.68 \pm 0.11$	25.3 ± 2.6
Males	12 (50)	28.5 ± 7.4	78.4 ± 12.2	1.76 ± 0.09	25.4 ± 2.8
Females	12 (50)	34.6 ± 14.3	64.3 ± 7.4	$1.60 \pm 0.07$	25.1 ± 2.5
Р		.104	.003	<.0001	.798

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics

Values are shown as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation unless otherwise indicated. BMI, body mass index

BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL

TABLE 2	Pharmacokinetic parameters of aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine after administration of a single dose ar	d 5
multiple doses		

Aripiprazole	All SINGLE DOSE	Males	Females	AII MULTIPLE DOSE	Males	Females
AUC (ng·h/mL) <sup>b</sup>	724.9 ± 236.5	647.0 ± 197.2	802.7 ± 254.6	11 102.4 ± 8234.0	7790.0 ± 4071.5	14 415.7 ± 10061.4
C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	50.6 ± 15.5	47.7 ± 14.4	53.5 ± 16.6	138.0 ± 45.9	129.6 ± 47.4	146.3 ± 44.9
T <sub>max</sub> (h)	$5.2 \pm 2.4$	4.8 ± 2.8	5.6 ± 2.0	$3.2 \pm 1.4$	$3.3 \pm 1.4$	3.2 ± 1.5
T <sub>½</sub> (h)	NA	NA	NA	66.1 ± 24.6	56.1 ± 19.9	$76.1 \pm 25.5^{a}$
Vd/F (L/kg)	NA	NA	NA	6.0 ± 1.6	5.1 ± 1.0	$7.0 \pm 1.4^{a}$
CI/F (mL/h/kg)	NA	NA	NA	68.1 ± 21.4	69.1 ± 25.6	67.1 ± 17.5
DEHYDRO-aripipra	zole All SINGLE I	Males DOSE	Females	AII MULTIPLE DOSE	Males	Females
AUC <sub>24h</sub> (ng·h/mL)	77.4 ± 43	3.9 90.3 ± 56.9	64.5 ± 20.6 <sup>a</sup>	5149.8 ± 1628.6	4721.3 ± 1670.3	5578.3 ± 1534.8
C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	5.4 ± 8.	5 6.5 ± 5.3	4.3 ± 1.2	34.9 ± 8.5	35.6 ± 9.6	34.1 ± 7.4
T <sub>max</sub> (h)	21.9 ± 4.	5 20.9 ± 5.4	22.9 ± 3.4	6.1 ± 4.4	7.1 ± 3.9	5.1 ± 4.8
T <sub>½</sub> (h)	NA	NA	NA	107.3 ± 62.5	89.4 ± 45.4	126.9 ± 74.2
Vd/F (L/kg)	NA	NA	NA	40.0 ± 44.0	22.4 ± 10.3	57.6 ± 57.1 <sup>a</sup>
CI/F (mL/h/kg)	NA	NA	NA	203.5 ± 51.0	181.3 ± 47.3	$230.7 \pm 44.2^{a}$
OLANZAPINE	AII SINGLE DOSE	Males	Females	AII MULTIPLE DOSE	Males	Females
AUC (ng·h/mL) <sup>b</sup>	127.6 ± 33.1	127.8 ± 38.6	127.4 ± 28.4	1289.5 ± 370.1	1142.7 ± 291.2	1436.2 ± 393.1
C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	7.9 ± 2.2	7.5 ± 2.0	8.2 ± 2.5	19.1 ± 4.8	$18.4 \pm 4.0$	19.9 ± 5.5
T <sub>max</sub> (h)	5.3 ± 2.3	5.4 ± 2.7	5.3 ± 1.9	4.4 ± 1.7	4.6 ± 1.6	4.3 ± 1.9
T <sub>½</sub> (h)	NA	NA	NA	77.1 ± 28.2	79.5 ± 33.4	74.8 ± 23.1
Vd/F (L/kg)	NA	NA	NA	26.6 ± 15.9	26.1 ± 17.2	27.0 ± 15.3
CI/F (mL/h/kg)	NA	NA	NA	229.7 ± 54.7	218.9 ± 51.9	240.6 ± 57.5

<sup>a</sup> $P \leq 0.05$  vs. males after adjusting for weight. NA: not available.

<sup>b</sup>for single dose administration the 24 h area under the concentration-time curve (AUC<sub>24h</sub>), while for multiple dose administration area under the curve from zero to infinity (AUC<sub>inf</sub>) are shown.

Abbreviations:  $C_{max}$ : maximum plasma concentration;  $T_{max}$ : time to reach the maximum plasma concentration; AUC: area under the curve;  $T_{1/2}$ : half-life; CI/F: total drug clearance adjusted for bioavailability; Vd/F: volume of distribution adjusted for bioavailability.

(P = .044) and Vd/F (P = .001) and DARI Vd/F (P = .048) and Cl/F (P = .015) after multiple dose administration. Moreover, males had higher DARI AUC<sub>24h</sub> (P = .035) after single dose administration. No differences were found in OLA pharmacokinetic parameters between males and females.

# 3.3 | The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on pupillary light reflex

Following the first oral administration of ARI, the pupil was significantly dilated. Subsequently, on the next 4 drug administration days ARI caused minor constriction. All pupillometric parameters changed significantly (MAX: P = .008; MIN: P = .009; CON: P = .013; LAT: P = .009; ACV: P = .012; MCV: P = .006; ADV: P = .024; T75: P = .015; Figure 1). OLA showed the same tendency, but only MIN reached the statistically significant level (P = .046; Figure 1). No differences were found between males and females regarding any pupillometric parameters.

#### 3.3.1 | Single dose administration

ARI AUC<sub>last</sub> and  $T_{max}$  had an influence on CON (P = .029 and P = .043, respectively). Moreover, AUC<sub>last</sub> had an impact on MCV and ADV (P = .004 and P = .034, respectively; Table 3).

Furthermore, DARI AUC<sub>24h</sub> had an impact on MAX (P = .042), MIN (P = .050), CON (P = .047), ACV (P = .049) and MCV (P = .046; Table 3).

These associations were not confirmed in the multivariate analysis (P > .05). Nonetheless, OLA pharmacokinetics did not have an effect on any of the pupillometric parameters.

#### 3.3.2 | Multiple dose administration

DARI  $C_{max}$  had an impact on several pupillometric parameters: MAX (P = .029), MIN (P = .049), CON (P = .015), ACV (P = .041), MCV (P = .027), ADV (P = .033) and T75 (P = .045; Table 3). These associations were not confirmed in the multivariate analysis (P > .05).



**FIGURE 1** Changes in pupillometric parameters after aripiprazole and olanzapine administration. MAX, maximum pupil diameter, MIN, minimum pupil diameter; CON, percentage of constriction; LAT, latency; ACV, average constriction velocity; MCV, maximum constriction velocity; ADV, average dilation velocity; T75, total time taken by the pupil to recover 75% of the initial resting pupil size

	1 (1) (1)							••••	
	Influence of the	nharmacokinetic	narameters of	arininrazole	and dehv	/dro-arinir	nrazole on ni	inillometric	narameters
INDEEV	influence of the	pharmacokinetie	parameters or	anpipiazoid	s and acriy	are aripi	Jiazoie on pi	apinometric	parameters

	Aripiprazole		Dehydro-aripiprazole			
	Single dose		Single dose	Multiple dose		
Variable	AUC <sub>last</sub> (ng·h/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	AUC <sub>24h</sub> (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)		
MAX			P = .042 ↓↓	P = .029 ↓↓		
MIN			<i>P</i> = .050 ↓↓	P = .049 ↓↓		
CON	P = .029 ↓↑	P = .043 ↓↓	P = .047 ↓↓	P = .015 ↓↓		
ACV			P = .049 ↓↓	P = .041 ↓↓		
MCV	P = .004 ↓↑		<i>P</i> = .046 ↓↑	<i>P</i> = .027 ↓↑		
ADV	P = .034 ↓↓			P = .033 ↓↓		
T75				P = .045 ↓↓		

The arrows show the relationship between pharmacokinetic and pupillometric parameters. The first arrow refers to the pharmacokinetic parameter, while the second arrow refers to the pupillometric parameter.  $\downarrow\uparrow$  is indirectly proportional, while  $\downarrow\downarrow$  is directly proportional with the changes.

Abbreviations: MAX: maximum pupil diameter; MIN: minimum pupil diameter; CON: percent of constriction; LAT: latency; ACV: average constriction velocity; MCV: maximum constriction velocity; ADV: average dilation velocity; T75: total time taken by the pupil to recover 75% of the initial resting pupil size.  $C_{max}$ : maximum plasma concentration;  $T_{max}$ · time to reach the maximum plasma concentration;  $AUC_{24h}$ : 24 h area under the concentration-time curve;  $AUC_{last}$ · area under the curve from time zero to the last observed time point.

Nonetheless, ARI and OLA pharmacokinetics did not have any association with any of the pupillometric parameters.

# 3.4 | The influence of polymorphisms on pupillometry

#### 3.4.1 | Aripiprazole

Subjects with the CYP3A IM phenotype had significantly higher MAX levels than PMs (P = .019). Moreover, *HTR2A* rs6314 T carriers and

UGT1A1 rs8877829 T/T homozygotes had higher MIN levels than C/C subjects (P = .025 and .039, respectively). Additionally, subjects with the CYP3A PM phenotype and DRD2 rs1800487 A2 carriers had higher CON values than with IM phenotype and A1 carriers, respectively; however, only CYP3A reached the significant level (P = .008 and .058, respectively).

Likewise, CYP3A IM and EM subjects, DRD2 rs1800487 A2 carriers, ABCB1 rs10280101 A/A, rs12720067 C/C and rs11983225 T/T subjects had higher LAT values than CYP3A PM subjects, DRD2 rs1800487 A1 carriers and ABCB1 10280101 C, ABCB1 rs12720067 T and ABCB1 rs19983225 C carriers, respectively (P = .020, .039

and .034, respectively). Moreover, CYP3A PM subjects had lower ACV and MCV values than IM subjects (P = .028 and .022, respectively). Finally, *HTR2A* rs6314 T allele carriers had higher T75 levels than C/C homozygotes, although it did not reach the statistically significant level (P = .058).

After performing the multivariate tests, the influence of HTR2A rs6314 on MIN and T75 remained significant (P = .001 and .020, respectively; Figure 2).

#### 3.4.2 | Olanzapine

DRD2 rs1800497 A2 allele carriers had higher MAX, ACV and MCV values than A1/A1 homozygotes (P = 0.025, .043 and .038).

After performing the multivariate tests, the influence of DRD2 rs1800497 on MAX remained significant (P = .039; Figure 2).

# 3.5 | The influence of polymorphisms on pharmacokinetics

The univariate and multivariate analyses revealed associations between ARI, DARI and OLA pharmacokinetic parameters and several polymorphisms (Tables S2, S3 and S4). Additionally, the results of the multivariate analysis are shown in Table 4. BICP BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL

respectively). Additionally, AUC<sub>inf</sub> and C<sub>max</sub> on days 1 and 5 were significantly higher in CYP1A2 UMs than in NMs and RMs (P = .034, .040 and .012, respectively). Moreover, CI/F was lower in CYP1A2 UMs compared to the other phenotypes (P = .033). Additionally, T<sub>max</sub> was higher in ABCB1 rs1045642 TT compared to CC subjects (P = .033). ABCB1 rs1045642 TT compared to CC subjects (P = .033). ABCB1 rs1045642 TT compared to CC subjects and T<sub>max</sub> than T carriers (P = .024 and .004). The results are shown in Table S2. Several of these associations were confirmed in the multivariate analysis (Table 4).

#### 3.5.2 | Dehydro-aripiprazole

 $C_{max}$  was significantly higher in CYP2D6 IM subjects than in NMs and UMs (P = .006). CYP3A4 PMs had higher AUC<sub>last</sub> and  $C_{max}$  than IMs and EMs (P = .001 and .001, respectively). Additionally, Vd/F was higher in CYP1A2 UMs than in NMs and RMs (P = .046). Additionally,  $T_{max}$  was higher in *ABCB1* rs1045642 T/T and lower in *ABCB1* rs4148737 C/C subjects compared to the other genotypes (P = .019 and P = .045, respectively). The results are shown in Table S3. Several of these associations were confirmed in the multivariate analysis (Table 4).

#### 3.5.3 | Olanzapine

#### 3.5.1 | Aripiprazole

Vd/F and Cl/F were notably higher in CYP2D6 UMs than in NMs and IMs (Vd/F: p = 0.001 and P = .016; Cl/F: P = .016 and .016,

 $T_{1/2}$  was 2 times higher in CYP3A EM subjects compared to IMs and PMs (P = .025). Additionally, *ABCB1* rs10280101 A/A, rs12720067 C/C and rs11983225 T/T subjects had significantly higher  $T_{1/2}$  compared to the other genotypes (P = .046, .046 and .046, respectively). Finally, *UGT1A1* rs887829 T/T homozygotes had higher  $T_{max}$  than

**FIGURE 2** The influence of HTR2A rs6314 and DRD2 rs1800497 polymorphisms on pupillometric parameters. (A) The influence of HTR2A rs6314 on minimum pupil diameter (MIN) during aripiprazole treatment. (B) The influence of HTR2A rs6314 on total time taken by the pupil to recover 75% of the initial resting pupil size (T75) during aripiprazole treatment. (C) The influence of DRD2 rs1800497 on maximum pupil diameter (MAX) during olanzapine treatment



#### 5

P ARMACOL

TABLE 4	Influence of genetic polymorphisms on aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine pharmacokinetic parameters in the
multivariate a	nalysis. Results with $P \leq .05$ are highlighted in bold

Aripiprazole						
Variable	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T <sub>1/2</sub> (h)	Cl/F (L/h·kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)
CYP2D6 phenotype	β = -1063.9; P = .049			β = 16.2; P = .005	β = 15.1; <i>P</i> = .055	$\beta = 1.9; P = .001$
CYP1A2 phenotype	β = 64555; P = .035	β = 421; P = .044		β = 29.3; <i>P</i> = .041	$\beta = -22.1; P = .054$	
ABCB1 rs1045642			$\beta = 0.183; P = .738$			
ABCB1 rs4148737	β = 58941; P = .026		$\beta$ = .183; <i>P</i> = .545	β = -17.5; P = .027		
Dehydro-aripiprazole						
Variable	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T <sub>1/2</sub> (h)	Cl/F (L/h·kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)
CYP2D6 phenotype		β = 17.3; P = .043	3			
CYP3A4 phenotype	β = 4257; P = .273	β = 55.2; P = .00	5 β = 3.14; P = .	015		
CYP1A2 phenotype		β = 70.5; P = .03	9			$\beta = 10.2; P = .387$
ABCB1 rs1045642			β = 2.93; P = .	021		
ABCB1 rs4148737			β = -1.99; P =	.240		$\beta$ = 17.1; <i>P</i> = .041
Olanzapine						
Variable	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T <sub>1/2</sub> (h)	Cl/F (L/h·kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)
CYP3A4 phenotype				β = −17; P = .037		
ABCB1 rs10280101				β = -26.9; P = .145	5	
ABCB1 rs12720067				β = -26.9; P = .145	5	
ABCB1 rs11983225				β = -26.9; P = .145	5	
UGT1A1 rs887829			β = 1.58; P = .006			

Abbreviations: CYP: cytochrome p450 oxidase; ABCB1: ATP binding cassette subfamily B member 1; UGT1A1: UDP glucuronosyltransferase family 1 member A1;  $C_{max}$ : maximum plasma concentration;  $T_{max}$ : time to reach the maximum plasma concentration; AUC: area under the curve;  $T_{1/2}$ : half-life; Cl/F: total drug clearance adjusted for bioavailability; Vd/F: volume of distribution adjusted for bioavailability.

C/T heterozygotes and C/C homozygotes (P = .016). The results are shown in Table S4. Several of these associations were confirmed in the multivariate analysis (Table 4).

#### 4 | DISCUSSION

# 4.1 | The influence of sex on pharmacokinetics, pharmacogenetics and pupillometry

In the current study, ARI and DARI pharmacokinetics were affected by sex. Females had higher ARI T<sub>1/2</sub> and Vd/F than males, which is consistent with our previous studies.<sup>18,28</sup> However, in the present study females had higher DARI Vd/F and Cl/F and lower AUC<sub>last</sub>, which may be explained by the low sample size. Based on previous studies, Cl/F should be lower in males compared to females.<sup>29,30</sup> Nonetheless, no dosage adjustment is recommended for ARI or OLA despite sex differences because they are predominantly explained by the differences in body weight.<sup>30,31</sup>

The differences observed in the prevalence of *ABCB1* rs1128503, rs2032582, rs10276036 and rs4148737 polymorphisms regarding sex may be explained by the reduced sample size. Regarding *HTR2C*, it is explained by the location of the gene on chromosome X.

Some polymorphisms were not in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Regarding *HTR2C*, it is due to the location of the gene on chromosome X. The disequilibrium for *ABCB1* rs4728709 and *COMT* rs13306278 could be explained by the small sample size. Regarding the *CYP2D6* and *CYP3A4* polymorphisms it is explained by the low frequency of mutated alleles.

No differences were found between males and females in any of the pupillometric parameters, which is consistent with previous studies.<sup>18,32</sup>

# 4.2 | Effects of aripiprazole, dehydro-aripiprazole and olanzapine on pupillometry

The mechanism of action of ARI and OLA is still not perfectly understood.<sup>33</sup> ARI and DARI achieve their pharmacological effect possibly by partial agonistic activity at dopamine D2 and 5-HT1A receptors and antagonistic activity at 5-HT2A receptors. Pharmacodynamic effects on receptors other than dopamine D2, 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A may explain other clinical effects: changes in pupillary light reflex could be caused by partial agonistic activity at  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptors.<sup>31</sup> Pupil dilatation is primarily an  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptor-mediated effect,<sup>34</sup> while it is mediated to a lesser extent by dopamine and serotonin receptors.<sup>35,36</sup>

8

The dilatation observed after the first ARI administration could be explained by its partial agonism at these receptors. On the contrary, OLA is an antagonist at these receptors,<sup>3</sup> therefore, it could explain the lack of pupil dilatation. Both ARI and DARI have higher affinity for dopamine D2 and 5-HT1A than for  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptors.<sup>37</sup> When DARI was present, neither ARI nor DARI bound to  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptors due to competitive inhibition caused by the higher affinity for dopamine D2 and 5-HT1A receptors. Hence, a constriction was observed after drug administration. Our results could confirm the fact that pupillary changes may rather be caused by the metabolite than the parent compound.<sup>34</sup> This could be the reason why DARI C<sub>max</sub> and AUC<sub>last</sub> had an influence on several pupillometric parameters, while the pharmacokinetic parameters of ARI influenced only a few of them.

In conclusion, ARI and DARI caused changes in pupillary light reflex due to their unique pharmacological profile. Measuring dynamic pupillary light reflex is already a valid test for the pharmacodynamic effects of opioid- and some noradrenergic drugs.<sup>38,39</sup> Both drugs caused pupil constriction in 2 previous studies<sup>18,40</sup>; however, in another study, neither ARI nor OLA affected pupil contraction.<sup>41</sup> Hence, more studies are needed to alleviate the ambiguity and they should be repeated in patients. Afterwards, pupillometry could be introduced in the practice to assess autonomic nerve activity.

#### 4.3 | Polymorphisms and pupillometry

In previous studies with opioids, CYP2D6 UMs experienced increased and PMs experienced decreased pupil size compared to EMs.<sup>38,39</sup> We could not replicate these findings with ARI and OLA, which may be due to their different mechanism of action. Additionally, we did not find any PM and only 2 UMs were present in our population. Our results confirm those in our previous study with healthy volunteers that no associations can be found between CYP2D6 phenotypes and pupillometric parameters.<sup>18</sup>

CYP3A phenotypes are unrelated to opioid pharmacokinetics.<sup>42</sup> Notwithstanding, in the present study, CYP3A IM pupil size was increased compared to that of PMs after ARI administration. This was expected as ARI caused pupil constriction after multiple dose administration; the pupil was under prolonged ARI exposure in PM subjects.

The effects of dopamine and serotonin on the pupillary light reflex are well known. High serotonin levels cause pupil dilatation<sup>36</sup> and dopamine may cause pupil dilatation or constriction through sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves, respectively.<sup>35</sup> Based on our results, pupil constriction could be due to the antagonist activity of ARI at 5-HT2A and 5-HT7 receptors, while its dilatation could be explained by its partial agonism at dopamine D2, D3, D4 and serotonin 5-HT1A, 5-HT2C receptors.<sup>37</sup> This theory was confirmed by our study: both *HTR2A* rs6314 and *DRD2* rs1800487 had an influence on the pupil size, the proportion of its change, the time of onset of constriction and pupil recovery. Additionally, *DRD2* rs1800487 also affected the pupil size and its constriction velocity after OLA treatment. In our previous study some *HTR2A*, *HTR2C*, *DRD2* and *DRD3* polymorphisms were also related to pupillometric parameters.<sup>18</sup> The

lack of associations with HTR2C and DRD3 polymorphisms in the present study could be due to the low sample size.

Both ARI and OLA are transported by the P-glycoprotein (P-gp, ABCB1, MDR1).<sup>43</sup> However, to our knowledge, no previous study could associate the genetic differences in *ABCB1* to pupil contraction. We previously analysed 3 polymorphisms: rs1045642 (C3435T), rs1128503 (C1236T) and rs2032582 (G2677T/A), but no associations were found.<sup>18</sup> In the current study we analysed 12 *ABCB1* polymorphisms. No association was found with the 3 previously mentioned polymorphisms; however, 3 others had an influence on pupil recovery after ARI treatment. It may suggest that, even though the 3 most common polymorphisms do not affect the pupillary light reflex, others could have an influence. Further research including other less studied *ABCB1* polymorphisms should be performed.

UGT1A1 rs8877829 subjects with the mutated T/T genotype had greater pupil size after ARI treatment. Based on in vitro studies, ARI does not undergo direct glucuronidation by UGT enzymes<sup>31</sup>; however, no sufficient evidence is available thus far. Considering our results, UGT1A1 may be involved in ARI metabolism.

#### 4.4 | Pharmacokinetics and polymorphisms

Our study confirms the impact of CYP2D6 phenotypes on ARI and DARI pharmacokinetics.<sup>18,44,45</sup> All pharmacokinetic parameters, except for T<sub>max</sub>, were different in UMs compared to NMs and IMs.

CYP3A only had an impact on DARI and OLA pharmacokinetics, confirming its involvement in ARI and OLA metabolism.<sup>7</sup> The lack of association with the parent drug, ARI, may be due to the low sample size, because CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 contribute about equally to the metabolism of aripiprazole.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, CYP3A activity varies predominantly by sex and inhibition or induction of a wide range of substrates, rather than by polymorphisms.<sup>46</sup>

Based on the literature, ARI is not a substrate of CYP1A2.<sup>31</sup> Unexpectedly, in our study, the CYP1A2 phenotype influenced ARI and DARI pharmacokinetics as UMs showed a lower disposition compared to the other phenotypes. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to report a similar result. Based on our findings, more studies should be performed to confirm the role of CYP1A2 in ARI pharmacokinetics.

To date, there are no consistent findings about the role of polymorphisms in ABCB1. In our previous studies the C1236T (rs1128503) polymorphism had an influence on ARI pharmacokinetics.<sup>18,47</sup> In the current study, the C3435T (rs1045642) and rs4148737 polymorphisms were related to ARI and DARI T<sub>1/2</sub> and C<sub>max</sub>—and the rs10280101, rs12720067 and rs11983225 polymorphisms had an influence on OLA T<sub>1/2</sub> levels. Presumably ABCB1 has an effect on the pharmacokinetics of these antipsychotics being substrates of P-gp.<sup>43</sup> According to our knowledge, no other study analysed polymorphisms in ABCB1 other than C3435T (rs1045642), G2677TA (rs2032582), C1236T (rs1128503). More studies are needed including more polymorphisms in ABCB1 to provide a wider insight of its role in ARI and OLA pharmacokinetics. Additionally, as stated previously, the lack of consensus on P-gp pharmacogenetics

is partially explained by the lack of studies and the guidelines describing phenotype interference from variants.

Finally, the *UGT1A1* rs887829 polymorphism affected OLA pharmacokinetics. In a previous study, this polymorphism was related to some adverse effects but not pharmacokinetics.<sup>48</sup> OLA is metabolized predominantly by direct glucuronidation via the UGT enzyme family,<sup>7</sup> but clear evidence was found only for UGT1A4.<sup>6</sup> Additionally, *UGT1A4* and *UGT2B10* polymorphisms significantly contributed to the interindividual variability in OLA metabolism.<sup>49,50</sup> Our study is the first reporting an association between an *UGT1A1* polymorphism and OLA pharmacokinetics.

#### 4.5 | Study limitations

Only 24 subjects were included in the study, which we consider its main limitation. Therefore, it is important to interpret these results with caution: studies including more subjects are necessary to increase the statistical reliability of the results. Moreover, the present study should be repeated in schizophrenic patients, whose brain structure and genetics may differ from healthy volunteers. Moreover, neither ARI, nor OLA reached steady state during 5 days of treatment. Both could have had a greater effect on autonomic nerve activity if they had reached steady state. However, the Ethics Committee does not authorize a treatment longer than 5 days with antipsychotics in healthy volunteers. Accordingly, we cannot apply pupillometry to assess autonomic disfunction in the clinical practice yet. Additionally, the CI/F and Vd/F values were calculated without knowing the bioavailability, which can yield questionable results, especially for DARI.

#### 5 | CONCLUSIONS

ARI administration produced pupil contraction: it affected all pupillometric parameters. After the first dosing it caused dilatation, which was followed by constriction after each day of treatment. OLA did not cause any changes in any of the pupillometric parameters. Additionally, the effects of ARI on the pupil size, the time of onset of constriction, pupil recovery and constriction velocity were associated with polymorphisms in *CYP3A*, *HTR2A*, *UGT1A1*, *DRD2* and *ABCB1* genes. ARI, DARI and OLA pharmacokinetics were significantly affected by polymorphisms in *CYP2D6*, *CYP3A*, *CYP1A2*, *ABCB1* and *UGT1A1* genes. In conclusion, pupillography could be a noninvasive tool to assess autonomic nervous system activity during antipsychotic drug treatment.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are grateful to the volunteers for participating in the study and for the efforts of the staff of the Clinical Trials Unit of La Princesa University Hospital. We are also grateful to the Clinical Trials Unit of the Autonomous University of Madrid for providing us the NeurOptics PRL-200 pupillometer. D. Koller is financed by the

H2020 Marie Sklodowska-Curie Innovative Training Network 721236 grant. M. Navares is financed by "Consejería de Educación, Juventud y Deporte" from "Comunidad de Madrid" and "Fondo Social Europeo" PEJD-2017-PRE/BMD-4164 grant.

#### **COMPETING INTERESTS**

F. Abad-Santos and D. Ochoa have been consultants or investigators in clinical trials sponsored by the following pharmaceutical companies: Abbott, Alter, Chemo, Cinfa, FAES, Farmalíder, Ferrer, GlaxoSmithKline, Galenicum, Gilead, Janssen-Cilag, Kern, Normon, Novartis, Servier, Silverpharma, Teva and Zambon. The remaining authors declare no conflicts of interest.

#### CONTRIBUTORS

Wrote manuscript: Dora Koller; designed research: Dora Koller, Francisco Abad-Santos, Miriam Saiz-Rodríguez, Dolores Ochoa; performed clinical trial: Manuel Román, Gina Mejía, Francisco Abad-Santos, Daniel Romero-Palacián, Alejandro de Miguel-Cáceres, Samuel Martín, Dolores Ochoa; analysed data: Dora Koller, Susana Almenara, Francisco Abad-Santos; determination of drug concentrations: Dora Koller, Pablo Zubiaur, Aneta Wojnicz; pharmacogenetics: Dora Koller, Pablo Zubiaur, Marcos Navares, Miriam Saiz-Rodríguez.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Clinical Trial registry name, URL and registration number: TREATMENT-HV, EUDRA-CT: 2018-000744-26, https://eudract.ema.europa.eu/.

#### ORCID

Dora Koller Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-0415-0466

#### REFERENCES

- Conley RR, Kelly DL. Second-generation antipsychotics for schizophrenia: a review of clinical pharmacology and medication-associated side effects. Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci. 2005;42(1):51-60.
- Shapiro DA, Renock S, Arrington E, et al. Aripiprazole, a novel atypical antipsychotic drug with a unique and robust pharmacology. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. Aug. 2003;28(8):1400-1411. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300203
- Bhana N, Foster RH, Olney R, Plosker GL. Olanzapine: an updated review of its use in the management of schizophrenia. *Drugs.* 2001;61 (1):111-161.
- Bymaster FP, Calligaro DO, Falcone JF, et al. Radioreceptor binding profile of the atypical antipsychotic Olanzapine. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 1996;14(2):87-96. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0893-133X(94)00129-N
- McGavin JK, Goa KL. Aripiprazole. CNS Drugs. 2002;16(11):779-786. discussion 787–788
- Linnet K. Glucuronidation of olanzapine by cDNA-expressed human UDP-glucuronosyltransferases and human liver microsomes. *Hum Psychopharmacol Clin Exp.* 2002;17(5):233-238. https://doi.org/10. 1002/hup.403
- Urichuk L, Prior TI, Dursun S, Baker G. Metabolism of atypical antipsychotics: involvement of cytochrome p450 enzymes and relevance for drug-drug interactions. *Curr Drug Metab.* Jun. 2008;9(5): 410-418.

- Granholm E, Steinhauer SR. Pupillometric measures of cognitive and emotional processes. Int J Psychophysiol. 2004;52(1):1-6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2003.12.001
- Lowenstein O, Loewenfeld IE. Electronic pupillography; a new instrument and some clinical applications. AMA Arch Ophthalmol. 1958;59 (3):352-363.
- Harris SC, Cipriano A, Colucci SV, et al. Oral abuse potential, pharmacokinetics, and safety of once-daily, single-entity, extended-release hydrocodone (HYD) in recreational opioid users. *Pain Med Malden Mass.* Jul. 2017;18(7):1278-1291. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/ pnw208
- 11. Levy-Cooperman N, McIntyre G, Bonifacio L, et al. Abuse potential and Pharmacodynamic characteristics of Oral and intranasal Eluxadoline, a mixed  $\mu$ - and  $\kappa$ -opioid receptor agonist and  $\delta$ -opioid receptor antagonist. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2016;359(3):471-481. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.116.236547
- Mangas-Sanjuan V, Pastor JM, Rengelshausen J, Bursi R, Troconiz IF. Population pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modelling of the effects of axomadol and its O-demethyl metabolite on pupil diameter and nociception in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2016;82(1): 92-107. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.12921
- Pickworth WB, Lee H, Fudala PJ. Buprenorphine-induced pupillary effects in human volunteers. *Life Sci.* 1990;47(14):1269-1277.
- Rasimas JJ, Liebelt EL. Adverse effects and toxicity of the atypical antipsychotics: what is important for the pediatric emergency medicine practitioner? *Clin Pediatr Emerg Med.* Dec. 2012;13(4):300-310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpem.2012.09.005
- de Bartolomeis A, Tomasetti C, lasevoli F. Update on the mechanism of action of aripiprazole: translational insights into antipsychotic strategies beyond dopamine receptor antagonism. CNS Drugs. Sep. 2015;29(9):773-799. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-015-0278-3
- Lord CC, Wyler SC, Wan R, et al. The atypical antipsychotic olanzapine causes weight gain by targeting serotonin receptor 2C. *J Clin Invest*. Sep. 2017;127(9):3402-3406. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI93362
- Costagliola C, Parmeggiani F, Semeraro F, Sebastiani A. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: a review of its effects on intraocular pressure. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* 2008;6(4):293-310. https://doi.org/ 10.2174/157015908787386104
- Koller D, Belmonte C, Lubomirov R, et al. Effects of aripiprazole on pupillometric parameters related to pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics after single oral administration to healthy subjects. *J Psychopharmacol Oxf Engl.* 2018;32(11):1212-1222. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0269881118798605
- Kim J, Shin W. How to do random allocation (randomization). *Clin* Orthop Surg. 2014;6(1):103-109. https://doi.org/10.4055/cios.2014. 6.1.103
- Koller D, Zubiaur P, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Abad-Santos F, Wojnicz A. Simultaneous determination of six antipsychotics, two of their metabolites and caffeine in human plasma by LC-MS/MS using a phospholipid-removal microelution-solid phase extraction method for sample preparation. *Talanta*. Jun. 2019;198:159-168. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.talanta.2019.01.112
- 21. NeurOptics, Inc. Neuroptics PLR-200 Pupillometer Instruction Manual, 2010.
- Saiz-Rodríguez M, Belmonte C, Román M, et al. Effect of polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and safety of sertraline in healthy volunteers. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol*. Nov. 2017;122(5):501-511. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcpt.12938
- Apellániz-Ruiz M, Inglada-Pérez L, Naranjo ME, et al. High frequency and founder effect of the CYP3A4<sup>2</sup>20 loss-of-function allele in the Spanish population classifies CYP3A4 as a polymorphic enzyme. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2015;15(3):288-292. https://doi.org/10.1038/ tpj.2014.67

- 24. Caudle KE, Sangkuhl K, Whirl-Carrillo M, et al. Standardizing CYP 2D6 genotype to phenotype translation: consensus recommendations from the clinical Pharmacogenetics implementation consortium and Dutch Pharmacogenetics working group. *Clin Transl Sci.* 2019;13(1): 116-124. https://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12692
- Caudle KE, Dunnenberger HM, Freimuth RR, et al. Standardizing terms for clinical pharmacogenetic test results: consensus terms from the clinical Pharmacogenetics implementation consortium (CPIC). *Genet Med off J Am Coll Med Genet*. 2017;19(2):215-223. https://doi. org/10.1038/gim.2016.87
- Sanchez Spitman AB, Moes DJAR, Gelderblom H, Dezentje VO, Swen JJ, Guchelaar HJ. Effect of CYP3A4<sup>\*</sup>22, CYP3A5<sup>\*</sup>3, and CYP3A combined genotypes on tamoxifen metabolism. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2017;73(12):1589-1598. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-017-2323-2
- Saiz-Rodríguez M, Ochoa D, Belmonte C, et al. Polymorphisms in CYP1A2, CYP2C9 and ABCB1 affect agomelatine pharmacokinetics. J Psychopharmacol Oxf Engl. Apr. 2019;33(4):522-531. https://doi. org/10.1177/0269881119827959
- Belmonte C, Ochoa D, Román M, et al. Evaluation of the relationship between pharmacokinetics and the safety of aripiprazole and its cardiovascular effects in healthy volunteers. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2016;36 (6):608-614. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.000000000000577
- Bigos KL, Pollock BG, Coley KC, et al. Sex, race, and smoking impact olanzapine exposure. J Clin Pharmacol. Feb. 2008;48(2):157-165. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270007310385
- ZYPREXA (olanzapine), FDA. ZYPREXA (olanzapine). HIGHLIGHTS OF PRESCRIBING INFORMATION. U S Food and Drug Administration, 1996.
- Abilify, Otsuka Pharmaceutical, Co., Ltd. Food and Drug Administration. Aripiprazole label. Available at: http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/ drugsatfda\_docs/label/2014/021436s038, 021713s030,021729s022,021866s023lbl.pdf," 01-Jul-2014.
- Telek HH. The effects of age pupil diameters at different light amplitudes. *Beyoglu Eye J.* 2018. https://doi.org/10.14744/bej.2018. 43534
- Horacek J, Bubenikova-Valesova V, Kopecek M, et al. Mechanism of action of atypical antipsychotic drugs and the neurobiology of schizophrenia. CNS Drugs. 2006;20(5):389-409. https://doi.org/10.2165/ 00023210-200620050-00004
- Turner P. The human pupil as a model for clinical pharmacological investigations. J R Coll Physicians Lond. 1975;9(2):165-171.
- 35. Spiers AS, Calne DB. Action of dopamine on the human iris. Br Med J. 1969;4(5679):333-335.
- Yu Y, Ramage AG, Koss MC. Pharmacological studies of 8-OH-DPATinduced pupillary dilation in anesthetized rats. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2004; 489(3):207-213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2004.03.007
- Di Sciascio G, Riva MA. Aripiprazole: from pharmacological profile to clinical use. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. 2015;11:2635-2647. https:// doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S88117
- Fliegert F, Kurth B, Göhler K. The effects of tramadol on static and dynamic pupillometry in healthy subjects--the relationship between pharmacodynamics, pharmacokinetics and CYP2D6 metaboliser status. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2005;61(4):257-266. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00228-005-0920-y
- Theofilopoulos N, McDade G, Szabadi E, Bradshaw C. Effects of reboxetine and desipramine on the kinetics of the pupillary light reflex. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1995;39(3):251-255. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1365-2125.1995.tb04444.x
- Kleinloog D, Liem-Moolenaar M, Jacobs G, et al. Does olanzapine inhibit the psychomimetic effects of Δ<sup>9</sup>-tetrahydrocannabinol? *J Psychopharmacol Oxf Engl.* 2012;26(10):1307-1316. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0269881112446534
- 41. Cumurcu T, Keser S, Cumurcu BE, Gunduz A, Kartalci S. Refraction and eye anterior segment parameters in schizophrenic patients. Arq

#### 12 BJCP BICISH BJCP SOCIETY

Bras Oftalmol. Jun. 2015;78(3):180-184. https://doi.org/10.5935/0004-2749.20150046

- Samer CF, Daali Y, Wagner M, et al. Genetic polymorphisms and drug interactions modulating CYP2D6 and CYP3A activities have a major effect on oxycodone analgesic efficacy and safety. Br J Pharmacol. 2010;160(4):919-930. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010. 00709.x
- Moons T, de Roo M, Claes S, Dom G. Relationship between Pglycoprotein and second-generation antipsychotics. *Pharmaco*genomics. 2011;12(8):1193-1211. https://doi.org/10.2217/pgs.11.55
- Hendset M, Hermann M, Lunde H, Refsum H, Molden E. Impact of the CYP2D6 genotype on steady-state serum concentrations of aripiprazole and dehydroaripiprazole. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2007; 63(12):1147-1151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-007-0373-6
- 45. Suzuki T, Mihara K, Nakamura A, et al. Effects of genetic polymorphisms of CYP2D6, CYP3A5, and ABCB1 on the steady-state plasma concentrations of aripiprazole and its active metabolite, dehydroaripiprazole, in Japanese patients with schizophrenia. *Ther Drug Monit.* Oct. 2014;36(5):651-655. https://doi.org/10.1097/FTD. 000000000000070
- Cotreau MM, von Moltke LL, Greenblatt DJ. The influence of age and sex on the clearance of cytochrome P450 3A substrates. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2005;44(1):33-60. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-200544010-00002
- Belmonte C, Ochoa D, Román M, et al. Influence of CYP2D6, CYP3A4, CYP3A5 and ABCB1 polymorphisms on pharmacokinetics and safety of aripiprazole in healthy volunteers. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol*. 2018;122(6):596-605. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcpt.12960

- Cabaleiro T, López-Rodríguez R, Ochoa D, Román M, Novalbos J, Abad-Santos F. Polymorphisms influencing olanzapine metabolism and adverse effects in healthy subjects: OLANZAPINE PHARMACOGENETICS. *Hum Psychopharmacol Clin Exp.* 2013;28(3): 205-214. https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.2308
- Erickson-Ridout KK, Zhu J, Lazarus P. Olanzapine metabolism and the significance of UGT1A448V and UGT2B1067Y variants. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2011;21(9):539-551. https://doi.org/10. 1097/FPC.0b013e328348c76b
- Ghotbi R, Mannheimer B, Aklillu E, et al. Carriers of the UGT1A4 142T>G gene variant are predisposed to reduced olanzapine exposure—an impact similar to male gender or smoking in schizophrenic patients. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2010;66(5):465-474. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00228-009-0783-8

#### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Koller D, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Zubiaur P, et al. The effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine on pupillary light reflex and its relationship with pharmacogenetics in a randomized multiple-dose trial. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2020; 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.14300

*Table* **S1. Genotype frequencies.** Values are expressed as number of subjects (percentage of the total).

Gene / variant	Genotype	Total	Males	Females
	NM	16 (66.7)	8 (66.7)	8 (66.7)
CYP2D6 phenotype	IM	6 (25.0)	3 (25.0)	3 (25.0)
	UM	2 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)
	'	. ,		
	NM/RM	17 (70.8)	10 (83.3)	7 (58.3)
CYPIA2 pnenotype	UM	7 (29.2)	2 (16.7)	5 (41.7)
	'			
	EM	4 (66.7)	3 (25.0)	1 (8.3)
CYP3A4 phenotype	IM	17 (25.0)	7 (58.3)	10 (83.3)
	PM	3 (8.3)	2 (16.7)	1 (8.3)
	'	. ,		. ,
	C/C	7 (29.2)	6 (50.0)	1 (8.3)
ABCB1 rs1045642*	C/T	12 (50.0)	4 (33.3)	8 (66.7)
	T/T	5 (20.8)	2 (16.7)	3 (25.0)
	C/C	8 (33.3)	6 (50.0)	2 (16.7)
ABCB1 rs1128503*	C/T	11 (45.8)	6 (50.0)	5 (41.7)
	T/T	5 (20.8)	0 (0.0)	5 (41.7)
	'			
	C/C	9 (37.5)	7 (58.3)	2 (16.7)
ABCB1 rs2032582*	C/A	12 (50.0)	5 (41.7)	7 (41.7)
	A/T	3 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	3 (41.7)
		`,	· · ·	· · · ·
	G/G	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
ABCB1 rs10248420	A/G	11 (45.8)	6 (50.0)	5 (41.7)
	A/A	12 (50.0)	6 (50.0)	6 (50.0)
		· · ·	· · · ·	· · ·
	T/T	8 (33.3)	6 (50.0)	2 (16.7)
ABCB1 rs10276036*	C/T	11 (45.8)	6 (50.0)	5 (41.7)
	C/C	5 (20.8)	0 (0.0)	5 (41.7)
40001	A/A	16 (66.7)	7 (58.3)	9 (75.0)
ABCB1 F\$10280101	A/C	8 (33.3)	5 (41.7)	3 (25.0)
		· · ·	· · · ·	· · · ·
ADCD1 wa11002005	T/T	16 (66.7)	7 (58.3)	9 (75.0)
ABCB1 F\$11983225	C/T	8 (33.3)	5 (41.7)	3 (25.0)
	'	· · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
ABCR1 vo1070067	C/C	16 (66.7)	7 (58.3)	9 (75.0)
ADUDI 1812/2000/	C/T	8 (33.3)	5 (41.7)	3 (25.0)
	T/T	19 (79.2)	9 (75.0)	10 (83.3)
ABCB1 rs3842	C/T	4 (16.7)	3 (25.0)	1 (8.3)
	C/C	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)

Gene / variant	Genotype	Total	Males	Females
	T/T	9 (37.5)	1 (8.3)	8 (66.7)
ABCB1 rs4148737*	C/T	12 (50.0)	9 (75.0)	3 (25.0)
	C/C	3 (12.5)	2 (16.7)	1 (8.3)
	A/A	1 (4.2)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)
ABCB1 rs4728709	A/G	2 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)
	G/G	21 (87.5)	10 (83.3)	11 (91.7)
	A/A	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
ABCB1 rs7787082	A/G	12 (50.0)	7 (58.3)	5 (41.7)
	G/G	11 (45.8)	5 (41.7)	6 (50.0)
			1	
ADRA2A rs1800544	C/C	16 (66.7)	8 (66.7)	8 (66.7)
101012/1191000344	C/G	8 (33.3)	4 (33.3)	4 (33.3)
				1
	C/C	16 (66.7)	6 (50.0)	10 (83.3)
BDNF rs6265	C/T	6 (25.0)	5 (41.7)	1 (8.3)
	T/T	2 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)
	CIC .	21 (07 5)	10 (02 2)	11 (01 7)
	C/C	21 (87.5)	10 (83.3)	11 (91.7)
<i>COMT</i> rs13306278	C/T	2 (8.3)	2 (16.7)	0 (0.0)
	1/1	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
		5 (20.8)	2 (25.0)	2(1(7))
	G/G	3(20.8)	3 (23.0)	2(10.7)
<i>COM1</i> rs4680	A/G	10 (41.7)	4 (33.3)	6 (50.0)
	A/A	9 (37.5)	5 (41.7)	4 (33.3)
	A / A	0 (27 5)	5 (11 7)	1 (22.2)
ח <i>חח</i> אמר המת		$\frac{9(37.3)}{12(54.2)}$	7(583)	4 (33.3) 6 (50.0)
DKD2 1802 / /	A/G	$\frac{13(34.2)}{2(8.2)}$	0 (0 0)	0(30.0)
	G/G	2 (8.3)	0 (0.0)	2 (10.7)
	G/G	18 (75 0)	7 (58 3)	11 (91 7)
<i>DRD2</i> rs1799732	G/G	6 (25)	5 (41 7)	1 (8 3)
	<b>U</b> /-	0 (25)	5 (41.7)	1 (0.5)
	A1/A1	14 (58 3)	7 (58 3)	7 (58 3)
DRD2 rs1800497	A1/A2	7 (29 2)	4 (33 3)	3 (25 0)
	A2/A2	$\frac{7(2)(2)}{3(125)}$	1 (8 3)	2 (16 7)
	1 2 2 1 2 2		1 (0.0)	- (10.7)
	Ser/Ser	6 (25.0)	3 (25.0)	3 (25.0)
DRD3 rs6280	Ser/Glv	14 (58.3)	8 (66.7)	6 (50.0)
0 100200	Gly/Gly	4 (16.7)	1 (8.3)	3 (25.0)
	<i>,</i> ,	. (2017)		2 (20:0)
	C/C	9 (37.5)	3 (25.0)	6 (50.0)
HTR2A rs6313	C/T	9 (37.5)	6 (50.0)	3 (25.0)

Gene / variant	Genotype	Total	Males	Females
	T/T	6 (25.0)	3 (25.0)	3 (25.0)
HTRIA re6311	C/C	22 (91.7)	11 (91.7)	11 (91.7)
111 1 2/1 1 50514	C/T	2 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)
	G/G	11 (45.8)	6 (50.0)	5 (41.7)
<i>HTR2A</i> rs7997012	A/G	12 (50.0)	6 (50.0)	6 (50.0)
	A/A	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
	C/C	20 (83.3)	11 (91.7)	9 (75.0)
HTR2C rs1414334	C/G	3 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	3 (25.0)
	G/G	1 (4.2)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)
	C/C	5 (20.8)	4 (33.3)	1 (8.3)
<i>HTR2C</i> rs518147*	C/G	6 (25.0)	0 (0.0)	6 (50.0)
	G/G	13 (54.2)	8 (66.7)	5 (41.7)
	C/C	18 (75.0)	10 (83.3)	8 (66.7)
<i>HTR2C</i> rs3813929	C/T	3 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	3 (25.0)
	T/T	3 (12.5)	2 (16.7)	1 (8.3)
	A/A	19 (79.2)	10 (83.3)	9 (75.0)
<i>OPRM1</i> rs1799971	A/G	4 (16.7)	2 (16.7)	2 (16.7)
	G/G	1 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)
	C/C	8 (33.3)	2 (16.7)	6 (50.0)
UGT1A1 rs887829	C/T	11 (45.8)	7 (58.3)	4 (33.3)
	T/T	5 (20.8)	3 (25.0)	2 (16.7)
		`,		

\*p < 0.05 females versus males.

Abbreviations: CYP: cytochrome p450 oxidase; ABCB1: ATP binding cassette subfamily B member 1; ADRA2A: alpha-2A adrenergic receptor; BDNF: brain-derived neurotrophic factor; COMT: catechol-O-methyltransferase; DRD2: dopamine D2 receptor; DRD3: dopamine D3 receptor; HTR2A: serotonin receptor 2A; HTR2C: serotonin receptor 2C; OPRM1: µ1-opioid receptor 1; UGT1A1: UDP glucuronosyltransferase family 1 member A1; EM: extensive metabolizer IM: intermediate metabolizer; NM/RM: normal metabolizer/ rapid metabolizer; NM: normal metabolizer; PM: poor metabolizer; UM: ultrarapid metabolizer.

	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T1/2 (h)	Cl/F (L/h∙kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)
CYP2D6 phenotype						
NM $(n = 16)$	$79899\pm59385$	$1006\pm409$	$3.19 \pm 1.52$	$67.3\pm25.8$	$67.1 \pm 18.5$	$6.11 \pm 1.61$
IM $(n = 6)$	$89464\pm34240$	$1025\pm244$	$3.33 \pm 1.37$	$72.4\pm20.2$	$57.2\pm11.4$	$5.89 \pm 1.80$
UM $(n=2)$	$24219\pm15580$	$638\pm52$	$3.00\pm 0.00$	$37.8\pm 8.2$	$108.5\pm28.4\texttt{*}$	$5.74\pm0.27\texttt{*}$
CYP1A2 phenotype						
NM/RM (n = 17)	$63090\pm35434$	$864\pm219$	$3.12\pm1.37$	$60.5\pm18.5$	$74.0\pm22.1$	$6.07 \pm 1.51$
UM $(n = 7)$	$113009 \pm 74372 *$	$1261\pm503\texttt{*}$	$3.43 \pm 1.51$	$79.7\pm33.2$	$53.8 \pm 11.0 \texttt{*}$	$5.93 \pm 1.77$
ABCB1 rs1045642						
C/C (n = 7)	$63819\pm44267$	$970\pm296$	$3.14 \pm 1.35$	$56.5\pm23.2$	$67.9\pm22.1$	$5.11 \pm 1.52$
C/T (n = 12)	$85227\pm 64768$	$1020\pm463$	$3.00 \pm 1.54$	$73.2\pm27.0$	$67.6 \pm 16.9$	$6.75 \pm 1.57$
T/T (n = 5)	$78827\pm37731$	$897\pm177$	$3.82 \pm 1.12 *$	$62.6\pm18.6$	$69.5\pm33.5$	$5.59\pm0.57$
ABCB1 rs4148737						
T/T (n = 9)	$75711 \pm 25536$	$861\pm150$	$3.68 \pm 1.33$	$69.0\pm13.2$	$69.1\pm16.5$	$6.74 \pm 1.57$
C/T (n = 12)	$66727\pm38774$	$1008\pm437$	$2.67 \pm 1.23$	$59.6\pm20.7$	$70.8\pm 24.9$	$5.60 \pm 1.71$
C/C (n = 3)	$127160 \pm 132397$	$1226\pm481$	$4.00\pm1.73^{\#}$	$83.5\pm56.3^*$	$54.3\pm21.4$	$6.03 \pm 1.55$

*Table* S2. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on aripiprazole pharmacokinetic parameters. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.

#: compared to the wild-type homozygote genotype.

\*: compared to the other genotypes.

Abbreviations: CYP: cytochrome p450 oxidase; *ABCB1*: ATP binding cassette subfamily B member 1;  $C_{max}$ : maximum plasma concentration;  $T_{max}$ : time to reach the maximum plasma concentration; AUC: area under the curve;  $T_{1/2}$ : half-life; Cl/F: total drug clearance adjusted for bioavailability; Vd/F: volume of distribution adjusted for bioavailability.

	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T <sub>1/2</sub> (h)	Cl/F (L/h·kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)
CYP2D6 phenotype						
NM (n = 16)	$39410\pm13915$	$258.5\pm83.9$	$5.03\pm3.54$	$110.2\pm68.2$	$202.9\pm54.8$	$33.3 \pm 28.5$
IM $(n = 6)$	$32841\pm10533$	$222.3\pm56.1$	$9.17 \pm 4.49$	$120.6\pm46.6$	$220.7\pm50.5$	$66.8\pm72.0$
UM $(n = 2)$	$26862\pm11426$	$248.5\pm35.4$	$5.71\pm8.90$	$51.1\pm4.3$	$186.5\pm28.2$	$13.7\pm0.93$
CYP3A phenotype						
EM(n=4)	35366 ± 13389	$239.0 \pm 32.4$	$8.50\pm4.04*$	$107.3 \pm 58.6$	$195.0 \pm 18.4$	$29.5 \pm 14.2$
IM $(n = 17)$	$36871 \pm 12796$	$235.1 \pm 61.1$	$5.52\pm4.42$	$111.0\pm67.1$	$215.6 \pm 52.3$	$35.5\pm28.2$
PM(n=3)	$37689\pm20275$	$337.7\pm138.2$	$6.33\pm5.13$	$76.4\pm37.4$	$166.0\pm67.7$	$79.7\pm113.2$
CYP1A2 phenotype						
NM/RM (n = 17)	$40899 \pm 17468$	$268.2\pm149.0$	$8.24\pm0.63$	$116.4 \pm 48.1$	$235.4 \pm 116.4$	$35.7\pm8.4$
UM(n = 7)	$55487 \pm 17242$	$371.3\pm181.6$	$10.48\pm2.00$	$245.4\pm72.5$	$249.0\pm138.5$	$137.2\pm16.8*$
ABCB1 rs1045642						
C/C (n = 7)	$35269 \pm 13074$	$276.5 \pm 66.3$	$6.01 \pm 3.16$	$88.2\pm49.7$	$181.6\pm50.9$	$23.0\pm13.4$
C/T (n = 12)	$36962 \pm 12673$	$247.2\pm84.1$	$4.32\pm4.31$	$117.9\pm77.1$	$215.1\pm49.7$	$52.3\pm59.1$
T/T (n = 5)	$38181\pm17115$	$212.9\pm55.3$	$10.60\pm3.13\texttt{*}$	$110.9\pm43.9$	$218.3\pm55.1$	$34.5\pm15.9$
ABCB1 rs4148737						
T/T (n = 9)	$35175\pm13374$	$215.0\pm45.8$	$6.20\pm5.74$	$109.2\pm33.7$	$226.8\pm47.1$	$54.8\pm59.5$
C/T (n = 12)	$38045\pm14819$	$275.2\pm88.9$	$6.51\pm3.87$	$91.8\pm42.7$	$189.9\pm50.8$	$24.4\pm10.8$
C/C (n = 3)	$36072\pm7064$	$242.8\pm53.7$	$4.33 \pm 1.15 *$	$164.4\pm150.2$	$208.1\pm61.5$	$58.1\pm 66.9$

*Table* S3. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on dehydro-aripiprazole pharmacokinetic parameters. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.

#: compared to the wild-type homozygote genotype.

\*: compared to the other genotypes.

Abbreviations: CYP: cytochrome p450 oxidase; *ABCB1*: ATP binding cassette subfamily B member 1;  $C_{max}$ : maximum plasma concentration;  $T_{max}$ : time to reach the maximum plasma concentration; AUC: area under the curve;  $T_{1/2}$ : half-life; Cl/F: total drug clearance adjusted for bioavailability; Vd/F: volume of distribution adjusted for bioavailability.

	AUC (ng·h/mL)	C <sub>max</sub> (ng/mL)	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	T <sub>1/2</sub> (h)	Cl/F (L/h·kg)	Vd/F (L/kg)
CYP3A phenotype						
EM $(n = 4)$	$15877\pm3836$	$10.6\pm1.4$	$5.00\pm2.45$	$109.7\pm41.2$	$265.0\pm59.7$	$42.7\pm23.0$
IM(n = 17)	$19186\pm6586$	$14.8\pm4.0$	$4.55\pm1.51$	$72.3\pm22.0$	$222.0\pm55.7$	$24.0\pm13.5$
PM $(n = 3)$	$16613\pm4492$	$15.0\pm3.1$	$3.01\pm1.72$	$60.9\pm3.3^{\ast}$	$226.8\pm35.0$	$19.8\pm2.0$
ABCB1 rs10280101						
A/A (n = 16)	$18614\pm5930$	$13.3\pm3.2$	$4.83 \pm 1.72$	$85.2\pm31.4$	$231.5\pm56.3$	$29.9 \pm 18.4$
C+(n=8)	$17711\pm 6459$	$15.6\pm4.9$	$3.63 \pm 1.50$	$61.1\pm7.4^*$	$226.1\pm55.1$	$20.0\pm5.7$
ABCB1 rs12720067						
C/C (n = 16)	$18614\pm5930$	$13.3\pm3.2$	$4.83 \pm 1.72$	$85.2\pm31.4$	$231.5\pm56.3$	$29.9 \pm 18.4$
T + (n = 8)	$17711\pm 6459$	$15.6\pm4.9$	$3.63 \pm 1.50$	$61.1\pm7.4^{\ast}$	$226.1\pm55.1$	$20.0\pm5.7$
ABCB1 rs11983225						
T/T (n = 16)	$18614\pm5930$	$13.3\pm3.2$	$4.83 \pm 1.72$	$85.2\pm31.4$	$231.5\pm56.3$	$29.9 \pm 18.4$
T + (n = 8)	$17711\pm 6459$	$15.6\pm4.9$	$3.63 \pm 1.50$	$61.1 \pm 7.4^{*}$	$226.1\pm55.1$	$20.0\pm5.7$
UGT1A1 rs887829						
C/C (n = 8)	$17978\pm7920$	$15.5\pm3.5$	$3.54 \pm 1.64$	$73.1\pm27.7$	$232.1\pm63.1$	$25.9\pm18.4$
C/T (n = 11)	$18401\pm5658$	$13.9\pm4.5$	$4.28 \pm 1.27$	$68.3 \pm 19.4$	$221.2\pm52.6$	$21.8\pm7.5$
T/T (n = 5)	$18655\pm3967$	$12.3\pm2.7$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.20 \pm \\ 1.64^* \end{array}$	$103.0\pm34.8$	$244.7\pm53.3$	$38.1\pm22.2$

*Table* S4. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on olanzapine pharmacokinetic parameters. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.

#: compared to the wild-type homozygote genotype.

\*: compared to the other genotypes.

Abbreviations: CYP: cytochrome p450 oxidase; *ABCB1*: ATP binding cassette subfamily B member 1; *UGT1A1*: UDP glucuronosyltransferase family 1 member A1;  $C_{max}$ : maximum plasma concentration;  $T_{max}$ : time to reach the maximum plasma concentration; AUC: area under the curve;  $T_{1/2}$ : half-life; Cl/F: total drug clearance adjusted for bioavailability; Vd/F: volume of distribution adjusted for bioavailability.

**Article 3:** Metabolic effects of aripiprazole and olanzapine multiple-dose treatment in healthy volunteers. Association with pharmacogenetics.

<u>Koller D</u>, Almenara S, Mejía G, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Zubiaur P, Román M, Ochoa D, Navares-Gómez M, Santos E, Pintos E, Abad-Santos F.

Psychopharmacology. Under review.

### Impact factor: 3.424.

## ABSTRACT

**Rationale:** Aripiprazole and olanzapine are atypical antipsychotics. Both drugs can induce metabolic changes, however, the metabolic side effects produced by aripiprazole are more benign.

**Objectives:** To evaluate if aripiprazole and olanzapine alter prolactin levels, lipid and glucose metabolism and hepatic, hematological, thyroid and renal function.

**Methods:** Twenty-four healthy volunteers received 5 daily oral doses of 10 mg aripiprazole and 5 mg olanzapine in a crossover randomized clinical trial and were genotyped for 51 polymorphisms in 17 genes by qPCR. Drug plasma concentrations were measured by LC-MS. The biochemical and hematological analyses were performed by enzymatic methods.

**Results and Conclusions:** Olanzapine induced hyperprolactinemia but not aripiprazole. *DRD3* Ser/Gly and *ABCB1* rs10280101, rs12720067 and rs11983225 polymorphisms and CYP3A phenotype had an impact on plasma prolactin levels. C-peptide concentrations were higher after aripiprazole administration and were influenced by *COMT* rs4680 and rs13306278 polymorphisms. Olanzapine and the *UGT1A1* rs887829 polymorphism were associated with elevated glucose levels. CYP3A poor metabolizers had increased insulin levels. Triglyceride concentrations were decreased due to olanzapine and aripiprazole treatment and were variable based on CYP3A phenotypes and the *APOC3* rs4520 genotype. Cholesterol levels were also decreased and depended on *HTR2A* rs6314 polymorphism. All hepatic enzymes, platelet and albumin levels and prothrombin time were altered during both treatments. Additionally, olanzapine reduced the leucocyte count, aripiprazole increased free T4 and both decreased uric acid concentrations. Short term treatment with aripiprazole and olanzapine had a significant influence on the metabolic parameters. However, it seems that aripiprazole provokes less severe metabolic changes.

Article 4: Safety and cardiovascular effects of multiple-dose administration of aripiprazole and olanzapine in a randomised clinical trial.

<u>Koller D</u>, Almenara S, Mejía G, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Zubiaur P, Román M, Ochoa D, Wojnicz A, Martín E, Romero-Palacián D, Navares-Gómez M, Abad-Santos F.

Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental. Under review.

## Impact factor: 2.265.

## ABSTRACT

Objective: To assess adverse events and safety of aripiprazole and olanzapine treatment.

**Methods:** Twenty-four healthy volunteers receiving 5 daily oral doses of 10 mg aripiprazole and 5 mg olanzapine in a crossover clinical trial were genotyped for 46 polymorphisms in 14 genes by qPCR. Drug plasma concentrations were measured by HPLC-MS/MS. Blood pressure and 12-lead ECG were measured in supine position. Adverse events were also recorded.

**Results:** Aripiprazole decreased diastolic blood pressure on the first day and decreased QTc on the third and fifth day. Olanzapine had a systolic and diastolic blood pressure, heart rate and QTc lowering effect on the first day. Polymorphisms in *ADRA2A*, *COMT*, *DRD3* and *HTR2A* genes were significantly associated to these changes. The most frequent adverse drug reactions to aripiprazole were somnolence, headache, insomnia, dizziness, restlessness, palpitations, akathisia and nausea while were somnolence, dizziness, asthenia, constipation, dry mouth, headache and nausea to olanzapine. Additionally, *HTR2A*, *HTR2C*, *DRD2*, *DRD3*, *OPRM1*, *UGT1A1* and *CYP1A2* polymorphisms had a role in the development of adverse drug reactions.

**Conclusions:** Olanzapine induced more cardiovascular changes; however, more adverse drug reactions were registered to aripiprazole. In addition, some polymorphisms may explain the difference in the incidence of these effects among subjects.

#### **Other relevant publications:**

**Article 5:** Effective quantification of 11 tyrosine kinase inhibitors and caffeine in human plasma by validated LC-MS/MS method with potent phospholipids clean-up procedure. Application to therapeutic drug monitoring.

Koller D, Vaitsekhovich V, Mba C, Steegmann JL, Zubiaur P, Abad-Santos F, Wojnicz A.

Talanta. 2020 Feb 1;208:120450. doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2019.120450.

# Impact factor: 4.916

## ABSTRACT

Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) help to improve treatment efficacy and safety. Therefore, a simple and sensitive liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method was developed and validated for the simultaneous monitoring of 11 tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) in human plasma. TKIs included in the assay are used in the treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia (CML: imatinib, dasatinib, nilotinib, bosutinib, ponatinib), polycythemia vera (ruxolitinib), chronic lymphocytic leukemia (ibrutinib) and rheumatoid arthritis (filgotinib, tofacitinib, baricitinib, peficitinib). Caffeine was also included in the method. Caffeine increases the acidity of the stomach and decreases its pH as well as is a competitive inhibitor of cytochrome P450 isoenzymes. Thus, it may influence absorption and metabolism of some TKIs, by modifying their plasma levels. The analytes of interest and their stable isotope-labeled internal standards were extracted from 200 µL of human plasma. Microelution-solid phase extraction (µ-SPE) was optimized for method validation and compared to simple protein precipitation (PPT). A gradient elution on a Poroshell 120 EC-C18 column at 60°C and a flow rate of 0.5 mL/min was applied for analyte separation. The analytical run lasted 8 minutes and it was followed by a re-equilibration time of 4 minutes. Dynamic multiple reaction monitoring scan in the positive ionization mode was applied to improve method sensitivity. Endogenous plasma phospholipids can strongly affect MS analysis. Hence, the monitoring of endogenous phospholipids was included in the assay. Full validation of the method was achieved, including tests of precision, accuracy, trueness, linearity, extraction recovery, matrix effect, process efficiency, stability, sensitivity (with excellent LLOQs), selectivity, identity confirmation and carry-over effect. Regarding sample cleanup, more than 91% of early eluting and more than 96% of late eluting endogenous phospholipids were eliminated by µ-SPE when compared to PPT. This method enables the simultaneous plasma monitoring of 11 TKIs and caffeine and ensures high effectiveness in phospholipids elimination. The present approach is currently used in our clinical practice, being applied to TDM of dasatinib, imatinib, nilotinib and ponatinib. TKIs plasma monitoring helps to individualize dose adjustment and manage adverse effects in CML patients.

Article 6: Effects of aripiprazole on pupillometric parameters related to pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics after single oral administration to healthy subjects.

Koller D, Belmonte C, Lubomirov R, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Zubiaur P, Román M, Ochoa D, Carcas A, Wojnicz A, Abad-Santos F.

J Psychopharmacol. 2018 Nov;32(11):1212-1222. doi: 10.1177/0269881118798605.

### Impact factor: 4.738.

## ABSTRACT

**Background:** Pupillometry is used for the detection of autonomic dysfunction related to numerous diseases and drug administration. Genetic variants in cytochrome P450 (*CYP2D6*, *CYP3A4*), dopamine receptor (*DRD2*, *DRD3*), serotonin receptor (*HTR2A*, *HTR2C*) and ATP-binding cassette subfamily B (*ABCB1*) genes were previously associated with aripiprazole response.

Aims: Our aim was to evaluate if aripiprazole affects pupil contraction and its relationship with pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics.

**Methods:** Thirty-two healthy volunteers receiving a 10 mg single oral dose of aripiprazole were genotyped for 15 polymorphisms in *ABCB1*, *CYP2D6*, *DRD2*, *DRD3*, *HTR2A* and *HTR2C* genes by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction. Aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole plasma concentrations were measured by high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Pupil examination was performed by automated pupillometry.

**Results and Conclusions:** Aripiprazole caused pupil constriction and reached the peak value at  $C_{max}$ . *HTR2A* rs6313 T allele carriers and *HTR2C* rs3813929 C/T subjects showed higher maximum constriction velocity and maximum pupil diameter. Besides, Gly/Gly homozygotes for *DRD3* rs6280 showed significantly lower maximum constriction velocity values. A/G heterozygotes for *DRD2* rs6277 showed higher total time taken by the pupil to recover 75% of the initial resting size values. CYP2D6 intermediate metabolizers showed higher area under the curve,  $C_{max}$  and  $T_{1/2}$  than extensive metabolizers. *ABCB1* G2677T/A A/A homozygotes had greater  $T_{1/2}$  in comparison with C/C homozygotes. *ABCB1* C3435T T allele carriers and C1236T C/T subjects showed greater area under the curve than C/C homozygotes. Aripiprazole affects pupil contraction, which could be a secondary effect through dopamine and serotonin receptors. Pupillometry could be a useful tool to assess autonomic nervous system activity during antipsychotic treatment.

Article 7: Effects of aripiprazole on circadian prolactin secretion related to pharmacogenetics in healthy volunteers.

Koller D, Belmonte C, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Zubiaur P, Román M, Ochoa D, Abad-Santos F.

Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2020 Mar;126(3):236-246. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.13323.

### Impact factor: 2.452

## ABSTRACT

Aripiprazole treatment in schizophrenic patients was previously associated with lower or normalized prolactin levels. Genetic variants in cytochrome P450 (CYP) (CYP2D6), dopamine receptor (DRD2, DRD3) and serotonin receptor (HTR2A, HTR2C) genes were previously associated with antipsychotic-induced hyperprolactinaemia. Our aim was to evaluate whether aripiprazole affects prolactin secretion and its relationship with pharmacogenetics. Thirty-one healthy volunteers receiving a 10-mg single oral dose of aripiprazole were genotyped for 12 polymorphisms in CYP2D6, DRD2, DRD3, HTR2A and HTR2C genes by qPCR. Aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole plasma concentrations were measured by HPLC-MS/MS. Prolactin concentrations of the 31 volunteers taking aripiprazole and 12 volunteers receiving ibuprofen were determined by ELISA. Prolactin concentrations after ibuprofen intake were considered as control, since it is known to cause no effect. Prolactin concentrations were slightly higher in the aripiprazole group compared to the ibuprofen group. All prolactin pharmacokinetic parameters were higher in females than in males. CYP2D6 poor and intermediate metabolizers had notably higher prolactin  $C_{max}$  and AUC<sub>0-12</sub> than normal and ultrarapid metabolizers. The DRD3 rs6280 polymorphism affected prolactin levels: volunteers carrying Ser/Ser genotype had significantly lower prolactin levels than volunteers carrying the Gly allele. Furthermore, HTR2C rs3813929 C/C homozygotes had significantly lower prolactin levels than T allele carriers. Nevertheless, aripiprazole did increase prolactin levels compared to ibuprofen.

Article 8: The pharmacogenetics of aripiprazole-induced hyperprolactinemia: what do we know?

Koller D, Abad-Santos F.

Pharmacogenomics. 2020 Mar;126(3):236-246. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.13323. PMID: 31520576.

# **Impact factor: 2.265**

Editorial article. No abstract available.

**Article 9:** Effect of the Most Relevant *CYP3A4* and *CYP3A5* Polymorphisms on the Pharmacokinetic Parameters of 10 CYP3A Substrates.

Saiz-Rodríguez M, Almenara S, Navares-Gómez M, Ochoa D, Román M, Zubiaur P, <u>Koller D</u>, Santos M, Mejía G, Borobia AM, Rodríguez-Antona C, Abad-Santos F.

Biomedicines. 2020 Apr 22;8(4):E94. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines8040094.

## Impact factor: 3.60.

## ABSTRACT

Several cytochrome P450 (CYP) *CYP3A* polymorphisms were associated with reduced enzyme function. We aimed to evaluate the influence of these alleles on the pharmacokinetic parameters (PK) of several CYP3A substrates. We included 251 healthy volunteers who received a single dose of ambrisentan, atorvastatin, imatinib, aripiprazole, fentanyl, amlodipine, donepezil, olanzapine, fesoterodine, or quetiapine. The volunteers were genotyped for *CYP3A4* and *CYP3A5* polymorphisms by qPCR. To compare the PK across studies, measurements were corrected by the mean of each parameter for every drug and were logarithmically transformed. Neither CYP3A phenotype nor individual *CYP3A4* or *CYP3A5* polymorphisms were significantly associated with differences in PK. However, regarding the substrates that are exclusively metabolized by CYP3A, we observed a higher normalized AUC (p = 0.099) and a tendency of lower normalized Cl (p = 0.069) in CYP3A4 mutated allele carriers what was associated with diminished drug metabolism capacity. *CYP3A4* polymorphisms did not show a pronounced influence on PK of the analysed drugs. If so, their impact could be detectable in a very small percentage of subjects. Although there are few subjects carrying CYP3A4 double mutations, the effect in those might be relevant, especially due to the majority of subjects lacking the CYP3A5 enzyme. In heterozygous subjects, the consequence might be less noticeable due to the high inducible potential of the CYP3A4 enzyme.

**Article 10:** Utility of Therapeutic Drug Monitoring of Imatinib, Nilotinib, and Dasatinib in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis.

García-Ferrer M, Wojnicz A, Mejía G, Koller D, Zubiaur P, Abad-Santos F.

*Clin Ther.* 2019 Dec;41(12):2558-2570.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2019.10.009.

### Impact factor: 2.935.

# ABSTRACT

**Purpose:** This study examined the utility of therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) of imatinib, nilotinib, and dasatinib in adult patients with chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia (CML). TDM in CML entails the measurement of plasma tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) concentration to predict efficacy and tolerability outcomes and to aid in clinical decision making. TDM was to be deemed useful if it could be used for predicting the effectiveness of a drug and/or the occurrence of adverse reactions. It was expected that the findings from the present study would allow for the definition of a therapeutic range of each TKI.

**Methods:** A systematic review of studies reporting trough TKI levels ( $C_{min}$ ) and clinical outcomes was performed. We included randomized clinical trials, nonrandomized controlled studies, interrupted time series studies, and case series studies that provided information about plasma levels of imatinib, nilotinib, or dasatinib and relevant clinical end points in adult patients with chronic-phase CML treated with the corresponding TKI as the single antiproliferative therapy. Meta-analyses, Student t tests, and receiver operating characteristic analyses were performed to detect mean differences between groups of patients with or without: (1) the achievement of major molecular response and (2) adverse reactions.

**Findings:** A total of 38 studies (28 for imatinib, 7 for nilotinib, and 3 for dasatinib) were included in the systematic review. TDM was found useful in predicting the efficacy of imatinib, with a Cmin cutoff value of 1000 ng/mL, consistent with guideline recommendations. We suggest a therapeutic range of imatinib at a  $C_{min}$  of 1000-1500 ng/mL because higher concentrations did not increase efficacy. The findings from the rest of the comparisons were inconclusive.

**Implications:** TDM is useful in predicting the efficacy of imatinib in CML. Further research is needed to determine its validity with nilotinib and dasatinib.

**Article 11:** Effect of Polymorphisms in CYP2C9 and CYP2C19 on the Disposition, Safety and Metabolism of Progesterone Administrated Orally or Vaginally.

Zubiaur P, Ochoa D, Gálvez MÁ, Saiz-Rodriguez M, Román M, Aguilar M, de Pablo I, <u>Koller D</u>, Abad-Santos F.

Adv Ther. 2019 Oct;36(10):2744-2755. doi: 10.1007/s12325-019-01075-5.

# Impact factor: 3.26

# ABSTRACT

**Introduction:** Exogenous progesterone is prescribed for a variety of conditions with endogenous progesterone deficiency, e.g. menstrual alterations, primary or secondary infertility or premenopause. To the best of our knowledge, no pharmacogenetic studies have been published in relation to exogenous progesterone pharmacokinetic safety or progesterone metabolites so far.

**Methods:** Candidate-gene study where we evaluated whether five single-nucleotide polymorphisms (*CYP2C9*\*2, \*3, *CYP2C19*\*2, \*3 and \*17) were related to the pharmacokinetics, safety and metabolism of progesterone in 24 healthy volunteers who received a 200-mg progesterone formulation either orally or vaginally.

**Results:** The vaginal formulation had an average AUCt value approximately 18 times greater than the oral formulation. CYP2C19 intermediate metabolizers (IM) consistently showed higher adjusted AUC<sub>t</sub> and adjusted  $C_{max}$  than extensive metabolizers (EM) (P < 0.05); CYP2C9 EM incongruently exhibited higher adjusted C<sub>max</sub> and longer half-life than IM (p < 0.05).

**Conclusion:** This is the first study that reports variability in progesterone disposition according to the CYP2C19 and CYP2C9 phenotype. We suggest that CYP2C19 may condition progesterone disposition and that it may be more relevant than CYP2C9. This study lays the foundations for further in-depth research to evaluate the pharmacogenetics of progesterone.

Article 12: Influence of CYP450 Enzymes, CES1, PON1, ABCB1, and P2RY12 Polymorphisms on Clopidogrel Response in Patients Subjected to a Percutaneous Neurointervention.

Saiz-Rodríguez M, Belmonte C, Caniego JL, <u>Koller D</u>, Zubiaur P, Bárcena E, Romero-Palacián D, Eugene AR, Ochoa D, Abad-Santos F.

*Clin Ther.* 2019 Jun;41(6):1199-1212.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2019.04.037.

# Impact factor: 2.935

## ABSTRACT

**Purpose:** Clopidogrel is a thienopyridine prodrug that inhibits platelet aggregation. It is prescribed to prevent atherothrombotic and thromboembolic events in patients receiving a stent implant in carotid, vertebral, or cranial arteries. The influence of cytochrome P-450 (CYP) 2C19 on the response to clopidogrel has been widely studied; however, the effect of other genes involved in clopidogrel absorption and metabolism has not been established in this cohort of patients.

**Methods:** This observational retrospective study assessed the antiplatelet response and the prevalence of hemorrhagic or ischemic events after percutaneous neurointervention in clopidogrel-treated patients, related to 35 polymorphisms in the genes encoding the clopidogrel-metabolizing enzymes (*CYP2C19*, *CYP1A2*, *CYP2B6*, *CYP2C9*, *CYP3A4*, *CYP3A5*, carboxylesterase-1 [*CES1*], and paraoxonase-1 [*PON1*]), P-glycoprotein transporter (*ABCB1*), and platelet receptor *P2Y12*. Polymorphisms were analyzed by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Antiplatelet response was documented with the VerifyNow system (Accriva, San Diego, California).

**Findings:** We confirmed that CYP2C19 is the most important enzyme involved in clopidogrel response. The carriage of the *CYP2C19*\*2 allele was strongly associated with hyporesponse to clopidogrel, while the *CYP2C19*\*17 allele was a protective factor for the development of ischemic events (odds ratio = 0.149; P = 0.002) but a risk factor for bleeding (odds ratio = 3.60; P = 0.038). Patients carrying *ABCB1* mutated alleles showed lower aggregation values, suggesting that clopidogrel absorption is influenced by P-glycoprotein. In fact, the percentage of responders was significantly higher in the group carrying the mutated haplotype compared to the wild type (80.8% vs 43.3%; P = 0.009). Patients with the *CES1* G143E C/T genotype showed a considerably lower, aggregation value versus wild-type patients, although the

difference was not significant likely due to the small sample size (59.0 [21.2] vs 165.2 [86.0] PRU; P = 0.084), which suggests an increased active metabolite formation. No relationship was found between polymorphisms in other *CYP* genes, *PON1*, or *P2RY12* and response to clopidogrel in patients subjected to neurointervention procedures.

**Implications:** Therapeutic guidelines recommend that CYP2C19 intermediate and poor metabolizers with acute coronary syndromes undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention receive an alternative antiplatelet therapy; however, genotype-guided therapy is not a standard recommendation for neurovascular conditions. This is the first study to carry out a joint analysis of *CYP2C19* and other genes involved in clopidogrel treatment in patients receiving percutaneous neurointervention. Our findings support routine genotyping in clopidogrel-treated patients. Moreover, we encourage considering an alternative antiplatelet therapy in CYP2C19 intermediate, poor and ultrarapid metabolizers. Additionally, ABCB1 polymorphisms could be considered for a better pharmacogenetic approach.

Article 13: Polymorphisms in *CYP1A2*, *CYP2C9* and *ABCB1* affect agomelatine pharmacokinetics.

Saiz-Rodríguez M, Ochoa D, Belmonte C, Román M, Vieira de Lara D, Zubiaur P, <u>Koller D</u>, Mejía G, Abad-Santos F.

J Psychopharmacol. 2019 Apr;33(4):522-531. doi: 10.1177/0269881119827959.

#### Impact factor: 4.738.

## ABSTRACT

**Background:** Agomelatine is an agonist of the melatoninergic receptors used for the treatment of depression. Our aim was to evaluate the effect of genetic polymorphisms in metabolising enzymes and the P-glycoprotein transporter on agomelatine pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics.

**Methods:** Twenty-eight healthy volunteers receiving a single 25 mg oral dose of agomelatine, were genotyped for nine polymorphisms in cytochrome P450 enzymes (*CYP1A2*, *CYP2C9* and *CYP2C19*) and adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette subfamily B member 1 (*ABCB1*), by real-time polymerase chain reaction. Agomelatine concentrations were measured by high performance liquid chromatography coupled to a tandem mass spectrometry detector.

**Results and Conclusions:** We calculated a CYP1A2 activity score that was directly correlated with agomelatine pharmacokinetics. Individuals with a decreased enzyme activity (\*1C carriers) had a lower clearance and accumulated higher concentrations of agomelatine. In contrast, individuals with a high CYP1A2 inducibility (\*1F or \*1B carriers) showed an extensive clearance and lower agomelatine concentrations. The apparently marked differences between races were due to the different *CYP1A2* genotype distribution. CYP2C9 intermediate/poor metabolizers showed a higher area under the concentration-time curve and maximum concentration. *ABCB1* G2677T/A polymorphism affected the time to reach maximum concentration, as subjects carrying A/A+A/T genotypes showed higher values. No association was found for CYP2C19 phenotype. Agomelatine did not produce any change in blood pressure, heart rate or QT interval. CYP1A2 polymorphisms affect agomelatine pharmacokinetics. CYP1A2 phenotype inferred from the genotyping of *CYP1A2*\*1C, \*1F and \*1B alleles might be a potential predictor of agomelatine exposure. *ABCB1* G2677T/A could affect agomelatine absorption, as subjects with A/A+A/T genotypes had lower agomelatine concentration and they take more time to reach the maximum concentration.

Article 14: Polymorphisms associated with fentanyl pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and adverse effects.

Saiz-Rodríguez M, Ochoa D, Herrador C, Belmonte C, Román M, Alday E, <u>Koller D</u>, Zubiaur P, Mejía G, Hernández-Martínez M, Abad-Santos F.

Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2019 Mar;124(3):321-329. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.13141.

## Impact factor: 2.452.

## ABSTRACT

Fentanyl is an agonist of the µ-opioid receptor commonly used in the treatment of moderate-severe pain. In order to study whether pharmacogenetics explains some of the variability in the response to fentanyl, several genes related to fentanyl receptors, transporters and metabolic enzymes have been analysed. Thirtyfive healthy volunteers (19 men and 16 women) receiving a single 300 µg oral dose of fentanyl were genotyped for 9 polymorphisms in cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes (CYP3A4 and CYP3A5), ATP-binding cassette subfamily B member 1 (ABCB1), opioid receptor mu 1 (OPRM1), catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) and adrenoceptor beta 2 (ADRB2) by real-time PCR. Fentanyl concentrations were measured by ultra-performance liquid chromatography combined with tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-MS/MS). Fentanyl pharmacokinetics is affected by sex. Carriers of the CYP3A4\*22 allele, which is known to reduce the mRNA expression, showed higher area under the concentration-time curve (AUC) and lower clearance (Cl) values. Although this finding might be of importance, its validity needs to be confirmed in other similar settings. Furthermore, carriers of the ABCB1 C1236T T/T genotype presented a lower AUC and higher Cl, as well as lower half-life  $(T_{1/2})$ . As volunteers were blocked with naltrexone, the effect of fentanyl on pharmacodynamics might be biased; however, we could observe that fentanyl had a hypotensive effect. Moreover, ADRB2 C523A A allele carriers showed a tendency towards reducing systolic blood pressure. Likewise, OPRM1 and COMT minor allele variants were risk factors for the development of somnolence. CYP3A5\*3, ABCB1 C3435T and ABCB1 G2677T/A were not associated with fentanyl's pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and safety profile.

Article 15: How to make P-glycoprotein (ABCB1, MDR1) harbor mutations and measure its expression and activity in cell cultures?

Zubiaur P, Saiz-Rodríguez M, Koller D, Ovejero-Benito MC, Wojnicz A, Abad-Santos F.

Pharmacogenomics. Review. 2018 Nov;19(16):1285-1297. doi: 10.2217/pgs-2018-0101.

## Impact factor: 2.265.

# ABSTRACT

Several polymorphisms have been identified in *ABCB1*, the gene encoding for the P-glycoprotein. This transporter alters the pharmacokinetics or effectiveness of drugs by excreting them from cells where it is expressed (e.g., blood-brain barrier, intestine or tumors). No consensus has been reached regarding the functional consequences of these polymorphisms in the transporter's function. The aim of this review was to describe a methodology that allows the assessment of P-gp function when harboring polymorphisms. We describe how to obtain cell lines with high expression levels of the transporter with polymorphisms and several tactics to measure its expression and activity. This methodology may help elucidate the contribution of polymorphisms in *ABCB1* to drug pharmacokinetics, effectiveness and safety or to cancer chemotherapy failure.

Article 16: Effect of ABCB1 C3435T Polymorphism on Pharmacokinetics of Antipsychotics and Antidepressants.

Saiz-Rodríguez M, Belmonte C, Román M, Ochoa D, Jiang-Zheng C, Koller D, Mejía G, Zubiaur P, Wojnicz A, Abad-Santos F.

Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2018 Oct;123(4):474-485. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.13031.

## Impact factor: 2.452.

## ABSTRACT

P-glycoprotein, encoded by ABCB1, is an ATP-dependent drug efflux pump which exports substances outside the cell. Some studies described connections between C3435T polymorphism T allele and lower Pglycoprotein expression; therefore, homozygous T/T could show higher plasma levels. Our aim was to evaluate the effect of C3435T on pharmacokinetics of 4 antipsychotics (olanzapine, quetiapine, risperidone and aripiprazole) and 4 antidepressants (trazodone, sertraline, agomelatine and citalopram). The study included 473 healthy volunteers receiving a single oral dose of one of these drugs, genotyped by real-time PCR. Multivariate analysis was performed to adjust the effect of sex and genotype of the main cytochrome P450 enzymes. C3435T polymorphism had an effect on olanzapine pharmacokinetics, as T/T individuals showed lower clearance and volume of distribution. T/T individuals showed lower T<sub>1/2</sub> of 9-OHrisperidone, but this difference disappeared after multivariate correction. T/T homozygous individuals showed lower dehydro-aripiprazole and trazodone area under the concentration-time curve, along with lower half-life and higher clearance of trazodone. C/T genotype was associated to higher citalopram maximum concentration. C3435T had no effect on quetiapine, sertraline or agomelatine pharmacokinetics. C3435T can affect the elimination of some drugs in different ways. Regarding risperidone, trazodone and dehydro-aripiprazole, we observed enhanced elimination while it was reduced in olanzapine and citalopram. However, in quetiapine, aripiprazole, sertraline and agomelatine, no changes were detected. These results suggest that P-glycoprotein polymorphisms could affect CNS drugs disposition, but the genetic factor that alters its activity is still unknown. This fact leads to consider the analysis of ABCB1 haplotypes instead of individual variants.

Article 17: Influence of CYP2C19 Phenotype on the Effect of Clopidogrel in Patients Undergoing a Percutaneous Neurointervention Procedure.

Saiz-Rodríguez M, Romero-Palacián D, Villalobos-Vilda C, Caniego JL, Belmonte C, <u>Koller D</u>, Bárcena E, Talegón M, Abad-Santos F.

Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2019 Mar;105(3):661-671. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1067.

# Impact factor: 6.336.

## ABSTRACT

This observational retrospective study assessed the antiplatelet response and clinical events after clopidogrel treatment in patients who underwent percutaneous neurointervention, related to CYP2C19 metabolizer status (normal (NM), intermediate/poor (IM-PM), and ultrarapid (UM); inferred from \*2, \*3, and \*17 allele determination). From 123 patients, IM-PM had a higher aggregation value (201.1 vs. 137.6 NM, 149.4 UM, P < 0.05) and lower response rate (37.5% vs. 69.8% NM, 61.1% UM), along with higher treatment change rate (25% vs. 5.7% NM, 10.5% UM). The highest ischemic events incidence occurred in NM (11.3% vs. 6.3% IM, 10.5% UM) and hemorrhagic events in UM (13.2% vs. 0% IM and 3.8% NM). No differences were found regarding ischemic event onset time, while hemorrhagic event frequency in UM was higher with shorter onset time (P = 0.047). CYP2C19 no-function and increased function alleles defined the clopidogrel response. UM patients had increased bleeding risk. Therapeutic recommendations should include dose reduction or treatment change in UM.

**Article 18:** Effective phospholipids removing microelution-solid phase extraction LC-MS/MS method for simultaneous plasma quantification of aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole: Application to human pharmacokinetic studies.

Wojnicz A, Belmonte C, Koller D, Ruiz-Nuño A, Román M, Ochoa D, Abad-Santos F.

J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2018 Mar 20;151:116-125. doi: 10.1016/j.jpba.2017.12.049.

## Impact factor: 2.983.

## ABSTRACT

A simple liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method has been developed and validated for simultaneous quantification of aripiprazole and its active metabolite, dehydro-aripiprazole, in human plasma. Stable isotopically labeled aripiprazole, aripiprazole-D8, has been used as the internal standard (IS) for both analytes. Only 200 µl of human plasma was needed for analyte extraction, using effective phospholipids-eliminating three-step microelution-solid-phase extraction (SPE, Oasis PRiME HLB 96-well µElution Plate). An ACE C18-PFP column was applied for chromatographic separation at 25 °C, protected by a 0.2-µm on-line filter. A combination of ammonium formate (5 mM)-acetonitrile (pH 4.0; 65:35, v/v) was used as mobile phase and the chromatogram was run under gradient conditions at a flow rate of 0.6 ml/min. Run time lasted 5 min, followed by a re-equilibration time of 3 min, to give a total run time of 8 min. Five  $\mu$ l of the sample was injected into the chromatographic system. Aripiprazole, dehydroaripiprazole and IS were detected using the mode multiple reaction monitoring in the positive ionization mode. The method was linear in the concentration range of 0.18-110 ng/ml and 0.35-100 ng/ml for aripiprazole and dehydro-aripiprazole, respectively. Our method has been validated according to the recommendations of regulatory agencies through tests of precision, accuracy, recovery, matrix effect, stability, sensitivity, selectivity and carry-over. Our microelution-SPE method removes more than 99% of main plasma phospholipids compared to protein precipitation and was successfully applied to several bioequivalence studies.

**Article 19:** Effect of Polymorphisms on the Pharmacokinetics, Pharmacodynamics and Safety of Sertraline in Healthy Volunteers.

Saiz-Rodríguez M, Belmonte C, Román M, Ochoa D, <u>Koller D</u>, Talegón M, Ovejero-Benito MC, López-Rodríguez R, Cabaleiro T, Abad-Santos F.

Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2018 May;122(5):501-511. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.12938.

# Impact factor: 2.452.

# ABSTRACT

Sertraline is a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor widely metabolized in the liver by cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes. Besides, it is a P-glycoprotein substrate. Moreover, serotonin transporters and serotonin receptors are involved in its efficacy and safety. The aim of this study was to evaluate the role of polymorphisms of metabolizing enzymes, transporters and receptors on the pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and tolerability of sertraline in healthy volunteers. Forty-six healthy volunteers (24 men and 22 women) receiving a 100-mg single oral dose of sertraline were genotyped for 17 genetic variants of CYP enzymes (CYP2B6, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, CYP2D6), ATP-binding cassette subfamily B member 1 (ABCB1), solute carrier family 6 member 4 (SLC6A4), 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor 2A (HTR2A) and 5hydroxytryptamine receptor 2C (HTR2C) genes. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters were similar in men and women. Polymorphisms in CYP2C19 and CYP2B6 genes influenced sertraline pharmacokinetics, with a greater effect of CYP2C19. Individuals carrying defective alleles for CYP2C19 and CYP2B6 showed higher area under the curve (AUC) and half-life ( $T_{1/2}$ ). Moreover, CYP2C19\*17 was related to a decreased AUC and  $T_{1/2}$ . No significant effect was found for polymorphisms in CYP2C9, CYP2D6 and ABCB1 on sertraline pharmacokinetics. Sertraline had a small heart rate-lowering effect, directly related to maximum concentration (Cmax) and the presence of ABCB1 minor alleles. Sertraline had no significant effect on blood pressure and QTc. There was a tendency to present more adverse drug reactions in women and individuals with higher AUC of sertraline, such as CYP2C19 intermediate metabolizers and CYP2B6 G516T T/T individuals.